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MINUTES OF MEETING

AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD
MONDAY, JULY 23, 2018 - 3:30 P.M.
RONAN BOARD ROOM - 20™ FLOOR

2 BROADWAY

The following were present:

Honorable:

James Vitiello Neal Zuckerman Fernando Ferrer
Mitchell Pally Andrew Albert Susan Meltzer

M. Fucilli - MTA R. Foran - MTA M. Fritz - Deloitte
L. Kearse - MTA P. Kane - MTA J. Strohmeyer - Deloitte
S. Gellineau - MTA T. Quigley - MTA G. Koslow - Deloitte

E. Maguire - Deloitte

PUBLIC COMMENTS PERIOD

The following three speakers commented during the public speakers session:
Rachael Fauss, Senior Research Analyst, Reinvent Albany
Sarah Goff, Associate Director, Common Cause
Jagi Cohen, Campaign Coordinator, Straphanger Campaign

Refer to the video recording of the meeting produced by the MTA and maintained in MTA records for the
content of the speakers’ statements.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

The minutes of the April 23rd Audit Committee meeting were approved.

AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

The Auditor General noted that the meeting for November is being moved to December and that the
agenda for that meeting will include: the 2" Quarter 2018 Financial Statements, the Appointment of the
External Auditors, the Auditor’s Audit Plan, the Review of the MTAOIG Office, Review of Audit
Committee Charter and the Annual Audit Committee Report.

REVIEW OF 15T QUARTER 2018 MTA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Mike Fritz (Deloitte) first introduced the senior members of the audit team: Jill Strohmeyer, Emilia Maguire
and Greg Koslow who, respectively, were in charge of the Quarterly Financial Statements, Information
Technology and Single Audits. He then reported on their review of the 1% Quarter 2018 financial
statements, noting that the financial statements were consistent with the previous quarters’ presentation; that
there were no changes to the accounting principles and policies; and that no adjustments were required to
the financial statements as a result of their review. He mentioned that, as noted in the MDA (Management’s
Discussion & Analysis) section of the financial statements, this year’s NY State subsidy was reported in this
first quarter financial statements whereas last year’s subsidy was reported in the second quarter of that year.
He indicated this was so because the subsidy is recognized in the accounts in the month it is approved.
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Member Pally inquired if the said transaction was a timing matter and not a funding issue. Mike Fritz
responded that it was and that it had no effect on the year-end financial statements.

A motion was made and seconded to accept the 1% Quarter 2018 financial statements as presented.

2017 SINGLE AUDIT REPORT

Mike Fritz briefed the Committee on the Single Audit report, noting that it consisted of three reports,
namely: the basic Financial Statements, the Internal Control and Compliance Report relating to the
Financial Statements and the Internal Control and Compliance Report as it related to major grant
expenditures. He said that their audit of the financial statements and their review of internal controls relating
to financial statements, as previously reported, resulted in a “clean opinion.” He said their review of
internal controls and compliance with respect to major programs involved subjecting $2.8 billion of federal
grant expenditures, including supplemental schedules, to audit and compliance tests and there were no
findings or questioned costs as a result of their review.

A motion was made and seconded to accept the 2017 Single Audit Report.

2017 INVESTMENT COMPLIANCE REPORT

Mike Fritz reported that their audit found the MTA was in compliance with the requirements of the relevant
NY State Public Authorities laws and guidelines governing investment practices.

A motion was made and seconded to accept the 2017 Investment Compliance Report.

2017 MANAGEMENT LETTER

Mike Fritz presented the management letter report, noting the five sections in the report pertained to
Information Technology, FMTAC, SIRTOA, TBTA and prior years’ management letter comments. He said
the comments were control deficiencies noted during their year-end audit of the 2017 financial statements
He briefly discussed the internal control comments concerning password parameters, access to production
and user access (Information Technology); independent review of journal entries and calculation of
unearned interest (FMTAC); workers compensation data used by actuaries and construction in progress
(SIRTOA); adjustments for cost of bond issuance, depreciation of capital assets and succession planning in
the finance area (TBTA). Lastly, he noted that a number of prior years’ management letter comments have
been remediated. Member Pally inquired whether the recommendations in the management letter are
reviewed and a report on the recommendations implemented or not implemented are reported to the
Committee. The Auditor General answered in the affirmative, noting that the recommendations are
followed up and that the Chief Compliance Officer provides the Committee with a report on the status of
the audit implementations.

ERM UPDATE AND ETHICS & COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

Lamond Kearse (MTA Chief Compliance Officer) presented the summary of ERM activities since the last
update in July which included, among others: the testing and documenting risk and controls, working on the
Annual Internal Controls certification, continuing discussion on significant issues and MTA organizational
changes and the ongoing work on the Government & Risk Compliance (GRC) system replacement. He
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briefly discussed the “internal driven risk changes” associated with Procurement Consolidation, IT
transformation, GRC migration and RM staffing constraints as well as the “external driven risk changes”
concerning COSO 2013, COSO and NYS Comptroller Guidelines. He also presented the July 2018 vs.
June 2017 changes in total risks and controls and agency corrective action plans with respect to identified
material weaknesses. Lastly, Lamond spoke about the top risks facing the MTA and cited cyber security,
reputational, safety and security risks and succession planning being in the top agency and enterprise-wide
risks. Member Zuckerman expressed concern about the committee coverage on cyber security risk and
there were discussions on the need for the committee to be apprised more frequently about it. The Auditor
General noted it would be considered for the December meeting and that going forward the work plan will
have Cyber Security update in the agenda twice a year.

Lamond Kearse then provided the Committee with a “snapshot” of the Ethics & Compliance program
performance, citing that during the 2017-18 period: over 2,897 ethic referrals were handled by the
Compliance Office; 81% completion rate for mandated training was achieved agency-wide; 48 policies
were under review or development with the Compliance Office: and there was increased compliance
coordination among agencies. Lamond also discussed the internal and external factors effecting changes
in the ethics/compliance program. Member Zuckerman inquired why, if training was mandated, only an
81% and not a 100% completion rate has been achieved. Lamond gave logistic and cost as the reason,
particularly for represented employees who worked in the field with no ready access to computers or
needed extra time away from work to complete the training. There were discussions about establishing
standards, working with HR to formulate rules/penalties for non-compliance and obtaining waivers for
certain training categories that do not match employee’s job responsibilities like the training for
Business Travel and Expenses.

2018 AUDIT PLAN STATUS

The Auditor General reported that the 2018 Audit Plan presented in the agenda book has been reviewed
with the Chairman and the Managing Director and that MTA Audit Services is on track to complete the
Audit Plan. He cited its accomplishments to date which included, among others: completing 77 projects and
71 contract audits and making over 189 recommendations to improve controls and identified savings of
$9.3 million from operations audit and $23.8 million on the capital side. The AG highlighted some of the
audits being done during the year which included review of procurement and contracting activities within
the Subway Action Plan and Executive Order 168; the M/WBE Program and DBE banking; and Open
Road Tolling. The AG also reported the performance of the department’s Superstorm Sandy Recovery
Oversight audit, a unit dedicated to audit Sandy-related expenditures to ensure propriety and compliance
with FTA grant rules. He cited that from inception to date, the unit has completed 102 audits and made 271
recommendations to strengthen controls and reduce costs, including adjustments to grant cost
reimbursements totaling $60.2 million. He noted that the unit’s findings, in conjunction with the activities
and reports of the Sandy Recovery Oversight Committee, have been reported to the FTA. For the balance of
the year, the AG said the department will complete the Audit Plan and continue to coordinate its audit
activities with the external auditors, the City/State Comptroller’s office, the MTA Chief Compliance Office
and the MTA Inspector General Office. Lastly, the AG informed the Committee that towards the latter part
of the year, Audit Services will be subjected to a “peer review” to determine compliance with the
professional standards and the results of that review will be reported to the Committee in January.

Member Albert, referring to Sandy-related audit activities, inquired if the audit will also be looking at the
Canarsie Il project management and costs. The AG responded in the affirmative, stating that the project
controls and expenditures were being covered in the audits. With regards to Open Road Tolling, Chair
Vitiello inquired whether the penalties imposed on toll violators has outpaced the lost revenues and the
response was that initial reports seemed to affirm that to be the case. The AG said Audit Services will
validate those reports.
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10.

11.

12,

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Chair Vitiello made a motion to move the Committee into executive session, the purpose of which he
said was to discuss, at the request of the committee members, an employment matter. Member Ferrer
inquired about the employment matter and whether it is within the Committee’s jurisdiction to discuss
and resolved such a matter. Chair Vitiello explained that the matter is about determining whether the
CEO is an employee. After discussions amongst the members, including making reference to the
Committee Charter and conferring with General Counsel Thomas Quigley, the motion to move into
executive session was seconded.

MOTION TO MOVE INTO REGULAR SESSION

A motion was made and seconded to return to regular session, at which time Chair Vitiello spoke about
the matters discussed in executive session. He said that: (a) with respect to inquiries, suggestions and
comments expressed by public interest groups about policy matters, those inquiries, comments and
suggestions would be referred to the Corporate Governance Committee; and (b) with regards to the
Chairman and CEO employment matter, the Committee agreed to accept the determination rendered by
JCOPE (NYS Joint Commission on Public Ethics).

MOTION TO ADJOURN

A motion was made and seconded to adjourn the meeting.

itted,

Auditor General
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w Metropolitan Transportation Authority

2019 AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

. RECURRING AGENDA ITEMS

Approval of Minutes

Audit Work Plan

Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-
Auditing Services

Follow-Up Items

Status of Audit Activities

Executive Sessions

Il. SPECIFIC AGENDA ITEMS

January 2019

Quarterly Financial Statements — 3@ Quarter 2018
Pension Audits
MTA Enterprise Risk Management Update
and Internal Control Guidelines
Compliance with the Requirements
of the Internal Control Act
Information Technology Report
Security of Sensitive Data
2018 Audit Plan Status Report
2019 Audit Plan
DDCR Performance Measures

April 2019

Financial Statements and Audit
Representation Letters

Management’s Review of Consolidated
Financial Statements

Contingent Liabilities/Third Party
Lawsuits (Executive Session)

Responsibility

Committee Chair & Members
Committee Chair & Members

Committee Chair & Members

As Appropriate
Auditor General/MTA 1G/
Chief Compliance Officer/
Chief Financial Officers/
Controllers/External Auditor/As Appropriate
As Appropriate

External Auditor/CFOs
External Auditor

Chief Compliance Officer
Chief Compliance Officer/Agency ICOs

Chief Information Officer
Chief Information Officer
Auditor General

Auditor General
Chief Diversity Officer

External Auditor/CFOs/Controllers
Comptroller

General Counsels/External Auditor
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Financial Interest Reports
Open Audit Recommendations
DDCR Performance Measures

July 2019

Quarterly Financial Statements — 15t Quarter 2019
Single Audit Report

Investment Compliance Report

Management Letter Reports

Enterprise Risk Management Update

Ethics and Compliance Program

MTAAS Audit Plan Status Report

Security of Sensitive Data (new)

November 2019

Quarterly Financial Statements — 2"d Quarter 2019
Appointment of External Auditors

Audit Approach Plans/Coordination

Review of MTA/IG’s Office

Review of Audit Committee Charter

Annual Audit Committee Report

Chief Compliance Officer
Agency ICOs/Chief Compliance Officer
Chief Diversity Officer

External Auditor/CFOs

External Auditor/CFOs

External Auditor

External Auditor/CFOs/Controllers
Chief Compliance Officer

Chief Compliance Officer

Auditor General

External Auditor/CFOs
Committee Chair & Members
External Auditor

External Auditor/IG

CCO and Committee Chair
Committee Chair
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2019 AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

Detailed Summary

I. RECURRING AGENDA ITEMS

Approval of Minutes
Approval of the official proceedings of the previous month’s Committee meeting.

Audit Work Plan
A monthly update of any edits and/or changes in the work plan.

Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Auditing Services
As appropriate, all auditing services and non-audit services to be performed by external auditors will
be presented to and pre-approved by the Committee.

Follow-Up Items
Communications to the Committee of the current status of selected open issues, concerns or matters
previously brought to the Committee’s attention or requested by the Committee.

Status of Audit Activities

As appropriate, representatives of MTA’s public accounting firm or agency management will discuss
with the Committee significant audit findings/issues, the status of on-going audits, and the actions
taken by agency management to implement audit recommendations.

Executive Sessions
Executive Sessions will be scheduled to provide direct access to the Committee, as appropriate.

Il. SPECIFIC AGENDA ITEMS

Detailed Summary

JANUARY 2019

Quarterly Financial Statements — 3@ Quarter 2018

Representatives of the MTA public accounting firm, in conjunction with appropriate agency
management, will discuss the interim financial statement that was prepared for the third quarter of
2018.

Pension Audits

Representatives of the MTA public accounting firms will provide the results of their audits of the
pension plans that are managed and controlled by MTA HQ, Long Island Rail Road, Metro-North and
NYC Transit.
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MTA Enterprise Risk Management Update and Internal Control Guidelines

These MTA-wide guidelines, which were adopted by the Board in 2011 pursuant to Public Authority
Law Section 2931, are required to be reviewed by the Committee annually. The MTA Chief
Compliance Officer will brief the Committee on the agency compliance with these guidelines and
answer any questions and offer additional comments, as appropriate. The MTA Chief Compliance
Officer will also brief the Committee on the status of agency compliance with the ERM guidelines and
any new or emerging risk.

Compliance with the Requirements of the Internal Control Act

The Committee will be briefed by the MTA Chief Compliance Officer and Agency Internal Control
Officers on the results of the All-Agency Internal Control Reports issued to the NYS Division of the
Budget as required by the Government Accountability, Audit and Internal Control Act.

Information Technology Report
The MTA Chief Information Officer will brief the Committee on the activities of the MTA IT for the past
year, including its accomplishments, strategies and plans for the current year.

Security of Sensitive Data
The MTA Chief Information Officer will make a presentation to the Committee on the security of
sensitive data at the MTA.

2018 Audit Plan Status Report
A briefing by Audit Services that will include a status of the work completed, a summary of the more
significant audit findings, and a discussion of the other major activities performed by the department.

2019 Audit Plan

A discussion by Audit Services of the areas scheduled to be reviewed in 2019 as well as the
guidelines and policies that were used to assess audit risk and their application in the development of
the audit work plan.

DDCR Performance Measures

The MTA Chief Diversity Officer will brief the Committee on the status of the performance measures
and compliance monitoring used by the Department of Diversity and Civil Rights in tracking critical
tasks.

APRIL 2019

Financial Statements and Audit Representation Letters

The agency CFOs/Controllers will be available to the Committee to answer any questions regarding
the submission of their audit representation letters to the external audit firm. The MTA public
accounting firm will review the results and conclusions of their examination of the 2018 Financial
Statements.

Management’s Review of MTA Consolidated Financial Statements

The MTA Comptroller will present a management’s review of the 2018 MTA consolidated financial
statements, including changes in capital, net assets, other assets and operating revenues and
expenses.
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Contingent Liabilities and Status of Third Party Lawsuits

The General Counsels from each agency, along with representatives from the independent
accounting firm, will review in Executive Session the status of major litigation that may have a
material effect on the financial position of their agency, or for which a contingency has been or will be
established and/or disclosed in a footnote to the financial statements. In addition, the Committee will
be briefed on the status of third party lawsuits for which there has been minimal or sporadic case
activity.

Financial Interest Reports

The MTA Chief Compliance Officer will brief the Committee on the agencies’ compliance with the
State Law regarding the filing of Financial Interest Reports (FIRs), including any known conflicts of
interest.

Open Audit Recommendations
The MTA Chief Compliance Officer and Agency Internal Control Officers will report to the Committee
on the status of audit recommendations previously accepted by their respective agency.

DDCR Performance Measures

The MTA Chief Diversity Officer will brief the Committee on the status of the performance measures
and compliance monitoring used by the Department of Diversity and Civil Rights in tracking critical
tasks.

JULY 2019

Quarterly Financial Statements — 15t Quarter 2019

Representatives of MTA’s public accounting firm, in conjunction with appropriate agency
management, will discuss the interim financial statement that was prepared for the first quarter of
2019.

Single Audit Report
Representatives of MTA’s public accounting firm will provide the results of their Federal- and State-
mandated single audits of MTA and NYC Transit.

Investment Compliance Report
Representatives of the MTA'’s public accounting firm will provide a review of MTA’s compliance with
the guidelines governing investment practices.

Management Letter Reports

Reports will be made by the MTA’s public accounting firm on the recommendations made in the
auditors’ Management Letter for improving the accounting and internal control systems of the MTA
and its agencies. The report will also include management’s response to each Management Letter
comment. The response will describe the plan of action and timeframe to address each comment. In
addition, the report will contain a follow-up of prior years’ open recommendations conducted by the
external audit firm.

Enterprise Risk Management Update
The MTA Chief Compliance Officer will brief the Committee on the status of agency compliance with
the ERM guidelines and any new or emerging risk.
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Ethics and Compliance Program
The MTA Chief Compliance Officer will brief the Committee on selected aspects of the MTA Ethics
Program.

MTAAS Audit Plan Status Report

A briefing by Audit Services that will include a status of the work completed as compared to the audits
planned for the year, a summary of the more significant audit findings, results of audit follow-up, and
a discussion of the other major activities performed by the department.

Security of Sensitive Data (New)
The MTA Chief Information Officer will make a presentation to the Committee on the security of
sensitive data at the MTA.

NOVEMBER 2019

Quarterly Financial Statements - 2"9 Quarter 2019

Representatives of MTA’s public accounting firm, in conjunction with appropriate agency
management, will discuss the interim financial statement that was prepared for the second quarter of
2019.

Appointment of External Auditors

The Audit Committee will review the appointment of the independent auditor for MTA HQ and all the
agencies. As part of this process, the Auditor General has reviewed and provided to the Committee,
and will retain on file, the latest report of the firm’s most recent internal quality control review.

Audit Approach Plans/Coordination with External Auditors

Representatives of MTA’s public accounting firm will review their audit approach for the 2018 year-
end agency financial audits. This review will describe the process used to assess inherent and
internal control risks, the extent of the auditor’'s coverage, the timing and nature of the procedures to
be performed, and the types of statements to be issued. In addition, the impact of new or proposed
changes in accounting principles, regulations, or financial reporting practices will be discussed.

Review of the MTA Inspector General’s Office

Representatives of MTA’s public accounting firm will provide the results of their review of the
MTA/IG’s operation to ensure compliance with applicable office regulations, rules, policies and
procedures.

Review of Audit Committee Charter

The Committee Chair will report that the Committee has reviewed and assessed the adequacy of the
Audit Committee Charter and, based on that review, will recommend any changes. The review will
also show if the Committee’s performance in 2019 adequately complied with the roles and
responsibilities outlined in its Charter (i.e. monitoring and overseeing the conduct of MTA’s financial
reporting process; application of accounting principles; engagement of outside auditors; MTA’s
internal controls; and other matters relative to legal, regulatory and ethical compliance at the MTA).

Annual Audit Committee Report

As a non-agenda information item, the Audit Committee will be provided with a draft report which
outlines the Audit Committee’s activities for the 12 months ended July 2019. This report is prepared
in compliance with the Audit Committee’s Charter. After Committee review and approval, the
Committee Chair will present the report to the full MTA Board.
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Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

Independent Auditors’ Review Report

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements »s ui <
for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 20 3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REVIEW REPORT

To the Members of the Board of
Metropolitan Transportation Authority

Report on the Consolidated Interim Financial Information

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated interim statement of net position of the Metropolitan Transportation
Authority (the “MTA”), a component unit of the State of New York, as of June 30, 2018, and the related consolidated
interim statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and consolidated cash flows for the six-month
periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (the “consolidated interim financial information”).

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Interim Financial/nformation

MTA management is responsible for the preparation and fair present ion of the consolidated interim financial
information in accordance with accounting principles generally acd " #ed in the United States of America; this
responsibility includes the design, implementation, and mainten’ ice « “internal control sufficient to pr0V1de
a reasonable basis for the preparation and fair presentation of thc consolic.. »d interim financial information in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the' Jnited States ¢. »merica.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to conduct our reviews in accordance™. h aud’ ing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America applicable to reviews of interim financial 1. .ation. A review of interim financial information
consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making auiries of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope#'yan an audit coi. yoted in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, « = 0u,-maaf which is the expression of an opinion regarding
the financial information. Accordingly, we do not exj_=ss su/ 1 an . (nion.

Conclusion

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of 21 y ma_ rial moc_‘ications that should be made to the consolidated interim
financial information referred to above f© it to b¢ n accora ice with the accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Emphasis of a Matter

As discussed in the notes to the ca ‘ated inv.'m financial information, the MTA is a component unit of the State
of New York. The MTA require’ significa. subsia. s from and has material transactions with the City of New York,
the State of New York, and # ¢ State of C¢ necticut, and depends on certain tax revenues that are economically
sensitive. The accompanyiri, aterim financi. information does not include any adjustments that might result from
the outcome of this uncertainty.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s Discussion
and Analysis, the Schedule of Changes in the MTA’s Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios for the Single
Employer Pension Plans, the Schedule of the MTA’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liabilities of Cost-Sharing
Multiple-Employer Pension Plans, the Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans, and the Schedule
of Funding Progress for the MTA Postemployment Benefit Plan, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to
supplement the consolidated interim financial information. Such 1nfomlat10n although not a part of the consolidated
interim financial information, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the consolidated interim financial information in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, applicable to
reviews of interim financial information, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the
consolidated interim financial information, and other knowledge we obtained during our reviews of the consolidated
interim financial information. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Supplementary Information

Our reviews were conducted for the purpose of expressing limited assurance, as described under the Conclusion
section above, on the MTA’s consolidated interim financial information. The Schedule of Consolidated Reconciliation
Between Financial Plan and Financial Statements, Schedule of Consolidated Subsidy Accrual Reconciliation Between
Financial Plan and Financial Statements, and Schedule of Financial Plan to Financial Statements Reconciliation are
presented for the purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the consolidated interim financial
information.

The Schedule of Consolidated Reconciliation Between Financial Plan and Financial Statements, Schedule of
Consolidated Subsidy Accrual Reconciliation Between Financial Plan and Financial Statements, and Schedule of
Financial Plan to Financial Statements Reconciliation are the responsibility of management and were derived from
and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated interim financial
information. Such information has been subjected to the analytical procedures and inquiries applied in the reviews
of the basic consolidated interim financial information and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
interim financial information or to the consolidated interim financial infe®mation themselves, and other additional
procedures and we are not aware of any material modifications that{ iould be made thereto in order for such
information to be in conformity with accounting principles generally 2¢ =nted in the United States of America when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated interim financial inf4 ma. w taken as a whole.

Report on Consolidated Statement of Net Position as of December 31, 20+

We have previously audited, in accordance with auditing st «dards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the consolidated statement of net position of the MT* as of Ddévember 31, 2017, and the related consolidated
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net positi¢. and ca’ . flows for the year then ended (not presented
herein); and we expressed an unmodified audit opinion on u. wef adited consolidated financial statements in our
report dated April 25, 2018, which contains an explanatory paragre, nthat the MTA requires significant subsidies from
other governmental entities. In our opinion, the accampanying coni.. “idated statement of net position of the MTA
as of December 31, 2017, is consistent, in all matei .. "wats, with ti.e audited consolidated financial statements
from which it has been derived.

December 10, 2018

Master Page # 16 of 186 - AudiffCommittee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metr 0p01ital.l . Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
Transportation Authority as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2018 AND DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

($ In Millions, except as noted)

OVERVIEW OF THE CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction

This report consists of five parts: Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), Consolidated Interim Financial
Statements, Notes to the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, and
Supplementary Information.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

This MD&A provides a narrative overview and analysis of the financial/ vities of the Metropolitan Transportation
Authority and its consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates (the “MTAZ 5 “MTA Group”) as of June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 24 .8 ai.. 2017. For financial reporting purposes,
the subsidiaries and affiliates of the MTA are blended component vnits. This. »anagement discussion and analysis
is intended to serve as an introduction to the MTA Group’s cof olidated intern.. Snancial statements. It provides
an assessment of how the MTA Group’s position has impror d or deteriorated and identifies the factors that, in
management’s view, significantly affected the MTA Grour' . overal” financial position. It may contain opinions,
assumptions, or conclusions by the MTA Group’s manag¢. »nt tha' must be read in conjunction with, and should
not be considered a replacement for, the consolidated interim. %' ial statements.

The Consolidated Interim Financial Statements

The Consolidated Interim Statements of Net Positic. \ wii. wvide information about the nature and amounts of
resources with present service capacity that the MTA “roup/ .esc.. y controls (assets), consumption of net assets
by the MTA Group that is applicable to a future reportin_ na’ od (deferred outflow of resources), present obligations
to sacrifice resources that the MTA Group haslittle or'. discretion to avoid (liabilities), and acquisition of net
assets by the MTA Group that is applicak’ 1o future 1. orting period (deferred inflow of resources) with the
difference between assets/deferred outfle’ / of res arces anc_iabilities/deferred inflow of resources being reported
as net position.

The Consolidated Interim Statements of k< wa' s, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, which provide information
about the MTA’s changes in net position for. »neriod then ended and accounts for all of the period’s revenues and
expenses, measures the success« wic TA Gre s operations during the year and can be used to determine how
the MTA has funded its costs,

The Consolidated Interim < tements of Ci h Flows, which provide information about the MTA Group’s cash
receipts, cash payments and no. hanges in ¢ sh resulting from operations, noncapital financing, capital and related
financing, and investing activities.

Notes to the Consolidated Interim Fin._ cial Statements

The notes provide information that is essential to understanding the consolidated interim financial statements, such
as the MTA Group’s accounting methods and policies, details of cash and investments, employee benefits, long-term
debt, lease transactions, future commitments and contingencies of the MTA Group, and information about other
events or developing situations that could materially affect the MTA Group’s financial position.

Required Supplementary Information

The required supplementary information provides information about the changes in the net pension liability, employer
contributions, actuarial assumptions used to calculate the net pension liability, historical trends, and other required
supplementary information related to the MTA Group’s cost-sharing multiple-employer and single-employer defined
benefit pension plans as required by provisions for pensions under GASB Statement No. 68.

The Schedule of Funding Progress provides information concerning the MTA Group’s progress in funding its
obligation to provide pension benefits and postemployment benefits to its employees.
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Supplementary Information

The supplementary information provides a series of reconciliations between the MTA Group’s financial plan and the
consolidated interim statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

FINANCIAL REPORTING ENTITY

The Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“MTA” or “MTA Group”) was established under the New York Public
Authorities Law and is a public benefit corporation and a component unit of the State of New York whose mission is
to continue, develop, and improve public transportation and to develop and implement a unified public transportation
policy in the New York metropolitan area. The financial reporting entity consists of subsidiaries and affiliates,
considered component units of the MTA, because the Board of the MTA serves as the overall governing body of
these related entities.

MTA Related Groups
The following entities, listed by their legal names, are subsidiaries (comr’ uent units) of the MTA:

e Metropolitan Transportation Authority Headquarters (“MT4 1Q”) provides support in budget, cash
management, finance, legal, real estate, treasury, risk and ing’ a. ».management, and other services to the
related groups listed below.

e The Long Island Rail Road Company (“MTA Long Isl< d Rail Road”)", »vides passenger transportation
between New York City (“NYC”) and Long Island.

e Metro-North Commuter Railroad Company (“MTA I ro-No7 (Railroad”) provides passenger transportation
between NYC and the suburban communities in W< =he® er, Dutchess, Putnam, Orange, and Rockland
counties in New York State (“NYS”) and New Haven an._ airfield counties in Connecticut.

e Staten Island Rapid Transit Operating Aufwarity (“MTA = en Island Railway”) provides passenger
transportation on Staten Island.

e First Mutual Transportation Assurance Company. “FM 'AC”) provides primary insurance coverage for certain
losses, some of which are reinsured, and assumes ¢ .isurance coverage for certain other losses.

e MTA Capital Construction Compa‘ , (“iv "A Capi ! Construction”) provides oversight for the planning,
design and construction of curren’ .nd futi’ > major [ TA system-wide expansion projects.

e MTA Bus Company (“MTA B ™) opel .cs Corwanl bus routes in areas previously served by private bus
operators pursuant to franchises gi.. <" oy the City of New York.

e MTAHQ, MTA Long Isla=m®" "% Road,  “TA Metro-North Railroad, MTA Staten Island Railway, FMTAC,
MTA Capital Constructi¢ ., and M Bus, ¢ ilectively are referred to herein as MTA. MTA Long Island Rail
Road and MTA Metrof «orth Railroa are referred to collectively as the Commuter Railroads.

The following entities, listea'« »their legal n  nes, are affiliates (component units) of the MTA:

e New York City Transit Auti. ity (“° (TA New York City Transit”) and its subsidiary, Manhattan and Bronx
Surface Transit Operating Auti.. * ; (“MaBSTOA?”), provide subway and public bus service within the five
boroughs of New York City.

e Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority (“MTA Bridges and Tunnels”) operates seven toll bridges, two
tunnels, and the Battery Parking Garage, all within the five boroughs of New York City.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following sections discuss the significant changes in the MTA Group’s financial position as of June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. An analysis of major economic
factors and industry trends that have contributed to these changes is provided. It should be noted that for purposes
of the MD&A, the information contained within the summaries of the consolidated interim financial statements and
the various exhibits presented were derived from the MTA Group’s consolidated interim financial statements.
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Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources, Distinguishing Between Capital Assets, Other Assets and

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Capital assets include, but are not limited to: bridges, structures, tunnels, construction of buildings and the acquisition

of buses, equipment, passenger cars, and locomotives.

Other assets include, but are not limited to: cash, restricted and unrestricted investments, State and regional mass
transit taxes receivables, and receivables from New York State.

Deferred outflows of resources reflect: changes in fair market values of hedging derivative instruments that are
determined to be effective, unamortized loss on refunding, and deferred outflows from pension activities.

(In millions)

Capital assets — net (see Note 6)

Other assets

Total Assets

Deferred outflows of resources

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

Capital Assets, Net - June 30, 2018 (Unaudited)

Construction
work-in-
progress

Other

Infrastructure Buildings and

‘ructures
Buses
Brid and

Passenger inels

cars and
locomotives

Significant Changes in Assets

ud Defe.
June 30,2018 versus Deces ver 31,2017

June 30, December 31, Increase /
2018 2017 (Decrease)
(Unaudited)
$ 69,733 § 68,060 $ 1,673
10,385 8,533 1,852
80,11 76,593 3,525
34 1 3,687 (166)
$ 82039 $ 80,280 $ 3,359

Cavital Assets, Net - December 31, 2017

Construction
work-in-

Other progress

Buildings and
structures

Infrastructure

Buses .
Bridges and

Tunnels
Passenger

cars and
locomotives

\d Ouy; ws of Resources Include:

e Net capital assets increa. hat June 3¢ 2018 by $1,673 or 2.5%. There was an increase in construction work-

in-progress of $1,360, an 1.
increase in bridges and tunnels

rase /. other capital assets of $499, an increase in infrastructure of $467, an
© 328, an increase in passenger cars and locomotives of $134, an increase

in buildings and structures of $7/4, and an increase in buses of $62. This was offset by a net increase in
accumulated depreciation of $1,251. See Note 6 to the MTA’s Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for
further information. Some of the more significant projects contributing to the net increase included:

- Continued progress on the East Side Access, Second Avenue Subway and Number 7 Extension Project.

- Infrastructure work including:

o Repairs and improvements of all MTA Bridge and Tunnels’ facilities.

o Improvements to MTA Long Island Railroad’s road-assets, replacement of signal power lines, various
right-of-way enhancements and upgrades of radio communications.

o Continued improvements to MTA Metro-North Railroad stations, tracks and structures, power

rehabilitation of substations, and security.

o Subway and bus real-time customer information and communications systems.

o Continued structural rehabilitation and repairs of the ventilation system at various facilities.
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- Continued improvements made to the East River Tunnel Fire and Life Safety project for 1st Avenue, Long
Island City and construction of three Montauk bridges.

- Continued passenger station rehabilitations for Penn Station and East Side Access Passenger station.

- Ongoing work by MTA New York City Transit to make stations fully accessible and structurally reconfigured
in accordance with the Americans with Disability Act (“ADA”) standards.

e Other assets increased by $1,852 or 21.7%. The major items contributing to this change include:

- An increase in cash of $341 from net cash flow activities.

- An increase in current and non-current receivables of $1,700 primarily due to an increase from State and
regional mass transit tax of $1,464, an increase in State and local operating assistance of $158, an increase
Station Maintenance receivable of $82, an increase in Mortgage Recording tax of $22, an increase in New
York City subsidy to the MTA New York City Transit and MTA Bus of $43, and an increase in Federal
and State grants for capital projects of $26. This was offset by 4 et decrease in other receivables of $95.

- A decrease in investments of $232 mainly due to the use of f£ ds for capital and operating purposes.

- A net increase in various other current and noncurrent asss

e Deferred outflows of resources decreased by $166 or 4.5%. This decrc

~

>0ty

» was primarily due to change in

the fair value of derivative instruments of $95, a decrs’ s¢ in deferred ouw. Ows for unamortized losses on
refundings of $50, and a decrease in deferred outflows clated #a pensions of $21.

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources, Dis:
Current Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources.

Current liabilities include: accounts payable, accrued expenses, Cu
obligations, pollution remediation liabilities, unred. ...

suisk 1g Between Current Liabilities, Non-

ant portions of long-term debt, capital lease

“Wares and to. s, and other current liabilities.

Non-current liabilities include: long-term debt, cap 1l lea’ © ou...ations, claims for injuries to persons, post-

employment benefits and other non-current liabilities.

Deferred inflows of resources reflect unams® ...

(In millions)

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of res. zes

Gows of z

Total liabilities and deferrec ources

Total Liabilities - June 30, 2018 (Unaudited)

Accounts
payable/
Accrued

expenses

Other long-
term liabilities

QObligations
under capital
lease (Note 8)

Long-term
debt (Note 7)

Other current
liabilities

gains 0. refunding and pension related deferred inflows.

Tane 30, December 31, Increase /
2018 2017 (Decrease)
(Unaudited)
$ 5,808 $ 6,246 $ (438)
72,067 68,304 3,763
77,875 74,550 3,325
504 506 2)
$ 78,379 $ 75,056 $ 3,323
Total Liabilities - December 31, 2017
Accounts
payable/
Accrued
expenses
Other long-
term liabilities
Obligations Long-term debt

under capital (Note 7)

lease (Note 8)

Other current
liabilities
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Significant Changes in Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources Include:
June 30, 2018 versus December 31, 2017

e Current liabilities decreased by $438 or 7.0%. The net decrease in current liabilities was primarily due to a
decrease in the current portion of long-term debt of $729 due to the maturity of Bond Anticipation Notes and
debt service payments. In addition, there was an increase in accrued expenses of $278 due to increases in
capital accruals of $103, an increase in employee related accruals of $28, an increase in interest of $14, and
other accrued expenses of $133. Accounts payable due to vendors increased by $9 and unearned revenues
increased by $8, largely due to unused fare cards and school fare subsidies. There was a net decrease in other
various current liabilities of $4.

e Non-current liabilities increased by $3,763 or 5.5%. This increase was mainly due:

An increase in the non-current portion of long-term debt of $2,924 primarily due to 2018 bond issuances
(See Note 7).

An increase in postemployment benefits other than pension lighility (“OPEB”) of $743 resulting from
estimates of actuarial calculations as required by GASB Staten® at No. 45 (See Note 5).

An increase in estimated liability arising from injuries tg® arsons (Note 10) of $178 due to revised
calculations of the workers’ compensation reserve.

A decrease in derivative liabilities of $90.

A net increase in other various non-current liabilitied Jf $8.

e Deferred inflows of resources decreased by $2 or 04 o, prim/ .ly due to loss on refunding of debt of $2.

Total Net Position, Distinguishing Between Net Investment i Sapital Assets, Restricted Amounts, and

Unrestricted Amounts

(In millions) J e 30, December 31, Increase /

\ 2018 2017 (Decrease)

Inaudited)

Net investment in capital assets $ 28717 $ 28,250 $ 467
Restricted for debt service 865 516 349
Restricted for claims 178 182 4)
Restricted for other purposes 1,153 983 170
Unrestricted (25,653) (24,707) (946)
Total Net Position $ 5260 $ 5224 $ 36

Significant Changes in Net Pos. 3 Inclu
June 30, 2018 versus December 31.% %

At June 30, 2018, total net position increased by $36 or 0.7%, when compared with December 31, 2017. This change
is a result of net non-operating revenues of $3,746 and appropriations, grants and other receipts externally restricted
for capital projects of $754 offset by operating losses of $4,464.

The net investment in capital assets increased by $467 or 1.7%. Funds restricted for debt service, claims and other
purposes increased by $515 or 30.6% in the aggregate, mainly due to scheduled debt service payments. Unrestricted
net position decreased by $946 or 3.8%.
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Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

(In millions)

Operating revenues
Passenger and tolls
Other
Total operating revenues
Non-operating revenues
Grants, appropriations and taxes
Other
Total non-operating revenues
Total revenues
Operating expenses
Salaries and wages
Retirement and other employee benefits
Postemployment benefits other than pensions
Depreciation and amortization
Other expenses
Total operating expenses
Non-operating expenses
Interest on long-term debt
Other net non-operating expenses
Total non-operating expenses
Total expenses
Loss before appropriations, grants and other receipts
externally restricted for capital projects
Appropriations, grants and other receipts
externally restricted for capital projects
Change in net position

Net position, beginning of period

Net position, end of period

Six-Month Period Ended

June 30,
2018 2017 (Decrease)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
3988 $ 3,936 52
299 309 (10)
4,287 4,245 42
4,087 3,765 322
387 345 42
4,474 4,110 364
8,761 8,355 406
,104 2,889 215
7 1,494 23
1,00 1,073 22
1,336 1,211 125
1,699 1,487 212
8,751 8,154 597
733 822 (89)
(5) (45) 40
728 777 (49)
479 8,931 548
(718) (576) (142)
754 1,098 (344)
36 522 (486)
5,224 5,607 (383)
5,260 $ 6,129 (869)
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Revenues and Expenses, by Major Source:
Period ended June 30. 2018 versus 2017

e Total operating revenues increased by $42 or 1.0%. This increase was mainly due to an increase in fare and
toll revenue of $52 primarily due to an increase in vehicle crossings for the period ended June 30, 2018,
when compared to the period ended June 30, 2017. This increase was offset by a decrease in other operating
revenues of $10 due to lower advertising revenues collected on behalf of all agencies.

e Total non-operating revenues increased by $364 or 8.9%.

Total grants, appropriations, and taxes increased by $322. This was due to an increase in New York State
and New York City Subway Action Plan of $209, an increase in Payroll Mobility Tax of $27, an increase in
Urban Tax of $65, an increase in Mass Transportation Trust Fund of $13, an increase in Aid Trust Account
from New York State of $2, an increase in Mass Transportation Operating assistance of $18, and an increase
in Build America subsidy of $1. The increase was offset by a decrease in Mortgage Recording Tax subsidies
of $11 and a decrease in New York State Service Contract subsidy of $2.

Other non-operating revenues increased by $42 primarily due to 2 .ncrease in subsidies from the Connecticut
Department of Transportation for the MTA Metro-North Railrg® 1 of $20, an increase in station maintenance,
operation and use assessments of $2, an increase in subsid’ 5. »m New York City of $20 for MTA Bus
and MTA Staten Island Railway.

e Labor costs increased by $260 or 4.8%. The major chang’  within this ca. wory are:

Salaries, wages and overtime increased by $215 pri arily due to increases in MTA New York City Transit
to support the Subway Action Plan and various m( atenans and weather-related requirements.

Postemployment benefits other than pensions increasc "% $22 based on changes in the actuarial estimates.

Retirement and employee benefits increased by $23 prima.. wdue to higher workers’ compensation reserve
requirements.

e Non-labor operating costs increased by $337 ¢ 12.5% 11 .riance was primarily due to:

An increase in depreciation of $125 primarily to more assets placed in service in the first half of the
current year.

An increase in maintenance ap( other ¢ atracts b, $33 and professional service contracts of $86 due to
changes in consulting service’ cequirer

An increase in material and supp. ¢y $29, mainly due to revised maintenance and repairs requirements
for transit and commuter svstems.

An increase in electri¢ jower 0. '3 ana el of $20 due to changes in rates and consumption.

An increase in pag ansit service ¢ atracts of $24 primarily due to higher paratransit taxi expenses.
A net increase in othc. nrious exp' 1ses of $24 mainly due to higher operating expenses.

A decrease in insurance o1 .2 .marily due to a fewer policies added in 2018.

A decrease in claims arising from injuries to persons of $7 based on the most recent actuarial valuations.

e Total net non-operating expenses decreased by $49 or 6.3% primarily due to decreases in interest on long-term
debt of $89 and an increase in other non-operating expenses of $40.

e Appropriations, grants and other receipts externally restricted for capital projects decreased by $344 or 31.3%
mainly due to the number and size of capital projects and the related timing of requisitioning for Federal and
State grants.
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OVERALL FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND IMPORTANT
ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

Economic Conditions

Metropolitan New York is the most transit-intensive region in the United States, and a financially sound and reliable
transportation system is critical to the region’s economic well-being. The MTA consists of urban subway and bus
systems, suburban rail systems, and bridge and tunnel facilities, all of which are affected by many different economic
forces. In order to achieve maximum efficiency and success in its operations, the MTA must identify economic trends
and continually implement strategies to adapt to changing economic conditions.

Preliminary MTA system-wide utilization through the second quarter of 2018 decreased relative to 2017, with
ridership down by 46.0 million trips (3.5%). The decrease was driven by Subway ridership, which declined by 27.2
million trips (3.1%), and MTA New York City Transit Bus ridership, which declined by 17.4 million trips (5.7%).
In addition, MTA Bus ridership declined by 1.0 million trips (1.6%), MTA Long Island Rail Road declined by 253
thousand trips (0.6%) and MTA Metro-North Railroad declined by 93 thousand trips (0.2%), while MTA Staten
Island Railway ridership increased by 25 thousand trips (1.1%). The decline in bus ridership is consistent with a
trend that began in 2009 and has been observed nationally, while declinir’  'subway ridership is a more recent trend,
beginning in the third quarter of 2016. Vehicle traffic at MTA Bridge’ and Tunnels facilities through the second
quarter increased by 6.6 million crossings (4.4%) compared with 20 " wels.

Seasonally adjusted non-agricultural employment in New York Cit, for the s "and quarter was higher in 2018 than
in 2017 by 73.3 thousand jobs (1.7%). On a quarter-to-quarter ¥ sis, New Yorn “ity employment has increased in
each of the last thirty-one quarters — the last decline occurred i¢ ‘he third quarter 012010 — and is higher than at any
time since 1950, when non-agricultural employment levels £ . New York City were first recorded by the Bureau of
Labor Statistics.

National economic growth, as measured by Real Gross Domc. Product (“RGDP”), expanded at an annualized
rate of 4.1% in the second quarter of 2018, according to the most 1« mt advance estimate released by the Bureau of
Economic Analysis. The increase in RGDP reflected{ "itive contributi. s from personal consumption expenditures,
exports, nonresidential fixed investment, federal go' »rnmic.. 2ding, and state and local government spending.
Partially offsetting these favorable impacts were ney tive/ untrivutions from private inventory investment and
residential fixed investment. Imports, which are a subtre ¢ .1 in the RGDP calculation, increased. The acceleration
in RGDP growth, over the first quarter’s revie = 2.2% gr. tth rate, reflected accelerations in personal consumption
expenditures and in exports, a smaller decre’ ,e in1, idential. <ed investment, and accelerations in federal government
spending and in state and local spending/ . hese i vements ' ere partially offset by a downturn in private inventory
investment and a deceleration in nonre’ dential ‘ment. Imports also decelerated.

The New York City metropolitan area’s p.  inflation, as measured by the Consumer Price Index for All Urban
Consumers (“CPI-U”), was lower tha= the nat. 2l average in the second quarter of 2018, with the metropolitan area
index increasing 2.03% while th* atioi. vindex'. weased 2.71%, when compared with the second quarter of 2017.
Increases in both the regional/ «d national’, ‘ce of energy products (10.61% for the region, and 10.50% nationally)
impacted overall inflation; /* the metropolit 1 area, the CPI-U exclusive of energy products increased by 1.45%,
while nationally, inflation exc. ive of energ prices increased 2.09%. Increasing more steeply than overall energy
prices, the spot price for New Yoi. Marbor 4 nventional gasoline rose by 33.1%, from an average price of $1.53 per
gallon to an average price of $2.05 ' »za’ on between the second quarters of 2017 and 2018.

The Federal Open Market Committee (“FOMC”) raised rates three time in 2017, with the target range set at 0.75% to
1% in March, 1% to 1.25% in June and 1.25% to 1.5% in December. During the first half of 2018, the Federal Funds
rate was raised twice, to a target level of 1.5% to 1.75% in March 2018, and then to a target level of 1.75% to 2.0%
in June 2018. The June increase was in view of continued labor market strength, and growth of household spending
and business fixed investment, while inflation and inflation for items other than food and energy have moved close to
2 percent and indicators of longer-term inflation expectations are little changed. Despite raising the target rate twice
in 2018, monetary policy continued to be accommodative, supporting the FOMC’s efforts to sustain expansion of
economic activity, strong labor market conditions and a sustained return to 2 percent inflation. The FOMC expects
that the economic expansion will be sustained, labor market conditions will remain strong, and inflation will stabilize
around 2 percent over the medium term. Further gradual increases in the Federal Funds rate can be expected, with
the FOMC determining the timing and size of future adjustments based on assessments of realized and expected
economic conditions relative to maximum employment and symmetric 2 percent inflation objectives. Risks to the
economic outlook appear roughly balanced.
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The influence of the Federal Reserve monetary policy on the mortgage market is a matter of interest to the MTA,
since variability of mortgage rates can affect the number of real estate transactions and thereby impact receipts from
the Mortgage Recording Tax (“MRT”) and Urban Tax, two important sources of MTA revenue. Mortgage Recording
Tax collections for the second quarter of 2018 were lower than the second quarter of 2017 by $2.3 (2.1%); receipts in
the second quarter of 2018 were $1.9 (1.8%) higher than receipts from the first quarter of 2018. Despite the gradual
overall recovery of MRT receipts that began in 2012, average monthly receipts in the second quarter of 2018 remain
$27.9 (43.9%) lower than the monthly average for 2006, just prior to the steep decline in Mortgage Recording Tax
revenues. MTA’s Urban Tax receipts — which are based on commercial real estate transactions and mortgage recording
activity within New York City, and can vary significantly from quarter to quarter based on the timing of exceptionally
high-priced transactions — were $46.6 (32.8%) higher than receipts for the second quarter of 2017; receipts in the
second quarter of 2018 were $47.9 (34.0%) higher than receipts from the first quarter of 2018. Average monthly
receipts in the second quarter of 2018 were $18.7 (25.4%) lower than the monthly average for 2007, just prior to the
steep decline in Urban Tax revenues.

Results of Operations

MTA Bridges and Tunnels - For the period ended June 30, 2018, oper .ng revenues increased by $36.7 to $962.7
as compared to June 30, 2017. Paid traffic for the first half of 2018 # < ! 155.4 million crossings, which was 6.6
million, or 4.4% higher than the first half of 2017. The increase if prima.. »due to improvements in the regional
economy and stable gas prices. Toll revenue through June 2018 totaled $951. »which was $34.8, or 4.4% greater
than the first half of 2017. The additional revenue was due to/ ¢ higher traffic . *a full year’s impact of the toll
increase implemented on March 19, 2017.

The E-ZPass electronic toll collection system experienced< ar-to-v' .r increases in market share. The total average
market share as of June 30, 2018 was 94.5% compared to 88.. %" of June 30, 2017. The average weekday market
share for passenger and commercial vehicles were 95.2% and . ©% for the first two quarters of 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

MTA New York City Transit - For the period ended Ju e 3U, = “wsevenue from fares was $2,207, a decrease of $1,
or 0.1%, compared to June 30, 2017. For the same ¢_mpar 1ve puiiod, total operating expenses were higher by
$367.5 or 6.9%, totaling $5,691.2 for the six months en ¢ ,une 30, 2018.

MTA Long Island Rail Road — Total operat’ 21« »nue foi e period ended June 30, 2018 was $379.8, which was
lower by $3.2 or 0.8%, compared to Jun’ 30, 20 7. For . » same comparative period, operating expenses were
higher by $88.9 or 9.8%, totaling $996¢ for the/ wswmthsended June 30, 2018.

MTA Metro-North Railroad — For the six . mat! ‘ended June 30, 2018, operating revenues totaled $383.9, an increase
of $1.4 or 0.4%, compared to June 30, 2017. :ring the same period, operating expenses increased by $17.8 or 2.3%
to $795.0. For the six months end” . .30, ¢ 2, fare revenue increased by 1.2% to $358.8 compared to June 30,
2017. Passenger fares accoun’ u for 93.2 hand Y-.7% of operating revenues in 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
remaining revenue represenf{ _ollection of i 1tal income from stores in and around passenger stations and revenue
generated from advertising.

The MTA receives the equivale. af fous’ juarters of Metropolitan Mass Transportation Operating Assistance
(“MMTOA”) receipts each year, witi.. =4 ute advancing the first quarter of each succeeding calendar year’s receipts
in the fourth quarter of the current yea. This results in little or no Metropolitan Mass Transportation Operating
Assistance receipts being received during the first quarter of each calendar year. The MTA has made other provisions
to provide for cash liquidity during this period. During March 2016, the State appropriated $1.6 billion in MMTOA
funds. There has been no change in the timing of the State’s payment of, or MTA’s receipt of, Dedicated Mass
Transportation Trust Fund (“MTTF”) receipts, which MTA anticipates will be sufficient to make monthly principal
and interest deposits into the Debt Service Fund for the Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds. The total MRT for the period
ended June 30, 2018 was $212 compared to $223 at June 30, 2017.

Capital Programs

At June 30, 2018, $16,665 had been committed and $5,054 had been expended for the combined 2015-2019 MTA
Capital Programs and the 2015-2019 MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program, and $27,022 had been committed
and $21,280 had been expended for the combined 2010-2014 MTA Capital Programs and the 2010-2014 MTA
Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program, and $24,072 had been committed and $23,611 had been expended for the
combined 2005-2009 MTA Capital Programs and the 2005-2009 MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program.
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The MTA Group has ongoing capital programs, which except for MTA Bridges and Tunnels are subject to the
approval of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority Capital Program Review Board (“CPRB”), and are designed
to improve public transportation in the New York Metropolitan area.

2015-2019 Capital Program — Capital programs covering the years 2015-2019 for: (1) the commuter railroad
operations of the MTA conducted by MTA Long Island Rail Road and MTA Metro-North Railroad (the “2015-2019
Commuter Capital Program”), (2) the transit system operated by MTA New York City Transit and its subsidiary,
MaBSTOA, the MTA Bus Company, and the rail system operated by MTA Staten Island Railway (the “2015-2019
Transit Capital Program”) were originally approved by the MTA Board in September 2014. The capital programs
were subsequently submitted to the Capital Program Review Board (“CPRB”) in October 2014. This plan was
disapproved by the CPRB, without prejudice, in October 2014. The capital program for the toll bridges and tunnels
operated by MTA Bridges and Tunnels (the “2015-2019 MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program”) was approved
by the MTA Board in September 2014 and was not subject to CPRB approval.

On April 20, 2016, the MTA Board approved revised capital programs for the years covering 2015-2019. The revised
capital programs provided for $29,456 in capital expenditures. On May/ ., 2016, the CPRB deemed approved the
revised 2015-2019 Capital Programs for the Transit and Commuter sy’ .ems as submitted. The revised 2015-2019
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program, was approved by the M7 « ward on April 20, 2016.

On February 23, 2017, the MTA Board approved a revision to thc CPRB ¢ sion of the capital programs for the
years covering 2015-2019, adding $119 transferred from prior/ ipital progran. “a support additional investment
projects. On March 30, 2017, the CPRB deemed approved th< evised 2015-2019 Capital Programs for the Transit
and Commuter systems as submitted. On May 24, 2017, th¢ MTA Béard approved a full amendment to the 2015-
2019 Capital Programs to reflect updated project estimates & rebalal _ed programs to address budgetary and funding
needs of priority projects that include Second Avenue Subway i« »s¢ -, MTA Long Island Rail Road regional mobility,
station enhancement work, investments at Penn Station, and new. nen Road Tolling at MTA Bridges and Tunnels.
On July 31, 2017, the CPRB deemed approved the reyised 2015-2015 »nital Programs for the Transit and Commuter
systems totaling $29,517, as submitted. The revised v 039 MTA biidges and Tunnels Capital Program totaling
$2,940, as approved by the MTA Board in May 201 was n¢ .. to CPRB approval. On December 13, 2017,
the MTA Board approved an amendment adding $349  th¢ 2015-2019 Capital Program for the Transit system in
support of the NYC Subway Action Plan. On Anril 25, 2¢ * , the MTA Board approved a full amendment to increase
the 2015-2019 Capital Programs to $33,270¢ _..c. ‘ng upd._d project cost estimates, emerging new needs across the
agencies, and reallocation of funds withiz® .ne Ea; Side Ac. 'ss and Regional Investment programs, among others.
On June 1, 2018, the CPRB deemed app/ ~ved the/ #224.2015-2019 Capital Programs for the Transit and Commuter
systems totaling $30,334, as submitted.. “he rex’ .ca 2zu15-2019 MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program totaling
$2,936, as approved by the MTA Board 1. .1 2018, was not subject to CPRB approval.

By June 30, 2018, the revised 24 219 Cap ! Programs provided $33,273 in capital expenditures, of which
$16,742 relates to ongoing rex .rs of, ai. weplace nents to, the transit system operated by MTA New York City
Transit and MaBSTOA and ti rail system o, rated by MTA Staten Island Railway; $5,324 relates to ongoing repairs
of, and replacements to, thc. »mmuter syst 1 operated by MTA Long Island Rail Road and MTA Metro-North
Railroad; $7,652 relates to the'« mansion of xisting rail networks for both the transit and commuter systems to be
managed by MTA Capital Construc an; $¢ 3 relates to Planning and Customer Service; $376 relates to MTA Bus
Company initiatives; and $2,936 in ca, . expenditures for ongoing repairs of, and replacements to, MTA Bridges
and Tunnels facilities.

The combined funding sources for the revised 2015-2019 MTA Capital Programs and the 2015-2019 MTA Bridges
and Tunnels Capital Program, include $7,968 in MTA Bonds, $2,936 in MTA Bridges and Tunnels dedicated funds,
$8,640 in funding from the State of New York, $7,308 in Federal Funds, $2,666 from City Capital Funds, $2,145 in
pay-as-you-go (“PAYGO”) capital, $1,018 from asset sale/leases, and $592 from Other Sources.

2010-2014 Capital Program — Capital programs covering the years 2010-2014 for: (1) the commuter railroad
operations of the MTA conducted by MTA Long Island Rail Road and MTA Metro-North Railroad (the “2010-2014
Commuter Capital Program”), (2) the transit system operated by MTA New York City Transit and its subsidiary,
MaBSTOA, the MTA Bus Company, and the rail system operated by MTA Staten Island Railway (the “2010-2014
Transit Capital Program”) were originally approved by the MTA Board in September 2009. The capital programs were
subsequently submitted to the CPRB in October 2009. This plan was disapproved by the CPRB, without prejudice,
in December 2009 allowing the State Legislature to review funding issues in their 2010 session. The capital program
for the toll bridges and tunnels operated by MTA Bridges and Tunnels (the “2010-2014 MTA Bridges and Tunnels
Capital Program”) was approved by the MTA Board in September 2009 and was not subject to CPRB approval. The
MTA Board approved the revised plan for the Transit and Commuter systems on April 28, 2010 and CPRB approval
of the five-year program of projects was obtained on June 1, 2010. The approved CPRB program fully funded only
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the first two years (2010 and 2011) of the plan, with a commitment to come back to CPRB with a funding proposal
for the last three years for the Transit and Commuter Programs. On December 21, 2011, the MTA Board approved
an amendment to the 2010-2014 Capital Program for the Transit, Commuter, and Bridges and Tunnels systems that
fund the last three years of the program through a combination of self-help (efficiency improvements and real estate
initiatives), participation by our funding partners, and innovative and pragmatic financing arrangements. On March
27, 2012, the CPRB deemed approved the amended 2010-2014 Capital Programs for the Transit and Commuter
systems as submitted.

On December 19, 2012, the MTA Board approved an amendment to the 2010-2014 Capital Programs for the Transit,
Commuter, and Bridges and Tunnels systems to add projects for the repair/restoration of MTA agency assets damaged
as a result of Superstorm Sandy, which struck the region on October 29, 2012. On January 22, 2013, the CPRB
deemed approved the amended 2010-2014 Capital Programs for the Transit and Commuter systems as submitted.
On July 22, 2013, the MTA Board approved a further amendment to the 2010-2014 Capital Programs for the Transit,
Commuter, and Bridges and Tunnels systems to include specific revisions to planned projects and to include new
resilience/mitigation initiatives in response to Superstorm Sandy. On August 27, 2013, the CPRB deemed approved
those amended 2010-2014 Capital Programs for the Transit and Commuter, systems as submitted. On July 28,2014,
the MTA Board approved an amendment to select elements of the Disas® . Recovery (Sandy) and MTA New York
City Transit portions of the 2010-2014 Capital Programs, and a change( . the funding plan. On September 3, 2014,
the CPRB deemed approved the amended 2010-2014 Capital Progrs® . “or the Transit and Commuter systems as
submitted.

As last amended by the MTA Board in 2014, the 2010-2014 /4 *TA Capital 1 wrams and the 2010-2014 MTA
Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program provided for $34,801 in{ apital expenditures. In May 2017, the MTA Board
approved an amendment to the 2010-2014 Capital Program’ o reflett scope transfers and consolidation between
the approved capital programs, and to reflect reductions #{ the MT Superstorm Sandy capital projects to match
current funding assumptions. This amendment, which provic. %$¢ 7,237 in capital expenditures for the Transit and
Commuter systems, was deemed approved by the CPRB as sub.. ted on July 31, 2017. The amended 2010-2014
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program, which pravided $2,784 1. »apital expenditures, was not subject to CPRB
approval. By June 30,2018, the 2010-2014 MTA C¢& o arams refic.ted an overall decrease of $419 attributable
to reallocation of funds within the East Side Access . 'd Regr .. sestment programs. Of the $31,602 in capital
expenditures, $11,365 relates to ongoing repairs of, an._rep’ cements to, the transit system operated by MTA New
York City Transit and MaBSTOA and the rail system ¢ ¢ ated by MTA Staten Island Railway; $3,882 relates to
ongoing repairs of, and replacements to, th< . mauter sy em operated by MTA Long Island Rail Road and MTA
Metro-North Railroad; $5,911 relates to #* = expa lion of ¢_'sting rail networks for both the transit and commuter
systems to be managed by MTA Capit Constri’ (ian:.$337 relates to a multi-faceted security program including
MTA Police Department; $223 relates’ "MTAZ .«crageney; $297 relates to MTA Bus Company initiatives; $2,022
relates to the ongoing repairs of, and rep. %’ .ents to, MTA Bridges and Tunnels facilities; and $7,565 relates to
Superstorm Sandy recovery/mitigation capit.. 'xpenditures.

The combined funding sources’ or the C. *B-app. sved 2010-2014 MTA Capital Programs and 2010-2014 MTA
Bridges and Tunnels Capital 7' sgram inclua, 511,483 in MTA Bonds, $2,025 in MTA Bridges and Tunnels dedicated
funds, $7,584 in Federal FU s, $132 in M| \ Bus Federal and City Match, $719 from City Capital Funds, and
$1,323 from other sources. Alsc heludedis £ 70 in State Assistance funds added to re-establish a traditional funding
partnership. The funding strategy »r Su/ rstorm Sandy repair and restoration assumes the receipt of $6,343 in
insurance and federal reimbursement;  Zeds (including interim borrowing by MTA to cover delays in the receipt
of such proceeds), $235 in pay-as-you-go capital, supplemented, to the extent necessary, by external borrowing of
up to $988 in additional MTA and MTA Bridges and Tunnels bonds.

2005-2009 Capital Program — Capital programs covering the years 2005-2009 for: (1) the commuter railroad
operations of the MTA conducted by MTA Long Island Rail Road and MTA Metro-North Railroad (the “2005-2009
Commuter Capital Program™), (2) the transit system operated by MTA New York City Transit and its subsidiary,
MaBSTOA, the MTA Bus Company, and the rail system operated by MTA Staten Island Railway (the “2005-2009
Transit Capital Program”) were originally approved by the MTA Board in April 2005 and subsequently by the
CPRB in July 2005. The capital program for the toll bridges and tunnels operated by MTA Bridges and Tunnels (the
“2005-2009 MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program”) was approved by the MTA Board in April 2005 and was
not subject to CPRB approval. The 2005-2009 amended Commuter Capital Program and the 2005-2009 Transit
Capital program (collectively, the “2005-2009 MTA Capital Programs”) were last amended by the MTA Board in
July 2008. This latest 2005-2009 MTA Capital Program amendment was resubmitted to the CPRB for approval in
July 2008, and was approved in August 2009.
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As last amended by the MTA Board, the 2005-2009 MTA Capital Programs and the 2005-2009 MTA Bridges and
Tunnels Capital Program, provided for $23,717 in capital expenditures. By June 30, 2018, the 2005-2009 MTA
Capital Programs budget increased by $684 primarily due to the receipt of new American Recovery and Reinvestment
Act (“ARRA”) funds and additional New York City Capital funds for MTA Capital Construction work still underway.
Of the $24,401 now provided in capital expenditures, $11,519 relates to ongoing repairs of, and replacements to
the transit system operated by MTA New York City Transit and MaBSTOA and the rail system operated by MTA
Staten Island Railway; $3,716 relates to ongoing repairs of, and replacements to, the commuter system operated by
MTA Long Island Rail Road and MTA Metro-North Railroad; $168 relates to certain interagency projects; $7,719
relates generally to the expansion of existing rail networks for both the transit and commuter systems to be managed
by the MTA Capital Construction Company (including the East Side Access, Second Avenue Subway and No. 7
subway line) and a security program throughout MTA’s transit network; $1,127 relates to the ongoing repairs of,
and replacements to, bridge and tunnel facilities operated by MTA Bridges and Tunnels; and $152 relates to capital
projects for the MTA Bus.

The combined funding sources for the MTA Board-approved 2005-200$"MTA Capital Programs and 2005-2009
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Capital Program include $9,698 in MTA and }* (‘A Bridges and Tunnels Bonds (including
funds for LaGuardia Airport initiative), $1,450 in New York State gene/ obligation bonds approved by the voters in
the November 2005 election, $9,093 in Federal Funds, $2,838 in Cit:’ _ap. »!Funds, and $1,322 from other sources.

CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS, DECISIONS, OR COND/ 'TONS
The 2017 November Financial Plan

The November Plan, approved by the Board in December == . p{ jected small cash balances through 2019, with
deficits of $352 in 2020 and $643 in 2021. The November Plans. :cted: $1.14 billion in lower real estate revenues,
an average annual decline of $229; proposed 4 percent fare and tc_vncreases in 2019 and 2021; annual recurring
cost savings targets increasing from $214 in 2018 # %*2.in 2021; u._of some reserves to offset expenses; and a
fully funded Subway Action Plan.

The MTA 2018 Adopted Budget and February Financ. ! P*.n 2018-2021 (collectively, the “February Plan”) was
presented to the MTA Board at its February 20,2018 mc  .ng. The purpose of the February Plan is to incorporate
adjustments approved by the MTA Board/ utv we captu »d “below-the-line” and on a consolidated basis in the
November Plan into MTA agencies’ finas _1al pla’ baselinc. udgets and forecasts. The February Plan also reflects
certain technical adjustments to MTA « d Agen/ “=meats and captures baseline changes that were not included
in the November Plan.

Tropical Storm Sandy Update

The total allocation of emerges’ y relic.. »nding . »m the FTA to MTA in connection with Superstorm Sandy to
date is $5.83 billion, includix’ $1.599 bili a allocated on September 22, 2014, through a competitive resiliency
program. FTA Emergency{ =lief Grants t¢ ling $4.245 billion have been executed, including six grants in the
amounts of $194, $886, $684.. 18344, $787 , and $1,090.3 respectively for repair/local priority resiliency; eight
grants for competitive resiliency v wling $7 9.3. As of June 30, 2018, MTA has drawn down a total of $1.9 billion
in grant reimbursement for eligible oy » .g and capital expenses. The balance of funds to be drawn down from all
fourteen grants is available to MTA for .cimbursement of eligible expenses as requisitions are submitted by MTA
and approved by FTA. Additional requisitions are in process. MTA is submitting grant requests for the remaining
$1.5 billion of allocated FTA emergency relief funding in Federal Fiscal Year 2019.

Labor Update

During the second quarter of 2018, certain labor unions representing employees at various MTA agencies reached
agreement; and other developments significant to MTA labor relations have occurred. The following summarizes the
status of collective bargaining at each MTA agency through the end of the second quarter of 2018.
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MTA Long Island Rail Road — As of December 31, 2017, MTA Long Island Rail Road had approximately 7,331
employees. Approximately 6,500 of the MTA Long Island Rail Road employees were represented by 11 different
unions in 19 bargaining units. MTA Long Island Rail Road has reached agreement will all of its unions. Significantly,
the agreements all contain general wage increases that conform to those present in the pattern-setting TWU Local
100 agreement with New York City Transit; and, consistent with MTA’s Financial Plan, they were all designed to
result in net going-out costs that match the costs of the TWU agreement.

MTA Metro-North Railroad — Through the second quarter, MTA Metro-North Railroad has reached agreements with
six bargaining units covering approximately 25% of'its 5,566 represented employees. In May 2018, the railroad also
reached a 28.5 month agreement, running the period from January 16,2017 to May 31, 2019, with the 92 employees
represented by the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers covering supervisors (“IBEW-S”). This, like
all of the other agreements reached with MTA Metro-North Railroad’s unions, is consistent with the railroad wage
pattern established at MTA Long Island Rail Road. MTA Metro-North Railroad’s remaining represented population
is covered by agreements that, while now considered “amendable” under the Railway Labor Act, remain in effect at
this time. The railroad is engaged in collective bargaining with the remaini‘ g units and it is expected that settlements
will be reached that will also conform to the established railroad wage #* .tern.

MTA Headguarters — At present, most of MTA Headquarters represen ... aployees have labor agreements that have
not yet terminated. One notable exception is the clerical/administra*’ ¢ wor. rce at MTA Police represented by IBT
Local 808: their most recent contract expired on August 31, 2016, and the par.. »are currently in negotiations for a
successor agreement. Meanwhile, collective bargaining agreen: .its are in effect i the 692 MTA Police employees
covered by the Police Benevolent Association (“PBA”), and or the 30 commanding officers, represented by the
Commanding Officers Association (“COA”). Both contrag! are dus’ o expire in October 2018.

MTA Headquarters Business Service Center has 324 employ =4 pproximately 236 of whom are represented by
several clerical/administrative unions. The largest such union, 1= wesenting 207 employees, is the Transportation
Communications Union (“TCU”), Local 643 whose.contract cover.. e period from April 1, 2015 through March
31, 2020.

The Information Technology Department, which cor hlidat’ 1 all agency IT functions and positions under MTA
Headquarters as of January 1, 2014, has 1,135 employ. =< 026 of whom are represented. The two predominant
unions are the TCU, Local 982 (with 332 mex" ), and 1. U Local 100 (with 222 members). MTA has a prevailing
agreement with the TCU that will expire D¢ _emby 31, 201" and, in many respects, is similar to the BSC agreement,
including 401(k) plan eligibility as opp sed to 2 lefined bi.iefit pension plan for new hires. An agreement was
reached with TWU local 100 that is cq’ :istent ¥ .blished bargaining pattern and expires July 13, 2019.

MTA Headquarters’ thirty-eight month cG. ¢ .ve bargaining agreement with TCU employees in the Procurement
Department will remain in effectantil Marc. 70, 2020. The agreement is similar to those reached with TCU’s
employees in the IT Departmen( .ua ac. »Busii. 5 Service Center.

Finally, United Transit Lead{ ship Organize on (“UTLO”) was certified by the New York State Public Employee
Relations Board (“PERB”)¢. Movember 6,2 17 as the exclusive bargaining representatives for MTA Headquarters
employees in the titles of Assist. »General £ iperintendent and Superintendent who are assigned to the Department
of Buses.

MTA New York City Transit Authority/Mc thattan and Bronx Surface Transit Operating Authority — Effective January
16,2017, MTA New York City Transit and MaBSTOA entered into a 28-month labor contract agreement extension
with TWU Local 100. This agreement, which has been ratified by the TWU membership and approved by the MTA
Board, has an expiration date of May 15, 2019. As of December 31, 2017, there were 35,243 active employees
represented by TWU Local 100, of which MTA New York City Transit had 29,643 and MaBSTOA had 5,600. Also
effective on January 16,2017, MTA New York City Transit entered into separate 28 month labor contract agreements
with Amalgamated Transit Union (“ATU”) Locals 1056 and 726. This agreement, which was ratified by the ATU
membership and approved by the MTA Board, also has an expiration of May 15, 2019. The ATU Locals 1056 and
726 represent 3,456 employees. In September 2017, MTA New York City Transit also reached agreement with TWU
Local 100 Computer and Telecommunications employees together with Career & Salary Employees who had been
formerly represented by TWU Local 106 (“TSO”). Together, 508 hourly employees are represented by these two
groups. The agreements are very similar in structure to the earlier TWU Local 100 agreement, and the going-out
cost for both groups together match the expectations of the Financial Plan.
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MTA Bus Company — As of December 31, 2017, MTA Bus had 4,132 employees (full and part time), 3,784 of
whom are represented by five different unions. TWU Local 100, by far the largest of them, with 2,266 represented
employees, bargained together with TWU Local 100 at MTA New York City Transit and MaBSTOA to reach an
agreement that will be effective through May 15, 2019. This joint bargaining was in accordance with a significant
arbitration decision that had been made earlier regarding changes to employee pension benefits. Dated November
17,2016, the decision awarded increases in the pension/credit multiplier for TWU represented employees from $105
dollars paid per month per year of creditable service to $130 dollars per month per year of creditable service. The
cost of $15 dollars of that pension increase had to be funded as part of a consolidated MTA New York City Transit/
MaBSTOA/MTA Bus labor contract with the TWU.

On June 21, 2017 the MTA Board voted to amend the MTA Defined Benefit Pension Plan to provide most MTA Bus
non-represented employees with a pension consisting of a flat rate of $115 dollars per month per year of service up
to January 1, 2017, plus a final average salary component with a formula based on job title and date of hire, for years
of service commencing January 2, 2017. The final average salary component is similar to that provided to similarly
situated MaBSTOA employees.

Atthe start of the second quarter of 2018, negotiations were continuing ov’ the MTA Bus’s contract with approximately
780 employees represented by ATU Local 1179. The contract had ex/ .= Hon May 21,2012. However, on May 31,
2018 an impasse arbitration award was issued that will cover the per® « fron.. “ay 22, 2012 through October 31, 2019
— essentially, the same length of time covered by MTA New York,City Transit'e wurent agreement with TWU Local
100 and its previous 5 year agreement with that union. Overall £ te provisions ot v »decision are similar to those of
the two TWU agreements; however, the impasse award also de’ .ded certain outstanding issues regarding ATU 1179’s
employee pension benefits and their funding. In particulap’ similar # the arbitration decision for TWU Local 100
MTA Bus employees, effective November 17, 2016, the per.. »n/cn’ .t multiplier used to determine benefits will be
increased from $105 dollars to $130 dollars per month per yea.. ~ service. Also commencing November 17,2016,
the decision stipulates the conditions under which further increasc.. hall coincide with general wage increases; and
it requires increases in weekly employee pension ¢f Twihutions froni 79.06 dollars to $35.98 dollars (which will
increase in the same manner as the pension credit/me_‘iplic., 2ong the measures necessary to fund this increase,
the parties agreed to the consolidation of operations a. 'FK, I ir Koc.away and the Spring Creek depots, as well as
additional consolidations.

Subsequent to the May impasse arbitration 1. \TU Lo 1 1179, MTA Bus Company reached agreement with a
second ATU unit—Local 1181—represer’ ag app jximatei, 263 hourly employees. As with ATU Local 1179, the
88-month ATU Local 1181 agreement./ nich ex/ reaQctaber 31, 2019, covers an equal length of time as the two
most recent labor agreements between'.. “A Ne’ rork Civy Transit and TWU Local 100; and it is consistent with the
cost pattern established by those agreemen.. "7 e agreement also contains essentially the same pension modifications
and means of funding these changes-that weic »id out in the impasse arbitration with ATU Local 1179.

MTA Bridges and Tunnels — A* of Decc. her 31, 2017, MTA Bridges and Tunnels had 1,589 employees, 1,040
of whom were represented K four differer. unions. On May 22, 2014 MTA Bridges and Tunnels entered into a
Memorandum of Understaric. 2 (“DC 37 Lo: 11931 MOU”) with DC 37 Local 1931 representing 334 maintenance
employees. That agreement ra.. :om Octol r 15, 2009 through October 14, 2012 and was consistent with MTA’s
bargaining pattern as expressed in 2200 -2012 TWU Local 100 collective bargaining agreement. Through the
second quarter of 2018, negotiations 1. new agreement continued.

On July 17,2014, an Interest Arbitration Award was issued for the Bridge and Tunnel Officers Benevolent Association
representing 513 officers. The term of this award is for the May 18, 2009 through May 17, 2012 bargaining round
and was consistent with the TWU Local 100 2009-2012 pattern. Negotiations for a new agreement continued through
the second quarter of 2018.

On January 30, 2015, MTA Bridges and Tunnels entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) with the
Superior Officers Benevolent Association (“SOBA”) representing 156 supervisory officers. This MOA was ratified
by SOBA and was approved by the MTA Board on February 25, 2015. The agreement ran from March 15, 2009
through March 14, 2012 and was consistent with MTA’s bargaining pattern as expressed in the 2009-2012 TWU
Local 100 collective bargaining agreement. Negotiations for a new agreement continued through the second quarter
of 2018.

On March 17, 2015, a seven year and four month agreement, March 3, 2010 through July 2, 2017, was reached with
DC 37 Local 1655, which represents approximately 27 clerical employees. The agreement is consistent with the
pattern set by the DC 37 Citywide agreement for the same period.
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MTA Staten Island Railway - As of December 31, 2017, MTA Staten Island Railway had 343 employees, 315
of whom were represented by four different unions. SIRTOA’s contracts with these unions have all expired. Its
contract with the Sheet Metal, Air, Rail and Transportation Workers International Association (“SMART”) Local
1440 (formerly the United Transportation Union), covering 265 of its represented employees, expired on February 15,
2017; the railway’s agreement with the American Train Dispatchers Association (“ADTA”) covering 10 represented
employees expired on December 16, 2016; the agreement with the TCU, covering 23 represented employees, expired
on December 16, 2016; and the agreement with Subway Surface Supervisors Association (“SSSA”), covering 17
represented employees expired on February 15, 2017. Negotiations for successor agreements were underway
throughout the second quarter.

SSSA petitioned to represent MTA Staten Island Railway employees in the title of Supervisor Maintenance, Supervisor
Car Equipment (mechanical), Supervisor Electrical Maintenance, Supervisor Electronic Maintenance, Supervisor
Power/Signals, Supervisor Timekeeping, and Supervisor Operational Support. PERB has certified SSSA as the
exclusive negotiating agent for this unit of 11 employees. An initial collective bargaining agreement was reached on
February 25, 2017. Negotiations for a successor agreement are forthcomiz.
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Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENT OF NET POSITION AS OF JUNE 30, 2018
AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017

($ In millions)

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash (Note 3)
Unrestricted investments (Note 3)
Restricted investments (Note 3)
Restricted investments held under capital lease obligations (Notes 3 and 8)
Receivables:
Station maintenance, operation, and use assessments
State and regional mass transit taxes
Mortgage Recording Tax receivable
State and local operating assistance
Other receivable from New York City and New York State
Due from Build America Bonds
Capital project receivable from federal and state government
Other
Less allowance for doubtful accounts

Total receivables — net

Materials and supplies
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 2)

Total current assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Capital assets (Note 6):
Land and construction work-in-progress
Other capital assets (net of accumulated deprecie. )
Unrestricted investments (Note 3)
Restricted investments (Note 3)
Restricted investments held unds _apital lease obi, \tions (Notes 3 and 8)
Other non-current receivables
Receivable from New York State
Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Accumulated decreases in fair value of derivative instruments (Note 7)
Loss on debt refunding (Note 7)
Deferred outflows related to pensions (Note 4)

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

See Independent Auditors’ Review Report and
notes to the consolidated interim financial statements.

June 30, December 31,
2018 2017
(Unaudited)

$ 624 $ 283
1,868 3,689

3,374 1,783

4 4

201 119

1,604 140

58 36

168 10

230 187

1 1

147 121

395 425
(110) (62)

2,694 977

653 608

164 170

9,381 7,514
18,555 17,195
51,178 50,865

43 55

490 485

377 372

62 46

10 43

22 18

70,737 69,079
80,118 76,593

313 408

1,185 1,235

2,023 2,044

3,521 3,687

$ 83,639 $ 80,280

(Continued)
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(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENT OF NET POSITION AS OF JUNE 30, 2018
AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017
($ In millions)

June 30, December 31,
2018 2017
(Unaudited)
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 616 § 607
Accrued expenses:
Interest 218 204
Salaries, wages and payroll taxes 295 307
Vacation and sick pay benefits 1,009 988
Current portion — retirement and death benefits 21 14
Current portion — estimated liability from injuries to persons (Note 10) 427 415
Capital accruals 515 412
Other 994 861
Total accrued expenses 3,479 3,201
Current portion — loan payable (Note 7) 10 14
Current portion — long-term debt (Note 7) 1,077 1,806
Current portion — obligations under capital lease (Note 8) 4 4
Current portion — pollution remediation projects (Note 12) 20 20
Unearned revenues 602 594
Total current liabilities 5,808 6,246
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Net pension liability (Note 4) 8,105 8,105
Estimated liability arising from injuries to persons 10) 3,614 3,436
Post employment benefits other than pensions (M e 5) 17,474 16,731
Loan payable (Note 7) 97 100
Long-term debt (Note 7) 41,216 38,292
Obligations under capital leases (Note 8) 437 436
Pollution remediation projects (Note 12) 61 59
Contract retainage payable 384 376
Derivative liabilities (Note 7) 332 422
Other long-term liabilities 347 347
Total non-current liabilities 72,067 68,304
TOTAL LIABILITIES 77,875 74,550
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Gain on debt refunding 24 26
Deferred Inflows related to pensions (Note 4) 480 480
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 504 506
NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 28,717 28,250
Restricted for debt service 865 516
Restricted for claims 178 182
Restricted for other purposes (Note 2) 1,153 983
Unrestricted (25,653) (24,707)
TOTAL NET POSITION 5,260 5,224
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION $ 83,639 $ 80,280
See Independent Auditors’ Review Report and
notes to the consolidated interim financial statements. (Concluded)
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(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
SIX-MONTH PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

($ In millions)

OPERATING REVENUES:
Fare revenue
Vehicle toll revenue
Rents, freight, and other revenue

Total operating revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Salaries and wages

Retirement and other employee benefits
Postemployment benefits other than pensions (Note 5)
Electric power

Fuel

Insurance

Claims

Paratransit service contracts

Maintenance and other operating contracts
Professional service contracts

Pollution remediation projects (Note 12)
Materials and supplies

Depreciation (Note 2)

Other

Total operating expenses

OPERATING LOSS

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (E¥ _NSES).
Grants, appropriations and taxes;

Tax-supported subsidies — I
Mass Transportation Trust Fui.. wbsidies

.

Metropolitan Mass Transportatiorni ‘srating{ ,sistance subsidies

Payroll Mobility Tax subsidies
MTA Aid Trust Account subsidies
Tax-supported subsidies — NYC and Local:
Mortgage Recording Tax subsidies
Urban Tax subsidies
Other subsidies:
New York State Service Contract subsidy
Operating Assistance - 18-B program
Build America Bond subsidy
NYS/NYC Subway Action Plan

Subtotal grants, appropriations and taxes

See Independent Auditors’ Review Report and
notes to the consolidated interim financial statements.

June 30, June 30,
2018 2017
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

$ 3,036 3,026
952 910

299 309

4,287 4,245

3,104 2,889

1,517 1,494

1,095 1,073

231 218

97 77

“ 6

185 192

214 190

303 270

243 157

4 1

310 281

1,336 1,211

116 95

8,751 8,154
(4,464) (3,909)

310 297

1,686 1,668

927 900

147 145

212 223

333 268

1 3

217 217

45 44

209 -

$ 4,087 3,765

(Continued)
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(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

SIX-MONTH PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

($ In millions)

June 30, June 30,
2018 2017
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

Connecticut Department of Transportation $ 71 3 51
Subsidies paid to Dutchess, Orange, and Rockland Counties 3) 3)
Interest on long-term debt (Note 2) (733) (822)
Station maintenance, operation and use assessments 84 82
Operating subsidies recoverable from NYC 232 212
Other net non-operating expenses 8 48
Net non-operating revenues 3,746 3,333

LOSS BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS, GRANTS AND OTHER RECEIPT
EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS (718) (576)

APPROPRIATIONS, GRANTS AND OTHER RECEIPTS

EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS 754 1,098
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 36 522
NET POSITION— Beginning of period 5,224 5,607
NET POSITION — End of period $ 5260 3 6,129

See Independent Auditors’ Review Report and
notes to the consolidated interim fina® .0 ments. (Concluded)
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as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

SIX-MONTH PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017
($ In millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Passenger receipts/tolls
Rents and other receipts
Payroll and related fringe benefits
Other operating expenses

Net cash used by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Grants, appropriations, and taxes
Operating subsidies from CDOT
Subsidies paid to Dutchess, Orange, and Rockland Counties

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIEL
MTA bond proceeds
MTA Bridges and Tunnels bond proceeds
MTA bonds refunded/reissued
MTA Bridges and Tunnels bonds refunded/reissued
MTA anticipation notes proceeds
MTA anticipation notes redeemed
MTA credit facility proceeds
MTA credit facility refunded
Capital lease payments and terminations
Grants and appropriations
Payment for capital assets
Debt service payments
Net cash used by capital aii. »lated financing ¢ ivities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING AC
Purchase of long-term securities
Sales or maturities of long-term securities
Net sales (purchases) or maturities of short-term securities
Earnings on investments

TIES

Net cash provided by (used by) investing activities
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
CASH — Beginning of period
CASH — End of period

See Independent Auditors’ Review Report and
notes to the consolidated interim financial statements.

June 30, June 30,
2018 2017
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
$ 4,007 $ 3,997
353 364
(4,864) (4,641)
(1,639) (1,406)
(2,143) (1,686)
2,862 2,523
58 48
() (6)
2,913 2,565
529 1,850
402 1,427
- (900)
- (1,081)
2,233 1,210
(512) (924)
- 200
- (200)
- M
679 1,192
(2,952) (2,367)
(1,137) (1,056)
(758) (650)
(4,025) (4,681)
3,692 4,648
612 (311)
50 26
329 (318)
341 (89)
283 732
$ 624 643
(Continued)
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(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

SIX-MONTH PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017
($ In millions)

June 30, June 30,
2018 2017
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH USED BY

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating loss (Note 2) $ (4,464) $ (3,909)

Adjustments to reconcile to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,335 1,211
Net increase in payables, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 1,155 806
Net decrease in receivables (170) 162
Net decrease in materials and supplies and prepaid expenses 1 44

NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ (2,143) $ (1,686)

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACT® (TIES:
Noncash investing activities:

Interest expense includes amortization of net (premium) / discot... Note 22 $ 61 $ 111
Interest expense which was capitalized 23 24
Total Noncash investing activities 84 135

Noncash capital and related financing activities:

Capital assets related liabilities 515 493
Capital leases related liabilities 441 434
Total Noncash capital and related financing activit 956 927

TOTAL NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL A¥ J RELAT D
FINANCING ACTIVITIES $ 1,040 8 1,062

See Independent Auditors’ Review Repa
notes to the consolidated interim fiz® cial statc, »fs. (Concluded)
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METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2018 AND DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

($ In millions, except as noted)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Reporting Entity — The Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“MTA”) was established in 1965, under
Section 1263 of the New York Public Authorities Law, and is a public benefit corporation and a component unit
of the State of New York (“NYS”) whose mission is to continue, develop and improve public transportation and
to develop and implement a unified public transportation policy in the New York metropolitan area.

These consolidated financial statements are of the Metropolitan Tra® sportation Authority (“MTA”), including
its related groups (collectively, the “MTA Group™) as follows:

Metropolitan Transportation Authority and Related Group/ (Co:. 2nent Units)

e Metropolitan Transportation Authority Headquarters /4“MTAHQ”) | nvides support in budget, cash
management, finance, legal, real estate, treasury, risk a . insurance manag ment, and other services to the
related groups listed below.

e The Long Island Rail Road Company (“MTA Lor. sland( .ail Road”) provides passenger transportation
between New York City (“NYC”) and Long Island.

e Metro-North Commuter Railroad Company (“MTA Metro-Nc. " Railroad”) provides passenger transportation
between NYC and the suburban communit, = *Vestchestet, Dutchess, Putnam, Orange, and Rockland
counties in NYS and New Haven and Fairfielc =ountic “nenecticut.

e Staten Island Rapid Transit Operating Autho. v/ ‘MTA Staten Island Railway”) provides passenger
transportation on Staten Island.

e First Mutual Transportation Assura’ .e Con any (“Fi. TAC”) provides primary insurance coverage for certain
losses, some of which are reinsus d, and 2 umes reinsurance coverage for certain other losses.

e MTA Capital Construction Coni,. v £ MTA Capital Construction”) provides oversight for the planning,
design and construction of current ai.. uture major MTA system-wide expansion projects.

e MTA Bus Company (“M A p. Doper. ncertain bus routes in areas previously served by private bus
operators pursuant to fit ichises gra. =d by ihe City of New York.

e MTAHQ, MTA Long  land Rail Roa  MTA Metro-North Railroad, MTA Staten Island Railway, FMTAC,
MTA Capital Constructic. »and MTA/ us, collectively are referred to herein as MTA. MTA Long Island Rail
Road and MTA Metro-Noruw. Mailro 4 are referred to collectively as the Commuter Railroads.

e New York City Transit Authority. "MTA New York City Transit”) and its subsidiary, Manhattan and Bronx
Surface Transit Operating Authority (“MaBSTOA”), provide subway and public bus service within the five
boroughs of New York City.

e Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority (“MTA Bridges and Tunnels”) operates seven toll bridges, two
tunnels, and the Battery Parking Garage, all within the five boroughs of New York City.

The subsidiaries and affiliates, considered component units of the MTA, are operationally and legally independent
ofthe MTA. These related groups enjoy certain rights typically associated with separate legal status including, in
some cases, the ability to issue debt. However, they are included in the MTA’s consolidated financial statements
as blended component units because of the MTA’s financial accountability for these entities and they are under
the direction of the MTA Board (a reference to “MTA Board” means the board of MTAHQ and/or the boards of
the other MTA Group entities that apply in the specific context, all of which are comprised of the same persons).
Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), the MTA is required
to include these related groups in its financial statements. While certain units are separate legal entities, they do
have legal capital requirements and the revenues of all of the related groups of the MTA are used to support the
organizations as a whole. The components do not constitute a separate accounting entity (fund) since there is
no legal requirement to account for the activities of the components as discrete accounting entities. Therefore,
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the MTA financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis with segment disclosure for each distinct
operating activity. All of the component units publish separate annual financial statements, which are available
by writing to the MTA Comptroller, 2 Broadway, 16th Floor, New York, New York 10004.

Although the MTA Group collects fares for the transit and commuter service, they provide and receive revenues
from other sources, such as the leasing out of real property assets, and the licensing of advertising. Such revenues,
including forecast-increased revenues from fare increases, are not sufficient to cover all operating expenses
associated with such services. Therefore, to maintain a balanced budget, the members of the MTA Group
providing transit and commuter service rely on operating surpluses transferred from MTA Bridges and Tunnels,
operating subsidies provided by NYS and certain local governmental entities in the MTA commuter district,
and service reimbursements from certain local governmental entities in the MTA commuter district and from
the State of Connecticut. Non-operating subsidies to the MTA Group for transit and commuter service for the
period ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 totaled $4.1 billion and $3.8 billion, respectively.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting — The accompanying consolidated financial st/ Zments are prepared on the accrual basis
of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally 2 _epted in the United States of America.

The MTA applies Governmental Accounting Standards Boa . (" JASB”) Codification of Governmental
Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards (“GASB Cod' .cation", “ection P80, Proprietary Accounting
and Financial Reporting.

New Accounting Standards Adopted

GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017, addresses var’ us prag’ _e issues identified during the implementation
and application of certain GASB statements. The prov. nané of this Statement amend and clarify guidance
under a variety of topics with the intent to enhance consistc. 2 in the application of accounting and reporting
requirements. This Statement specifically addresses the follow. wtopics:

e Blending component units: For a primary govi_amei... g2 business-type activity and uses a single column
for financial statement presentation of its busi_:ss-ty' ¢ acu .aties, a component unit may be blended only
if it meets the blending criterion described in G. SF Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, as
amended.

e Goodwill: For acquisitions that oc/ .rred p. or to the fective date of GASB Statement No. 69, Government
Combinations and Disposals of £ overnm/ tL=arations, (a) GASB Statement No. 69 should be applied for
circumstances in which considei. an pra’ .uca exceeded the net position acquired and (b) “negative” goodwill
should not be reported.

e Fair Value Measurement 2 vlicatic. ¥41) Each unit of account of real estate held by insurance entities
should be classified as // 'ivestri.. ¢ or as . capital asset, based on whether the unit of account meets the
definition of an investr .nt as describ. \in GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application,
and (2) Money-markC avestments an¢ Hdarticipating interest-earning investment contracts described in GASB
Statement No. 72 may b« »easured @' amortized cost.

e Pensions and Other Postempic_ me’ Benefits (“OPEB”): This standard addresses the following issues related
to postemployment benefits: (1) . ming of the measurement of pension or OPEB liabilities and expenditures
recognized in financial statements prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus; (2)
Recognition and measurement of on-behalf payments for pensions or OPEB in employer financial statements;
(3) Presentation of payroll-related measures in required supplementary information for purposes of reporting by
OPEB plans and employers that provide OPEB; (4) Classification of employer-paid member contributions for
OPEB; (5) Simplifying certain aspects of the alternative measurement method for OPEB; and (6) Accounting
and financial reporting for OPEB provided through certain multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plans.

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2017. The
Statement allows for application of the standard by individual topics to the extent that all requirements associated
with a single topic are implemented simultaneously. Given the discrete nature of the individual topics addressed
in this Statement, the MTA has opted to partially adopt this Statement for the individual topics of blending
component units, goodwill and fair value measurement and application. The adoption of these topics had no
impact on the MTA’s financial statements. The MTA will implement the OPEB related topic of this Statement
simultaneously with the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, which the MTA is required to adopt at the end of 2018.
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GASB Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues, establishes standards of accounting and financial
reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by providing guidance for transactions in which cash and other
monetary assets acquired with only existing resources — resources other than the proceeds of refunding debt — are
placed in an irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. This Statement also improves accounting
and financial reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to the financial statements
for debt that is defeased in substance. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods
beginning after June 15, 2017. The adoption of this Statement had no impact on the MTA’s financial statements.

Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted

GASB has issued the following pronouncements that may affect the future financial position, results of operations,
cash flows, or financial presentation of the MTA upon implementation. Management has not yet evaluated the
effect of implementation of these standards.

MTA Required
GASB Year of
Statement No. GASB Accounting Standard Adoption
75 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment’ ‘nefi.. “ther Than Pensions 2018
83 Certain Asset Retirement Obligations 2019
84 Fiduciary Activities 2019
85 Omnibus 2017 (Pensions and Other Postemployme. 7 .efits topic) 2018
87 Leases 2020
88 Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, inc. ding D “ct be. owings and Direct Placements 2019
89 Accounting for Interest Cost Jsvwwwed Before. ¢ End of a Construction Period 2020
90 Majority Equity Interest{ = An Ame. ment of G- B Statements No. 14 and No. 61 2019

Use of Management Estimates — . » o7 paration of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally acceptew. the United States of America requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect th® = ted amc nts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the/ nsolidaic. Snanci.. statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting peri¢ .. Significant' fimates include the fair value of investments, allowances for doubtful
accounts, valuation of & ‘wative instrur nts, arbitrage rebate liability, accrued expenses and other liabilities,
depreciable lives of capital'c hets, estim/ ed liability arising from injuries to persons, pension benefits and other
postemployment benefits. Acte.. wesu! could differ significantly from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation — The' onsolidated financial statements consist of MTAHQ, MTA Long Island Rail
Road, MTA Metro-North Railroad, MTA Staten Island Railway, FMTAC, MTA Bus, MTA Capital Construction,
MTA New York City Transit (including its subsidiary MaBSTOA), and MTA Bridges and Tunnels for years
presented in the financial statements. All related group transactions have been eliminated for consolidation
purposes.

Net Position — Restricted for Other Purposes — This category is classified within net position and includes
net investments restricted for capital leases and MTA Bridges and Tunnels necessary reconstruction reserve.

Investments — The MTA Group’s investment policies comply with the New York State Comptroller’s guidelines
for such operating and capital policies. Those policies permit investments in, among others, obligations of the U.S.
Treasury, its agencies and instrumentalities, and repurchase agreements secured by such obligations. FMTAC’s
investment policies comply with New York State Comptroller guidelines and New York State Department of
Insurance guidelines.

Investments expected to be utilized within a year of June 30th have been classified as current assets in the
consolidated financial statements.

Master Page # 40 of 186 - AuditCommittee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metr op Olitafl . Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
Transportatlon AllthOI'lty as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

In accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application,
investments are recorded on the consolidated statement of net position at fair value, except for commercial paper,
certificates of deposit, and repurchase agreements, which are recorded at amortized cost or contract value. All
investment income, including changes in the fair value of investments, is reported as revenue on the consolidated
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. Fair values have been determined using quoted
market values at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

Investment derivative contracts are reported at fair value using the income approach.

Materials and Supplies — Materials and supplies are valued principally at the lower of average cost or market
value, net of obsolescence reserve at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 of $169 and $166, respectively.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets — Prepaid expenses and other current assets reflect advance
payment of insurance premiums as well as farecard media related with ticket machines, WebTickets and AirTrain
tickets.

Capital Assets — Properties and equipment are carried at cost and a* . depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. Expenses for maintenance and repairs £ - charged to operations as incurred. Capital
assets and improvements include all land, buildings, equipment, a* .. “astructure of the MTA having a minimum
useful life of two years and having a cost of more than $25 tha' and. C vital assets are stated at historical cost,
or at estimated historical cost based on appraisals, or on other acceptablc. ethods when historical cost is not
available. Capital leases are classified as capital assets in/ .1ounts equal to . lesser of the fair market value
or the present value of net minimum lease payments at/{ .e incention of the lease. Accumulated depreciation
and amortization are reported as reductions of capital £ sets. D< reciation is computed using the straight-line
method based upon estimated useful lives of 25 to 50 y- s fof ouildings, 2 to 40 years for equipment, and 25
to 100 years for infrastructure. Capital lease assets and leas. (d improvements are amortized over the term of
the lease or the life of the asset whichever is less.

Pollution remediation projects —Pollution 1 micewa.costs have been expensed in accordance with the
provisions of GASB Statement No. 49, Accou. ting ¢ . ncial Reporting for Pollution Remediation
Obligations (See Note 12). An operating expense pt. 7isi .1 and corresponding liability measured at current value
using the expected cash flow method has.keen recog  _ed for certain pollution remediation obligations, which
previously may not have been required? ;v \cogniz.  have been recognized earlier than in the past or are no
longer able to be capitalized as a con’ onent ¢ a capita >roject. Pollution remediation obligations occur when
any one of the following obligating® vents ta’ ‘as'=aasthe MTA is in violation of a pollution prevention-related
permit or license; an imminent thic. o pu’ .ic healtn due to pollution exists; the MTA is named by a regulator
as a responsible or potentially respons.. " party to participate in remediation; the MTA voluntarily commences
or legally obligates itself to commaence re.. iation efforts; or the MTA is named or there is evidence to indicate
that it will be named in a la: Juit L. hompe. harticipation in remediation activities.

Operating Revenues —¢ assenger Rev aue and Tolls — Revenues from the sale of tickets, tokens, electronic
toll collection system, a. »farecards are  :cognized as income when tickets or farecards are used. Tickets are
assumed to be used in the 1. nth of pur/ .ase, with the exception of advance purchases of monthly and weekly
tickets. When the farecards exp. ».rex aue is recorded for the unused value of the farecards.

MTA Bridges and Tunnel has two 0ll rebate programs at the Verrazano-Narrows Bridge: the Staten Island
Resident (“SIR”) Rebate Program, available for residents of Staten Island participating in the SIR E-ZPass toll
discount plan, and the Verrazano-Narrows Bridge Commercial Rebate Program (“VNB Commercial Rebate
Program”), available for commercial vehicles making more than ten trips per month using the same New York
Customer Service Center (“NYCSC”) E-ZPass account. The VNB Commercial Rebate Program and SIR Rebate
Program are funded by the State and MTA.

Capital Financing — The MTA has ongoing programs on behalf of its subsidiaries and affiliates, subject to
approval by the New York State Metropolitan Transportation Authority Capital Program Review Board (the
“State Review Board”), which are intended to improve public transportation in the New York Metropolitan area.

The federal government has a contingent equity interest in assets acquired by the MTA with federal funds and
upon disposal of such assets, the federal government may have a right to its share of the proceeds from the sale.
This provision has not been a substantial impediment to the MTA’s operations.

Master Page # 41 of 186 - Audf’Committee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metropolitap X Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
Transportation Authority as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

Non-operating Revenues

Operating Assistance — The MTA Group receives, subject to annual appropriation, NY'S operating assistance
funds that are recognized as revenue after the NYS budget is approved and adopted. Generally, funds received
under the NYS operating assistance program are fully matched by contributions from NYC and the seven other
counties within the MTA’s service area.

Mortgage Recording Taxes (“MRT”) — Under NYS law, the MTA receives capital and operating assistance
through a Mortgage Recording Tax (“MRT-1""). MRT-1 is collected by NYC and the seven other counties within
the MTA’s service area, at the rate of 0.25% of the debt secured by certain real estate mortgages. Effective
September 2005, the rate was increased from 25 cents per 100 dollars of recorded mortgage to 30 cents per
100 dollars of recorded mortgage. The MTA also receives an additional Mortgage Recording Tax (“MRT-2") of
0.25% of certain mortgages secured by real estate improved or to be improved by structures containing one to
nine dwelling units in the MTA’s service area. MRT-1 and MRT-2 taxes are recognized as revenue based upon
reported amounts of taxes collected.

e MRT-1 proceeds are initially used to pay MTAHQ’s operating exp( .ses. Remaining funds, if any, are allocated
55% to certain transit operations and 45% to the commuter/ ‘roads operations. The commuter railroad
portion is first used to fund the NY'S Suburban Highway Tran{ 'ori.. »n Fund in an amount not to exceed $20
annually (subject to the monies being returned under the cCuditions = »forth in the governing statute if the
Commuter Railroads are operating at a deficit).

e The first $5 of the MRT-2 proceeds is transferred to/ .¢ MTA, Dutchess, Orange, and Rockland (“DOR”)
Fund ($1.5 each for Dutchess and Orange Counties .nd $2 / : Rockland County). Additionally, the MTA
must transfer to each County’s fund an amount equ. o t* / product of (i) the percentage by which each
respective County’s mortgage recording tax payments (v. MRT-1 and MRT-2) to the MTA increased over
such payments in 1989 and (ii) the base amount received &, »ach county as described above. The counties
do not receive any portion of the Septemberd 22495 increase .. MIRT-1 from 25 cents per $100 of recorded
mortgage to 30 cents. As of June 30, 2018, ti "M 1r., 2 Dutchess, Orange and Rockland Counties the
2016 excess amounts of MRT-1 and MRT-2 tot. ing $ 4.

e In addition, MTA New York City Transitreceives ¢ rating assistance directly from NYC through a mortgage
recording tax at the rate of 0.625% o .ic« “tsecur. by certain real estate mortgages and through a property
transfer tax at the rate of one perce’ ofthe| ;sessed v ‘ue (collectively referred to as “Urban Tax Subsidies™)
of certain properties.

Mobility Tax — In June of 2009, Che »r/ s of the NYS Laws of 2009 added Article 23, which establishes the
Metropolitan Commuter Transportatioti ability Tax (“MCTMT”). The proceeds of this tax, administered by
the New York State Tax Deps® - mare to « distributed to the Metropolitan Transportation Authority. This tax
is imposed on certain emr’ Jyers ana. f-emp.oyed individuals engaging in business within the metropolitan
commuter transportatiop’ ustrict whichi :ludes New York City, and the counties of Rockland, Nassau, Suffolk,
Orange, Putnam, Dutche. »and Westches r. This Tax is imposed on certain employers that have payroll expenses
within the Metropolitan Co.. auter Tras portation District, to pay at a rate of 0.34% of an employer’s payroll
expenses for all covered emplc, »s fof cach calendar quarter. The employer is prohibited from deducting from
wages or compensation of an eny,  ,ee any amount that represents all or any portion of the MCTMT. The
effective date of this tax was March 1, 2009 for employers other than public school district; September 1, 2009
for Public school districts and January 1, 2009 for individuals.

Supplemental Aid — In 2009, several amendments to the existing tax law provided the MTA supplemental
revenues to be deposited into the AID Trust Account of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority Financial
Assistance Fund established pursuant to Section 92 of the State Finance law. These supplemental revenues
relate to: 1) supplemental learner permit/license fee in the Metropolitan Commuter Transportation District, 2)
supplemental registration fee, 3) supplemental tax on every taxicab owner per taxicab ride on every ride that
originated in the City of New York and terminates anywhere within the territorial boundaries of the Metropolitan
Commuter Transportation District, and 4) supplemental tax on passenger car rental. This Supplemental Aid Tax
is provided to the MTA in conjunction with the Mobility Tax.

Dedicated Taxes — Under NYS law, subject to annual appropriation, the MTA receives operating assistance
through a portion of the Dedicated Mass Transportation Trust Fund (“MTTF”) and Metropolitan Mass
Transportation Operating Assistance Fund (“MMTOA”). The MTTF receipts consist of a portion of the revenues
derived from certain business privilege taxes imposed by the State on petroleum businesses, a portion of the
motor fuel tax on gasoline and diesel fuel, and a portion of certain motor vehicle fees, including registration
and non-registration fees. Effective October 1, 2005, the State increased the amount of motor vehicle fees
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deposited into the MTTF for the benefit of the MTA. MTTF receipts are applied first to meet certain debt
service requirements or obligations and second to the Transit System (defined as MTA New York City Transit
and MaBSTOA), MTA Staten Island Railway and the Commuter Railroads to pay operating and capital costs.
The MMTOA receipts are comprised of 0.375% regional sales tax, regional franchise tax surcharge, a portion of
taxes on certain transportation and transmission companies, and an additional portion of the business privilege
tax imposed on petroleum businesses. MMTOA receipts, to the extent that MTTF receipts are not sufficient to
meet debt service requirements, will also be applied to certain debt service obligations, and secondly to operating
and capital costs of the Transit System, and the Commuter Railroads.

The State Legislature enacts in an annual budget bill for each state fiscal year an appropriation to the MTA
Dedicated Tax Fund for the then-current state fiscal year and an appropriation of the amounts projected by the
Director of the Budget of the State to be deposited in the MTA Dedicated Tax Fund for the next succeeding state
fiscal year. The assistance deposited into the MTTF is required by law to be allocated, after provision for debt
service on Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds (See Note 7), 85% to certain transit operations (not including MTA Bus)
and 15% to the commuter railroads operations. Revenues from this funding source are recognized based upon
amounts of tax reported as collected by NYS, to the extent of the appropriation.

Build America Bond Subsidy — The MTA is receiving cash subsidy Jayments from the United States Treasury
equal to 35% of the interest payable on the Series of Bonds issued¢ “‘Build America Bonds” and authorized by
the Recovery Act. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986 imposes #* jui. eents that MTA must meet and continue
to meet after the issuance in order to receive the cash subsid§ paymern. The interest on these bonds is fully
subject to Federal income taxation to the bondholder.

Operating Subsidies Recoverable from Connecticut Depd «ment of Transportation (“CDOT”’) — A portion of
the deficit from operations relating to MTA Metro-Nort! [ailroas’ . New Haven line is recoverable from CDOT.
Under the terms of a renewed Service Agreement, whic. hegas on January 1, 2015, and the 1998 resolution of
an arbitration proceeding initiated by the State of Connecti. = CDOT pays 100.0% of the net operating deficit
of MTA Metro-North Railroad’s branch lines in Connecticut (i~ w2 Canaan, Danbury, and Waterbury), 65.0% of
the New Haven mainline operating deficit, and & 7%4,.0of the Grari. “entral Terminal (“GCT”) operating deficit.
The New Haven line’s share of the net operating ' »ficic.c. “mse of GCT is comprised of a fixed fee, calculated
using several years as a base, with annual increas. \for i¢ 1atiuw, and the actual cost of operating GCT’s North
End Access beginning in 1999. The Service Agreer. ¢ ilso provides that CDOT pay 100% of the cost of non-
movable capital assets located in Connec* 7. 100% ¢ movable capital assets to be used primarily on the branch
lines and 65% of the cost of other mos* .ole ¢ ital assc = allocated to the New Haven line. Remaining funding
for New Haven line capital assets is/ ovided' y the M'T' .. The Service Agreement provides for automatic five-
year renewals unless a notice of te/ «nation ‘ovided. The Service Agreement has been automatically
extended for an additional five years'« wint g January 1, 2015 subject to the right of CDOT or MTA to terminate
the agreement on eighteen month’s write. . aotice. Capital assets completely funded by CDOT are not reflected in
these financial statements, as« hip st vined by CDOT. The Service Agreement provides that final billings
for each year be subject to/ .dit by © OT. Ti. audits of 2015 and 2016 billings are still open.

Reimbursement of Expel es — The cos. f operating and maintaining the passenger stations of the Commuter
Railroads in NYS is asses. hle by the M] \ to NYC and the other counties in which such stations are located for
each NYS fiscal year ending . »cember 1, under provisions of the NYS Public Authorities Law. This funding
is recognized as revenue based v, w2’ amount, fixed by statute, for the costs to operate and maintain passenger
stations and is revised annually by . : increase or decrease of the regional Consumer Price Index.

In 1995, New York City ceased reimbursing the Authority for the full costs of the free/reduced fare program
for students. Beginning in 1996, the State and New York City each began paying $45 per annum to MTA
New York City Transit toward the cost of the program. In 2009, the State reduced their $45 reimbursement to
$6.3. Beginning in 2010, the State increased their annual commitment to $25.3 while New York City’s annual
commitment remained at $45. These commitments have been met by both the State and New York City for
both 2016 and 2017.

Prior to April 1995, New York City was obligated to reimburse MTA New York City Transit for the transit police
force. As aresult of the April 1995 merger of the transit police force into the New York City Police Department,
New York City no longer reimburses MTA New York City Transit for the costs of policing the Transit System
on an ongoing basis since policing of the Transit System is being carried out by the New York City Police
Department at New York City’s expense. MTA New York City Transit continues to be responsible for certain
capital costs and support services related to such police activities, a portion of which is reimbursed by New
York City. MTA New York City Transit received approximately $0 in the six months ended June 30, 2018 and
$6.2 in the six months ended June 30, 2017 from New York City for the reimbursement of transit police costs.
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MTAHQ bills MTA Metro-North Railroad through its consolidated services for MTA police costs in the New
Haven line of which MTA Metro-North Railroad recovers approximately 65% from Connecticut Department
of Transportation. The amounts billed for the periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were $11.3 and $10.7,
respectively. The amounts recovered for the periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were approximately $7.3
and $6.9, respectively.

Federal law and regulations require a paratransit system for passengers who are not able to ride the buses and
trains because of their disabilities. Pursuant to an agreement between New York City and the MTA, MTA New
York City Transit, effective July 1, 1993, assumed operating responsibility for all paratransit service required by
the Americans with Disability Act of 1990. Services are provided by private vendors under contract with MTA
New York City Transit. New York City reimburses MTA New York City Transit for the lesser of 33% of net
paratransit operating expenses defined as labor, transportation, and administrative costs less fare revenues and
6% of gross urban tax proceeds as described above or, an amount that is 20% greater than the amount paid by
New York City for the preceding calendar year. Fare revenues and New York City’s reimbursement aggregated
approximately $108.6 for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and $974° for the six months ended June 30, 2017.

Grants and Appropriations — Grants and appropriations for cap? .1 projects are recorded when requests are
submitted to the funding agencies for reimbursement of capital /£ | hditures meeting eligibility requirements.
These amounts are reported separately after Net Non-opera .g Re. nues in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.

Operating and Non-operating Expenses — Operating’ .nd non-operating ¢xpenses are recognized in the
accounting period in which the liability is incurred. Al xpense(irelated to operating the MTA (e.g. salaries,
insurance, depreciation, etc.) are reported as operating. =nensed All other expenses (e.g. interest on long-term
debt, subsidies paid to counties, etc.) are reported as non-_ 27 .ing expenses.

Liability Insurance — FMTAC, an insurance captive subsidia._ »f MTA, operates a liability insurance program
(“ELF”) that insures certain claims in excess 12, self-insurce etention limits of the agencies on both a
retrospective (claims arising from incidents tha occuiic  "nfare October 31, 2003) and prospective (claims
arising from incidents that occurred on or after O« aber/ ., 20u0) basis. For claims arising from incidents that
occurred on or after November 1, 2006, but before' ‘of cmber 1, 2009, the self-insured retention limits are: $8
for MTA New York City Transit, MaBST = MTA L s, MTA Long Island Rail Road, and MTA Metro-North
Railroad; $2.3 for MTA Long Island/ as ai. MTA S ten Island Railway; and $1.6 for MTAHQ and MTA
Bridges and Tunnels. For claims arj< 1g from acidents | iat occurred on or after November 1, 2009, but before
November 1, 2012, the self-insure/ ‘etentiof '$9 for MTA New York City Transit, MaBSTOA, MTA
Bus, MTA Long Island Rail Road a.. "M7 { Metro-North Railroad; $2.6 for MTA Long Island Bus and MTA
Staten Island Railway; and $1.9 for M. 9Q and MTA Bridges and Tunnels. Effective October 31, 2015, the
self-insured retention limits<” = werc . =reased to the following amounts: $11 for MTA New York City
Transit, MaBSTOA, MTA( ‘us, M. ong Is..hd Rail Road and MTA Metro-North Railroad; $3.2 for MTA
Staten Island Railway, ' AHQ and M\ Bridges and Tunnels. The maximum amount of claims arising out of
any one occurrence is ti.. natal assets of | ¢ program available for claims, but in no event greater than $50. The
retrospective portion contai. the same /' surance agreements, participant retentions, and limits as existed under
the ELF program for occurreri. »hap! -ning on or before October 30, 2003. On a prospective basis, FMTAC
issues insurance policies indemrn..  .g the other MTA Group entities above their specifically assigned self-
insured retention with a limit of $50 per occurrence with a $50 annual aggregate. FMTAC charges appropriate
annual premiums based on loss experience and exposure analysis to maintain the fiscal viability of the program.
On June 30, 2018, the balance of the assets in this program was $138.9.

MTA also maintains an All-Agency Excess Liability Insurance Policy that affords the MTA Group additional
coverage limits of $350 for a total limit of $400 ($350 excess of $50). In certain circumstances, when the assets
in the program described in the preceding paragraph are exhausted due to payment of claims, the All-Agency
Excess Liability Insurance will assume the coverage position of $50.

On March 1, 2018, the “nonrevenue fleet” automobile liability policy program was renewed. This program
provides third-party auto liability insurance protection for the MTA Group with the exception of MTA New
York City Transit and MTA Bridges and Tunnels. The policy provides $11 per occurrence limit with a $0.5 per
occurrence deductible for MTA Long Island Rail Road, MTA Staten Island Railway, MTA Police, MTA Metro-
North Railroad, MTA Inspector General and MTA Headquarters. FMTAC renewed its deductible buy back policy,
where it assumes the liability of the agencies for their deductible.
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On March 1, 2018, the “Access-A-Ride” automobile liability policy program was renewed. This program
provides third-party auto liability insurance protection for the MTA New York City Transit’s Access-A-Ride
program, including the contracted operators. This policy provides a $3 per occurrence limit with a $1 per
occurrence deductible.

On December 15, 2017, FMTAC renewed the primary coverage on the Station Liability and Force Account
liability policies $11 per occurrence loss for MTA Metro-North Railroad and MTA Long Island Rail Road.

Property Insurance — Effective May 1, 2018, FMTAC renewed the all-agency property insurance program.
For the annual period commencing May 1, 2018, FMTAC directly insures property damage claims of the Related
Entities in excess of a $25 per occurrence deductible, subject to an annual $75 aggregate deductible. The total
program annual limit is $800 per occurrence and in the annual aggregate for Flood and Earthquake covering
property of the Related Entities collectively. FMTAC is reinsured in the domestic, Asian, London, European and
Bermuda reinsurance markets for this coverage. Losses occurring after exhaustion of the deductible aggregate
are subject to a deductible of $7.5 per occurrence. The property insurance policy provides replacement cost
coverage for all risks (including Earthquake, Flood and Wind) of di* _t physical loss or damage to all real and
personal property, with minor exceptions. The policy also provid s extra expense and business interruption
coverage.

FMTAC’s property insurance program has been expanded to“ aclude » S of fully collateralized earthquake
coverage for an event of a certain index value and for storr’ surge coverag. “or losses from storm surges that
surpass specified trigger levels in the New York Harbor of Long Island Sound and are associated with named
storms that occur at any point in the three year period # ym Max' 23, 2017 to April 30, 2020. The expanded
protection is reinsured by MetroCat Re Ltd. 2017-1, & ermud( special purpose insurer independent from the
MTA and formed to provide FMTAC with capital markc. 2 .d property reinsurance. The MetroCat Re Ltd.
2017-1 reinsurance policy is fully collateralized by a Regu.. ‘on 114 trust invested in U.S. Treasury Money
Market Funds. The additional coverage providad is parametric. nd available for storm surge losses resulting
from a storm that causes water levels that reacli «o'. wified index values, and also for an earthquake event of
a certain index value.

With respect to acts of terrorism, FMTAC provic 14 irect coverage that is reinsured by the United States
Government for 82% of “certified” losa™ .2018, « % of “certified” losses in 2019 and 80% of “certified”
losses in 2020, as covered by the Terrs' .sm k= k Insurc, =e Program Reauthorization Act (“TRIPRA”) of 2015.
The remaining 18% (2018) , 19% (2 19) and .0% (202" ) of the Related Entities’ losses arising from an act of
terrorism would be covered under # : additia .n policy described below. No federal compensation will
be paid unless the aggregate industr; sy’ .d losses exceed a trigger of $160 in 2018, $180 in 2019 and $200
in 2020. The United States governmen.. :einsurance is in place through December 31, 2020.

To supplement the reinsurd ce to - “TAC" wough the TRIPRA, MTA obtained an additional commercial
reinsurance policy with v .ous reinsui. \ce carriers in the domestic, London and European marketplaces. That
policy provides coverag’ for (1) 18% o ny “certified” act of terrorism up to a maximum recovery of $193.5
for any one occurrence an._ 2 the annual ggregate during 2018, 19% of any “certified” act of terrorism up to a
maximum recovery of $204.2 r any ¢' ¢ occurrence and in the annual aggregate during 2019 and 20% of any
“certified” act of terrorism up to <. ¥’ aum recovery of $215 for any one occurrence and in the annual aggregate
during 2020 (2) the TRIPRA FMTAC captive deductible (per occurrence and on an aggregated basis) that applies
when recovering under the “certified” acts of terrorism insurance or (3) 100% of any “certified” terrorism loss
which exceeds $5 and less than the $160 TRIPRA trigger up to a maximum recovery of $160 for any occurrence
and in the annual aggregate during 2018, or 100% of any “certified” terrorism loss which exceeds $5 and less
than the $180 TRIPRA triggerup to a maximum recovery of $180 for any occurrence and in the annual aggregate
during 2019 or 100% of any “certified” terrorism loss which exceeds $5 and less than the $200 TRIPRA trigger
up to a maximum recovery of $200 for any occurrence and in the annual aggregate during 2020.

Additionally, MTA purchases coverage for acts of terrorism which are not certified under TRIPRA to a maximum
of $193.5 in 2018 , $204.3 in 2019 and $215 in 2020. Recovery under the terrorism policy is subject to a
deductible of $25 per occurrence and $75 in the annual aggregate in the event of multiple losses during the
policy year. Should the Related Entities’ deductible in any one year exceed $75 future losses in that policy year
are subject to a deductible of $7.5. The terrorism coverages expire at midnight on May 1, 2020.
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3.

Pension Plans — In accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pensions, the MTA recognizes a net pension liability for each qualified pension plan in which
it participates, which represents the excess of the total pension liability over the fiduciary net position of the
qualified pension plan, or the MTA’s proportionate share thereof in the case of a cost-sharing multiple-employer
plan, measured as of the measurement date of each of the qualified pension plans. Changes in the net pension
liability during the year are recorded as pension expense, or as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows
of resources depending on the nature of the change, in the year incurred. Those changes in net pension liability
that are recorded as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources that arise from changes
in actuarial assumptions or other inputs and differences between expected or actual experience are amortized
over the weighted average remaining service life of all participants in the respective qualified pension plan and
recorded as a component of pension expense beginning with the year in which they are incurred. Projected
earnings on qualified pension plan investments are recognized as a component of pension expense. Differences
between projected and actual investment earnings are reported as deferred inflows of resources or deferred
outflows of resources and amortized as a component of pension expense on a closed basis over a five-year period
beginning with the year in which the difference occurred.

The GASB has not issued guidance on how to account for pensi< liabilities and related deferrals for interim
financial reporting. The MTA has elected to record as pensions pei. wthe applicable first six months of 2017
employer contributions made to the pension plans subsequent o the mc wrement of the net pension liability,
which were recorded as deferred outflows for the year-end< * December 5. 2017. In turn, any contributions
made in the first six months of 2018 were recorded as defs ed outflows.

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions — In¢ .ine 200¢ " GASB issued Statement No. 45, Accounting
and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postempic, wentd cnefits Other Than Pensions. This Statement
established standards for the measurement, recognition, anc_~ .play of OPEB expense/expenditures and related
liabilities (assets), note disclosures, and if applicable, required s »lementary information (“RSI”) in the financial
reports of state and local governmental employes’ "a.lune 2005, G ©B issued Statement No. 47, Accounting for
Termination Benefits. This statement established ccou.. +andards for termination benefits. For termination
benefits provided through an existing defined bei fit O =B picn, the provisions of this Statement should be
implemented simultaneously with the requirement. »f yASB Statement No. 45. The MTA has adopted these
standards for its Postemployment Benefi“m¢her Tha Pensions.

Premium Discount Amortization — Juring) )17, M1. Bridges and Tunnels changed its method of amortizing
bond premiums and discounts to the' onstant/ .eld2athad, which is a more preferable accounting principle than
the principle used in previous yeaic “The ¢/ .stant yicid method of amortization is commonly used by state and
local governments and public authorit. .d is the suggested method of amortization under GASB Codification
130, Interest Costs-ImputationThis chan, »in method is accounted for on a prospective basis.

CASH AND INVESTMZ NTS

Cash - The Bank balance nre insured u  to $250 thousand in the aggregate by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) for e« wbank in/ hich funds are deposited. Cash, including deposits in transit, consists
of the following at June 30, 20+ »ad{ ecember 31, 2017 (in millions):

June 30, 2018 December 31, 2017
Carrying Bank Carrying Bank
Amount Balance Amount Balance
(Unaudited)
FDIC insured or collateralized deposits $ 105 S 51§ 88 § 87
Uninsured and not collateralized 519 400 195 143
Total Balance $ 624§ 451 § 283 § 230

All collateralized deposits are held by the MTA or its agent in the MTA’s name.
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The MTA, on behalf of itself, its affiliates and subsidiaries, invests funds which are not immediately required for
the MTA’s operations in securities permitted by the New York State Public Authorities Law, including repurchase
agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. Treasury notes, and U.S. Treasury zero coupon bonds.

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
MTA will not be able to recover the value of its deposits. While the MTA does not have a formal deposit policy
for custodial credit risk, New York State statues govern the MTA’s investment policies. The MTA’s uninsured
and uncollateralized deposits are primarily held by commercial banks in the metropolitan New York area and
are subject to the credit risks of those institutions.

Investments - MTA holds most of its investments at a custodian bank. The custodian must meet certain banking
institution criteria enumerated in MTA’s Investment Guidelines. The Investment Guidelines also require the
Treasury Division to hold at least $100 of its portfolio with a separate emergency custodian bank. The purpose
of this deposit is in the event that the MTA’s main custodian cannot execute transactions due to an emergency
outside of the custodian’s control, the MTA has an immediate alternate source of liquidity.

The MTA categorizes its fair value measurements within the faj# value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the vali* an inputs used to measure the fair value of
the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for' der.. al assets; Level 2 inputs are significant
other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobsef' able inpw.

The MTA had the following recurring fair value measurem? .ts as of June 30," 518 and December 31, 2017 (in
millions):

December
June 30, Fair Value M <ments 31, Fair Value Measurements
Investments by fair value level 2018 Level 1 L el2 2017 Level 1 Level 2
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Debt Securities:
U.S. treasury securities $ 4305 $ 3,957 » 353 $ 4333 $ 4,053 $ 280
U.S. government agency 364 Tt 170 387 144 243
Commercial paper - - 777 877 - 877
Asset-backed securities 30 - 30 39 - 39
Commercial mortgage-backed
securities 54 - 54 30 - 30
Foreign bonds 4 4 - 9 9 -
Corporate bonds '8 118 - 149 149 -
Tax Benefit Lease Investments:
U.S. treasury securities 175 175 - 177 177 -
U.S. government agency 109 - 109 114 - 114
Repurchase agreements 93 93 - 122 122 -
Money Market Funds 6 - 6 6 - 6
Total debt securities 5,035 4,536 1,499 6,243 4,654 1,589
Equity securities - - - 25 25 -
Total investments by fair value
level 6,035 § 4,536 § 1,499 6,268 $ 4,679 $ 1,589
Other 121 120
Total Investments $ 6,156 $ 6,388

Investments classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, totaling $4,536 and $4,679 as of June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively, are valued using quoted prices in active markets. Fair values include accrued
interest to the extent that interest is included in the carrying amounts. Accrued interest on investments other
than Treasury bills and coupons is included in other receivables on the statement of net position. The MTA’s
investment policy states that securities underlying repurchase agreements must have a fair value at least equal
to the cost of the investment.
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U.S. Government agency securities totaling $279 and $357, U.S, treasury securities totaling $353 and $280,
commercial paper totaling $777 and $877, asset-backed securities totaling $30 and $39, commercial mortgage-
backed securities totaling $54 and $30, and money market instruments totaling $6 and $6, as of June 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017, respectively, classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, are valued using matrix
pricing techniques maintained by a third party pricing service. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based
on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices and indices. Fair value is defined as the quoted market
value on the last trading day of the period. These prices are obtained from a third party pricing service or our
custodian bank.

In connection with certain lease transactions described in Note 8, the MTA has purchased securities or entered
into payment undertaking, letter of credit, or similar type agreements or instruments (guaranteed investment
contracts) with financial institutions, which generate sufficient proceeds to make basic rent and purchase option
payments under the terms of the leases. If the obligors do not perform, the MTA may have an obligation to make
the related rent payments.

All investments, other than the investments restricted for capital lease( vligations, are either insured or registered
and held by the MTA or its agent in the MTA’s name. Investments ref icted for capital lease obligations are either
held by MTA or its agent in the MTA’s name or held by a custod” .. ».collateral for MTA’s obligation to make
rent payments under capital lease obligations. Investments had cightc. wwerage yields of 1.83% and 1.18% for
the six months ended June 30, 2018 and year ended December 31, 2017, wectively.

Credit Risk — At June 30, 2018 and December 31, 20174 e following credit quality rating has been assigned
to MTA investments by a nationally recognized rating of anizati<"» (in millions):

Quality Rating Junc Percent of December 31, Percent of
Standard & Poor’s 2018 Portfolio 2017 Portfolio
(Unau_ .ted)
A-1+ $ i 4% $ 336 5%
A-1 718 13% 869 14%
AAA 184 3% 101 2%
AA+ 50 1% 53 1%
AA 9 0% 24 1%
A 71 1% 91 1%
BB - - 1 -
BBB 41 1% 43 1%
Not rated 99 2% 154 2%
U.S. Government 4,539 75% 4,571 73%
Total 6,035 100% 6,243 100%
Equities and capital leases 121 145
Total investment $ 6,156 $ 6,388

§

Interest Rate Risk — Interest 1. wsis” .s the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value
of the investment. Duration is a me._are of interest rate risk. The greater the duration of a bond or portfolio of
bonds, the greater its price volatility will be in response to a change in interest rate risk and vice versa. Duration
is an indicator of bond price’s sensitivity to a 100 basis point change in interest rates.
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June 30, December 31,
2018 2017
(Unaudited)
Duration Duration
(In millions) Fair Value (in years) Fair Value (in years)
U.S. Treasuries $ 4,305 282 $ 4,333 2.19
Federal Agencies 364 5.26 387 4.15
Tax benefits lease investments 284 8.49 291 9.12
Repurchase agreement 93 - 122 -
Certificate of deposits 6 - 6 -
Commercial paper 777 - 877 0.04
Asset-backed securities " 30 1.67 39 1.08
Commercial mortgage-backed securities " 54 5.33 30 5.63
Foreign bonds 4 6.64 9 -
Corporates ¥ 118 4.44 149 5.27
Total fair value 6,00 6,243
Modified duration 2.87 2.37
Equities @ - 25
Total 6,050 6,268
Investments with no duration reported 121 120

Total investments f 6,156 $ 6,388

(W These securities are only included in the FMTAC portfolio.

MTA is a public benefit corporation established under the i = York Public Authorities Law. MTA’s Treasury
Division is responsible for the investment management of thc' mds of the component units. The investment
activity covers all operating and capital funds,{ . “na.bond prc ceds, and the activity is governed by State
statutes, bond resolutions and the Board-adopted i westmc _ 'alines (the “Investment Guidelines™). The MTA
Act currently permits the Related Entities to inves. m th’ rollowing general types of obligations:

e obligations of the State or the United Sw*2s Gove. nent;
e obligations of which the principal/ (d inte st are gu_:anteed by the State or the United States government;
e obligations issued or guarantees 1y certa’ © -gencies;

e repurchase agreements fully collatc. ' :d by the obligations of the foregoing United States Government and
Federal agencies;

e certain certificates of def usit of ba. s or tre..t companies in the State;
e certain banker’s acce’ ances with a n. ‘furity of 90 days or less;

e certain commercial papc..

e certain municipal obligations,  »d

e certain mutual funds up to $10 in the aggregate.

MTA adopted NYS Statutory Requirements with respect to credit risk of its investments, which include, but are
not limited to the following sections:

i. Public Authorities Law Sections 1265(4) (MTA), 1204(19) (MTA New York City Transit Authority) and
553(21) (MTA Bridges and Tunnels);

ii. Public Authorities Law Section 2925 Investment of funds by public authorities and public benefit
corporations; general provisions; and

iii.State Finance Law Article 15 — EXCELSIOR LINKED DEPOSIT ACT.

MTA Investment Guidelines limit the dollar amount invested in banker acceptances, commercial paper, and
obligations issued or guaranteed by certain Federal agencies to $250 at cost. There are no dollar limits on the
purchase of obligations of the United States government, the State or obligations the principal and interest of
which are guaranteed by the State or the United States government. Investments in collateralized repurchase
agreements are limited by dealer or bank’s capital. MTA can invest no greater than $300 with a bank or dealer
rated in Tier 1 (i.e. $1 billion or more of capital).

Master Page # 49 of 186 - Audit’‘Committee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metropolitap X Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
Transportation Authority as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

4.

FMTAC is created as a MTA subsidiary and is licensed as a captive direct insurer and reinsurer by the New York
State Department of Insurance. As such, FMTAC is responsible for the investment management of its funds.
The investment activity is governed by State statutes and the FMTAC Board adopted investment guidelines. The
minimum surplus to policyholders and reserve instruments are invested in the following investments:

e obligations of the United States or any agency thereof provided such agency obligations are guaranteed as to
principal and interest by the United States;

e direct obligations of the State or of any county, district or municipality thereof;
e any state, territory, possession or any other governmental unit of the United States;

e certain bonds of agencies or instrumentalities of any state, territory, possession or any other governmental
unit of the United States;

e the obligations of a solvent American institution which are rated investment grade or higher (or the equivalent
thereto) by a securities rating agency; and

e certain mortgage backed securities in amounts no greater than £ ¢ percent of FMTAC’s admitted assets.

FMTAC may also invest non-reserve instruments in a broades ‘angc € investments including the following
general types of obligations:

e certain equities; and

e certain mutual funds.

FMTAC is prohibited from making the following investi. ats
e investment in an insolvent entity;

e any investment as a general partner; and

e any investment found to be against public polic

FMTAC investment guidelines do include other 1 * _stments, but FMTAC has limited itself to the above
permissible investments at this time.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pensions — The MTA Related Grc s 4 onsor and participate in several defined benefit pension plans for
their employees, the Long Island Rail ki . Company Plan for Additional Pensions (the “Additional Plan), the
Manhattan and Bronx Surfas it Ope. ving Authority Pension Plan (the “MaBSTOA Plan”), the Metro-
North Commuter Railroag’ ~ompany. “ash Bcance Plan (the “MNR Cash Balance Plan”), the Metropolitan
Transportation Authorit’ Defined Be. fit Plan (the “MTA Defined Benefit Plan”), the New York City

Employees’ Retirement'=_wtem (“NYCE! 5”), and the New York State and Local Employees’ Retirement System
(“NYSLERS”). A brief des.. »tion of e/ n of these pension plans follows:

Plan Descriptions
1. Additional Plan —

The Additional Plan is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement, disability
and survivor benefits to members and beneficiaries. The Additional Plan covers MTA Long Island Rail
Road employees hired effective July 1, 1971 and prior to January 1, 1988. The Additional Plan’s activities,
including establishing and amending contributions and benefits are administered by the Board of Managers
of Pensions. The Additional Plan is a governmental plan and accordingly, is not subject to the funding and
other requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”). The Additional
Plan is a closed plan.

The Board of Managers of Pensions is comprised of the Chairman of the MTA, MTA Chief Financial Officer,
MTA Director of Labor Relations and the agency head of each participating Employer or the designee of a
member of the Board of Managers. The Additional Plan for Additional Pensions may be amended by action
of the MTA Board.
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The pension plan has a separately issued financial statement that is publicly available and contains required
descriptions and supplemental information regarding the employee benefit plan. The financial statements
may be obtained at www.mta.info or by writing to, Long Island Rail Road, Controller, 93-02 Sutphin
Boulevard — mail code 1421, Jamaica, New York 11435.

2. MaBSTOA Plan —

The MaBSTOA Plan is a single-employer defined benefit governmental retirement plan administered by
MTA New York City Transit covering MaBSTOA employees, who are specifically excluded from NYCERS.
The Plan provides retirement as well as death, accident and disability benefits. Effective January 1, 1999,
in order to afford managerial and non-represented MaBSTOA employees the same pension rights as like
title employees in MTA New York City Transit Authority, membership in the MaBSTOA Plan is optional.

The Board of Administration, established in 1963, determines the eligibility of employees and beneficiaries
for retirement and death benefits. The MaBSTOA Plan assigns authority to the MaBSTOA Board to modify,
amend or restrict the MaBSTOA Plan or to discontinue it altoga’ :er, subject, however, to the obligations
under its collective bargaining agreements. The Board is com: sed of five members: two representatives
from the Transport Workers Union, Local 100 (“TWU”) and/ e employer representatives.

The pension plan issues a publicly available financial repos hat 1.0 ndes financial statements and required
supplementary information. This report may be obtaineddy writing to. A Comptroller, 2 Broadway, 16th
Floor, New York, New York, 10004 or at www.mta.inf’

3. MNR Cash Balance Plan —

The MNR Cash Balance Plan is a single employc. ‘efid .d benefit pension plan administered by MTA
Metro-North Railroad. The MNR Cash Balance Plan co.. non-collectively bargained employees, formerly
employed by Conrail, who joined MTA Metro-North Railic '.as management employees between January
1 and June 30, 1983, and were still employ . "wmaf Decembe. 71, 1988. Effective January 1, 1989, these
management employees became covered une_ v the 1. ANarth Commuter Railroad Defined Contribution
Plan for Management Employees (the “Manag men# lan”) and the MNR Cash Balance Plan was closed to
new participants. The assets of the Managemc¢. 7 .an were merged with the Metropolitan Transportation
Authority Defined Benefit Plan for Na aresentc. Employees (now titled as the Metropolitan Transportation
Authority Defined Benefit Pensig’ . Plan 1s of th. asset transfer date of July 14, 1995. The MNR Cash
Balance Plan is designed to satig’, the apy .cable requirements for governmental plans under Section 401(a)
and 501(a) of the Internal Rex. e Cod .0 ngly, the MNR Cash Balance Plan is tax-exempt and is
not subject to the provisions of .. *S/

The MTA Board of Trustesmanoints Roard of Managers of Pensions consisting of five individuals who
may, but need not, be a¢ .cers 6. _mploy. »of the company. The Board of Managers control and manage
the operation and ad< .nistration ¢ the MNR Cash Balance Plan’s activities, including establishing and
amending contribut’ as and benefits

Further information abc ithe MN” Cash Balance Plan is more fully described in the separately issued
financial statements that c.. he ¢* .ained by writing to MTA Comptroller, 2 Broadway, 16th Floor, New
York, New York, 10004. Thes. atements are also available at www.mta.info.

4. MTA Defined Benefit Plan —

The MTA Defined Benefit Pension Plan (the “MTA Plan” or the “Plan”) is a cost sharing, multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan. The Plan covers certain MTA Long Island Rail Road non-represented employees
hired after December 31, 1987, MTA Metro-North Railroad non-represented employees, certain employees
of the former MTA Long Island Bus hired prior to January 23, 1983, MTA Police, MTA Long Island Rail
Road represented employees hired after December 31, 1987, certain MTA Metro-North Railroad represented
employees, MTA Staten Island Railway represented and non-represented employees and certain employees
of the MTA Bus Company (“MTA Bus”). The MTA, MTA Long Island Rail Road, MTA Metro-North
Railroad, MTA Staten Island Railway and MTA Bus contribute to the MTA Plan, which offers distinct
retirement, disability retirement, and death benefit programs for their covered employees and beneficiaries.
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The MTA Defined Benefit Plan is administered by the Board of Managers of Pensions. The MTA Plan,
including benefits and contributions, may be amended by action of the MTA Board.

The pension plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information. This report may be obtained by writing to the MTA Comptroller, 2 Broadway,
16th Floor, New York, New York, 10004 or at www.mta.info.

5. NYCERS —

NYCERS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer retirement system for employees of The City of New York
(“The City”) and certain other governmental units whose employees are not otherwise members of The
City’s four other pension systems. NYCERS administers the New York City Employees Retirement System
qualified pension plan.

NYCERS was established by an act of the Legislature of the State of New York under Chapter 427 of the
Laws of 1920. NYCERS functions in accordance with the goveming statutes contained in the New York
State Retirement and Social Security Law (“RSSL”), and the Ad¢ nistrative Code of the City of New York
(“ACNY?”), which are the basis by which benefit terms and emp’ .yer and member contribution requirements
are established and amended. The head of the retirement sys’ ... nthe Board of Trustees.

NYCERS issues a publicly available comprehensive annuai.inancial._¥s report may be obtained by writing
to the New York City Employees’ Retirement System at 2 5 Adams Strec.. “uite 2300, Brooklyn, NY 11201-
3724 or at www.nycers.org.

All employees of the Related Group holding perm® .ent ciy’ service positions in the competitive or labor
class are required to become members of NYCEKC ix # inths after their date of appointment, but may
voluntarily elect to join NYCERS prior to their manda.. membership date. All other eligible employees
have the option of joining NYCERS upon appointment < »anytime thereafter. NYCERS members are

assigned to a “tier” depending on the date ¢ ""mmembershi;

Tier 1 All members who joined priot » Juld 1, 19/5.

Tier 2 All members who joi™ "hon or a1 = July 1, 1973 and before July 27, 1976.

Tier 3 Only certain mex’ sers wh  joined o. or after July 27, 1976 and prior to April 1, 2012

Tier 4 All members (v. % cer’ .in member exceptions) who joined on or after July 27, 1976 but
prior to April 1,20+ /lembers who joined on or after July 27, 1976 but prior to September
1, 1983 reta=well righe. nd benefits of Tier 3 membership.

Tier 6 Memk s who joiri. ‘on or after April 1, 2012

6. NYSLERS —

NYSLERS is a cost-sharii,_ »mu’ ple-employer defined benefit retirement system. The New York State
Comptroller’s Office adminisic. the NYSLERS. The net position of NYSLERS is held in the New York
State Common Retirement Fund (the “Fund”), which was established to hold all assets and record changes
in fiduciary net position allocated to the plan. The Comptroller of the State of New York serves as the trustee
of the Fund and is the administrative head of NYSLERS. NYSLERS’ benefits are established under the
provisions of the New York State RSSL. Once a public employer elects to participate in NYSLERS, the
election is irrevocable. The New York State Constitution provides that pension membership is a contractual
relationship and plan benefits cannot be diminished or impaired. Benefits can be changed for future members
only by enactment of a State statute.

NYSLERS is included in New York State’s financial report as a pension trust fund. This report may be found
at www.osc.state.ny.us/retire/publications/index.php or obtained by writing to the New York State and Local
Retirement System, 110 State Street, Albany, NY 12244.
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Pension legislation enacted in 1973, 1976, 1983, 2009 and 2012 established distinct classes of tier membership.

Tier 1 All members who joined prior to July 1, 1973.

Tier 2 All members who joined on or after July 1, 1973 and before July 27, 1976.
Generally, certain members who joined on or after July 27, 1976 but before January 1, 2010

Tier 3 and all other members who joined on or after July 27, 1976, but before September 1, 1983.
Generally, members (with certain member exceptions) who joined on or after September 1,

Tier 4 1983, but before January 1, 2010.

Tier 5 Members who joined on or after January 1, 2010, but before April 1, 2012.

Tier 6 Members who joined on or after April 1, 2012.

Benefits Provided

1. Additional Plan —

Pension Benefits — An employee who retires under /. ¢ Additional Pic. yeither: (a) after completing at
least 20 years of credited service, or (b) after both att/ .1ing age 65 while in service and completing at least
five years of credited service, or in the case of thog’ who wg' _active employees on January 1, 1988, after
completing at least 10 years of credited service, is ¢._‘tled# an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly
for life. Payments commence to an employee referred« * . (a) only after attaining age 50, or (b) only after
attaining age 65.

Benefit and contribution provisions, which® ¢'_"wan the po.at in time at which participants last entered
qualifying service and their length of credit. ' servie , stablished by, and may only be amended by
the MTA Long Island Rail Road, subject to ti \ob” zations of the MTA Long Island Rail Road under its
collective bargaining agreements.

The Additional Plan has both conts sutor, 'nd non' »ntributory requirements, with retirement ages varying
from 50 to 65 depending upon £ particip 1t’s lengt. of credited service. Pension benefits payable to age
65, where eligible, are calculat’ «as 2% _ Oyee’s applicable final average earnings for each year of
qualifying service up to 25 yeai.. 'usd 5% of applicable final average earnings for each year of qualifying
service in excess of 25 years. For pc.. an benefits payable at and after age 65, regardless of whether benefits
commenced before or af ~mplo, » attained age 65, benefits are calculated in the same manner as
pension benefits payab’ prior to. = 65 ea ept that the amount so determined is reduced by a percentage of
the employee’s annu# (not includii. \any supplemental annuity) value at age 65 under the Federal Railroad
Retirement Act.

Participants who entere . halifying ervice before July 1, 1978 are not required to contribute. Participants
who entered qualifying serv. ol or after July 1, 1978, are required to contribute 3% of their wages. The
MTA Long Island Rail Road cc. aributes additional amounts based on actuarially determined amounts that
are designed to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when due.

Death and Disability Benefits — Participants who become disabled after accumulating 10 years of credited
service and who meet the requirements as described in the Additional Plan receive a disability benefit.
Disability pension benefits are calculated based on the participant’s qualifying service and a percentage of
final average compensation reduced by the full amount of benefit under the Federal Railroad Retirement Act.
Survivorship benefits are paid to the participant’s spouse when a survivorship option is elected or when an
active participant has not divested his or her spouse of benefits. The survivorship benefit is payable at the
time of death or when the vested participant would have attained an eligible age. The amount payable is in
the form of an annuity. A lump sum death benefit no greater than five thousand dollars is payable upon death
on behalf of a non-vested participant or vested participant whose pension rights were waived.

Retirement benefits establishment and changes for representative employees are collectively bargained and
must be ratified by the respective union and the MTA Board. For non represented employees, amendments
must be approved by the MTA Board.
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2. MaBSTOA Plan —

The MaBSTOA Plan provides retirement as well as death, accident, and disability benefits. The benefits
provided by the MaBSTOA Plan are generally similar to the benefits provided to MTA New York City Transit
participants in NYCERS. Benefits vest after either 5, 10, or 20 years of credited service, depending on the
date of membership.

In 2008, NYCERS had determined that Tier 4 employees are and have been eligible for a post retirement
death benefit retroactive to 1986. In June 2012, the MTA Board approved an amendment to the MaBSTOA
Plan to provide for incorporation of this benefit.

Tier 1 —

Eligibility and Benefit Calculation: Tier 1 members must be at least age 50 with the completion of 20 years
of service to be eligible to collect a service retirement benefit. Generally, the benefit is 1.50% for service
before March 1, 1962, plus 2.0% for service from March 1, 1962.to June 30, 1970, plus 2.5% for service
after June 30, 1970. The accumulated percentage, up to a maxin’ n of 50%, is multiplied by the member’s
compensation, which is the greater of earned salary during the y/ ¢ prior to retirement. Once the accumulated
reaches 50%, the percentage for each further year of service ¢ /< nback to 1.5%. The percentage in excess
of 50% is multiplied by the final compensation, which is th' aighes. ‘werage earnings over five consecutive
years.

Ordinary Disability Benefits — Generally, ordinary disz* .lity benefits, are provided to eligible Tier 1 members
after ten years of service with the benefit equal to t& greater’ /f the service retirement percentages or 25%
multiplied by final compensation.

Accidental Disability Benefits — The accidental disabili. enefit to eligible Tier 1 members is equal to 75%
of final compensation reduced by 100% of any worker’s ¢ mensation payments.

Ordinary Death Benefits — For Tier 1 mem =ts ... "maaunt of the death benefit is a lump sum equal to six
months’ pay for members with less than 10 § ars of¢ civ. 7a lump sum equal to a 12 months of pay for
members with more than 10 but less than 20 ye. s ¢* service, and a lump sum equal to two times 12 months
of pay for members with more than 20.7ears of . vice.

Tier 2 —

Eligibility and Benefit Calculgl sn: Tietd - “womust be at least age 55 with the completion of 25 years
of service to be eligible to colic_ha ss' /ice retirement benefit. Generally, the benefit equals 50% of final
3-year average compensation, defii. 1s the highest average earnings over three consecutive years, plus 1%
of final 5-year average cewn msation, . »fined as the highest average earnings over five consecutive years,
per year of credited serz’ _e in ex. s of 2u._»ars. For early retirement, members must be at least age 50 with
the completion of at ) ist 20 years' “service. The benefit is determined in the same manner as the service
retirement but not g ater than 2.0% f final 3-year average compensation per year of service.

Ordinary Disability Benc, s— Geng ly, ordinary disability benefits, are provided to eligible Tier 2 members
after ten years of service w._nthel cnefit equal to the greater of the service retirement percentages or 25%
multiplied by the final 5- year.  .rage compensation.

Accidental Disability Benefits — The accidental disability benefit to eligible Tier 2 members is equal to 75%
of the final 5-year average compensation reduced by any worker’s compensation payments.

Ordinary Death Benefits — Tier 2 members require the completion of 90 days of service to receive a lump
sum equal to 3 times salary, raised to the next multiple of $1,000 dollars.

Tiers 3, 4 —

Eligibility and Benefit Calculation: Tier 3 and 4 members in the Regular 62 and 5 Plan must be at least age
62 with the completion of at least 5 years of service to be eligible to collect a service retirement benefit.
Generally, the benefit for members with at least 20 years of service, is equal to 2.0% of Final Average
Compensation (“FAC”) for the first 30 years of service plus 1.5% of FAC for years of service in excess
of 30. FAC is defined as the highest average earnings over three consecutive years, of which earnings in
a year cannot exceed 110% of the average of the two preceding years. If the member completes less than
20 years of credited service, the benefit equals 1- 2/3% of FAC multiplied by years of service. For early
retirement, members must be at least age 55 with the completion of at least 5 years of service. The benefit
equals the service retirement benefit reduced by 6% for each of the first two years prior to age 62, and by
3% for years prior to age 60.
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Tier 3 and 4 members in the basic 55/25 Plan must be at least age 55 with the completion of at least 25 years
of service, or be at least age 62 with the completion of at least 5 years of service, to be eligible to collect a
service retirement benefit. Generally, the benefit for members with at least 25 years of service, is equal to
2.0% of FAC for the first 30 years of service plus 1.5% of FAC for years of service in excess of 30. If the
member completes less than 25 years of credited service, the benefit equals 1- 2/3% of FAC multiplied by
years of service.

Tier 4 members in the 57/5 Plan must be at least age 57 with the completion of at least 5 years of service to
be eligible to collect a service retirement benefit. Generally, the benefit for members with at least 20 years
of service, is equal to 2.0% of FAC for the first 30 years of service plus 1.5% of FAC for years of service in
excess of 30. If the member completes less than 20 years of credited service, the benefit equals 1- 2/3% of
FAC multiplied by years of service.

Ordinary and Accidental Disability Benefits — For eligible members of the Regular 62/5 Plan, 57/25Plan
and 57/5 Plan, ordinary and accidental disability benefits, are provided after 10 years of service for ordinary
and no service required for accidental disability benefit. The benefit equals the greater of 1-2/3% of FAC
per year of service and 1/3 of FAC.

Ordinary Death Benefits — For eligible members of the Re ar 62/5 Plan, 55/25 Plan, 57/5 Plan, the
pre-retirement ordinary death benefit is equal to a lump sum/ .= »aual salary times the lesser of completed
years of service and 3. After age 60, the benefit is reduced’ 7 pe. mar, to a maximum reduction of 50%.
Accumulated regular member contributions with interest and one-ha.. »f accumulated additional member
contributions with interest are also payable. Upon retir< ient, the post-rew.. iment benefit is reduced by 50%
and reduced an additional 25% after completion of oy’ year of retirement. After completion of two years of
retirement, the benefit equals 10% of the pre-retires cnt ben< ¢ in force at age 60.

Tier 6 —

Eligibility and Benefit Calculation: Tier 6 members in tho. 7/25 Special Plan must be at least age 55 with
the completion of at least 25 years, or at les 263 with tho' »mpletion of at least 10 years of service, to
be eligible to collect a service retirement be. »fit. Go. ' the benefit for members with at least 25 years
of service, is equal to 2.0% of Final Average" alarv/ 'FAS") for the first 30 years of service plus 1.5% of
FAS for years of service in excess of 30. If thc »¢ nber completes less than 20 years of credited service,
the benefit equals 1- 2/3% of FAS.#" " winlied b; :ears of service. FAS is defined as the highest average
pensionable compensation over fii' . cons_ :utive y. rs.

1

Tier 6 members in the Basic 67 .0 Plan ‘ot least age 63 with the completion of at least 10 years to
be eligible to collect a service' s “reme’ - oenent. Generally, the benefit for members with at least 20 years
of service, is equal to 35% of FAL s 2.0% of FAS for years of service in excess of 20. If the member
completes less than 20 yeanwof creai. ', service, the benefit equals 1-2/3% of FAS multiplied by years of
service. FAS is defined’ s the.. hest av. nge pensionable earnings over five consecutive years. For early
retirement, members/ Jst be at e, hage 55 with the completion of at least 10 years of service. The benefit
equals the service 1 rement benefit >duced by 6.5% for each year early retirement precedes age 63.

Ordinary and Acciden.. WDisabiliti’ 3enefits — For eligible members of the 55/25 Special Plan and the
Basic 63/10 Plan, ordinary " d ac/ uental disability benefits, are provided after 10 years of credited service
for ordinary disability benefit." = cre is no service requirement for accidental disability benefit. The benefit
equals the greater of 1-2/3% of FAS per year of service and 1/3 of FAS.

Ordinary Death Benefits — For eligible members of the 55/25 Special Plan and the Basic 63/10 Plan, the
pre-retirement ordinary death benefit is equal to a lump sum of annual salary times the lesser of completed
years of service and 3. After age 60, the benefit is reduced 5% per year, to a maximum reduction of 50%.
Accumulated regular member contributions with interest and one-half of accumulated additional member
contributions with interest are also payable. Upon retirement, the post-retirement benefit is reduced by 50%
and reduced an additional 25% after completion of one year of retirement. After completion of two years of
retirement, the benefit equals 10% of the pre-retirement benefit in force at age 60.

3. MNR Cash Balance Plan —

Pension Benefits — Participants of the MNR Cash Balance Plan are vested in their benefit upon the earlier of
(a) the completion of 5 years of service with MTA Metro-North Railroad or (b) the attainment of age 62. The
accrued benefit is a participant’s Initial Account Balance increased each month by the benefit escalator. The
benefit escalator is defined as the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (“PBGC”) immediate annuity rate
in effect for December of the year preceding the year for which the determination is being made) divided by
180. The accrued benefit is paid as an escalating annuity. Vested participants are entitled to receive pension
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benefits commencing at age sixty-five. Participants may elect to receive the value of their accumulated plan
benefits as a lump-sum distribution upon retirement or they may elect a monthly life annuity. Participants
may elect to receive their pension in the form of a joint and survivor annuity.

Participants of the MNR Cash Balance Plan are eligible for early retirement benefits upon termination of
employment, the attainment of age 62, or age 60 and completion of 15 years of service, or age 55 and the
completion of 30 years of service. The early retirement benefits paid is the normal retirement pension
deferred to age 65 or an immediate pension equal to the life annuity actuarial equivalent of a participant’s
escalating annuity at normal retirement date indexed by the Initial Benefit Escalator from early retirement
date to normal retirement date and reduced by 5/9 of 1% for each month retirement precedes age 65 up to
60 months and 5/18 of 1% for each month after 60 months.

For members with cash balances who are currently members of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority
Defined Benefit Pension Plan, an additional benefit is provided equal to the amount needed to bring their
total benefits (i.e., Railroad Retirement Tier I and II benefits, Conrail Plan benefits, Cash Balance Plan
benefits, and MTA Defined Benefit Pension Plan benefits) up to a minimum of 65% of their 3-year final
average pay under the MTA Defined Benefit Plan. In no event ;ill the Additional Benefit exceed 2% of
3-year final average pay multiplied by the Conrail Managemen? ,ervice prior to July 1, 1983. This benefit
is payable as a life annuity and is reduced for commencemes =rior to age 65 in the same manner as the
regular cash balance benefit. This additional benefit is pays’ .e ¢ "win the form of a life annuity or 100%
or 50% contingent annuity.

Death Benefits — Benefits are paid to vested participap! beneficiaries 1. 2 event of a participants’ death.
The amount of benefits payable is the participant’s £/ count balance at the date of his or her death. Pre-
retirement death benefits paid for a participant’s dea’ . after 5¢ .s equal to the amount the spouse would have
received had the participant elected retirement unac. the n{ mal form of payment on the day preceding his
death. Pre-retirement death benefits paid for a participa. = death before 55 is equal to the amount the spouse
would have received had the participant survived to age - »nd retired under the normal form of payment
on that date. The benefit is based on servicd Tnthe participal.. »date of death and is payable beginning on
the date the participant would have attained' e 5o.

In lieu of the above benefit, the surviving spot. » ca’ elect to receive the participant’s account balance in a
single lump sum payment immediatelyv_If the p * cipant was not married, the participant’s beneficiary is
entitled to receive the participant’s’ .cc. at Bala, e as of the participant’s date of death in a single lump
sum payment.

4. MTA Defined Benefit Plaf —

Pension Benefits — Retirement v (ts are paid from the Plan to covered MTA Metro-North Railroad,
MTA Staten Island Railwammand post' 1987 MTA Long Island Rail Road employees as service retirement
allowances or early reti .uent« »wance A participant is eligible for a service retirement allowance upon
termination if the part’ .pant satisti. \both age and service requirement. A participant is eligible for a service
retirement allowans upon termina: n if the participant satisfied both age and service requirements. A
participant is eligible . han early reti’ ment allowance upon termination if the participant has attained age 55
and completed at least 16 ars of of dited service. Terminated participants with 5 or more years of credited
service are eligible for a deiv. »d( :sted benefit. Deferred vested benefits are payable on an unreduced basis
on the first day of the month fo. swing the participant’s 62nd birthday.

Certain represented employees of the MTA Long Island Rail Road and the MTA Metro-North Railroad
continue to make contributions to the Plan for 15 years. Certain represented employees of the MTA Long
Island Rail Road and the MTA Metro-North Railroad are eligible for an early retirement allowance upon
termination if the participant has attained age 60 and completed at least 5 years of credited service, or has
attained age 55 and completed at least 30 years of credited service. The early retirement allowance is reduced
one-quarter of 1% per month for each full month that retirement predates age 60 for certain represented
employees of the MTA Long Island Rail Road and the MTA Metro-North Railroad.

Effective in 2007, members and certain former members who become (or became) employed by another
MTA agency which does not participate in the Plan continue to accrue service credit based on such other
employment. Upon retirement, the member’s vested retirement benefit from the Plan will be calculated on
the final average salary of the subsequent MTA agency, if higher. Moreover, the Plan benefit will be reduced
by the benefit, if any, payable by the other plan based on such MTA agency employment. Such member’s
disability and ordinary death benefit will be determined in the same way.

Retirement benefits are paid from the Plan under the MTA 20-Year Police Retirement Program. A participant
is eligible for service retirement at the earlier of completing twenty years of credited Police service or
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attainment of age 62. Terminated participants with five years of credited police service, who are not eligible
for retirement, are eligible for a deferred benefit. Deferred vested benefits are payable on the first of the
month following the participant’s attainment of age 55.

Retirement benefits paid from the Plan to covered represented MTA Bus employees include service retirement
allowances or early retirement allowances. Under the programs covering all represented employees at Baisley
Park, Eastchester, LaGuardia, Spring Creek, and Yonkers Depots and the represented employees at College
Point Depot, JFK, Far Rockaway a participant is eligible for a service retirement allowance upon termination
if the participant has attained age sixty-five and completed at least five years of credited service or if the
participant has attained age 57 and completed at least 20 years of credited service. A participant hired prior
to June 2009 from Baisley Park, College Point, and La Guardia Depots is eligible for an early retirement
allowance if the participant has attained age 55 and completed 20 years of credited service. Terminated
participants with five or more years of credited service who are not eligible to receive a service retirement
allowance or early retirement allowance are eligible for a deferred vested benefit. Deferred vested benefits
are payable on an unreduced basis on or after the participant attains age 65.

At Baisley Park, Far Rockaway, JFK, LaGuardia and Spring C:iek Depots, a participant who is a non-
represented employee is eligible for an early retirement allowa’ _e upon termination if the participant has
attained age 55 and completed 15 years of service. Termin{ d participants with five or more years of
credited service who are not eligible to receive a service retji .nc.. nllowance or early retirement allowance
are eligible for a deferred vested benefit. Deferred vested ¢ “nefits a.. »nayable on an unreduced basis on or
after the participant attains age 62.

The MTA Bus retirement programs covering repres’ ited and non-represented employees at Eastchester
and Yonkers and covering the represented employs’ » at Bai¢ ¢y Park, College Point, Far Rockaway, JFK,
LaGuardia and Spring Creek are fixed dollar plans, . . th< senefits are a product of credited service and a
specific dollar amount.

The retirement benefits for certain non-renresented emp. 'ees at Baisley Park, Far Rockaway, JFK,
LaGuardia and Spring Creek are based on f. ‘i1 <. == salary. Certain participants may elect to receive the
retirement benefit as a single life annuity or 1 the for .« unreduced 75% joint and survivor benefit.

Pre-1988 MTA Long Island Rail Road partici, w' . are eligible for a service retirement allowance upon
termination if the participants has a7 = (a) att. ned age sixty-five and completed at least five years of
credited service, or if an employe’ on Jo uary 1, )88 completed at least 10 years of credited service, or
(b) attained age fifty and has cof .pleted / least 20" cars of credited service. Terminated participants who
were not employees on Januar? +., 1988 more years of credited service are eligible for a deferred
vested benefit. Pension benefits', wak' _to age 65, where eligible, are calculated as 2% of the employee’s
applicable final average earnings t¢. ~ch year of qualifying service up to 25 years plus 1.5% of applicable
final average earning of 2= _"mr of Qo "ifying service in excess of 25 years. For pension benefits payable
at and after age 65 regs uless ot v =ther ti.efits commenced before or after the employee attained age 65,
benefits are calculate’ i the same i, aner as pension benefits payable prior to age 65 except that the amount
so determined is rew. »ad by a perce age of the employee’s annuity (not including supplemental annuity)
value at age 65 under . "Federal R’ Iroad Retirement Act. The reduction of pension benefits for amounts
payable under the Federai “ilroad Retirement Act is 50%.

Death and Disability Benefits - In addition to service retirement benefits, participants of the Plan are
eligible to receive disability retirement allowances and death benefits. Participants who become disabled
may be eligible to receive disability retirement allowances after 10 years of covered MTA Bus service;
10 years of credited service for covered MTA Metro-North Railroad and MTA Long Island Rail Road
management and represented employees, covered MTA Staten Island Railway employees and covered MTA
police participants.

The disability retirement allowance for covered MTA Metro-North Railroad and MTA Long Island Rail
Road management and represented covered MTA Staten Island Railway employees is calculated based on
the participant’s credited service and final average salary (“FAS”) but not less than '3 of FAS. Under the
MTA 20 Year Police Retirement Program, a disabled participant may be eligible for one of three forms of
disability retirement: (a) ordinary disability which is payable if a participant has ten years of credited Police
service and is calculated based on the participant’s credited Police service and FAS but not less than %5 of
FAS; (b) performance of duty, which is payable if a participant is disabled in the performance of duty and
is 2 of FAS, and (c) accidental disability, which is payable if a participant is disabled as the result of an on-
the-job accidental injury and is % of FAS subject to an offset of Workers’ Compensation benefits. Pursuant
to the MTA Bus programs, the disability benefit is the same as the service retirement benefit.
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Pre -1988 MTA Long Island Rail Road participants who become disabled after accumulating 10 years of
credited service and who meet the requirements as described in the Plan may be eligible to receive a disability
benefit. Disability pension benefits are based on the participant’s qualified service and a percentage of
final average compensation reduced by the full amount of the disability benefit under the Federal Railroad
Retirement Act. Survivorship benefits for pre-1988 MTA Long Island Rail Road participants are paid to
the spouse when a survivorship option is elected or when an active participant has not divested their spouse
of benefits.

The survivorship benefit is payable at the time of death or when the vested participant would have attained
an eligible age. The amount payable is in the form of an annuity. A lump sum death benefit no greater than
$5,000 (whole dollars) is payable upon death on behalf of a non-vested participant or vested participant
whose pension rights were waived.

Death benefits are paid to the participant’s beneficiary in the event of the death of a covered MTA Metro-
North Railroad, post-1987 MTA Long Island Rail Road or MTA Staten Island Railway employee after
completion of one year of credited service. The death benefit payable is calculated based on a multiple of
a participant’s salary based on years of credited service up to th®2 years and is reduced beginning at age
61. There is also a post-retirement death benefit which, in the 14 year of retirement, is equal to 50% of the
pre-retirement death benefit amount, whichever is greater, 25¢ the 2nd year and 10% of the death benefit
payable at age 60 for the 3rd and later years. For the Policed U v s Retirement Program, the death benefit
is payable after ninety days of credited MTA Police servi e, and 1. aual to three times their salary. For
non-Police groups, this death benefit is payable in a lum’ »sum distribuv.. »while for Police, the member or
the beneficiary can elect to have it paid as an annuity. 7 ¢ MTA Police do niut have a post retirement benefit.

In the MSBA Employees’ Pension Plan, there ars’ ,pecial £ Jousal benefits payable upon the death of a
participant who is eligible for an early retirement . »efit{ Jr a normal service retirement benefit, or who
is a vested participant or vested former participant. 1<~ . eligible, the spouse and participant must have
been married at least one year at the time of death. Whetc e participant was eligible for an early service
retirement benefit or was a vested participa’ Tmfarmer partic. nt, the benefit is a pension equal to 40% of
the benefit payable to the participant as if the »aruc., setired on the date of death. Where the participant
was eligible for a normal service retirement b efit.£ (€ eng.ole spouse can elect either the benefit payable
as a pension, as described in the prior sentence, 4 ump sum payment based on an actuarially determined
pension reserve. If there is no eligik™@mouse f¢ this pension reserve benefit, a benefit is payable to the
participant’s beneficiary or estate

Moreover, an accidental death ¥ aefitis ¥ uahlefaortne death of a participant who is a covered MTA Metro-
North Railroad or post-1987 M. % Lon( .siana nail Road employee, a covered MTA Staten Island Railway
employee or a covered MTA Polic ' cmber and dies as the result of an on-the-job accidental injury. This
death benefit is paid as a pension equ. »to 50% of the participant’s salary and is payable to the spouse for
life, or, if none, to childr® “unu.. = eighe » (or twenty-three, if a student), or if none, to a dependent parent.

For MTA Bus emplor Jes, there is ve ‘ed death benefit coverage under the Plan. For all represented and non-
represented MTA Bu. »mployees at b stchester and Yonkers Depots and represented MTA Bus employees at
Baisley Park, College i "at, Far Ro' (away, JFK, Laguardia and Spring Creek Depots, if a participant dies
prior to being eligible for « ntiren! at benefit, the participant’s beneficiary may elect to receive a refund of
the participant’s contributions ; interest.

Moreover, the spouses of the above employees who are vested are entitled to a presumed retirement survivor
annuity which is based on a 50% Joint and Survivor annuity. The date as of which such annuity is determined
and on which it commences varies among the different programs depending on whether the participants are
eligible for retirement and for payment of retirement benefits.

In addition, the spouse of a non-represented MTA Bus employee at Spring Creek, JFK, Laguardia, Baisley
Park and Far Rockaway, if such employee is age 55 and has 15 years of service and is a terminated member
with a vested benefit which is not yet payable, may elect the presumed retirement survivor annuity or 1/2
the participant’s accrued benefit paid monthly and terminating on the 60th payment or the spouse’s death.
The spouse of a non-represented MTA Bus employee at Yonkers Depot may also receive a pre-retirement
survivor annuity from the supplemental plan. If there is no such spouse, the actuarial equivalent of such
annuity is payable.

Dependent children of MTA Bus employees are also entitled to an annuity based on the spouse’s pre-
retirement survivor annuity (1/2 of the spouse’s annuity is payable to each child, but no more than 100%
of the spouse’s annuity is payable). In addition, the dependent children of retirees who were MTA Bus
employees at these Depots are entitled to an annuity based on the presumed retirement survivor’s annuity
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(25% of the spouse’s annuity; but no more than 50% of the spouse’s annuity is payable).

Retirement benefits establishment and changes for represented employees are collectively bargained and
must be ratified by the respective union and the MTA Board. For non represented employees, retirement
benefits establishment and changes are presented to the MTA Board and must be accepted and approved by
the MTA Board.

5. NYCERS —

NYCERS provides three main types of retirement benefits: Service Retirements, Ordinary Disability
Retirements (non-job-related disabilities) and Accident Disability Retirements (job-related disabilities) to
participants generally based on salary, length of service, and member Tiers.

The Service Retirement benefits provided to Tier 1 participants fall into four categories according to the
level of benefits provided and the years of service required. Three of the four categories provide annual
benefits of 50% to 55% of final salary after 20 or 25 years of service, with additional benefits equal to a
specified percentage per year of service (currently 1.2% to 1.7%) of final salary. The fourth category has
no minimum service requirement and instead provides an annual/ znefit for each year of service equal to a
specified percentage (currently 0.7% to 1.53%) of final salary.

Tier 2 participants have provisions similar to Tier 1, except # .« = eligibility for retirement and the salary
base for benefits are different and there is a limitation on £ 'maxi.. 'm benefit.

Tier 3 participants were later mandated into Tier 4, but uald retain thei.. “er 3 rights. The benefits for Tier
3 participants are reduced by one half of the primar’ social Security beuefit attributable to service, and
provides for an automatic annual cost-of- living ese( ator in s »nsion benefits of not more than 3.0%.

Tier 4 participants upon satisfying applicable elig. ‘lity’ cquirements may be mandated or elected, as
applicable, into the Basic 62/5 Retirement Plan, the 5/ 2lan, the 55/25 Plan, the Transit 55/25 Plan, the
MTA Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority 50/20 Plan, " d the Automotive Member 25/50 Plan. These
plans provide annual benefits of 40% to 507 = "Snal salary ai v 20 or 25 years of service, with additional
benefits equal to a specified percentage per y ar o1 so tenrrently 1.5% to 2%) of final salary.

Chapter 18 of the Laws of 2012 created Tier ¢ \T" _se changes increase the retirement age to 63, require
member contributions for all years ofaarvice, in. ate progressive member contributions, and lengthen the
final average salary period from 34 5y rs.

NYCERS also provides autof atic C¢ -of-Living Adjustments (“COLA”) for certain retirees and
beneficiaries, death benefits;4< d certa’ ".Ci.cclalso receive supplemental benefits. Subject to certain
conditions, members generally be o rully vested as to benefits upon the completion of 5 years of service.

6. NYSLERS —

NYSLERS provides r/ .rement be. fits as well as death and disability benefits. Members who joined prior
to January 1, 2010 ¢ =d 5 years of . rvice to be fully vested. Members who joined on or after January 1,
2010 need 10 years ¢ »ervice to be | lly vested.

Tiers 1 and 2 —

Eligibility: Tier 1 members ge.. ally must be at least age 55 to be eligible for a retirement benefit. There
is no minimum service requirement for Tier 1 members. Generally, Tier 2 members must have 5 years of
service and be at least age 55 to be eligible for a retirement benefit. The age at which full benefits may be
collected for Tier 1 is 55, and the full benefit age for Tier 2 is 62.

Benefit Calculation: Generally, the benefit is 1.67% of final average salary for each year of service if the
member retires with less than 20 years. If the member retires with 20 or more years of service, the benefit is
2 percent of final average salary for each year of service. Tier 2 members with five or more years of service
can retire as early as age 55 with reduced benefits. Tier 2 members age 55 or older with 30 or more years
of service can retire with no reduction in benefits. As a result of Article 19 of the RSSL, Tier 1 and Tier
2 members who worked continuously from April 1, 1999 through October 1, 2000 received an additional
month of service credit for each year of credited service they have at retirement, up to a maximum of 24
additional months. Final average salary is the average of the wages earned in the three highest consecutive
years of employment. For Tier 1 members who joined on or after June 17, 1971, each year’s compensation
used in the final average salary calculation is limited to no more than 20 percent greater than the previous
year. For Tier 2 members, each year of final average salary is limited to no more than 20 percent greater than
the average of the previous two years.
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Tiers 3, 4, and 5 —

Eligibility: Most Tier 3 and 4 members must have 5 years of service and be at least age 55 to be eligible for
a retirement benefit. Tier 5 members, must have 10 years of service and be at least age 55 to be eligible to
collect a retirement benefit. The full benefit age for Tiers 3, 4 and 5 is 62.

Benefit Calculation: Generally, the benefit is 1.67% of final average salary for each year of service if the
member retires with less than 20 years. If a member retires with between 20 and 30 years of service, the
benefit is 2 percent of final average salary for each year of service. If a member retires with more than 30
years of service, an additional benefit of 1.5% of final average salary is applied for each year of service over
30 years. Tier 3 and 4 members with five or more years of service and Tier 5 members with 10 or more years
of service can retire as early as age 55 with reduced benefits. Tier 3 and 4 members age 55 or older with
30 or more years of service can retire with no reduction in benefits. Final average salary is the average of
the wages earned in the three highest consecutive years of employment. For Tier 3, 4 and 5 members, each
year’s compensation used in the final average salary calculation is/imited to no more than 10% greater than
the average of the previous two years.

Tier 6 —

Eligibility: Generally, Tier 6 members must have 10 years{ . servic_nnd be at least age 55 to be eligible to
collect a retirement benefit. The full benefit age for TierA is 63.

Benefit Calculation: Generally, the benefit is 1.67% 4 final average salaty for each year of service if the
member retires with less than 20 years. If a membd retires/ ith 20 years of service, the benefit is 1.75%
of final average salary for each year of service. Ifi membs retires with more than 20 years of service, an
additional benefit of 2% of final average salary is ap, o' for each year of service over 20 years. Tier 6
members with 10 or more years of service can retire as e« »as age 55 with reduced benefits. Final average
salary is the average of the wages earned ipsthe five highes. »nsecutive years of employment. For Tier 6
members, each year’s compensation used i, ‘uc . yeverage salary calculation is limited to no more than
10% greater than the average of the previous. hur ye: .

Disability Benefits— Generally, disability retirc 2 .t benefits are available to members unable to perform
their job duties because of perman hysical. r mental incapacity. There are three general types of
disability benefits: ordinary, perf’ ‘manc¢ ‘of duty. :nd accidental disability benefits. Eligibility, benefit
amounts, and other rules such a2¢ any off: (s of othc. benefits depend on a member’s tier, years of service,
and plan. Ordinary disabilityl »nefits./ ..., _-third of salary, are provided to eligible members after
ten years of service; in some cas._nth' y are provided after five years of service. For all eligible Tier 1 and
Tier 2 members, the accidental disac ‘ty benefit is a pension of 75 percent of final average salary, with an
offset for any Workers’ 7 " ation v efits received. The benefit for eligible Tier 3, 4, 5 and 6 members
is the ordinary disabili¢ “benefit v. '\ the ycars-of-service eligibility requirement dropped.

Ordinary Death Be{ 1ts — Death be cfits are payable upon the death, before retirement, of a member who
meets eligibility requ.. ments as se’ ‘orth by law. The first $50,000 (whole dollars) of an ordinary death
benefit is paid in the fori.. € grous erm life insurance. The benefit is generally three times the member’s
annual salary. For most men. =9' .nere is also a reduced post-retirement ordinary death benefit available.

Post-Retirement Benefit Increases — A cost-of-living adjustment is provided annually to: (i) all pensioners
who have attained age 62 and have been retired for five years; (ii) all pensioners who have attained age 55
and have been retired for ten years; (iii) all disability pensioners, regardless of age, who have been retired
for five years; (iv) recipients of an accidental death benefit, regardless of age, who have been receiving such
benefit for five years and (v) the spouse of a deceased retiree receiving a lifetime benefit under an option
elected by the retiree at retirement. An eligible spouse is entitled to one-half the cost-of-living adjustment
amount that would have been paid to the retiree when the retiree would have met the eligibility criteria.
This cost-of-living adjustment is a percentage of the annual retirement benefit of the eligible member as
computed on a base benefit amount not to exceed $18,000 (whole dollars) of the annual retirement benefit.
The cost-of-living percentage shall be 50 percent of the annual Consumer Price Index as published by the
U.S. Bureau of Labor, but cannot be less than 1 percent or exceed 3 percent.
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Membership

As of January 1, 2017, January 1, 2016 and January 1, 2015, the dates of the most recent actuarial
valuations, membership data for the following pension plans are as follows:

January 1,
Membership at: 2017 January 1, 2016
MTA
MNR Cash Additional MaBSTOA Defined
Balance Plan Plan Plan Benefit Plan TOTAL
Active Plan Members 4 216 8,017 17,670 26,507
Retirees and beneficiaries
receiving benefits 27 5,900 5,468 10,701 22,096
Vested formerly active members
not yet receiving benefits 13 4 998 1,439 2,488
Total 44 £ 4 15,083 29,810 51,091
January 1,
Membership at: 2016 B Jan. w 1,2015
MNR Cash MTA
Balance Additienal MaBSTOA Defined
Plan / P); Plan Benefit Plan ~ TOTAL
Active Plan Members 282 8,122 17,156 25,567
Retirees and beneficiaries
receiving benefits 27 5,985 5,394 11,382 22,788
Vested formerly active members
not yet receiving benefits N . 53 1,054 1,417 2,538
Total ar 6,320 14,570 29,955 50,893

Contributions and Funding Policy

1. Additional Plan —

Employer contributions are ¢ marialld Gciciiaa..ed on an annual basis and are recognized when due.
The Additional Plan is a definec o7 at plan administered by the Board of Pension Managers and is a
governmental plan and accordingly, . not subject to the funding and other requirements of ERISA.

Upon termination of e .oymet.. »fore rv. rement, vested participants who have been required to contribute
must choose to: (1) ceive a refu. ' of their own contributions, including accumulated interest at rates
established by the X ‘A Long Island ail Road’s Board of Managers of Pensions (1.5% in 2016 and 2015),
or (2) leave their conu. tions in tk Additional Plan until they retire and become entitled to the pension
benefits. Non-vested part.. »ants 3 0 have been required to contribute will receive a refund of their own
contributions, including accu.. !¢ ¢d interest at rates established by the MTA Long Island Rail Road’s Board
of Managers of Pensions (1.5% in 2016 and 2015).

Funding for the Additional Plan by the MTA Long Island Rail Road is provided by MTA. Certain funding
by MTA is made to the MTA Long Island Rail Road on a discretionary basis. The continuance of the MTA
Long Island Rail Road’s funding for the Additional Plan has been, and will continue to be, dependent upon
the receipt of adequate funds.

2. MaBSTOA Plan —

The contribution requirements of MaBSTOA Plan members are established and may be amended only by
the MaBSTOA Board in accordance with Article 10.01 of the MaBSTOA Plan. MaBSTOA’s funding policy
for periodic employer contributions is to provide for actuarially determined amounts that are designed to
accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. It is MaBSTOA’s policy to fund, at a minimum, the
current year’s normal pension cost plus amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability.
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The MaBSTOA Pension Plan includes the following plans, including the 2000 amendments which are all
under the same terms and conditions as NYCERS:

1. Tier 1 and 2 - Basic Plans;

ii. Tier 3 and 4 - 55 and 25 Plan;

iii. Tier 3 and 4 - Regular 62 and 5 Plan;
iv. Tier 4 - 57 and 5 Plan

v. Tier 6 - 55 and 25 Special Plan

vi. Tier 6 - Basic 63 and 10 Plan

For employees, the MaBSTOA Plan has both contributory and noncontributory requirements depending on
the date of entry into service. Employees entering qualifying service on or before July 26, 1976, are non
contributing (Tiers 1 and 2). Certain employees entering qualify’ (g service on or after July 27, 1976, are
required to contribute 3% of their salary (Tiers 3 and 4).

In March 2012, pursuant to Chapter 18 of the Laws 0f 2012, 7 11\ “mals joining NYCERS or the MaBSTOA
Pension Plan on or after April 1, 2012 are subject to the pro+ s1ons or«“=r 6. The highlights of Tier 6 include:

e Increases in employee contribution rates. The rate »* ries depending . »salary, ranging from 3% to 6%
of gross wages. Contributions are made until retiz’ nent or separation from service.

e The retirement age increases to 63 and incli s earli’ retirement penalties, which reduce pension
allowances by 6.5 percent for each year of retire.. ats ior to age 63.

e Vesting after 10 years of credited service; increased 1. m 5 years of credited service under Tier 3 and
Tier 4.

e Adjustments of the Pension Multiplier 1 : calcu: ... wension benefits (excluding Transit Operating
Employees): the multiplier will be 1.75%" \r th first 20 years of service, and 2% starting in the 21st
year; for an employee who works 30 years, ti_ * pension will be 55% of Final Average Salary under Tier
4, instead of 60% percent undex’ .o

e Adjustments to the Final Av/ age Sal y Calcul. .ion; the computation changed from an average of the
final 3 years to an average/ < the fin = Zensionable overtime will be capped at $15,000 dollars
per year plus an inflation fac

e Pension buyback in TierAwill be' 2 rate of 6% of the wages earned during the period of buyback, plus
5% compounded aps .aity .., the & » of service until date of payment.

Pursuant to Section 7 /3 of the Mat TOA Plan, active plan members are permitted to borrow up to 75% of
their contributions V.. hinterest. The total contributions and interest remain intact and interest continues to
accrue on the full balai.. » The part’ ipant’s accumulated contribution account is used as collateral against
the loan.

3. MNR Cash Balance Plan =

Funding for the MNR Cash Balance Plan is provided by MTA Metro-North Railroad, a public benefit
corporation that receives funding for its operations and capital needs from the MTA and the Connecticut
Department of Transportation (“CDOT”). Certain funding by MTA is made to the MTA Metro-North Railroad
on a discretionary basis. The continuance of funding for the MNR Cash Balance Plan has been, and will
continue to be, dependent upon the receipt of adequate funds.

MTA Metro-North Railroad’s funding policy with respect to the MNR Cash Balance Plan was to contribute
the full amount of the pension benefit obligation (“PBO”) of approximately $2,977 to the trust fund in 1989.
As participants retire, the Trustee has made distributions from the MNR Cash Balance Plan. MTA Metro-
North Railroad anticipated that no further contributions would be made to the MNR Cash Balance Plan.
However, due to changes in actuarial assumptions and market performance, additional contributions were
made to the MNR Cash Balance Plan in several subsequent years.
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4. MTA Defined Benefit Plan —

Employer contributions are actuarially determined on an annual basis. Amounts recognized as receivables
for contributions include only those due pursuant to legal requirements. Employee contributions to the
MTA Defined Benefit Plan are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. There are no
contributions required under the Metropolitan Suburban Bus Authority Employee’s Pension Plan.

The following summarizes the employee contributions made to the MTA Defined Benefit Plan:

Effective January 1, 1994, covered MTA Metro-North Railroad and MTA Long Island Rail Road non-
represented employees are required to contribute to the MTA Plan to the extent that their Railroad Retirement
Tier II employee contribution is less than the pre-tax cost of the 3% employee contributions. Effective
October 1, 2000, employee contributions, if any, were eliminated after ten years of making contributions to
the MTA Plan. MTA Metro-North Railroad employees may purchase prior service from January 1, 1983
through December 31, 1993 and MTA Long Island Rail Road employees may purchase prior service from
January 1, 1988 through December 31, 1993 by paying the contr utions that would have been required of
that employee for the years in question, calculated as described/ the first sentence, had the MTA Plan been
in effect for those years.

Police Officers who become participants of the MTA Poli © Prog. s prior to January 9, 2010 contribute
to that program at various rates. Police Officers who besome particip. s on or after January 9, 2010, but
before April 1, 2012 contribute 3% up to the completi’ .1 of 30 years of ©_rvice, the maximum amount of
service credit allowed. Police Officers who becomg’ articipants on or after April 1, 2012 contribute 3%,
with additional new rates starting April 2013, rangit . from 2 7, 4.5%, 5.75%, to 6%, depending on salary
level, for their remaining years of service.

Covered MTA Metro-North Railroad represented emplo; s and MTA Long Island Rail Road represented
employees who first became eligible to be MTA Plan partic., ats prior to January 30, 2008 contribute 3%
of salary. MTA Staten Island Railway empl. ‘cco sibute 3% of salary except for represented employees
hired on or after June 1, 2010 who contribute' %. M (" Visland Rail Road represented employees who
became participants after January 30, 2008 ¢ rik’ e 4% of salary. For the MTA Staten Island Railway
employees, contributions are not required after 1. completion of ten years of credited service. MTA Long
Island Rail Road represented empld ,cce re requi d to make the employee contributions for ten years, or
fifteen years if hired after certais’ Jdates 1 2014 as. =r collective bargaining agreements. Certain Metro-
North represented employees, ¢ pending’ a+'=masliective bargaining agreements, are required to make the
employee contributions until Jo. »ary 14 _u14, January 1,2017, June 30, 2017, or the completion of required
years of credited service as per the. ¢ _vant collective bargaining agreements.

Covered MTA Bus repres” ... »aploye. »and certain non-represented employees are required to contribute
a fixed dollar amount{ vhich vai. » by acpot. Currently, non-represented employees at certain Depots,
contribute $21.50 (;¢ iole dollars)" »r week. Non-represented employees at Eastchester hired prior to
2007 contribute $Z2 whole dollars per week. Represented employees at Baisley Park, College Point,
Eastchester, Far Rocka »wv, JFK, I© Guardia and Yonkers Depots contribute $29.06 (whole dollars) per
week; Spring Creek repre. wted £ lployees contribute $32.00 (whole dollars) per week. Certain limited
number of represented emplc, s promoted prior to the resolution of a bargaining impasse continue to
participate in the MTA Defined Benefit Plan that was in effect before their promotion. Certain MTA Bus
non-represented employees who are formerly employed by the private bus companies (Jamaica, Green,
Triboro and Command) at Baisley Park, Far Rockaway, JFK, LaGuardia and Spring Creek Depots who are
in the pension program covering only such employees make no contributions to the program. (Note: the
dollar figures in this paragraph are in dollars, not in millions of dollars).

MTA Bus is required to make significant annual contributions to the MTA Plan on a current basis. Pursuant
to the January 1, 2014 and January 1, 2013 actuarial valuations for the MTA Plan, which included amounts
for actuarial assets and liabilities relating to both active and retired members for most portions of the former
private plans (excepting, for example, members of the Transport Workers Union— New York City Private
Bus Lines Pension Trust who were working on school bus routes which did not become part of MTA Bus
service), MTA Bus recorded pension expense equal to the valuation annual required contribution of $44.3 and
$45.9 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Both of these employer contributions
were paid to the MTA Plan in their respective years.
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5. NYCERS —

NYCERS funding policy is to contribute statutorily-required contributions (“Statutory Contributions”),
determined by the Chief Actuary for the New York City Retirement Systems, in accordance with State
statutes and City laws, and are generally funded by employers within the appropriate Fiscal Year. The
Statutory Contributions are determined under the One-Year Lag Methodology (“OYLM”). Under OYLM,
the actuarial valuation date is used for calculating the Employer Contributions for the second following
Fiscal Year. Statutory Contributions are determined annually to be an amount that, together with member
contributions and investment income, provides for NYCERS’ assets to be sufficient to pay benefits when due.

Member contributions are established by law. NYCERS has both contributory and noncontributory
requirements, with retirement age varying from 55 to 70 depending upon when an employee last entered
qualifying service.

In general, Tier 1 and Tier 2 member contribution rates are dependent upon the employee’s age at membership
and retirement plan election. In general, Tier 3 and Tier 4 mem! s make basic contributions of 3.0% of
salary, regardless of age at membership. Effective October 14 .000, in accordance with Chapter 126 of
the Laws of 2000, these members, except for certain Transit’ :thority employees enrolled in the Transit
20-Year Plan, are not required to make basic contributions/ et . ».10th anniversary of their membership
date or completion of ten years of credited service, whici.over is €. ‘er. In addition, members who meet
certain eligibility requirements will receive one month’s¢ Aditional servic sredit for each completed year of
service up to a maximum of two additional years of ser’ ce credit. Effective December 2000, certain Transit
Authority Tier 3 and Tier 4 members make basic mer’ ser cont:“butions of 2.0% of salary, in accordance with
Chapter 10 of the Laws of 2000. Certain Tier 2, T2 3 and/{ .er 4 members who are participants in special
retirement plans are required to make additional mer. 2%’ ontributions of 1.85%, in addition to their base
membership contribution. Tier 6 members are mandatec. » contribute between 3.0% and 6.0% of salary,
depending on salary level, until they separate from City se1. 2 or until they retire.

NYCERS established a “special program” for. mploy< mad on or after July 26, 1976. A plan for employees,
who have worked 20 years, and reached age -\ is r' bvidea to Bridge and Tunnel Officers, Sergeants and
Lieutenants and Maintainers. Also, an age 57 1 i*' .nent plan is available for all other such MTA Bridges
and Tunnels employees. Both of the«™™ "ans requ. = increased employee contributions.

Certain retirees also receive supp’ mental enefits 1. m MTA Bridges and Tunnels. Certain participants are
permitted to borrow up to 75%¢ Jf their £/ #wtsibutions including accumulated interest. These loans are
accounted for as reductions in"._=h pal .Cipants contribution accounts. Upon termination of employment
before retirement, certain member. entitled to refunds of their own contributions, including accumulated
interest, less any outstandima-laan ba.. =es.

MTA New York City/ .ansit anc MTA bBiidges and Tunnels are required to contribute at an actuarially
determined rate. Th¢ contribution 1. 1uirements of plans members, MTA New York City Transit and MTA
Bridges and Tunnei.. e established, 1d amended by law.

6. NYSLERS —

Employer Contributions - Unac_ ie authority of the RSSL, the Comptroller annually certifies the actuarially
determined rates expressly used in computing the employers’ contributions based on salaries paid during the
NYSLERS fiscal year ending June 30.

Member Contributions - NYSLERS is noncontributory except for employers who joined the plan after July
27,1976. Generally, Tier 3, 4, and 5 members must contribute 3% of their salary to NYSLERS. As a result
of Article 19 of the RSSL, eligible Tier 3 and 4 employees, with a membership date on or after July 27,
1976, who have ten or more years of membership or credited service with NYSLERS, are not required to
contribute. Members cannot be required to begin making contributions or to make increased contributions
beyond what was required when membership began. For Tier 6 members, the contribution rate varies from
3% to 6% depending on salary. Generally, Tier 5 and 6 members are required to contribute for all years of
service.

MTAHQ, MTA Capital Construction and MTA Long Island Bus are required to contribute at an actuarially
determined rate.

Master Page # 64 of 186 - AuditCommittee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

A summary of the aggregate actual contributions made to each pension plan and the respective contribution
rates as a percent of covered payroll for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Year-ended December 31,

2017

2016

Contributions as a

Contributions as a

Actual Employer percentage of covered Actual Employer percentage of covered

($ in millions) Contributions payroll Contributions payroll
Additional Plan $ 221.5 1080.62% 151.1 515.49%
MaBSTOA Plan 202.7 27.04% 220.7 30.80%

MNR Cash Balance Plan - 0.00% -k 2.68%

MTA Defined Benefit Plan 3219 17.33% 280.8 15.73%
NYCERS 800.9 21.25% 797.9 22.64%
NYSLERS 14.0 13.46% 13.0 13.69%

Total $ 1,561.0 S 1,463.5

*MNR Cash Balance Plan’s actual employer contribution for the years ¢ .ed L. »mber 31,2017 and 2016

was $0 thousand and $23 thousand, respectively.

Net Pension Liability

The MTA’s net pension liabilities for each of the/ asion ' .as reported at December 31, 2017 and 2016
were measured as of the fiscal year-end dates for eac. wesi* ctive pension plan. The total pension liabilities
used to calculate those net pension liabilities were dew. ‘ined by actuarial valuations as of each pension
plan’s valuation date, and rolled forward to the respective yc. »ends for each pension plan. Information about
the fiduciary net position of each qualified j .. mnlan’s fiduc ry net position has been determined on the
same basis as reported by each respective qu_‘ified p. =lan, For this purpose, benefits and refunds are
recognized when due and payable in accordany \wit! .ne terins of the respective qualified pension plan, and
investments are reported at fair value. The foll¢  .g table provides the measurement and valuation dates
used by each pension plan to calcu! » MTA’S ggregate net pension liability.

Year-ended December 31, 2017 2016

‘an Mead _..... Plan Valuation Plan Measurement Plan Valuation
Pension Plan b ¥ e Date Date Date
Additional Plan Decer. 31,2016 January 1, 2016 December 31, 2015 January 1, 2015
MaBSTOA Plan rcembe. 2016 January 1, 2016 December 31, 2015 January 1, 2015
MNR Cash Balance Plan Dc. aber 31,2016 January 1, 2017 December 31, 2015 January 1, 2016
MTA Defined Benefit P . Dece:. er 31,2016 January 1, 2016 December 31, 2015 January 1, 2015
NYCERS Jun' 50,2017 June 30, 2015 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2014
NYSLERS Mal 131,2017 April 1, 2016 March 31, 2016 April 1, 2015

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Posii:.

Detailed information about the fiduciary net position of the Additional Plan, MaBSTOA Plan, MNR
Cash Balance Plan, MTA Defined Benefit Plan, NYCERS plan and the NYSLERS plan is available in the
separately issued pension plan financial reports for each respective plan.
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Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liabilities in each pension plan’s actuarial valuation dates were determined using the following actuarial assumptions for each pension plan,
applied to all periods included in the measurement date:

Valuation Date:

Additional Plan

MaBSTOA Plan

MNR Cash Balance Plan

January 1, 2016

January 1, 2015

January 1, 2016

January 1, 2015

January 1, 2017

January 1, 2016

Investment Rate of Return

Salary Increases

Inflation

Cost-of Living Adjustments

Valuation Date:

7.00% per annum, net of

investment expenses.

7.00% per annum, net of
investment expenses.

7.00% per annum, net of
investment expenses.

7.00% per annum, net of
i’ _stment expenses.

4.00% per annum, net of
investment expenses.

4.00% per annum, net of
investment expenses.

Investment Rate of Return

Salary Increases

Inflation

Cost-of Living Adjustments

3.00% 3.00% Reflecting general wage, merit » general, merit and promotion  Not applicable Not applicable
and promotion increases of i ses plus assumed general
3.5% for operating employees wage 1. hases of 3.5% to
and 4.0% for non- operat’ | 15.0% for ¢, mting employees
employees per year. L& er and 4.0% to 7.0% for non-
increases are assum( n the operating employees per year,
first 5 years of a i er’s depending on years of service.
career.
2.50%; 3.50% for Railroad 2.50%; 3.50% for Railroad 2.50%. 2.50%. 2.30% 2.30%
Retirement Wage Base. Retirement Wage Base.
Not applicable Not applicable 1.375% per' aum. 1.375% per annum. Not applicable Not applicable
MTA Defined Benefit Plan NYCERS NYSLERS
January 1, 2016 January 1, 2015 June 30, 15 June 30, 2014 April 1, 2016 April 1, 2015
7.00% per annum, net of 7.00% per annum, net of 7.008 demmmmnet of 7.00% per annum, net of 7.00% per annum, including 7.50% per annum, including
investment expenses. investment expenses. ex( .ises. expenses. inflation, net of investment inflation, net of investment

Varies by years of employment,
and employee group; 3.0%
General Wage Increases

for TWU MTA Bus hourly
employees.

2.50%; 3.50% for Railroad
Retirement Wage Base.

55% of inflation assumption or
1.375%, if applicable.

Varies by years of 2 5

.p; 3.5% for
, employees.

and employee g7
MTA Bus ho:

2.50%; 3.00% for Railroa
Retirement Wage Base.

55% of inflation assumption or
1.375%, if applicable.

In'g eal, merit and promotion
increasc, plus assumed General
Vage increases of 3.0% per
sar.

2.50%

1.5% per annum for Tiers 1, 2,
4 and certain Tier 3 and Tier 6
retirees. 2.5% per annum for

certain Tier 3 and Tier 6 retirees.

54

In general, merit and promotion
increases plus assumed General
Wage increases of 3.0% per
year.

2.50%

1.5% per annum for Tiers 1, 2,
4 and certain Tier 3 and Tier 6
retirees. 2.5% per annum for

certain Tier 3 and Tier 6 retirees.

expenses.

3.80% in ERS, 4.5% in PFRS

2.50%

1.30% per annum.

expenses.

3.8% in ERS, 4.5% in PFRS

2.50%

1.30% per annum.
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Mortality
Additional Plan / MaBSTOA Plan/ MNR Cash Balance Plan and MTA Defined Benefit Plan:

The actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2017, 2016, and 2015 valuations for the MTA plans are
based on January 1, 2006 through December 31, 2011 experience study dated June 5, 2014. Mortality as-
sumption is based on a 2012 experience study for all MTA plans. The pre-retirement and post-retirement
healthy annuitant rates are projected on a generational basis using Scale AA, as recommended by the So-
ciety of Actuaries Retirement Plans Experience Committee. As generational tables, they reflect mortality
improvements both before and after the measurement date.

Pre-retirement: The MTA plans utilized RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table for Males and Females with
Blue collar adjustments.

Post-retirement Healthy Lives: Assumption utilized 95% of RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for
males with Blue Collar adjustments and 116% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant mortality
table for females.

Post-retirement Disabled Lives: Assumption utilized 75% of the/ .es from the RP-2000 Disabled Annuitant
mortality table for males and females. At age 85 and later fop' iales and age 77 and later for females, the
disability rates are set to the male and female healthy rates, re< ¢ “wely. This assumption was not applicable
for the Additional Plan and the MNR Cash Balance Plan.

NYCERS:

Pursuant to Section 96 of the New York City Charter’ .n indenendent actuarial firm conducts studies of the
actuarial assumptions used to value liabilities of the® (YCER/ pension plan every two years. In accordance,
with the Administrative Code of the City of New Yo.. “‘A4 NY”), the Board of Trustees of NYCERS are to
periodically review and adopt actuarial assumptions as' .. 10sed by the Actuary for use in the determination
of Employer Contributions.

Mortality tables for service and disability pc Siv.. are developed from experience studies of the NYC-
ERS Plan. The mortality tables for beneficiai s wen' ac. . ped from an experience review.

1

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, - and June 30, 2014 valuations are based, in part, on the
GRS report, on published studies of ity impy. vement, and on input from the NYC’s outside consultants
and auditors, the Actuary proposs ., and| e Boarc f Trustees of NYCERS adopted, new post-retirement
mortality tables for use in detern® .iing em’ over contiibutions beginning in Fiscal Year 2016. The new tables
of post-retirement are based p! narily £/ ..o <..p iience of NYCERS and the application of the Mortality
Improvement Scale MP-2015, p.. is' d by the Society of Actuaries in October 2015. Scale MP-2015 re-
placed Mortality Improvement Scaic. A.

NYSLERS:

The actuarial assums .ons used in ti, ‘April 1, 2016 and April 1, 2015 valuations are based on the results of
an actuarial experieni._study for the! >riod April 1, 2010 through March 31, 2015. The annuitant mortality
rates are based on the r¢. 'ts of the' .015 experience study of the period April 1, 2010 through March 31,
2015, with adjustments for . nrta’ y improvement based on the Society of Actuaries’ Scale MP-2014.

Expected Rate of Return on Investments

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments for each pension plan is presented in
the following table.

Pension Plan Plan Measurement Date Rate
Additional Plan December 31, 2016 7.00%
MaBSTOA Plan December 31, 2016 7.00%
MNR Cash Balance Plan December 31, 2016 4.00%
MTA Defined Benefit Plan December 31, 2016 7.00%
NYCERS June 30, 2017 7.00%
NYSLERS March 31, 2017 7.00%
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For the Additional Plan, MaBSTOA Plan, MNR Cash Balance Plan, MTA Defined Benefit Plan, NYCERS
plan and NYSLERS plan, the long-term expected rate of return on investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.

The target asset allocation of each of the funds and the expected real rate of returns (“RROR”) for each of
the asset classes are summarized in the following tables for each of the pension plans:

Additional Plan MaBSTOA Plan
Long - Term Long - Term
Expected Expected
Target Asset Real Rate of Target Asset Real Rate of
Asset Class Allocation Return Allocation Return
US Core Fixed Income 10.00% 1.67% 10.00% 1.67%
US High Yield Bonds 8.00% 5.04% 8.00% 5.04%
Global Bonds 10.00° 0.28% 10.00% 0.28%
Emerging Markets Bonds 3.0 0 3.78% 3.00% 3.78%
US Large Caps 10:20% 4.80% 10.00% 4.80%
US Small Caps 7.50% 25% 5.50% 6.06%
Global Equity 10.00% 5.45% 10.00% 5.49%
Foreign Developed Equity 10.00¢ 6.06% 10.00% 6.06%
Emerging Markets Equity 35 8.39% 3.50% 8.39%
Global REITs - 0% 5.77% 5.00% 5.77%
Private Real Estate Property % 3.64% 3.00% 3.64%
Private Equity 7.0¢ 8.99% 7.00% 8.99%
Hedge Funds - MultiStrategy - 15.00% 3.45% 15.00% 3.45%
4 1ve o 100.00%
Assumed Inflation - Mean 4 2.50% 2.50%
Assumed Inflation - Standard Deviation 1.85% 1.85%
Portfolio Nominal Mean Return 7.03% 7.03%
Portfolio Standard Deviation 11.54% 11.54%
Long Term Expected Rate of Return/ iected by/ = 7.00% 7.00%
MTA Defined Benefit Plan MNR Cash Balance Plan
Long - Term Long - Term
Expected Expected
Target Asset Real Rate of Target Asset Real Rate of
Asset Class Allocation Return Allocation Return
US Core Fixed Income 10.00% 1.67% 100.00% 1.17%
US High Yield Bonds 8.00% 5.04%
Global Bonds 10.00% 0.28%
Emerging Markets Bonds 3.00% 3.78%
US Large Caps 10.00% 4.80%
US Small Caps 5.50% 6.06%
Global Equity 10.00% 5.49%
Foreign Developed Equity 10.00% 6.06%
Emerging Markets Equity 3.50% 8.39%
Global REITs 5.00% 5.77%
Private Real Estate Property 3.00% 3.64%
Private Equity 7.00% 8.99%
Hedge Funds - MultiStrategy 15.00% 3.45%
100.00% 100.00%
Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.50% 2.50%
Assumed Inflation - Standard Deviation 1.85% 1.85%
Portfolio Nominal Mean Return 7.03% 3.69%
Portfolio Standard Deviation 11.54% 4.55%
Long Term Expected Rate of Return selected by MTA 7.00% 4.00%

Master Page # 68 of 186 - AuditCommittee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metropolitan Consolidated Interim Financial Statements

Transportation Authority as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018
NYCERS NYSLERS
Long - Term Long - Term

Target Asset Expected Real Target Asset Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return Allocation Rate of Return
U.S. Public Market Equities 29.00% 5.70% 36.00% 4.55%
International Public Market Equities 13.00% 6.10% 14.00% 6.35%
Emerging Public Market Equities 7.00% 7.60% 0.00% 0.00%
Private Market Equities 7.00% 8.10% 10.00% 7.75%
Fixed Income 33.00% 3.00% 17.00% 1.31%
Alternatives (Real Assets, Hedge Funds) 11.00% 4.70% 3.00% 5.54%
Real Estate 10.00% 5.80%
Absolute Return Strategies 2.00% 4.00%
Opportunistic Portfolio 3.00% 5.89%
Cash 1.00% -0.25%
Inflation-indexed Bonds 4.00% 1.50%

100.00% 100.00%

Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.50% 2.50%
Long Term Expected Rate of Return 7.00% 7.00%

Discount rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pensions ability of each', 'msion plan is presented in the

following table:
i Discount Rate
Year ended December 31, 2017 2016
Plan
Measuremen. Measurement
Pension Plan - Rate Date Rate
December 31,
Additional Plan L o Jser31,2016 7.00% 2015 7.00%
December 31,
MaBSTOA Plan Dece. ver 31,2016 7.00% 2015 7.00%
December 31,
MNR Cash Balance Plan poer 31,2016 4.00% 2015 4.00%
December 31,
MTA Defined Benefit Plan December 31, 2016 7.00% 2015 7.00%
NYCERS June 30, 2017 7.00% June 30, 2016 7.00%
NYSLERS March 31, 2017 7.00% March 31, 2016 7.00%

The projection of cas. Tows used tg etermine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will
be made at the rates app able for' ach pension plan and that employer contributions will be made at the
rates determined by each pc.. "an{ .an’s actuary. Based on those assumptions, each pension plan’s fiduciary
net position was projected to . available to make all projected future benefit payments of current and
inactive plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Changes in Net Pension Liability — Additional Plan, MaBSTOA Plan, MNR Cash Balance
Plan and the MTA Defined Benefit Plan

Changes in the MTA’s net pension liability for the Additional Plan, MaBSTOA Plan, MNR Cash Balance
Plan and the MTA Defined Benefit Plan for the year ended December 31, 2017, based on the December
31, 2016 measurement date, and for the year ended December 31, 2016, based on the December 31, 2015
measurement date, were as follows:

Additional Plan MaBSTOA Plan
Total Plan Net Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Net Net
Liability Position Liability Liability Position Liability
(in thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 1,562,251 $ 726,198 $ 836.053 $ 3,391,989 $ 2,292.316 $ 1,099,673
Changes for fiscal year 2016:
Service Cost 2,752 - 2752 82,075 - 82,075
Interest on total pension liability 104,093 - 104, 2 236,722 - 236,722
Effect of economic /demographic
(gains) or losses 15,801 - 15,801 13,784 13,784
Benefit payments (158,593) (14 ,593) - (187,823) (187,823) -
Administrative expense - (611) 611 - (186) 186
Member contributions - R84 (884) - 18,472 (18,472)
Net investment income - 58,2 (58,239) - 212,259 (212,259)
Nonemployer contributions - 70,000 (70,000) - -
Employer contributions - 81,100 31,100) - 220,697 (220,697)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 1,526,3¢ S . <. 749,087 $ 3,536,747 $ 2,555,735 § 981,012
Ac .onal Plan MaBSTOA Plan
O Mlan Net Total Plan Net
Pens n Fic_ iary Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Net Net
LIt ity 1 0sition Liability Liability Position Liability
(in thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2014 S 102,159 § 782,852 $ 819,307 $ 3,331,464 $ 2,265,293 $ 1,066,171
Changes for fiscal year/ «5:
Service Cost 3,441 - 3,441 77,045 - 77,045
Interest on total pensic.. nbility 106,987 - 106,987 232,405 - 232,405
Effect of economic /demog. hic
(gains) or losses 6,735 - 6,735 (68,997) - (68,997)
Benefit payments (157,071) (157,071) - (179,928) (179,928) -
Administrative expense - (1,218) 1,218 - (88) 88
Member contributions - 1,108 (1,108) - 16,321 (16,321)
Net investment income - 527 (527) - (24,163) 24,163
Employer contributions - 100,000 (100,000) - 214,881 (214,881)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 1,562,251 § 726,198 $§ 836,053 § 3,391,989 $ 2,292,316 $ 1,099,673
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Balance as of December 31, 2015

Changes for fiscal year 2016:
Service Cost
Interest on total pension liability
Effect of plan changes
Effect of economic / demographic
(gains) or losses
Effect of assumption changes or inputs
Benefit payments
Administrative expense
Member contributions
Net investment income
Employer contributions
Balance as of December 31, 2016

Balance as of December 31, 2014

Changes for fiscal year 2015:
Service Cost
Interest on total pension liability
Effect of plan changes
Effect of economic / demographic
(gains) or losses
Effect of assumption chan® O,
inputs
Benefit payments
Administrative experti.
Member contributions
Net investment income
Employer contributions
Balance as of December 31, 2015

MNR Cash Balance Plan MTA Defined Benefit Plan
Total Plan Net Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Net Net
Liability Position Liability Liability Position Liability
(in thousands)
$ 634 § 612 § 22 $ 4,364,946 $ 3,074,777 $ 1,290,169
- - - 138,215 - 138,215
24 - 24 308,009 - 308,009
- - - 73,521 - 73,521
(15) - (15) 86,809 - 86,809
(77) (77) - (209,623) (209,623) -
- - - - (3,051) 3,051
- - - - 29,392 (29,392)
- 16 16) - 247,708 (247,708)
- 23" (2 - 280,768 (280,768)
$ 566 $ 4+ S (8) «. 761,877 § 3,419.971 § 1,341,906
MNR Cas¥ .alance ¥ n MTA Defined Benefit Plan
Total Fi Net Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciar Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Net Net
Liabili' " Masition L Jility Liability Position Liability
(in thousands)

$ 710% ° 698 o 12 $ 4,099,738 $ 3,065,220 $ 1,034,518
- - - 124,354 - 124,354
29 - 29 288,820 - 288,820
- - 6,230 - 6,230
(10) - (10) 121,556 - 121,556
18 - 18 (76,180) - (76,180)
(113) (113) - (199,572) (199,572) -
- 3 3) - (1,962) 1,962
- - - - 34,519 (34,519)
- 6 (6) - (45,122) 45,122
- 18 (18) - 221,694 (221,694)
$ 634 $ 612 § 22 $ 4364946 $ 3,074,777 $ 1,290,169
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Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the MTA’s net pension liability calculated for the Additional Plan, MaBSTOA
Plan, MNR Cash Balance Plan and the MTA Defined Benefit Plan using the discount rate as of each
measurement date, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount
rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the actual discount rate used for
each measurement date:

Measurement Date: December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
1% Discount 1% Discount
Decrease Rate 1% Increase ~ Decrease Rate 1% Increase
(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%) (6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%)
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Additional Plan $ 871,350 $ 749,087 $ 642,973 $§ 963,427 $§ 836,053 § 725,673
MaBSTOA Plan 1,376,916 981,012 6402826 1,480,961 1,099,673 775,092
MTA Defined Benefit Plan 1,936,639 1,341,906 © 0,176 1,835,699 1,290,169 830,112
1% Discount 1% Discount
Decrease Rate 1% Increase Necrease Rate 1% Increase
(3.0%) 4.02 (5.0%) 0.5%) (4.5%) (5.5%)
/ whole d<ars) (in whole dollars)
MNR Cash Balance Plan $ 25,200 $ 7,899) (37,092) $ 60,639 $ 21,847 $  (12,361)

The MTA’s Proportion of Net Pension Liability — NYCEKS wd NYSLERS

The following table presents the MTA’s proj. ttiOlia.. ».of the net pension liability of NYCERS based
on the June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014 actua. :l va’ ations, rolled forward to June 30, 2017 and June 30,
2016, respectively, and the proportion percentag. * e aggregate net pension liability allocated to the MTA:

NYCERS
June 30, 2017 June 30,2016
($ in thousands)
MTA’s proportion of the net pension liac. 24.096% 23.493%
MTA’s proportionate share 4 nension. hility $ 5,003,811 $ 5,708,052

The following table/ esents the My, ’s proportionate share of the net pension liability of NYSLERS based
onthe April 1,2016« ' April 1,201/ actuarial valuations, rolled forward to March 31,2017 and March 31,
2016, respectively, and «._mroportig’ percentage of the aggregate net pension liability allocated to the MTA:

NYSLERS
March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016
($ in thousands)
MTA’s proportion of the net pension liability 0.311% 0.303%
MTA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 29,239 $ 48,557

The MTA’s proportion of each respective Plan’s net pension liability was based on the MTA’s actual required
contributions made to NYCERS for the plan’s fiscal year-end June 30, 2017 and 2016 and to NYSLERS
for the plan’s fiscal year-end March 31, 2017 and 2016, relative to the contributions of all employers in
each plan.
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Sensitivity of the MTA’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the MTA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for NYCERS and
NYSLERS calculated using the discount rate as of each measurement date, as well as what the proportionate
share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage
point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the actual discount rate used as of each measurement date ($

in thousands):

Measurement Date: June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016
1% Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase 1% Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%) (6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%)
NYCERS $ 7,231,780 $ 5,003,811 § 3,046,531 $ 7,826,325 $ 5,708,052 $ 3,933,870
Measurement Date: March 31, 2017 ] March 31, 2016
1% Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase % Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%) (6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%)
NYSLERS $ 93,385 $ 29,239 $ 245 5) 109,494 $ 48,557 $ (2,931)

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and{ eferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2018 ana™, »r a° ded December 31, 2017, the MTA recognized
pension expense related to each pension plan as follow.. 2 $ thousands):

Tane 30, December 31,

Pension Plan 4 e 2017
Unaudited)

Additional Plan 30,500 $ 84,583
MaBSTOA Pla: 96,652 156,302
MNR Cash B ance play - (10)
MTA Defifi. Renefitd 159,105 346,535
NYCERS 384,901 595,905
NYSL=7 @ 6,985 17,486
Tel & S 678,143 § 1,200,801
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For the six-month period ended June 30, 2018 and year ended December 31, 2017, the MTA reported deferred outflow of resources and deferred inflow of
resources for each pension plan as follows (in $ thousands):

For the Period Ended
June 30, 2018
(Unaudited)

Differences between expected and
actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences
between contributions and proportionate
share of contributions
Employer contributions to the plan
subsequent to the measurement
of net pension liability
Total

For the Period Ended
June 30, 2018
(Unaudited)

Differences between expected and
actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences
between contributions and proportionate
share of contributions
Employer contributions to the plan
subsequent to the measurement
of net pension liability
Total

Additional Plan MaBSTOA Plan MNR Cash Balance Plan MTA Defined Benefit Plan
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resonrces Resources Resources Resources Resources
$ - $ -3 11,663 $ 47,891 $ -8 - $ 167,897 $ -
- - - - - - - 56,647
32,500 - 88,41 20 4 171,591 -
- - - - - 6,386 6,386
221,523 -\ ZUo, - - - 319,565 -
$ 254,023 $ - $ 3020751 » 47,891 $ 20 $ 4 3 665,439 § 63,033
NYCERS NYSLERS TOTAL
Deferred Defer ! Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows o1 Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources NCse. 0SS Resources Resources Resources Resources
$ $ 133, 4§ 733§ 4,440 $ 180,293 $ 185,845
246,670 - 9,989 - 256,659 56,647
- 44,459 5,840 - 298,365 204,463
119,738 26,449 2,631 132 128,755 32,967
399,868 - 13,969 - 1,158,799 -
$ 766,276 $ 364,422 $ 33,162 $ 4572 $ 2,022,871 $ 479,922
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For the Year Ended
December 31, 2017

Differences between expected and
actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences
between contributions and proportionate
share of contributions
Employer contributions to the plan
subsequent to the measurement
of net pension liability
Total

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2017

Differences between expected and
actual experience

Changes in assumptions

Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments

Changes in proportion and differences
between contributions and proportionate
share of contributions

Employer contributions to the plan
subsequent to the measurement

of net pension liability
Total

Additional Plan MaBSTOA Plan MNR Cash Balance Plan MTA Defined Benefit Plan
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources
$ - $ -3 11,663 $ 47,891 $ -3 -3 167,897 $ -
- - - - - - - 56,647
32,500 - 88,414 - 20 4 171,591 -
- - - - - - 6,386 6,386
221,523 - 202,684 - - - 321,860 -
$ 254,023 $ - § 302,761 $° 47891 $ 20 $ 4 8 667,734 $ 63,033
NYCERS NYSLERS TOTAL
Deferred Defert d Deferrc Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Infle" /s of o of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resou. s Resources Resources Resources Resources
$ - 73,514 733§ 4,440 $ 180,293 $ 185,845
246,67 - 9,989 - 256,659 56,647
- 204¢ 59 5,840 - 298,364 204,463
119,738 26,449 2,631 132 128,755 32,967
419,367 - 13,969 - 1,179,403 -
$ 785,775 $ 364,422 $ 33,162 $ 4572 $ 2,043,474 $ 479,922

The annual differences between the projected and actual earnings on investments are amortized over a five-year closed period beginning the year in which the

difference occurs.
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The following table presents the recognition periods used by each pension plan to amortize the annual
differences between expected and actual experience, changes in proportion and differences between
employer contributions and proportionate share of contributions, and changes in actuarial assumptions,
beginning the year in which the deferred amount occurs.

Recognition Period (in years)

Changes in proportion
and differences between

Differences between employer contributions Changes in

expected and actual and proportionate share of actuarial
Pension Plan experience contributions assumptions
Additional Plan 1.00 N/A N/A
MaBSTOA Plan 6.50 N/A 6.30
MNR Cash Balance Plan 1.00 N/A 1.00
MTA Defined Benefit Plan 8.10 8.10 7.80
NYCERS 5.60 5.60 333
NYSLERS 5.00 5.00 5.00

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2018 and yearsanded Decenic 31,2017, $1,158.8 and $1,179.4
were reported as deferred outflows of resources related o pensions result.. 2 from the MTA’s contributions
subsequent to the measurement date which will be/ ‘cognizad as a reduction of the net pension liability
in the year ending December 31, 2018 and Decen’ er 31, 2 (7, respectively. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflow. £re< arces related to pensions at June 30, 2018 will
be recognized as pension expense as follows:

MTA

. W Sash vefined

Additional MaBSTO:. Ba) . Benefit

Plan Plan 4 an Plan NYCERS NYSLERS Total
(in thousands)
Year Ending December 31:

2018 $ 1241 § \ A05 L E 49 82,465 § (16,688) $ 6,271 $ 111,248
2019 Iz, 260,605 4 82,465 157,042 6,271 284,978
2020 8,890 17,892 6 62,958 (9,102) 5,797 86,441
2021 “1.572) <18,811) 2 11,047 (137,250) (3,718) (150,302)
2022 ~165) - 16,746 7,984 - 23,565
Thereafter - 1,060 - 27,160 - - 28,220
$ 32,500 52,186 $ 16 $§ 282841 $ 1986 $ 14,621 $ 384,150

Deferred Compensation Progr..

Description - The Deferred Conipensation Program consists of two defined contribution plans that provide
benefits based solely on the amount contributed to each participant’s account(s), plus or minus any income,
expenses and gains/losses. The Deferred Compensation Program is comprised of the Deferred Compensation
Plan For Employees of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“MTA”), its Subsidiaries and Affiliates
(“457 Plan”) and the Thrift Plan For Employees of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, its Subsidiaries
and Affiliates (“401(k) Plan”). Certain MTA Related Groups employees are eligible to participate in both
deferred compensation plans. Both Plans are designed to have participant charges, including investment and
other fees, cover the costs of administering the Deferred Compensation Program.

Participation in the 401(k) Plan is now available to non-represented employees and, after collective
bargaining, most represented employees. All amounts of compensation deferred under the 401(k) Plan, and
all income attributable to such compensation, less expenses and fees, are held in trust for the exclusive benefit
of the participants and their beneficiaries. Accordingly, the 401(k) Plan is not reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statements of net position.

The Deferred Compensation Program is administered and may be amended by the Deferred Compensation
Committee.
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As the Deferred Compensation Program’s asset base and contribution flow increased, participants’ investment
options were expanded by the Deferred Compensation Committee with the advice of its Financial Advisor
to provide greater diversification and flexibility. In 1988, after receiving an IRS determination letter for the
401(k) Plan, the MTA offered its managers the choice of either participating in the 457 Plan or the 401(k)
Plan. By 1993, the MTA offered eight investment funds: a Guaranteed Interest Account Fund, a Money
Market Fund, a Common Stock Fund, a Managed Fund, a Stock Index Fund, a Government Income Fund,
an International Fund and a Growth Fund.

In 1998, the Deferred Compensation Committee approved the unbundling of the Plans. In 2008, the Plans’
investment choices were restructured to set up a four-tier strategy:

e Tier 1 — The MTA Target-Year Lifecycle Funds, which are comprised of a mix of several funds, most of
which are available as separate investments in the Deferred Compensation Program. The particular mix
of investments for each Fund is determined by the “target” date, which is the date the money is intended
to be needed for retirement income.

e Tier 2 - The MTA Index Funds offer a tier of index funds, s .ich invest in the securities of companies
that are included in a selected index, such as the Standa* % Poor’s 500 (large cap) Index or Russell
Mid Cap Index.

e Tier 3 —The MTA Actively Managed Portfolios, which are comprisc. »f actively managed portfolios that
are directed by one or a team of professional manag{ s who buy and sc._x variety of holdings in an effort
to outperform a selected index. These institutiona’ trategies provide participants with a diversified array
of distinct asset classes, with a single fund optig’ 1n each’ iass to simplify the decision making process.

e Tier 4 — Self-Directed Mutual Fund Option is desig. ¢ Jr the more experienced investors. Offers access
to an expanded universe of mutual funds from hundrec. »f well-known mutual fund families. Participants
may invest only a portion of their account,balances in thi. Tier.

In 2011, the Deferred Compensation Progi. m bega. “Twing Roth contributions. Employees can elect
after-tax Roth contributions and before-tax ¢ \triby .ons 1 both the 401(k) Plan and the 457 Plan. The
total combination of Roth after-tax contribution: '«  regular before-tax contributions cannot exceed the IRS
maximum of $18,000 dollars or $24° “ollars fc_ those over age 50 for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The two Plans offer the same arra¢ of inve ment opi. ns to participants. Eligible participants in the Deferred
Compensation Program includ< -mploye’ <@ 'rnthie case of MTA Long Island Bus, former employees) of:

e MTA

e MTA Long Island Raile™ d
MTA Bridges and/ .nnels

MTA Long Islai. Bus

e MTA Metro-North k' “woad

e MTA New York City Tra

e MTA Staten Island Rapid Transit
e MTA Capital Construction

e MTA Bus

Matching Contributions - MTA Bus on behalf of certain MTA Bus employees, MTA Metro-North Railroad
on behalf of certain MNR employees who opted-out of participation in the MTA Defined Benefit Pension
Plan and MTA on behalf of certain represented MTA Business Service Center employees and on behalf of
certain MTA Police Officers, make contributions to the 401(k) Plan. The rate for the employer contribution
varies.
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MTA Bus - Certain members who were employed by Queens Surface Corporation on February 26, 2005, and
who became employees of MTA Bus on February 27, 2005, receive a matching contribution equal to 50%
of member’s before-tax contributions provided that the maximum matching contribution shall not exceed
3% of the member’s base pay. MTA Bus also makes a basic contribution equal to 2% of the member’s
compensation. These members shall vest in the amount in the member’s account attributable to the matching
contributions and basic contributions as follows:

Years of Service Vested Percentage
Less than 2 0%
2 20%
3 40%
4 60%
5 80%
6 or more 100%

As a result of collective bargaining, these members were of .rc. » one-time opportunity to opt-out of the
matching contributions and employer basic contribution! and, 1. 'ad, participate in the MTA Defined
Benefit Pension Plan. No further matching or employe®basic contric. ¥ons will be made for those who
make such election.

MTA Metro-North Railroad —- MNR employees rex’ sented? / certain unions and who elected to opt-out of
participation in the MTA Defined Benefit Pension i »rece’ ¢ an annual employer contribution equal to 4%
of the member’s compensation. Effective on the first fu.. period following the nineteenth anniversary date
of an eligible MNR member’s continuous employment, Iv._ A Metro-North Railroad contributes an amount
equal to 7% of the member’s compensatioptlicible MNR i 'mbers vest in these employer contributions
as set forth below:

Years of Serviea Vested Percentage
Less tht > 0%
5 o1 ore 100%

MTA Headquarters - Police = »reac’ pian year, the MTA shall make contributions to the account of each
eligible MTA Police Benevolent ~. ¢ _iation member in the amounts required by the collective bargaining
agreement (“CBA”) and sihiast to the watribution limits set forth in the CBA. These contributions shall be
made monthly and shal” J¢ con. “ered iv. A Police contributions. Members are immediately 100% vested
in these employer cox’ ibutions.

In addition, for eacli, »n year, the M A shall make contributions to the account of each eligible MTA Police
Department Commana.. »Officers/ enevolent Association member in the amounts required by the CBA
and subject to the contribu. ' lin® s set forth in the CBA. These members are immediately 100% vested
in these employer contributio:.

MTA Headquarters — Business Services - Effective January 1, 2011, all newly hired MTA Business
Services Center employees represented by the Transportation Communications Union are eligible to receive
a matching contribution up to a maximum of 3% of the participant’s compensation. A participant’s right to
the balance in his or her matching contributions shall vest upon the first of the following to occur:

1. Completing 5 years of service,
2. Attaining the Normal Retirement Age of 62 while in continuous employment, or
3. Death while in continuous employment.

Additional Deposits (Incoming Rollover or Transfers) - Participants in the Deferred Compensation
Program are eligible to roll over both their before-tax and after-tax assets from other eligible retirement
plans into the 401(k) and 457 Plans. Under certain conditions, both Plans accept rollovers from all eligible
retirement plans (as defined by the Code), including 401(a), 457, 401(k), 403(b), and rollover IRAs.
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Forfeitures — Non vested contributions are forfeited upon termination of employment. Such forfeitures are
used to cover a portion of the pension plan’s administrative expenses.

December 31, December 31,
2017 2016
(In thousands)
Employer 401K contributions $ 4,109 § 3,973

5. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The MTA has implemented GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Employers for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (“GASB 45”). This Statement established the standards for the
measurement, recognition, and display of Other Postemployment Benefits (“OPEB”) expense/expenditures and
related liabilities (assets), note disclosures, and, if applicable, requir/! supplementary information (“RSI”) in
the financial reports of state and local governmental employers.

Postemployment benefits are part of an exchange of salaries and/ .. Sts for employee services rendered. Most
OPEB have been funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and have/ “en rc, 'sted in financial statements when the
promised benefits are paid. GASB 45 requires state and local government’s' ancial reports to reflect systematic,
accrual-basis measurement and recognition of OPEB cost (¢ pense) over a pe..d that approximates employees’
years of service and provides information about actuariz’ uccrued liabilities associated with the OPEB and to
what extent progress is being made in funding the plan

The Other Postemployment Benefits Plan (“the OPEB Plai. a7 | the related Trust Fund (“Trust”) was established
on January 1, 2009 for the exclusive benefit of MTA retired ei.. ‘ayees and their eligible spouses and dependents,
to fund some of the OPEB provided in accordance with the M. ’s various collective bargaining agreements.
The Plan and the Trust are exempt from federal ncc wfaxation urder Section 115(1) of the Internal Revenue
Code. The OPEB Plan is classified as a single-ei »loyer.: ...

h)

The separate annual financial statements of the OPL 4 .an may be obtained by writing to MTA Comptroller, 2
Broadway, 16th Floor, New York, New ™7 .10004 « at www.mta.info.

Plan Description — The benefits pr .ided b the MT: Group include medical, pharmacy, dental, vision, and
life insurance, plus monthly suppla’ .ents for' A=""2as2.Part B or Medicare supplemental plan reimbursements
and welfare fund contributions. 1. diffed it types of benefits provided vary by agency and employee type
(represented employees versus manage. ). All benefits are provided upon retirement as stated in the applicable
pension plan, although some agansies pro.. = benefits to some members if terminated within 5 years of attaining
retirement eligibility. Emp!® jces ¢. e M. Group are members of the following pension plans: the MTA
Defined Benefit Plan, the .dditional 1 1, the MNR Cash Balance Plan, the MaBSTOA Plan, NYCERS, and
NYSLERS.

The MTA Group participatc. "».the New' [ork State Health Insurance Program (“NYSHIP”) to provide medical
and prescription drug benefits, .. 'udir’ Medicare Part B reimbursements, to many of its employees and retirees.
NYSHIP provides a Preferred Prov. " Organization (“PPO”) plan and several Health Maintenance Organization
(“HMO”) plans. Represented MTA New York City Transit employees, other MTA New York City Transit former
employees who retired prior to January 1, 1996 or January 1, 2001, and MTA Bus retirees do not participate in
NYSHIP. These benefits are provided either through a self-insured health plan, a fully insured health plan or an
HMO.

The MTA is a participating employer in NYSHIP. The NYSHIP financial report can be obtained by writing to
NYS Department of Civil Service, Employee Benefits Division, Alfred E. Smith Office Building, 805 Swan
Street, Albany, NY 12239.

GASB Statement No. 45 requires employers to perform periodic actuarial valuations to determine annual
accounting costs, and to keep a running tally of the extent to which these amounts are over or under funded.
The valuation must be performed at least biennially. The most recent valuation was performed as of January 1,
2016. Forty-six thousand plan participants were receiving retirement benefits as of December 31, 2016, the last
valuation reporting period.
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During 2012, MTA funded $250 into an OPEB Trust (“Trust”) allocated between MTA Headquarters and MTA
New York City Transit and funded an additional $50 during 2013 allocated between MTA Long Island Railroad
and MTA Metro-North Railroad. There have been no further contributions made to the Trust. Under GASB
Statement No. 45, the discount rate is based on the assets in a trust, the assets of the employer or a blend of the
two based on the anticipated funding levels of the employer. For this valuation, the discount rate reflects a blend
of Trust assets and employer assets. The assumed return on Trust assets is 6.5% whereas the assumed return on
employer assets is 3.3% resulting in a discount rate under GASB Statement No. 45 of 3.3%, which is slightly
lower than the discount rate of 3.5% used in the prior valuation. This decrease is primarily due to the decrease
in Treasury yields and thus returns on employer assets since the prior valuation.

Annual OPEB Cost (“AOC”) and Net OPEB Obligation — The MTA’s annual OPEB cost (expense) represents
the accrued cost for postemployment benefits under GASB Statement No. 45. Currently, the MTA expenses the
actual benefits paid during a year. The cumulative difference between the annual OPEB cost (“new method”) and
the benefits paid during a year (‘“old method”) will result in a net OPEB obligation (the “Net OPEB Obligation”),
included in the consolidated statements of net position. The annual O™ =B cost is equal to the Annual Required
Contribution (the “ARC”) less adjustments if a Net OPEB Obligatis’ exists and plus the interest on Net OPEB
Obligations.

Actuarial Cost, Amortization Methods and Assumptions -/ or dewc nining the ARC, the MTA has chosen
to use the Frozen Initial Liability cost method (the “FIL Cost.Method”), . »of the cost methods in accordance
with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The initia’ aability is amot.. »d over a 22-year period. As of
the last valuation date, January 1, 2016, the remaining ap’ rtization period is 12 years.

The Entry Age Normal (“EAN”) Cost Method is used t¢  =termis ~the initial Frozen Accrued Liability as well as
any subsequent changes in Accrued Liability due to chang i .ie plan and/or actuarial assumptions. The initial
Frozen Unfunded Accrued Liability was determined as of Ja.. »wry 1, 2006 (2007 for MTA Bus Company) to be
used in the financials for the 2007 fiscal year. EAN is used to de.. mine the unfunded actuarial accrued liability
in the GASB Statement No. 45 supplementary’ ciic. w3 The EAi{ method determines the Accrued Liability
for each individual based on a level percent of pa_\for ser .c. rued through the valuation date.

The Frozen Unfunded Accrued Liability is determi ef each year as the Frozen Unfunded Accrued Liability
for the prior year, increased with interes duced b, the end-of-year amortization payment and increased or
decreased by any new bases establish< tor t. \ curren. ‘ear.

The difference between the Actuari¢ Present a's=wn©Benefits and the Frozen Unfunded Accrued Liability less
the Actuarial Value of Assets, if aii, nauald .ne Present Value of Future Normal Cost. The Normal Cost equals
the Present Value of Future Normal Cc. ¢ vided by the present value of future compensation and multiplied by
the total of current compensatianfar mer. s less than certain retirement age.

The Annual Required Con/ oution (. 2C) is «qual to the sum of the Normal Cost and the amortization for the
Frozen Unfunded Accru’ . Liability wi \ appropriate interest adjustments. Any difference between the ARC
and actual plan contribu. as from the p/ or year are considered an actuarial gain/loss and thus are included in
the development of the No. =l Cost. 7 is methodology differs from the approach used for the pension plan
where the difference between . »AR/ and actual plan contributions from the prior year, if any, will increase
or decrease the Frozen Unfundea” * _rued Liability and will be reflected in future amortization payments. A
different approach was applied to the OPEB benefits because these benefits are not actuarially funded.

Valuation Date - The valuation date is the date that all participant and other pertinent information is collected
and liabilities are measured. This date may not be more than 24 months prior to the beginning of the fiscal year.
The valuation date for this valuation is January 1, 2016, which is 12 months prior to the beginning of the 2017
calendar year.

Inflation Rate - 2.5% per annum compounded annually.

Discount Rate — GASB Statement No. 45 provides guidance to employers in selecting the discount rate. The
discount rate should be based on the estimated long-term investment yield on the investments that are expected
to be used to finance the benefits. If there are no plan assets, assets of the employer should be used to derive
the discount rate. This would most likely result in a lower discount rate and thus, liabilities significantly higher
than if the benefits are prefunded. In recognition of the decrease in short-term investment yields, the discount
rate for this valuation has been lowered from 3.5% to 3.3%.
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Healthcare Reform - The results of this valuation reflect our understanding of the impact in future health costs
due to the Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) passed into law in March 2010. An excise tax for high cost health
coverage or “Cadillac” health plans was included in ACA. The provision levies a 40% tax on the value of health
plan costs that exceed certain thresholds for single coverage or family coverage. If, between 2010 and 2018, the
cost of health care insurance rises more than 55%, the threshold for the excise tax will be adjusted. Legislative
changes passed in December 2015 have delayed the effective date of the excise tax until 2020. However, the
calculation of the threshold amounts remains unchanged. Also included in ACA are various fees (including, but
not limited to, the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute fee, Transitional Reinsurance Program fee, and
the Health Insurer fee) associated with the initiation of health exchanges in 2014. The current provisions of ACA
should be reflected in the projection of benefits and therefore, include the value of the excise tax and ACA fees
which apply to the plan(s). It is assumed that there will be no changes to the current law and that there will be
no changes in plan design to help mitigate the impact of the excise tax.

The legislative changes from H.R.1, originally known as the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act”, and H.R. 195, the
“Extension of Continuing Appropriations Act, 2018”, are not reflect*d in this valuation as passage occurred
after the measurement date.

The OPEB-specific actuarial assumptions used in the most rece’ . bic. »ial valuation are as follows:

Valuation date .nuary 1, 2016

Actuarial cost method Frozen/aitial Liability

Discount rate 3.30¢

Price inflation o per annum, compounded annually
Per-Capita retiree contributions *

Amortization method Frozen 1. aal Liability

Remaining amortization period SO

Period closed or open Closed

* In general, all coverages are paid for® , the M . Howevei \r MTAHQ members retired prior to 1997, pay a portion of the
premium, depending on the year t/ ) retired.

Actuarial valuation involve estimaw. »of ! value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability
of events far into the future, and that ac. rially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual
results are compared to past e "etions . ,new estimates are made about the future.

Per Capita Claim Costs/ - Use of a° =nded premium rate for active employees and retirees under age 65 is
a common practice. He' (h costs gener, ly increase with age, so the blended premium rate is higher than the
true underlying cost for« ‘ives and the lended premium is lower than the true underlying cost for retirees.
For retirees, this difference .. halled the' mplicit rate subsidy. Since GASB Statement No. 45 only requires an
actuarial valuation for retirees, ». nqu’ s the plan sponsor to determine the costs of these benefits by removing
the subsidy. However in prior yea.. 4 plan sponsor may use the premiums without adjustment for age if the
employer participates in a community-rated plan, in which the premium rates reflect projected health claims
experience of all participating employers, or if the insurer would offer the same premium rate if only non-
Medicare-eligible retirees were covered.

Effective with this valuation, age adjustments are required for valuing NYSHIP benefits due to a change in
actuarial standards. Age adjustments reflect that health costs are typically higher for retirees under age 65 than
an average active population and, upon reaching Medicare, health costs are reduced as NYSHIP becomes the
secondary payer.
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The medical and pharmacy benefits provided to TWU Local 100, ATU 1056, ATU 726 and other eligible
represented MTA New York City Transit members, represented MTA Bus members and represented MTA Staten
Island Railway members are self-insured as well as some Pre-NYSHIP MTA New York City Transit members.
For these benefits, a per capita claims cost assumptions was developed that vary by age, gender and benefit type.
The per capita costs assumptions reflect medical and pharmacy claims information, including the Employer
Group Waiver Plan (“EGWP”) for providing pharmacy benefits to Medicare-eligible retirees, for 2015 and 2016.

Healthcare Cost Trend — The healthcare trend assumption is based on the Society of Actuaries-Getzen Model
version 2017 utilizing the baseline assumptions included in the model, except inflation of 2.5% for medical and
pharmacy benefits. Additional adjustments apply based on percentage of costs associated with administrative
expenses, aging factors, potential excise taxes due to healthcare reform, and other healthcare reform provisions,
separately for NYSHIP and self-insured benefits administered by MTA New York City Transit. The NYSHIP
trend reflects actual increases in premiums to Participating Agencies through 2017. Long-term trend increases
are 4% for dental and vision benefits and 4.5% for Medicare Part B reimbursements, but not more than projected
medical trends excluding any excise tax adjustments. The self-insure{ trend is applied directly for represented
employees of by MTA New York City Transit, MTA Staten Island R2* way and MTA Bus. Note that for purposes
of estimating the impact of the Excise Tax, the self-insured trends # MTA Bus and MTA New York City Transit
differ. The following lists illustrative rates for the NYSHIP and  eli" zured trend assumptions for MTA New
York City Transit, MTA Staten Island Railway and MTA Bus (.« amoui. »are in percentages).

Health Care Cost Trend Rates

MTANC York( ity Transit
and M'1:. «en Island

NYSHIP Rail, MTA Bus
Fiscal Year <65 >=65 <65 1,65 <65 >=65
2016 11.8 - 7.3 49 7.3 49
2017 6.7 6.4 K4 4.9 7.1 49
2018 6.2 64 \ 5.0 6.4 5.0
2019 6.3 5 9. 5.0 9.2 5.0
2020 53 5.1 6.0 5.1 6.0 5.1
2025 6.0 5.1 5.1 5.9 5.1
2030 5.9 5.1 5.8 5.1 5.8 5.1
2035 5.9 . 5.8 5.2 5.8 5.2
2040 5.2 5.2 5.7 5.2 5.7 5.2
2050 ' °8 53 5.0 53 5.0
2060 5.2 \ 5.1 5.2 52 5.2
2070 L6 4 4.6 4.6 4.6 49
Ultimatel . 4 42 4.5 42 4.5

1 Ultimate rate used for years | r to 2016 for Entry Age purposes.
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Participation — The table below summarizes the census data provided by each Agency utilized in the preparation
of the actuarial valuation. The table shows the number of active and retired employees by Agency and provides
a breakdown of the coverage elected and benefits offered to current retirees.

OPEB Participation By Agency at January 1, 2016 (Valuation date for December 31, 2017)

MTA MTA MTA

New Long Metro MTA MTA MTA
York Island -North  Bridges Long Staten
City Rail Rail & Island Island MTA
Transit Road Road Tunnels MTAHQ  Bus * Railway Bus Total
Active Members
Number 49,174 7,141 6,506 1,475 1,720 - 297 3,757 70,070
Average Age 49 45 45 47 46 - 44 47 48
Average Service 14 12 13 14 13 - 12 12 13
Retirees
Single Medical Coverage 12,818 662 452 622 193 88 27 616 15,478
Employee/Spouse
Coverage 17,427 2,065 1,050 716 371 198 60 939 22,826
Employee/Child Coverage 1,085 107 77 p 29 21 4 47 1,415
No medical Coverage 817 2,387 2486 47 11 o117 24 296 6,345
Total Number 32,147 5,221 4,065 4 390 604 624 115 1,898 46,064
Average Age 72.0 68.5 745 £ 697 4 65.9 66.1 64.8 70.6 71.5
Total Number with Dental/
Vision 7,018 846 534 435 529 58 47 110 9,577
Total Number with Vision 27,843 846 o 435 529 58 93 1,562 31,900
Total Number with
Supplement 26,448 1,957 : 955 - 462 22 1,454 31,298
Average Monthly
Supplement
Amount in whole dollars
(Excluding
Part B Premium) $ 328 2208 -8 211 8 -8 -$ 238 $ 25 $ 50
Total Number with Life
Insurance 7,163 51 2,536 380 519 509 92 232 16,182
Average Life Insurance
Amount “o 2,693 8 235 § 27228 5605% 50008% 97158 2978 $ 5409 $ 9215
* No active members as of January 1, 201 »add? n, there are 155 vestees not included in these counts.

Coverage Election Rates — The majority of members participating in NY SHIP are assumed to elect coverage
in the Empire PPO plan. For certain agencies (MTA New York City Transit, MTA Bridges and Tunnels, and
MTA Staten Island Railway) a percentage of the membership is assumed to elect the NYSHIP HIP plan and for
MTA Metro-North Railroad, a percentage is assumed to elect ConnectiCare.

Dependent Coverage — Spouses are assumed to be the same age as the employee/retiree. 80% of male and
45% of female eligible members participating in NYSHIP are assumed to elect family coverage upon retirement
and 65% of male and 35% of female eligible members participating in self-insured programs administered by
MTA New York City Transit are assumed to cover a dependent. Actual coverage elections for current retirees
are used. If a current retiree’s only dependent is a child, eligibility is assumed for an additional 7 years from the
valuation date.
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Demographic Assumptions:

Mortality — Preretirement and postretirement healthy annuitant rates are projected on a generational basis using
Scale AA. As a generational table, it reflects mortality improvements both before and after the measurement date.
The postretirement mortality assumption is based on an experience analysis covering the period from January
1, 2011 to December 31, 2015 for the MTA-sponsored pension plans.

Preretirement — RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table for Males and Females with blue-collar adjustments. No
blue-collar adjustments were used for management members of MTAHQ.

Postretirement Healthy Lives — 95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males
with blue collar adjustments and 116% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for
females. No blue collar or percentage adjustments were used for management members of MTAHQ.

Postretirement Disabled Lives — RP-2014 Disabled Annuitant mortality table for males and females.

Vestee Coverage — For members that participate in NYSHIP, Vest ¢s (members who have terminated, but
not yet eligible to retire) are eligible for NYSHIP benefits provide! oy the Agency upon retirement, but must
maintain NYSHIP coverage at their own expense from terminatic’ 2 retirement. Vestees are assumed to retire
at first eligibility and would continue to maintain NYSHIP cov/ age med on the following percentages. This
assumption is based on the Development of Recommended AC.uarial As. mptions for New York State/SUNY
GASB 45 Valuation report provided to Participating Employs 5 of NYSHIP. i »se percentages were also applied
to current vestees based on age at the valuation date.

Age at Termination Percent Electing
<40 0%
4043 5
44 20
4546 30
40
49 50
50-51 80
52 100

The following table shows the elements '« the MTA’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount actually paid,
and changes in the MTA’s #* "Oi. hoblige. ' to the plan for the six-month period ended June 30, 2018 and
year ended December 314 s17. The p- ion of ‘his actuarial present value allocated to a valuation year is called
the Normal Cost. Calcy .tions are basc, on the types of benefits provided under the terms of the substantive
plan at the time of each™. ‘mation and o1 he pattern of sharing costs between the employer and plan members
to that point. Calculations 1< »ct a lond erm perspective.

June 30, December 31,
(In millions) 2018 2017
(Unaudited)

Annual required contribution (“ARC”) $ 1,492.6 $ 2,985.1
Interest on net OPEB obligation 250.1 500.1
Adjustment to ARC (685.9) (1,329.8)

OPEB cost 1,056.8 2,155.4
Payments made (314.2) (579.9)

Increase in net OPEB obligation 742.6 1,575.5
Net OPEB obligation — beginning of period 16,731.0 15,155.5
Net OPEB obligation — end of period $ 17,473.6 $ 16,731.0
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The MTA’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to, and the net OPEB obligation
for the year ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows (in millions):

Annual % of Annual Net OPEB
Year Ended OPEB Cost Cost Contributed Obligation
December 31, 2017 $ 2,155.4 26.9% $ 16,731.0
December 31,2016 2,146.4 25.7 15,155.5
December 31, 2015 1,997.2 252 13,560.1

The MTA funded status of the Plan is as follows (in millions):

Unfunded

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Ratio of
Value Accrued Ac/ led UAAL to
of Liability J¢ oility Funded Covered Covered

Valuation Assets (AAL)* "AAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Year Ended Date {a} {b} =0 fa} {a}/{b} {d} {c}/{d}

January 1,
December 31, 2017 2016 $297.5 $19,80¢ 7/ $19,504.2 1.5% $5,041.00 386.9 %

* Based on Entry Age Normal

The required schedule of funding progress for the MTA Po.. mployment Benefit Plan immediately following
the notes to the financial statements presents multiyear trend 1. smation about whether the actuarial value of

plan assets is increasing or decreasing over tim{ . “we to the ac. irial accrued liability for benefits.
CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital assets and improvements includ ‘and, bu. lings, equipment, and infrastructure of the MTA having

a minimum useful life of two years ar’ ‘havit. a cost ¢_more than $25 thousand.

Capital assets are stated at historicald ost, ora¢ =« istorical cost based on appraisals, or on other acceptable
methods when historical cost is not'«. »ilab) Capital leases are classified as capital assets in amounts equal to the
lesser of the fair market value or the pi. * «t value of net minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease.
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Accumulated depreciation and amortization are reported as reductions of fixed assets. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based upon
estimated useful lives of 25 to 50 years for buildings, 2 to 40 years for equipment, and 25 to 100 years for infrastructure. Capital lease assets and leasehold
improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the life of the asset whichever is less. Capital assets consist of the following at December 31, 2016,
December 31, 2017 and June 30, 2018 (in millions):

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction work-in-progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and structures

Bridges and tunnels

Equipment:
Passenger cars and locomotives
Buses

Infrastructure

Other

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:

Buildings and structures

Bridges and tunnels

Equipment:
Passenger cars and locomotives
Buses

Infrastructure

Other

Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated - net

Capital assets - net

Balance Balance Balance
December 31, Additions / Deletions / December 31, Additions / Deletions / June 30,
2016 Reclassifications Reclassification: 2017 Reclassifications Reclassifications 2018
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

$ 203 $ 14 $ - h 217 $ - $ - $ 217
16,256 6,491 /,769 5,978 2,915 1,555 18,338
16,459 6,505 5,769 17,195 2,915 1,555 18,555
17,458 751 93 17,716 75 1 17,790
3,316 288 3,604 328 - 3,932
13,863 1 13,860 158 24 13,994
3,446 213 46 3,613 119 57 3,675
22,078 I 27 23,834 467 24,301
20,122 2,602 18 22,706 504 5 23,205
80,283 5,638 588 85,333 1,651 87 86,897
6,683 20 290 6,923 263 - 7,186
746 35 - 783 5 - 788
6,83 71 4 7,206 208 24 7,390
2,005 250 39 2,216 115 57 2,274
8,635 672 21 9,286 422 - 9,708
7,316 751 13 8,054 323 4 8,373
32,224 2,611 367 34,468 1,336 85 35,719
48,059 3,027 221 50,865 315 2 51,178
$ 64,518 $ 9,532 $ 5,990 $ 68,060 $ 3,230 $ 1,557 $ 69,733

74
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Interest capitalized in conjunction with the construction of capital assets for the periods ended June 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017 was $22.6 and $58.9, respectively.

Capital assets acquired prior to April 1982 for MTA New York City Transit were funded primarily by NYC with
capital grants made available to MTA New York City Transit. NYC has title to a substantial portion of such assets
and, accordingly, these assets are not recorded on the books of the MTA. Subsequent acquisitions, which are
part of the MTA Capital Program, are recorded at cost by MTA New York City Transit. In certain instances, title
to MTA Bridges and Tunnels’ real property may revert to NYC in the event the MTA determines such property
is unnecessary for its corporate purpose. With respect to MTA Metro-North Railroad, capital assets completely
funded by CDOT are not reflected in MTA’s financial statements, as ownership is retained by CDOT.

For certain construction projects, the MTA holds in a trust account marketable securities pledged by third-party
contractors in lieu of cash retainages. At June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, these securities, which are not
included in these financial statements, totaled $111.0 and $114.8, respectively, and had a market value of $96.5
and $83.7, respectively.

LONG-TERM DEBT

(In millions) Original December/ , June 30,
Issuance 2017 sued Retired 2018
MTA: (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Transportation Revenue Bonds
1.37%-6.68% due through 2057 $ 36,161 $ 21,028 $ 472§ -8 21,500
Bond Anticipation Notes
2.0% due through 2018 6,704 516 2,100 512 3,104
State Service Contract Bonds
4.125%—5.70% due through 2031 2,395 48 - 33 35
Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds
2.05%—5.00% due through 2056 1939 )| - - 5,371
56, 9 27,983 2,572 545 30,010
Net unamortized bond premium - 1,578 190 137 1,631
56,299 29,561 2,762 682 31,641
TBTA:
General Revenue Bonds
4.00%—5.77% due through 2050 10,714 7,218 352 41 7,529
Bond Anticipation Notes
5.77% due through 2032 400 165 - 165 -
Subordinate Revenue Bonds
4.00%-5.77% due throug’ 2032 4,066 1,386 - 39 1,347
20,443 8,769 352 245 8,876
Net unamortized bond premi. - 581 49 40 590
20,443 9,350 401 285 9,466
MTA Hudson Rail Yards Trust:
MTA Hudson Rail Yards Trust Obligatio..
1.88%—2.65% due through 2056 1,057 1,057 - - 1,057
Net unamortized bond premium - 130 - 1 129
1,057 1,187 - 1 1,186
Total $ 77,799 $ 40,098 $ 3,163 $ 968 $ 42,293
Current portion $ 1,806 $ 1,077
Long-term portion $ 38,292 $ 41,216
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(In millions) Original December 31, December 31,
Issuance 2016 Issued Retired 2017
MTA:
Transportation Revenue Bonds
1.37%6.68% due through 2057 $ 35,689 S 21,209 $ 3,803 $ 3,984 § 21,028
Bond Anticipation Notes
2.0% due through 2018 4,604 948 2,204 1,636 1,516
State Service Contract Bonds
4.125%—-5.70% due through 2031 2,395 145 - 77 68
Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds
2.05%-5.00% due through 2056 11,039 5,009 993 631 5,371
53,727 27,311 7,000 6,328 27,983
Net unamortized bond premium - 1,345 740 507 1,578
53,727 28,656 7,740 6,835 29,561
TBTA:
General Revenue Bonds
4.00%—5.77% due through 2050 15,625 6,87 2,040 1,639 7,218
Bond Anticipation Notes
5.77% due through 2032 400 - 400 235 165
Subordinate Revenue Bonds
4.00%-5.77% due through 2032 4,066 1,520 108 242 1,386
20,091 8,337 2,548 2,116 8,769
Net unamortized bond premium - 35 399 553 581
20,091 A 072 2,947 2,669 9,350
MTA Hudson Rail Yards Trust:
MTA Hudson Rail Yards Trust Obligations
1.88%—2.65% due through 2056 ~ea v - - 1,057
Net unamortized bond premium - 137 - 7 130
.57 1,194 - 7 1,187
Total $ 74,0 50, 38,922 § 10,687 $ 9511 § 40,098
Current portion 1,977 $ 1,806
Long-term portion h 36,945 $ 38,292
MTA Transportation Revenue Bona. rior to 2018, MTA issued sixty-one Series of Transportation Revenue

Bonds secured under its General Resolutic »Authorizing Transportation Revenue Obligations adopted on March
26, 2002 in the aggregate pi’ Cipa.. mount < '%31,419. The Transportation Revenue Bonds are MTA’s special
obligations payable solelx’ rom trans. »nd coinmuter systems revenues and certain state and local operating
subsidies.

On January 23, 2018, M'1. ssued $477 of Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A. Proceeds from the
transaction were used to pay 0. e exi* ing outstanding 2017B Bond Anticipation Notes in the amount of $500.
The Series 2018A bonds were 1s. % "as $195 Subseries 2018A-1 and $277 Subseries 2018A-2. The Series
2018A-1 bonds were issued as mandatory tender bonds with an initial purchase date of November 15, 2020.
The Series 2018A-2 bonds were issued as mandatory tender bonds with an initial purchase date of November
15, 2022.

On March 12, 2018, S&P Global Ratings lowered its long-term rating on all outstanding MTA Transportation
Revenue Bonds to A+ from AA-.

On March 29, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and remarketed $100 of MTA Transportation Revenue
Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Subseries 2002D-2b because its current interest rate period was set to expire
by its terms.
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MTA Bond Anticipation Notes — From time to time, MTA issues Transportation Revenue Bond Anticipation
Notes in accordance with the terms and provisions of the General Resolution described above in the form of
commercial paper to fund its transit and commuter capital needs. The interest rate payable on the notes depends
on the maturity and market conditions at the time of issuance. The MTA Act requires MTAHQ to periodically
(at least each five years) refund its bond anticipation notes with bonds.

On January 23, 2018, MTA issued $500 of MTA Transportation Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2018 A
to finance existing approved transit and commuter projects. The Subseries 2018 A notes are fixed rate tax-exempt
notes with a final maturity of August 15, 2019.

On June 19, 2018, MTA issued $1,600 of MTA Transportation Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2018B
to generate new money proceeds to finance existing approved transit and commuter projects. The Series 2018B
Notes are fixed rate tax-exempt notes with a final maturity of May 15, 2021.

MTA Revenue Anticipation Notes — On January 9, 2014, MTA closed a $350 revolving working capital
liquidity facility with the Royal Bank of Canada which is expected to4 'main in place until July 7, 2017. Draws
on the facility will be taxable, as such this facility is intended to bef sed only for operating needs of MTA and
the related entities. On January 31, 2017, MTA drew down $2¢ of its $350 Revolving Credit Agreement
with the Royal Bank of Canada, which was entered into on Ja* ary. »2014. The purpose of the draw was to
retire Transportation Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes, Subseiies 20162 3, The $200 draw-down plus accrued
interest was repaid on March 31, 2017.

On August 24, 2017, MTA entered into a $350 taxable Re’ “nue Anticipation Note facility, (the “2017A RAN”),
with J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, National Association. A¢ initial ¢ .w of $3.5 was made at closing. This balance
will remain throughout the duration of the agreement. 1= %2014 1 RAN is available to be used by MTA for any
corporate purpose as needed and is structured as arevolving . n facility. The RAN expires on August 24, 2022.

MTA State Service Contract Bonds — Prior t¢,2018 MTA iss.. “two Series of State Service Contract Bonds
secured under its State Service Contract Oblig. on mlution aavpted on March 26, 2002, in the aggregate
principal amount of $2,395. Currently, the outsi_xding ! s ¢ $35. The State Service Contract Bonds are
MTA’s special obligations payable solely from cei \ind ayments from the State of New York under a service
contract.

MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds - Prior, » 2018," 'TA issued twenty-two Series of Dedicated Tax Fund
Bonds secured under its Dedicated T* . Fund ¢ )ligation i.esolution adopted on March 26, 2002, in the aggregate
principal amount of $9,769. The I ficated/ ... onds are MTA’s special obligations payable solely from
monies held in the Pledged Amounts. =0’ it of the MTA Dedicated Tax Fund. State law requires that the MTTF
revenues and MMTOA revenues (desci. »d above in Note 2 under “Nonoperating Revenues™) be deposited,
subject to appropriation by t = L egisic e, into the MTA Dedicated Tax Fund.

MTA Certificates of Par/ _ipation —_ ‘iorto 2018, MTA (solely on behalf of MTA Long Island Rail Road and
MTA Metro-North Railxf d), MTA New'| ork City Transit and MTA Bridges and Tunnels executed and delivered
three Series of Certificates. S Participati¢  in the aggregate principal amount of $807 to finance certain building
and leasehold improvements'.. »n offie’ ouilding at Two Broadway in Manhattan occupied principally by MTA
New York City Transit, MTA Bi. we( und Tunnels, MTA Capital Construction, and MTAHQ. The Certificates
of Participation represented proport.onate interests in the principal and interest components of Base Rent paid
severally, but not jointly, in their respective proportionate shares by MTA New York City Transit, MTA, and
MTA Bridges and Tunnels, pursuant to a Leasehold Improvement Sublease Agreement.

MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Bonds — Prior to 2018, MTA Bridges and Tunnels issued twenty-
nine Series of General Revenue Bonds secured under its General Resolution Authorizing General Revenue
Obligations adopted on March 26, 2002, in the aggregate principal amount of $12,422. The General Revenue
Bonds are MTA Bridges and Tunnels’ general obligations payable generally from the net revenues collected on
the bridges and tunnels operated by MTA Bridges and Tunnels.

On January 24, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and remarketed $122.635 of Triborough Bridge and
Tunnel Authority General Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Subseries 2003B-1 because the irrevocable direct-pay
LOC relating to the Subseries 2003B-1 Bonds issued by PNC Bank, National Association, and the irrevocable
direct-pay LOC relating to the Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority General Revenue Variable Rate Bonds,
Subseries 2003B-3 Bonds issued by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association expired by their terms. The LOC
facilities related to both Subseries 2003B-1 and Subseries 2003B-3 were substituted with an irrevocable direct-
pay LOC issued by Bank of America, N.A. The LOC expires on January 21, 2022.
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On January 24, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and remarketed $190.3 of Triborough Bridge and
Tunnel Authority General Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Subseries 2005B-2 because the irrevocable
direct-pay LOC issued by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association expired by its terms, and was substituted with
an irrevocable direct-pay LOC issued by Citibank, N.A. The LOC expires on January 23, 2021.

On February 1, 2018, MTA issued $352 of Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority General Revenue Bonds,
Series 2018A. The proceeds from the transactions were used to retire $165 of MTA Bridges and Tunnels General
Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2017A and to finance bridge and tunnel capital projects. The Series
2018A bonds have a final maturity of November 15, 2048.

On June 27, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and remarketed $107.275 of Triborough Bridge and
Tunnel Authority General Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2001C because the irrevocable direct-pay LOC
relating to the Series 2001C Bonds issued by The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., was expiring by its terms
and was substituted with an irrevocable direct-pay LOC issued by State Street Bank and Trust Company. The
LOC will expire on June 26, 2023.

On June 27, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and rema( cted $190.300 of Triborough Bridge and
Tunnel Authority General Revenue Variable Rate Refunding Bond  Subseries 2005B-3 because the irrevocable
direct-pay LOC relating to the Subseries 2005B-3 Bonds issue/ oy . » Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.,
was expiring by its terms and was substituted with an irrevocaule direce. ww LOC issued by State Street Bank
and Trust Company. The LOC will expire on June 26, 2022

MTA Bridges and Tunnels Subordinate Revenue Bon/ , — Prior to 2018, MTA Bridges and Tunnels issued
twelve Series of Subordinate Revenue Bonds secured und rits 200 Subordinate Revenue Resolution Authorizing
Subordinate Revenue Obligations adopted on March 26, 202 £ 'the aggregate principal amount of $3,871. The
Subordinate Revenue Bonds are MTA Bridges and Tunnels. -ecial obligations payable generally from the net
revenues collected on the bridges and tunnels operated by M'1.. 2ridges and Tunnels after the payment of debt
service on the MTA Bridges and Tunnels Gene:’ Tmwenue Bonas zscribed in the preceding paragraph.

MTA Hudson Rail Yards Trust Obligations —' e M']° .. ’n Rail Yards Trust Obligations, Series 2016A
(“Series 2016A Obligations™) were executed and de. zer’ . on September 22, 2016 by Wells Fargo Bank National
Association, as Trustee (“Trustee”), to (i) retire the ou.  «nding Transportation Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes,
Series 2016A of the MTA, which were ,suc_ *o prov. = interim financing of approved capital program transit
and commuter projects, (ii) finance az' roved | .pital prc_sam transit and commuter projects of the affiliates and
subsidiaries of the MTA, (iii) fund! .n Intere’ Pewnmie,Requirement in an amount equal to one-sixth (1/6) of
the greatest amount of Interest Coi. anen# (as hereiuafter defined) in the current or any future year, (iv) fund
a portion of the Capitalized Interest Fu. ' equirement, and (v) finance certain costs of issuance.

Pursuant to the Financing As® "= n4(as he vinafter defined), the MTA has agreed to pay to, or for the benefit
of, the Trustee the “MTA F .ancing /. »emet.. Amount,” consisting of principal and interest components. The
Series 2016A Obligations ~vidence the 11 rest of the Owners thereof in such MTA Financing Agreement Amount
payable by the MTA puis. at to the Finar  ng Agreement. The principal amount of the Series 2016A Obligations
represent the principal comp. »ents of th VITA Financing Agreement Amount (“Principal Components”) and the
interest represent the interest ¢cc. mons s of the MTA Financing Agreement Amount (“Interest Components”).
The Series 2016A Obligations (a.. ae related Principal Components and Interest Components) are special
limited obligations payable solely from the Trust Estate established under the MTA Hudson Rail Yards Trust
Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2016 (“Trust Agreement”), by and between the MTA and the Trustee.

The Trust Estate consists principally of (i) the regularly scheduled rent, delinquent rent or prepaid rent (“Monthly
Ground Rent”) to be paid by Ground Lease Tenants (the tenants under the Western Rail Yard Original Ground
Lease and each Severed Parcel Ground Lease of the Eastern Rail Yard) of certain parcels being developed on
and above the Eastern Rail Yard and Western Rail Yard portions of the John D. Caemmerer West Side Yards
(“Hudson Rail Yards”) currently operated by The Long Island Rail Road Company (“LIRR”), (ii) monthly
scheduled transfers from the Capitalized Interest Fund during the limited period that the Monthly Ground Rent
is abated under the applicable Ground Lease, (iii) payments made by the Ground Lease Tenants if they elect to
exercise their option to purchase the fee interest in such parcels (“Fee Purchase Payments”), (iv) Interest Reserve
Advances and Direct Cost Rent Credit Payments (collectively “Contingent Support Payments’) made by the
MTA, (v) rights of the MTA to exercise certain remedies under the Ground Leases and (vi) rights of the Trustee
to exercise certain remedies under the Ground Leases and the Fee Mortgages.

Master Page # 90 of 186 - Audif'Committee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metr op Olitafl . Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
Transportatlon AllthOI'lty as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

Pursuant to the Interagency Financing Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2016 (“Financing Agreement”),
by and among the MTA, New York City Transit Authority, Manhattan and Bronx Surface Transit Operating
Authority, LIRR, Metro-North Commuter Railroad Company, and MTA Bus Company (collectively, the
“Related Transportation Entities”), and the Trustee, the MTA has agreed to pay to the Trustee the MTA Financing
Agreement Amount with moneys provided by the Financing Agreement Payments (which are principally the
revenues within the Trust Estate) and Interest Reserve Advances. The MTA has established a deposit account
with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as depositary (“Depositary”), and the MTA will direct all Ground
Lease Tenants to make Monthly Ground Rent and Fee Purchase Payments (payments made by the Ground Lease
Tenants if they elect to exercise their option to purchase the fee interest in such parcels) directly to the Depositary,
which deposits will be transferred daily to the Trustee. In addition, in the event the MTA elects to exercise
certain Authority Cure Rights upon the occurrence of a Ground Lease Payment Event of Default or is required
to make certain Direct Cost Rent Credit Payments, the MTA will make all payments relating to defaulted and
future Monthly Ground Rent directly to the Depositary.

Refer to Note 8 for further information on Leases.

Debt Limitation — The New York State Legislature has impos® « limitations on the aggregate amount of
debt that the MTA and MTA Bridges and Tunnels can issue to fit . e approved transit and commuter capital
programs. The current aggregate ceiling, subject to certain ¢ 1usioi. ws $55,497 compared with issuances
totaling approximately $34,397. The MTA expects that the current statuc. . ceiling will allow it to fulfill the
bonding requirements of the approved Capital Programs.

Bond Refundings — From time to time, the MTA and VITA Rfdges and Tunnels issue refunding bonds to
achieve debt service savings or other benefits. The pre! ~ds of 4 runding bonds are generally used to purchase
U.S. Treasury obligations that are placed in irrevocable . < the principal and interest within the trusts will
be used to repay the refunded debt. The trust account assc. nand the refunded debt are excluded from the
consolidated statements of net position.

At June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the 1 loWiig =nats of MTA bonds, which have been refunded,
remain valid debt instruments and are secured s¢. ly by und payable solely from their respective irrevocable
trusts.

(In millions) June 30, December 31,
2018 2017
(Unaudited)
MTA Transit and Commuter Facilities:
Transit Facilities Revenue Bonds $ 189 § 189
Commuter Facilities Revenua 193 193
Transit and Commuter Fag™ _ies Service, hatract L oonds - 28
Dedicated Tax Fund Bor® ~ 42 61
MTA New York City Transic Transit Facilitie; levenue
Bonds (Livingston Plaza Prc, ) - 8
MTA Bridges and Tunnels:
General Purpose Revenue Bonds 674 694
Special Obligation Subordinate Bonds 102 115
Mortgage Recording Tax Bonds - -
Total S 1,200 $ 1,288

Master Page # 91 of 186 - Audit Committee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metropolitap X Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
Transportation Authority as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

For the six months ended June 30, 2018, MTA did not have any refunding transactions. For the six months
ended June 30, 2017, MTA refunding transactions decreased aggregate debt service payments by $269 and
provided an economic gain of $192. Details of bond refunding savings as of December 31,2017 are as follows:

Bonds Refunded in 2017
Net Present
Par value Debt Service Value of
(In millions) Series Date issued Refunded Savings Savings
Transportation Revenue Bonds TRB 2017A-2 03/16/2017  § 137§ 22 8 16
TRB 2017B 09/20/2017 662 91 80
TRB 2017C 12/14/2017 2,021 170 156
TRB 2017D 12/21/2017 643 56 51
Total Transportation Revenue Bonds 3,463 339 303
Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds DTF 2017B-2 05/17/2017 371 47 36
MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Bonds
TBTA 2017B 014 2z 903 199 139
TBTA 2017C-1 17/2017 521 62 56
Total MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Bonds 1,424 261 195
Total Bond Refunding Savings $ 5,258 $ 647 $ 534

For the six-month periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 ¢ accounting loss on bond refundings totaled $0
and the accounting gain on bond refundings totaled $97, resp ively.

Unamortized losses related to bond refundings v we as .. R
December (Gain)/loss Cui  year December (Gain)/loss on  Current year
(In millions) 31,2016 onr< o amor  ation 31,2017 refunding amortization June 30, 2018
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
MTA:
Transportation Revenue
Bonds $ 557 222§ 51 $ 728 $ -8 30) $ 698
State Service Contract Bonds (7) - 3) (10) - (1) (1
Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds . 55 (16) 254 - ) 246
B 765 27 (70) 972 - (39) 933
TBTA:
General Revenue Bonds 171 82 (20) 233 - (1) 232
Subordinate Revenue Bonds 32 - 2) 30 - (10) 20
R 82 (22) 263 - (11) 252
Total $ 96¢ 359 § 92 $ 1,235  § -8 (50) $ 1,185
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Debt Service Payments — Future principal and interest debt service payments at June 30, 2018 are as follows
(in millions):

(Unaudited) MTA MTA BRIDGES AND TUNNELS Debt Service
Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2018 $ 770 $ 1,361 $ 307 $ 193§ 1,077 $ 1,554
2019 2,236 1,319 268 373 2,504 1,692
2020 720 1,296 335 365 1,055 1,661
2021 2,354 1,183 341 350 2,695 1,533
2022 811 1,144 356 334 1,167 1,478
2023-2027 5,092 4,926 2,063 1,401 7,155 6,327
2028-2032 6,388 3,857 2,606 888 8,994 4,745
2033-2037 5,611 2,859 1,140 536 6,751 3,395
2038-2042 4,084 1,927 824 258 4,908 2,185
2043-2047 1,428 478 533 102 1,961 580
2048-2052 572 207 103 9 675 216
2053-2057 319 118 0 0 319 118
Thereafter 682 - 04 0 682 -

$ 31,067 § 20,675 $ 887 % 4,809 $ 39,943 § 25,484

The above interest amounts include both fixed-rate and variz® ie-rate calcula. 'ns. The interest rate assumptions
for variable rate bonds are as follows:

e Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 201 D — 44 % per annum taking into account the interest
rate swap plus the current fixed floating rate note spic !

e Transportation Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002G — 542% per annum taking into account the interest
rate swap plus the current fixed floating rate nate spread; and - 2% per annum plus the current fixed floating
rate note spread on the unhedged portion.

e Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2005D — 561 . per annum taking into account the interest rate swaps.

e Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2A05F — 3 1% per annum taking into account the interest rate swaps
and 4.00% per annum on the unhed< « pc ion.

e Transportation Revenue Bonds, S¢ tes 201/ ; —3.5426 per annum taking into account the interest rate swaps
plus the current fixed floating rd. note s .., ... .00% per annum plus the current fixed floating rate note
spread on the unhedged portion.

e Transportation Revenue BawmSeries'. 224 — 4.00% per annum plus the current fixed floating rate note
spread.

e Transportation Reven( = Bonds, Serie: ‘012G — 3.563% per annum taking into account the interest rate swaps
plus the current fixed. »ting rate not spread.

e Transportation Revenue Bo. s Seri , 2014D-2 — 4.00% per annum plus the current fixed floating rate note
spread.

e Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 20154-2— 4.00% per annum plus the current fixed floating rate note
spread.

e Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series 2015E — 4.00% per annum.

e Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds, Series 2002B — 4.00% per annum on SubSeries 2002B-1; and 4.00% per annum
plus the current fixed floating rate note spread.

e Dedicated Tax Fund Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 20084 — 3.316% per annum taking into account
the interest rate swaps plus the current fixed floating rate note spread; and 4.00% per annum plus the current
fixed floating rate note spread on the unhedged portion.

e Dedicated Tax Fund Refunding Bonds, SubSeries 2008B-3a and 2008B-3c— 4.00% per annum plus the current
fixed floating rate note spread.
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e MTA Bridges and Tunnels Subordinate Refunding Bonds, Series 2000ABCD — 6.08% per annum taking into
account the interest rate swap plus the current fixed floating rate note spread; and 4.00% per annum plus the
current fixed floating rate note spread on the unhedged portion.

® MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2001B and Series 2001C — 4.00%
per annum,

o MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002F — 5.404% and 3.076% per annum
taking into account the interest rate swaps and 4.00% per annum on portions not covered by the interest rate
swaps.

® MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Bonds, Series 20038 — 4.00% per annum; and 4.00% per annum
plus the current fixed floating rate note spread on SubSeries 2003B-2.

o MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Bonds, Series 20054 — 4.00% per annum except from November
1, 2027 through November 1, 2030, 3.076% per annum taking intosaccount the interest rate swap.

e MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Refunding Bonds, S¢ es 20058 — 3.076% per annum based on
the Initial Interest Rate Swaps plus the current fixed floating ra® »ote spread.

® MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Bonds, Seriest JO8B-- - 4.00% per annum plus the current
fixed floating rate note spread.

Loans Payable — The MTA and the New York Power A ‘hority (“NYPA”) entered into an updated Energy
Services Program Agreement (“ESP Agreement”). The E€ "Agreer’ 'nt authorized MTA affiliates and subsidiaries
to enter into a Customer Installation Commitment (“Cy ) witkh {YPA for turn-key, energy efficiency projects,
which would usually be long-term funded and constructec. ' (YPA. The repayment period for the NYPA loan
can be up to 20 years, but can be repaid at any time without .. »alty.

The debt service requirements at June 30, 201§ ¢ ac Tamvs:

Loans Payable (in millions)

Year (Un 1dited) Principal Interest Total
2018 $ 10§ 1 $ 11
2019 13 1 14
2020 12 1 13
2021 11 1 12
2022 11 1 12
2023-2027 35 2 37
2028-2032 13 1 14
2033-2037 2 0 2
Total $ 107 8 8 § 115
Current portion $ 10
Long-term portion 97
Total NYPA Loans Payable $ 107

The above interest amounts include both fixed and variable rate calculations. Interest on the variable-rate loan
is paid at the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association Municipal Swap Index (“SIFMA”) rate
and is reset annually.
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Tax Rebate Liability — Under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, the MTA may accrue a liability for an amount
of rebateable arbitrage resulting from investing low-yielding, tax-exempt bond proceeds in higher-yielding,
taxable securities. The arbitrage liability is payable to the federal government every five years. No accruals or
payments were made during the periods ended June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

Liquidity Facility — MTA and MTA Bridges and Tunnels have entered into several Standby Bond Purchase
Agreements (“SBPA”) and Letter of Credit Agreements (“LOC”) as listed on the table below.

Type of
Resolution Series Swap Provider (Insurer) Facility Exp. Date
Transportation Revenue 2002G-1g 'Y TD Bank, N.A. LOC 11/1/2018
Transportation Revenue 2005D-1 Y Helaba LOC 11/7/2018
Transportation Revenue 2005D-2 Y Helaba LOC 11/10/2022
Transportation Revenue 2005E-1 Y Bank of Montreal LOC 8/24/2018
Transportation Revenue 2005E-2 Y Bank of America, N.A. LOC 12/10/2021
Transportation Revenue 2005E-3 Y Bank of Montreal LOC 8/24/2018
Transportation Revenue 2012G-2 Y TD Bank, N.A. LOC 11/1/2018
Transportation Revenue 2015E-1 N U.S. Bank Natijd il Asso LOC 9/7/2018
Transportation Revenue 2015E-2 N The Bank of 7 . »Mits LOC 9/7/2018
Transportation Revenue 2015E-3 N Citibank, M .. LOC 9/7/2018
Transportation Revenue 2015E-4 N Bank ofthe West LOC 9/7/2018
Transportation Revenue 2015E-5 N U.S. Bk National Asso LOC 9/7/2018
Dedicated Tax Fund 2002B-1 N Ban® of Tokyo Mitsbishi LOC 3/22/2021
Dedicated Tax Fund 2008A-1 Y TZ Bank, N LOC 6/13/2022
MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue 2001B N St Stres LOC 9/28/2018
MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue 2001C Y State = ¢ LOC 6/26/2023
MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue 2002F Y Helaba SBPA 11/1/2018
MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue 2003B-1 Rank of Ameri.. 'N.A. LOC 1/21/2022
MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue 2005A I LA LOC 1/28/2020
MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue 2005B-2 Y Cit’ ank, N.A. LOC 1/23/2021
MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue 2005B-3 Y < .te Street LOC 6/26/2023
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Subordinate 20 v Y ank of America, N.A. LOC 12/14/2018
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Subordinate J13D-z Y E  kof America, N.A. LOC 12/14/2018

Derivative Instruments — Fair va. »for .e swaps is calculated in accordance with GASB Statement No. 72,
utilizing the income approach and Lev. Z inputs. It incorporates the mid-market valuation, nonperformance
risk of either MTA/MTA Brid 2d Tui. 's or the counterparty, as well as bid/offer. The fair values were
estimated using the zero-c¢/ .pon mc. »d. Thi. nethod calculates the future net settlement payments required
by the swap, assuming th® the current rward rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot
interest rates. These pal ents are then | scounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for
hypothetical zero-coupon ¢ »ds due on/ e date of each future net settlement on the swap.
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The fair value balances and notional amounts of derivative instruments outstanding at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, classified by type, and the changes
in fair value of such derivative instruments from the year ended December 31, 2017 are as follows:

Derivative Instruments - Summary Information

(in $ millions) As of June 30, 2018
Cash Flow or Trade/Hedge Notional

Bond Resolution Credit Underlying Bond Series Type of Derivative Fair Value Hedge Effective Methodology  Association Date Amount Fair Value

Cashflow Hedges (Unaudited)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Revenue Bonds 2002F & 2003B-2 (Citi 2005B) Libor Fixed Payer C{ (Flow Synthetic Instrument 6/2/2005 $ 190.300 $ (21.86)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Revenue Bonds 2005B-2,3,4 Libor Fixed Payer a Flow Synthetic Instrument 6/2/2005 570.900 (65.576)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Revenue Bonds 2005A (COPS 2004A) Libor Fixed Payer Cash i Synthetic Instrument 4/1/2016 22.650 (2.271)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Revenue Bonds 2001C (COPS 2004A) Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 12/5/2016 40.275 (1.587)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Subordinate Revenue Bonds 2000ABCD SIFMA Fixed Payv Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 8/12/1998 11.150 (0.531)
MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds 2008A Libor Fixed Pa* r “ush Flow Synthetic Instrument 3/8/2005 326.860 (34.170)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2002D-2 Libor Fixed< er Zash Flow Synthetic Instrument 7/11/2002 200.000 (54.502)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2005D & 2005E Libor Fixed Pay« Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 9/10/2004 380.700 (52.588)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2012G Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 12/12/2007 357.150 (63.998)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2002G-1 (COPS 2004A) Libo® 7 ied Payer h Flow Synthetic Instrument 4/1/2016 127.660 (8.114)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2011B (COPS 2004A) Libor ‘ixea: . Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 4/1/2016 69.590 (11.660)

Total $ 2,297.235% (316.856)
Derivative Instruments - Summary Information
(in $ millions) As of December 31, 2017
Cash Flow or Trade/Hedge Notional

Bond Resolution Credit Underlying Bond Series Type of Derivative Fair Value Hedge Effective Methodology  Association Date Amount Fair Value

Cashflow Hedges
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Revenue Bonds 2002F & 2003B< (Citi 2005L Libur Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 6/2/2005 $ 191.300 $ (29.658)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Revenue Bonds 2005B-2,3,4 Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 6/2/2005 573.900 (88.974)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Revenue Bonds 2005A (COPS'Z 1A) Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 4/1/2016 22.765 (3.028)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Revenue Bonds 2001C (COPS 2004 Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 12/5/2016 57.475 (2.409)
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Subordinate Revenue Bonds 2000ABCD SIFMA Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 8/12/1998 34.150 (1.450)
MTA Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds 2008A Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 3/8/2005 326.860 (45.587)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2002D-2 Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 7/11/2002 200.000 (65.547)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2005D & 2005E Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 9/10/2004 380.700 (67.631)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2012G Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 12/12/2007 357.150 (81.075)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2002G-1 (COPS 2004A) Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 4/1/2016 142.015 (11.405)
MTA Transportation Revenue Bonds 2011B (COPS 2004A) Libor Fixed Payer Cash Flow Synthetic Instrument 4/1/2016 56.220 (14.961)

Total $ 2,342.535$ (411.725)
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Changes In Fair Value Fair Value at June 30, 2018
Amount Amount Notional
Classification (in millions) Classification (in millions) (in millions)
Government activities (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Cash Flow hedges:
Deferred outflow
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps of resources $94.869 Debt $(316.856) $2,297.235

Swap Agreements Relating to Synthetic Fixed Rate Debt

Board-adopted Guidelines. The Related Entities adopted guidelines governing the use of swap contracts on March
26, 2002. The guidelines were amended and approved by the MTA Board on March 13, 2013. The guidelines
establish limits on the amount of interest rate derivatives that may be outstanding and specific requirements that
must be satisfied for a Related Entity to enter into a swap contract, such as suggested swap terms and objectives,
retention of a swap advisor, credit ratings of the counterparties, co! ‘teralization requirements and reporting
requirements.

Objectives of synthetic fixed rate debt. To achieve cash flow sa¢ az hrough a synthetic fixed rate, MTA and
MTA Bridges and Tunnels have entered into separate pay-fix{ ., recei.. ‘'wariable interest rate swaps at a cost
anticipated to be less than what MTA and MTA Bridges and®Tunnels wou.. have paid to issue fixed-rate debt,
and in some cases where Federal tax law prohibits an advand refunding to synu. .tically refund debt on a forward
basis.

Terms and Fair Values. The terms, fair values and cdv. erpar!’ s of the outstanding swaps of MTA and MTA
Bridges and Tunnels are reflected in the following tables . June 30, 2018).

Metropoli N Trau, " Authority
Notional Amount | Counterparty and Fair Value
as of 6/30/18 Effective | Maty ‘y Ratings(S&P / Moody’s as of 6/30/18
Related Bonds (Unaudited) D24 Date | Terms / Fitch) (Unaudited)
Pay 4.45%; receive JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA
TRB 2002D-2 $ 200.000 1/01/07 11/01/32 . 9% 1M LIBOR (A+/Aa3/AA) §  (54.502)
L Pay 3.561%; receive UBS AG
TRB 2005D & 2005E 285.525 11/02/0 11/01/55" | 67% 1M LIBOR (A+/Aa3 /AA-) (39.441)
Pay 3.561%; receive AIG Financial Products "
TRB 2005E 95.175 11/0= 11/01/35 | 67% IM LIBOR (BBB+/ Baal / BBB+) (13.147)
Pay 3.563%; receive JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA
TRB 2012G 7.150 o 5/12 11/01/32 | 67% IM LIBOR (A+/Aa3/AA) (63.998)
Pay 3.3156%; receive Bank of New York Mellon
DTF 2008A 24.860 03/2° 05 11/01/31 | 67% IM LIBOR (AA-/Aa2/AA) (34.170)
Total $ 120 2 $  (205.258)

1 Guarantor: American International Group, Inc._ arent of AIG Financial Products.

Master Page # 97 of 186 - AudfFCommittee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

MTA Bridges and Tunnels
Notional Amount Counterparty and Fair Value
as of 6/30/18 Effective | Maturity Ratings (S&P / Moody’s as of 6/30/18
Related Bonds (Unaudited) Date Date Terms / Fitch) (Unaudited)
Pay 3.076%; receive Citibank, N.A.
TBTA 2002F & 2003B-2 | $ 190.300 07/07/05 01/01/32 | 67% 1M LIBOR (A+/A1/A+) $  (21.859)
Pay 3.076%; receive JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA
TBTA 2005B-2 190.300 07/07/05 01/01/32 | 67% 1M LIBOR (A+/Aa3 /AA) (21.859)
Pay 3.076%; receive BNP Paribas North America
TBTA 2005B-3 190.300 07/07/05 01/01/32 | 67% 1M LIBOR (A/A3/A+) (21.859)
Pay 3.076%; receive UBS AG
TBTA 2005B-4 190.300 07/07/05 01/01/32 | 67% 1M LIBOR (A+/Aa3 / AA-) (21.859)
Pay 6.08%; receive JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA
TBTA 2000ABCD 11.150 01/01/01 01/01/19 | SIFMA-15bp! (A+/Aa3/AA) (0.531)
TRB 2002G-1 & 2011B, Pay 3.52%; receive U.S. Bank N.A.
TBTA 2005A & 2001C 2 130.088 3 04/01/16 01/01/30 | 67% 1M LIBOR (AA-/A1/AA-) (11.816) 3
TRB 2002G-1 & 2011B, Pay 3.52%; ref ve Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
TBTA 2005A & 2001C 2 130.087 3 04/01/16 01/01/30 | 67% IM LIX (A+/Aa2 / AA-) (11.815) 3
Total $ 1,032.525 B $ (111.598)

1 In accordance with a swaption entered into on August 12, 1998, TBTA received of $22.740, which is being amortized

over the life of the swap agreement.

2 Between November 22, 2016 and December 5, 2016, the Variable Rate Cert
notional amounts from the Series 2004A COPs were reassigned to MTA Bs

3 Pursuant to an Interagency Agreement (following novations from UBS in 7.
is responsible for 21.0%, and TBTA is responsible for 10.3% of the transactic

. upfront option pren..

_ates of Pavicipation, Series 2004A were redeemed. Correspondin,
sesand Tul Cls (Ejeneral Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2001C.

12016° /TA New York City Transit is responsible for 68.7%, MTA

LIBOR: London Interbank Offered Rate

SIFMA: Securities Industry and Financial Markets Associat
TRB: Transportation Revenue Bonds

DTF: Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds

1 Index

Risks Associated with the Swap A4 cemen;

From MTA’s and MTA Bridges ant. nnels perspecuve, the following risks are generally associated with swap
agreements:

Credit Risk. The risk that a« marty ¢ hames insolvent or is otherwise not able to perform its financial
obligations. To mitigate th® exposuic = crea. risk, the swap agreements include collateral provisions in the
event of downgrades to ! 'swap countc - arties’ credit ratings. Generally, MTA and MTA Bridges and Tunnels’
swap agreements contd. netting provisi s under which transactions executed with a single counterparty are
netted to determine collater. »mounts. ¢ llateral may be posted with a third-party custodian in the form of cash,
U.S. Treasury securities, or cc.. in Fel 'ral agency securities. MTA and MTA Bridges and Tunnels require its
counterparties to fully collateralizc. ~¢ .tings fall below certain levels (in general, at the Baal/BBB+ or Baa2/BBB
levels), with partial posting requirenients at higher rating levels (details on collateral posting discussed further
under “Collateralization/Contingencies”). As of June 30, 2018, all of the valuations were in liability positions to
MTA and MTA Bridges and Tunnels; accordingly, no collateral was posted by any of the counterparties.

The following table shows, as of June 30, 2018, the diversification, by percentage of notional amount, among
the various counterparties that have entered into ISDA Master Agreements with MTA and/or MTA Bridges and
Tunnels. The notional amount totals below include all swaps.
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Notional Amount % of Total
Counterparty S&P Moody’s Fitch (in thousands) Notional Amount
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA A+ Aa3 AA $758,600 33.00%
UBS AG A+ Aa3 AA- 475,825 20.71
The Bank of New York Mellon AA- Aa2 AA 326,860 14.23
Citibank, N.A. A+ Al A+ 190,300 8.28
BNP Paribas North America, Inc. A Aa3 A+ 190,300 8.29
U.S. Bank National Association AA- Al AA- 130,088 5.67
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. A+ Aa2 AA- 130,087 5.66
AIG Financial Products Corp. BBB+ Baal BBB+ 95,175 4.14
Total $2,297,235 100.00%

Interest Rate Risk. MTA and MTA Bridges and Tunnels are exposed to interest rate risk on the interest rate swaps.
On the pay-fixed, receive variable interest rate swaps, as LIBOR or $¢ 'MA (as applicable) decreases, MTA and
MTA Bridges and Tunnels’ net payments on the swaps increase.

Basis Risk. The risk that the variable rate of interest paid by th< “ou. »wrparty under the swap and the variable
interest rate paid by MTA or MTA Bridges and Tunnels on thi associa.. bonds may not be the same. If the
counterparty’s rate under the swap is lower than the bond i zrest rate, the.. e counterparty’s payment under
the swap agreement does not fully reimburse MTA or MT/ 3ridges and Tunnc:s for its interest payment on the
associated bonds. Conversely, if the bond interest rate i .ower t/»n the counterparty’s rate on the swap, there
is a net benefit to MTA or MTA Bridges and Tunnels.

Termination Risk. The risk that a swap agreement will be te.~ «ated and MTA or MTA Bridges and Tunnels will
be required to make a swap termination payment to the counter, sty and, in the case of a swap agreement which
was entered into for the purpose of creating a sy’ "ntic fixed rate . jan advance refunding transaction may also
be required to take action to protect the tax-exer. »t Staw... “he related refunding bonds.

The ISDA Master Agreement sets forth certain ter \ina' on events applicable to all swaps entered into by the
parties to that ISDA Master Agreement. MTA and [\~ 1 Bridges and Tunnels have entered into separate ISDA
Master Agreements with each counters’ ..y at gove. \the terms of each swap with that counterparty, subject
to individual terms negotiated in a cor’ .rmati¢ . MTA « 1 MTA Bridges and Tunnels are subject to termination
risk if its credit ratings fall below ¢f tain spg’ Hadthrasholds or if MTA/MTA Bridges and Tunnels commits a
specified event of default or other's, ‘sified? vent o1 weimination. If, at the time of termination, a swap were in a
liability position to MTA or MTA Bric_ * .nd Tunnels, a termination payment would be owed by MTA or MTA
Bridges and Tunnels to the connternarty, . hiect to applicable netting arrangements.

The following tables set f# .n the A« “ional . érmination Events for MTA/MTA Bridges and Tunnels and its
counterparties.

MTA Transportation Revenue

Counterparty Name MTA Counterparty
AIG Financial Products Corp.;
JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA; Below Baa3 (Moody’s) or BBB- (S&P)* | Below Baa3 (Moody’s) or BBB- (S&P)*
UBS AG

*Note: Equivalent Fitch rating is replacement for Moody's or S&P.

MTA Dedicated Tax Fund
Counterparty Name MTA Counterparty
Bank of New York Mellon Below BBB (S&P) or BBB (Fitch)* Below A3 (Moody’s) or A- (S&P)**

*Note: Equivalent Moody s rating is replacement for S&P or Fitch.
**Note: Equivalent Fitch rating is replacement for Moody s or S&P.
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MTA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Lien
Counterparty Name MTA Bridges and Tunnels Counterparty
BNP Paribas North America, Inc.;
Citibank, N.A.;
JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA;
UBS AG

Below Baa2 (Moody’s) or BBB (S&P)* | Below Baal (Moody’s) or BBB+ (S&P)*

*Note: Equivalent Fitch rating is replacement for Moody s or S&P.

MTA Bridges and Tunnels Subordinate Lien
Counterparty Name MTA Bridges and Tunnels Counterparty

Swap Insurer below A3 (Moody’s) and
A- (S&P); and MTA Bridges and Tunnels
Senior Lien rating below Baa3 (Mood( s)

and BBB- (S&P)

JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA Below Baa2 (Moody’s) or BBB (S&P)

U.S. Bank National Association;

s o)k 2 k3k
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. Below Baa2 (Moody’s) or BBR® . Below Baa2 (Moody’s) or BBB (S&P)

*Note: Equivalent Fitch rating is replacement for Moody's or S&P. If n’ below Investmen.. ade, MTA Bridges and Tunnels may
cure such Termination Event by posting collateral at a Zero threshold

**Note: Equivalent Fitch rating is replacement for Moody's or S&

MTA and MTA Bridges and Tunnels’ ISDA Master Agreen.. . provide that the payments under one transaction
will be netted against other transactions entered into under thc' 'me ISDA Master Agreement. Under the terms
of these agreements, should one party becom’ ‘maalvent or ou. wise default on its obligations, close-out
netting provisions permit the non-defaulting pa. 7 to'ac "wafe and terminate all outstanding transactions and
net the amounts so that a single sum will be owe. by, of swea .0, the non-defaulting party.

Rollover Risk. The risk that the swap as >nt mate_ s or may be terminated prior to the final maturity of the
associated bonds on a variable rate k¢ .id isst nce, anc. 1TA or MTA Bridges and Tunnels may be exposed to
then market rates and cease to rece’ ¢ the be efit of the synthetic fixed rate for the duration of the bond issue.
The following debt is exposed tel lloversd ...

Associated Bond Iss: Bond Maturity Date Swap Termination Date
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Genera” cvenue Vai. =
Rate Bonds, Series 2001C (swai with U.S. Bank/v s
Fargo) January 1, 2032 January 1, 2030
MTA Bridges and Tunnels Gener«. »wenue Variabl¢
Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002F »n with

Citibank, N.A.) November 1, 2032 January 1, 2032

MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue V. .able

Rate Bonds, Series 2003B (swap with Citibank, N.A.) January 1, 2033 January 1, 2032

MTA Bridges and Tunnels General Revenue Variable

Rate Bonds, Series 2005A (swaps with U.S. Bank/Wells January 1, 2030 (U.S. Bank/Wells Fargo)
Fargo and Citibank, N.A.) November 1, 2035 January 1, 2032 (Citibank)

MTA Transportation Revenue Variable Rate Bonds,

Series 2011B (swaps with U.S. Bank/Wells Fargo) November 1, 2041 January 1, 2030
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Collateralization/Contingencies. Under the majority of the swap agreements, MTA and/or MTA Bridges and
Tunnels is required to post collateral in the event its credit rating falls below certain specified levels. The
collateral posted is to be in the form of cash, U.S. Treasury securities, or certain Federal agency securities,
based on the valuations of the swap agreements in liability positions and net of the effect of applicable netting
arrangements. If MTA and/or MTA Bridges and Tunnels do not post collateral, the swap(s) may be terminated
by the counterparty(ies).

As of June 30, 2018, the aggregate mid-market valuation of the MTA’s swaps subject to collateral posting
agreements was ($175.915); as of this date, the MTA was not subject to collateral posting based on its credit
ratings (see further details below).

As of June 30, 2018, the aggregate mid-market valuation of MTA Bridges and Tunnels’ swaps subject to collateral
posting agreements was ($111.431); as of this date, MTA Bridges and Tunnels was not subject to collateral
posting based on its credit ratings (see further details below).

The following tables set forth the ratings criteria and threshold amounts applicable to MTA/MTA Bridges and
Tunnels and its counterparties.

MTA Transportation Reyf i
Counterpart MTA Collateral Threshold (based o. ' Counterparty Collateral Thresholds
party highest ratirn) (based on highest rating)
?;ﬁiln;ilgﬁgfercglgﬁs Sgrp’ Baal/BBB+: $ million Baal/BBB+: $10 million
UBS AgG > Baa2/BBB & clow: Ze Baa2/BBB & below: Zero

Note: Based on Moody's and S&P ratings. In all cases except JPMorgw. unterparty thresholds, Fitch rating is replacement for
either Moody's or S&P, at which point threshold is based on lowest rating.

MTA Redicac Mapiund

Counterparty Collateral Thresholds
(based on highest rating)

Aa3/AA-: $10 million
Al1/A+: $5 million
Bank of New York Mellon N/A" ATA does 1.t post collateral A2/A: $2 million
A3/A-: $1 million
Baal/BBB+ & below: Zero

Counterparty MTA C¢ atel « Thresholds

Note: Counterparty thresholds bas “20dy’s a.. S&P ratings. Fitch rating is replacement for either Moody's or S&P.

1. TA Bridges and Tunnels Senior Lien

I TA Bridges and Tunnels Collateral Counterparty Collateral Thresholds
iresholds (based on highest rating) (based on highest rating)

Counterparty

BNP Paribas North America, Inc.;
Citibank, N.A.;

JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA;

UBS AG

Baal/BBB+: $30 million
Baa2/BBB: $15 million
Baa3/BBB- & below: Zero

A3/A-: $10 million
Baal/BBB+ & below: Zero

Note: MTA Bridges and Tunnels thresholds based on Moody's, S&P, and Fitch ratings. Counterparty thresholds based on Moody's
and S&P ratings; Fitch rating is replacement for Moody's or S&P.

MTA Bridges and Tunnels Subordinate Lien

MTA Bridges and Tunnels Collateral Counterparty Collateral Thresholds
Thresholds (based on lowest rating) (based on lowest rating)

N/A-MTA Bridges and Tunnels does not

Counterparty

JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA $1,000,000
post collateral
. s Baa3/BBB- & below: Zero Aa3/AA-: $15 million
\I;VesllsBl?:rk (I)\I%t;?lrll(all\ll\isomatlon, (note: only applicable as cure for Al/A+ to A3/A-: $5 million
& T Termination Event) Baal/BBB+ & below: Zero

Note: Thresholds based on Moody's and S&P ratings. Fitch rating is replacement for Moody s or S&P.
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Swap payments and Associated Debt. The following tables contain the aggregate amount of estimated variable-
rate bond debt service and net swap payments during certain years that such swaps were entered into in order
to: protect against the potential of rising interest rates; achieve a lower net cost of borrowing; reduce exposure
to changing interest rates on a related bond issue; or, in some cases where Federal tax law prohibits an advance
refunding, achieve debt service savings through a synthetic fixed rate. As rates vary, variable-rate bond interest
payments and net swap payments will vary. Using the following assumptions, debt service requirements of
MTA’s and MTA Bridges and Tunnels’ outstanding variable-rate debt and net swap payments are estimated to
be as follows:

- Itis assumed that the variable-rate bonds would bear interest at a rate of 4.0% per annum.

- The net swap payments were calculated using the actual fixed interest rate on the swap agreements.

MTA
(in millions)
Period Ended Variable-Rate Bonds |
June 30, 2018 Principal Interest Net Swap Payments Total
2018 35.8 50.1 B (5.4) 80.6
2019 55.6 48.6 5.2) 99.0
2020 384 46 (=) 80.0
2021 58.3 &’ 4.7 98.5
2022 63.3 26 (4.4) 101.4
2023-2027 3243 Iy, (17.2) 481.0
2028-2032 827.6 454.7 (8.3) 1,274.0
2033-2037 122.7 27.5 (1.6) 148.7
MTA_ yidges! ad v iels
L 7C lions)
Period Ended Va:© S Rate Bo: s
June 30, 2018 Princi’ « L orest Net Swap Payments Total
2018 B 39.7 (6.6) 95.7
2019 43.4 38.0 (6.9) 74.5
2020 25 .4 37.0 (6.9) 55.6
2021 20 36.0 (6.8) 55.8
2022 27.6 34.9 (6.8) 55.7
2023-2027 147.5 152.5 (32.3) 267.6
2028-2032 543.0 68.5 (16.5) 595.0
2033-2037 184 1 2.5 - 186.6

8. LEASE TRANSACTIONS

Leveraged Lease Transactions: Qualified Technological Equipment — On December 19, 2002, the MTA
entered into four sale/leaseback transactions whereby MTA New York City Transit transferred ownership of
certain MTA New York City Transit qualified technological equipment (“QTE”) relating to the MTA New York
City Transit automated fare collection system to the MTA. The MTA sold that equipment to third parties and
the MTA leased that equipment back from such third parties. Three of those four leases were terminated early
and are no longer outstanding. The fourth lease expires in 2022, at which point the MTA has the option of either
exercising a fixed-price purchase option for the equipment or returning the equipment to the third-party owner.

Under the terms of the outstanding sale/leaseback agreement the MTA initially received $74.9, which was utilized
as follows: The MTA paid $52.1 to an affiliate of the lender to the third party, which affiliate has the obligation
to pay to MTA an amount equal to the rent obligations under the lease attributable to the debt service on the
loan from the third party’s lender. The MTA also purchased U.S. Treasury debt securities in amounts and with
maturities, which are expected to be sufficient to pay the remainder of the regularly scheduled lease rent payments
under the lease and the purchase price due upon exercise by the MTA of the related purchase option if exercised.
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Leveraged Lease Transaction: Subway Cars — On September 3, 2003, the MTA entered into a sale/leaseback
transaction whereby MTA New York City Transit transferred ownership of certain MTA New York City Transit
subway cars to the MTA, the MTA sold those cars to a third party, and the MTA leased those cars back from such
third party. The MTA subleased the cars to MTA New York City Transit. The lease expires in 2033. At the lease
expiration, the MTA has the option of either exercising a fixed-price purchase option for the cars or returning
the cars to the third-party owner.

Under the terms of the sale/leaseback agreement, the MTA initially received $168.1, which was utilized as
follows: The MTA paid $126.3 to an affiliate of one of the lenders to the third party, which affiliate has the
obligation to pay to the MTA an amount equal to the rent obligations under the lease attributable to the debt
service on such loan from such third party’s lender. The obligations of the affiliate of the third party’s lender
are guaranteed by American International Group, Inc. The MTA also purchased the Federal National Mortgage
Association (“FNMA”) and U.S. Treasury securities in amounts and with maturities which are sufficient to make
the lease rent payments equal to the debt service on the loans from the other lender to the third party and to pay
the remainder of the regularly scheduled rent due under that lease ans +he purchase price due upon exercise by
the MTA of the fixed price purchase option if exercised. The amoi’ .t remaining after payment of transaction
expenses, $7.4, was the MTA’s benefit from the transaction.

Leveraged Lease Transactions: Subway Cars — On Septens’ or 25, 293 and September 29, 2003, the MTA
entered into two sale/leaseback transactions whereby MTA.New York ¢ s Transit transferred ownership of
certain MTA New York City Transit subway cars to the M7 ., the MTA sola'. »se cars to third parties, and the
MTA leased those cars back from such third parties. The M A subleased the cars to MTA New York City Transit.
Both leases expire in 2033. At the lease expiration, M7 1HQ hs the option of either exercising a fixed-price
purchase option for the cars or returning the cars to the™ “=d-p{ y owner.

Under the terms of the sale/leaseback agreements, the MTA i1 lly received $294, which was utilized as follows:
In the case of one of the leases, the MTA paid $27 to an affiliaic. € one of the lenders to the third party, which
affiliate has the obligation to pay to the MTA an'_ ‘v "manal to tho rent obligations under the lease attributable
to the debt service on the loan from such third par. s lenc = wbligations of the affiliate of such third party’s
lender are guaranteed by American International G »up( .nc. In the case of the other lease, the MTA purchased
U.S. Treasury debt securities in amounts and with me_* ities, which are sufficient for the MTA to make the lease
rent payments equal to the debt serviced .i'«. ‘oan fr¢ » the lender to that third party. In the case of both of the
leases, the MTA also purchased Resol® .ion Fu ling Cot, ‘ration (“REFCO”) debt securities that mature in 2030.
Under an agreement with AIG Ma( ned Fur' ineSarn."(guaranteed by American International Group, Inc.),
AIG Matched Funding Corp. recet. nthe pt ceeas 1oin the REFCO debt securities at maturity and is obligated
to pay to the MTA amounts sufficien. .ne MTA to pay the remainder of the regularly scheduled lease rent
payments under those leases and.the purc hse price due upon exercise by the MTA of the purchase options if
exercised. The amount rem« g« wpayle ot of transaction expenses, $24, was the MTA’s net benefit from
these two transactions.

On September 16, 2005, e MTA learnc | that American International Group, Inc. was downgraded to a level
that under the terms of th¢™ msaction ¢ cuments for the sale/leaseback transaction that closed on September
29,2003, the MTA was requirce. »rep! e or restructure the applicable Equity Payment Undertaking Agreement
provided by AIG Financial Produc. * orp. and guaranteed by American International Group, Inc. On December
17, 2008, MTA terminated the Equity Payment Undertaking Agreement provided by AIG Financial Products
Corp. and guaranteed by American International Group, Inc. and provided replacement collateral in the form of
U.S. Treasury strips. REFCO debt security that was being held in pledge was released to MTA. On November
6, 2008, the MTA learned that Ambac Assurance Corp., the provider of the credit enhancement that insures the
MTA’s contingent obligation to pay a portion of the termination values upon an early termination in both the
September 25, 2003 and September 29, 2003 transactions, was downgraded to a level that required the provision
of new credit enhancement facilities for each lease by December 21, 2008.

On December 17, 2008, MTA terminated the Ambac Assurance Corp. surety bond for the lease transaction that
closed on September 25, 2003 and since then MTA has provided short-term U.S. Treasury debt obligations as
replacement collateral. As of June 30, 2018, the market value of total collateral funds was $37.3.

On January 12, 2009, MTA provided a short-term U.S. Treasury debt obligation as additional collateral in
addition to the Ambac Assurance Corp. surety bond for the lease transaction that closed on September 29, 2003.
From time to time, additional collateral has been required to be added such that the total market value of the
securities being held as additional collateral are expected to be sufficient to pay the remainder of the regularly
scheduled lease rent payments under the lease. As of June 30, 2018, the market value of total collateral funds
was $52.5.
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MTA Hudson Rail Yards Ground Leases — In the 1980’s, the MTA developed a portion of the Hudson Rail
Yards as a storage yard, car wash and repair facility for the Long Island Railroad Company (“LIRR”) rail
cars entering Manhattan. It was anticipated that, eventually, the air rights above the Hudson Rail Yards would
be developed to meet the evolving needs for high-quality commercial, retail, residential and public space in
Manhattan. The Hudson Rail Yards is a rectangular area of approximately 26-acres bounded by 10th Avenue
on the east, 12th Avenue on the west, 30th Street on the south and 33rd Street on the North. The Hudson Rail
Yards is divided into the Eastern Rail Yards (“ERY”) and the Western Rail Yards (“WRY”). In 2008, the MTA
selected a development team led by the Related Companies, L.P to develop a commercial, residential and retail
development on the ERY and the WRY.

To undertake the development of the Hudson Rail Yards, the MTA entered into 99-year ground leases (“Balance
Leases”) for the airspace above a limiting plane above the tracks (from 3 1st to 33rd Streets) and the area where
there are no rail tracks (from 30th to 31St Streets) within the boundary of the Hudson Rail Yards (“Ground
Leased Property”). The Balance Leases do not encumber the railroad tracks, which will continue to be used for
transportation purposes.

The following ground leases, each with a 99-year term (beginning  _cember 3, 2012), entered into between the
MTA, as landlord, and a special purpose entity controlled by Re* ... % Oxford, as Ground Lease tenants, all of
which Ground Leases demise the Eastern Rail Yards (“ERY”)4 .d wei nevered from the ERY Balance Lease,
dated as of April 10, 2013:

- the Ground Lease demising the Tower A Severed Pa:* :l, also known as 50 Hudson Yards.
- the Ground Lease demising the Tower D Severed/ arcel, a' » known as 15 Hudson Yards.
- the Ground Lease demising the Tower E Severed Pa. 2! .iso known as 35 Hudson Yards.

- the Ground Lease demising the Retail Podium Severed b el

1

- the Ground Lease demising the Retail Pav. on.

The 99-year West Side Rail Yard (“WRY”) Balai_ = L' se (beginning December 3, 2013) between the MTA
and a special purpose entity controlled by Related- = ord demising the WRY and the Severed Parcel Leases
to be entered into upon the creation of & 4 Parce. that may be severed from the WRY, at the option of the
applicable Ground Lease Tenant, upg’ satisi stion ot' =rtain conditions, in order to construct improvements
thereon in accordance with the term’ of the a' plicable S_vered Parcel Lease.

Both the ERY and WRY Ground = zes/ cre pledged as security for the Series 2016A Hudson Yards Trust
Obligations.

The MTA has also entered in® ..c. “awing _ »und leases which do not provide a source of payment or security
for the Series 2016A Huds . Yards Ti ¢ Obligations:

- the now-terminat¢. =round lease ¢ mising Tower C, also known as 10 Hudson Yards, as to which the
Ground Lease tenanic wsed on itg xercise of its Fee Conversion Option on August 1, 2016 for which
MTA received $120.

- the ground lease demising tho' alture Shed, which does not pay any Monthly Ground Rent, and
- the ground lease demising the Open Space Severed Parcel which does not pay any Monthly Ground Rent.

The Severed Parcel Ground Leases required Ground Lease Tenants, at their sole cost and expense, to construct
the Long Island Railroad Roof (“LIRR Roof) over the Long Island Railroad tracks in the Hudson Rail Yards,
which LIRR Roof will serve as the foundation for substantial portions of the buildings and other improvements
being constructed pursuant to each Severed Parcel Ground Lease. Each Ground Lease tenant has the option to
purchase fee title to the Ground Leased Property at any time following completion of construction of the building
on the Ground Leased Property.
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The MTA has classified the ERY and WRY Ground Leases as operating leases. If at the inception of the ground
leases, the leases meet one or more of the following four criteria, the lease should be classified as a capital lease.
Otherwise, it should be classified as an operating lease. The ERY and WRY Ground Leases did not meet one
or more of the following criteria:

i. The lease transfers ownership of the property to the lessee by the end of the lease term.
ii. The lease contains a bargain purchase option.
iii. The lease term is equal to 75 percent or more of the estimated economic life of the leased property.

iv. The present value at the beginning of the lease term of the minimum lease payments, equals or exceeds
90 percent of the excess of the fair value of the leased property to the lessor at the inception of the lease
over any related investment tax credit retained by and expected to be realized by the lessor.

Minimum rent receipts for ERY and WRY Ground Leases are as follows as of June 30, 2018 (unaudited):

Year ERY WRY Total
2018 4 ‘ 10
2019 18 16 34
2020 19 16 35
2021 19 32 51
2022 19 33 52
Thereafter 887 1,558 2,445
Total $966 $1,661 $2,627

Other Lease Transactions — On July 29, 19 .. ""A_(solely on behalf of MTA Long Island Rail Road
and MTA Metro-North Railroad, MTA New Yor. City 'I© ... ad MTA Bridges and Tunnels) entered into a
lease and related agreements whereby each agency. s s slessee, will rent, an office building at Two Broadway
in lower Manhattan. The triple-net-lease has an init. * stated term of approximately 50 years, with the right to
extend the lease for two successive 154 Ca. eriods a1 rental of at least 95% of fair market rent. Remaining
payments under the lease approxima’ $1.1 | llion. Ui ‘er the subleases, the lease is apportioned as follows:
MTA New York City Transit, 68.7% MTA, 2/ /awa=d M7YA Bridges and Tunnels, 10.3%. However, the involved
agencies have agreed to sub-sublC. w.spae (rom oiic another as necessary to satisfy actual occupancy needs.
The agencies will be responsible for ¢ " itions under the lease based on such actual occupancy percentages.
Actual occupancy percentages.2t-tune 30, 218, for the MTA New York City Transit, MTA Bridges and Tunnels
and MTA (including MTA F 5, vi. Capita. “onstruction Company and MTA Business Service Center) were
57.8%, 7.5% and 34.7%, » pectively. . TAs’sublease is for a year-to-year term, automatically extended, except
upon the giving of anond <tension noticc. 'y MTA. The lease is comprised of both operating and capital elements,
with the portion of the le.. »nattributable’ ) the land recorded as an operating lease, and the portion of the lease
attributable to the building 1< »rded as’ capital lease. The total annual rental payments over the initial lease
term are $1,602 with rent being «. »ted rom the commencement date through June 30, 1999. The office building
at 2 Broadway, is principally occup:. .« by MTA New York City Transit, MTA Bridges and Tunnels, MTA Capital
Construction, and MTAHQ.

MTA reflected a capital lease obligation as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, of $228 and $228,
respectively. The MTA made rent payments of $13 and $25 for the period ended June 30, 2018 and December
31,2017, respectively. MTA pays the lease payments on behalf of MTA New York City Transit and MTA Bridges
and Tunnels and subsequently makes monthly chargebacks in the form of rental payments. During 2017, the
total of the rental payments charged to MTA New York City Transit and MTA Bridges and Tunnels was $4,138
and $1,900 less, respectively, than the lease payment made by MTA on behalf of MTA New York City Transit
and MTA Bridges and Tunnels.
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The adjusted capital lease for the aforementioned building is being amortized over the remaining life of the
lease. The cost of the building and related accumulated amortization at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
is as follows (in millions):

June 30, December 31,
2018 2017
(Unaudited)
Capital lease - building $196 $196
Less accumulated amortization (90) (88)
Capital lease - building - net $106 $108

On April 8, 1994, the MTA amended its lease for the Harlem/Hudson line properties, including Grand Central
Terminal. This amendment initially extends the lease term, previously expiring in 2031, an additional 110 years
and, pursuant to several other provisions, an additional 133 years. In addition, the amendment grants the MTA
an option to purchase the leased property after the 25th anniversary of the amended lease, subject to the owner’s
right to postpone such purchase option exercise date for up to an ad< tional 15 years if the owner has not yet
closed the sale, transfer or conveyance of an aggregate amount of 1.2 0,000 square feet or more of development
rights appurtenant to Grand Central Terminal and the associated z¢ =g lots. The amended lease comprises both
operating (for the lease of land) and capital (for the lease of bui’ ing. 'ad track structure) elements.

In August 1988, the MTA entered into a 99-year lease agreament with Ay »ak for Pennsylvania Station. This
agreement, with an option to renew, is for rights to the low/ concourse levei :d certain platforms.

The $45 paid to Amtrak by the MTA under this agreer’ .nt is in"tuded in other assets. This amount is being
amortized over 30 years.

Total rent expense under operating leases approximated $=° and $35.8 for the periods ended June 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

At June 30, 2018, the future minimum lease payn. ats un< .1 ... Zancelable leases are as follows (in millions):

Years Operating Capital
(Unaudited)
2018 $ 73S 22
2019 73 25
2020 73 33
2021 72 24
2022 69 75
2023-2027 297 104
2028-2032 370 129
2033-2037 300 576
2038-2042 262 172
2043-2047 263 194
Thereafter 425 215
Future minimum lease payments $ 2,277 1,569
Amount representing interest (1,128)
Total present value of capital lease obligations 441
Less current present value of capital lease obligations 4
Noncurrent present value of capital lease obligations $ 437
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Capital Leases Schedule
For the Period Ended June 30, 2018
(in millions)

December 31, June 30,
Description 2017 Increase Decrease 2018
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Sumitomo $ 15 % - -8 15
Met Life 6 - - 6
Met Life Equity 19 - - 19
Bank of New York 22 - - 22
Bank of America 37 - - 37
Bank of America Equity 16 - - 16
Sumitomo 31 1 - 32
Met Life Equity 52 - - 52
Grand Central Terminal & Harlem Hudson Railroad Lines 14 - - 14
2 Broadway Lease Improvement 177 - - 173
2 Broadway 5 - - 55
Total MTA Capital Lease $ 440 1 - 8 441
Current Portion Obligations under Capital Lease . 4 4
Long Term Portion Obligations under Capital Lease $ 436 $ 437
Capital Leases Schedule
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(in millions)
December 5. December 31,
Description . Increase Decrease 2017
Sumitomo 3 158 - -8 15
Met Life 5 1 - 6
Met Life Equity 19 - - 19
Bank of New York 22 - - 22
Bank of America 34 3 - 37
Bank of America Equity 16 - - 16
Sumitomo 35 1 5 31
Met Life Equity 50 2 - 52
Grand Central Terminal & Harlem /' dson Railroaa es 14 - - 14
2 Broadway Lease Improvement; 169 4 - 173
2 Broadway 54 1 - 55
Total MTA Capital Lease $ 433§ 12 58 440
Current Portion Obligations under Capital Leasc 4 4
Long Term Portion Obligations under Capital Lease $ 429 $ 436

FUTURE OPTION

In 2010, MTA and MTA Long Island Railroad entered into an Air Space Parcel Purchase and Sale Agreement
(“Agreement”) with Atlantic Yards Development Company, LLC (“AADC”) pursuant to which AADC has
obtained an exclusive right to purchase fee title to a parcel (subdivided into six sub-parcels) of air space above
the MTA Long Island Railroad Vanderbilt Yard in Brooklyn, New York. Initial annual payments of $2 (covering
all six sub-parcels) commenced on June 1, 2012 and are due on the following three anniversaries of that date.
Starting on June 1, 2016, and continuing on each anniversary thereof through and including June 1, 2031, an
annual option payment in the amount of $11 is due. The Agreement provides that all such payments are (i) fully
earned by MTA as of the date due in consideration of the continuing grant to AADC of the rights to purchase
the air space sub-parcels, (ii) are non-refundable except under certain limited circumstances and (iii) shall be

deemed to be payments on account of successive annual options granted to AADC.
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After AADC and its affiliates have completed the new yard and transit improvements to be constructed by
them at and in the vicinity of the site, AADC has the right from time to time until June 1, 2031, to close on the
purchase of any or all of the six air rights sub-parcels. The purchase price for the six sub-parcels is an amount,
when discounted at 6.5% per annum from the date of each applicable payment that equals a present value of $80
as of January 1, 2010. The purchase price of any particular air space sub-parcel is equal to a net present value as
of January 1, 2010 (calculated based on each applicable payment) of the product of that sub-parcel’s percentage
of the total gross square footage of permissible development on all six air space sub-parcels multiplied by $80.

10. ESTIMATED LIABILITY ARISING FROM INJURIES TO PERSONS

A summary of activity in estimated liability as computed by actuaries arising from injuries to persons, including
employees, and damage to third-party property for the period ended June 30, 2018 and year ended December
31, 2017 is presented below (in millions):

June 30, December 31,
. 2018 2017
v nudited)
Balance - beginning of year $ 3,851 § 3,441
Activity during the year:

Current year claims and changes in estimates 408 832

Claims paid (218) (422)
Balance - end of year 4,041 3,851
Less current portion (427) (415)
Long-term liability ) 3,614 § 3,436

See Note 2 for additional information on MTA’s lic ility® :nd property disclosures.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTIN# =NCIL

The MTA Group monitors its prop{ -ies for/ .0 ¢ of pollutants and/or hazardous wastes and evaluates its
exposure with respect to such matter.. "Vk 1 the expense, if any, to clean up pollutants and/or hazardous wastes
is estimable it is accrued by the MTA (s¢. Note 12).

Management has reviewed( /ith co. el ali” tions and proceedings pending against or involving the MTA
Group, including persona’ ajury claim. Although the ultimate outcome of such actions and proceedings cannot
be predicted with certail v at this time, | anagement believes that losses, if any, in excess of amounts accrued
resulting from those actio.. will not be 1 iterial to the financial position, results of operations, or cash flows of
the MTA.

Under the terms of federal and stac. ants, periodic audits are required and certain costs may be questioned as
not being appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants. Such audits could lead to reimbursements to
the grantor agencies. While there have been some questioned costs in recent years, ultimate repayments required
of the MTA have been infrequent.

Financial Guarantee — Moynihan Station Development Project - On May 22,2017, the MTA Board approved
entering into various agreements, including a Joint Services Agreement (“JSA”), necessary to effectuate Phase
2 of the Moynihan Station Development Project (the “Project”), which will entail the redevelopment of the
James A. Farley Post Office Building to include a new world-class train hall to be shared by National Railroad
Passenger Corporation (“Amtrak”), the Long Island Rail Road and Metro-North Commuter Railroad (the “Train
Hall™), as well as retail and commercial space (Retail and Commercial Space).

On July 21, 2017, New York State Urban Development Corporation d/b/a Empire State Development (“ESD”)
executed a TIFIA Loan Agreement with the United States Department of Transportation (the “TIFIA Lender”)
in an amount of up to $526 (the “TIFIA Loan”), with a final maturity date of the earlier of (1) October 30, 2055
and (2) the last semi-annual payment date occurring no later than the date that is thirty-five (35) years following
the date on which the Train Hall is substantially completed. The proceeds of the TIFIA Loan are being used to
pay for costs of the construction of the Train Hall. The TIFIA Loan is secured by a mortgage on the Train Hall
property. The principal and interest on the TIFIA Loan is payable from a pledged revenue stream that primarily
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12.

consists of PILOT payments to be paid by certain tenants in the Retail and Commercial Space. The amount
of the PILOT payments is fixed through September, 2030 and is thereafter calculated based upon the assessed
value of the properties as determined by the City. The TIFIA Loan is further supported by a TIFIA Debt Service
Reserve Account, which is funded in an amount equal to the sum of the highest aggregate TIFIA debt service
amounts that will become due and payable on any two consecutive semi-annual payment dates in a five-year
prospective period.

Simultaneously with the execution of the TIFIA Loan Agreement, the JSA was entered into by and among the
MTA, the TIFIA Lender, ESD, and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company (as Pilot trustee). Under the
JSA, MTA is obligated to satisfy semi-annual deficiencies in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Account. MTA’s
obligations under the JSA are secured by the same moneys available to MTA for the payment of the operating
and maintenance expenses of the operating agencies.

MTA’s obligation under the JSA remains in effect until the earliest to occur of (a) the MTA JSA Release Date
(as defined in the JSA and generally summarized below), (b) the date on which the TIFIA Loan has been paid
in full and (c) foreclosure by the TIFIA Lender under the Mortgage (as defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement).

The obligations of the MTA under the JSA will be terminated and re’ ased on the date (the “MTA JSA Release
Date”) on which each of the following conditions have been satisfie’ . (a) substantial completion of (1) the Train
Hall Project and initiation by LIRR and Amtrak of transportati’ ... »erations therein, and (2) the Retail and
Commercial Space; (b) all material construction claims have be/ ~discii. ned or settled; (c) the PILOT payments
have been calculated based upon assessed value for at least three years (i.e.,. “33); (d) certain designated defaults
or events of default under the TIFIA Loan Agreement have t occurred and a. zontinuing; and (e) either of the
following release tests shall have been satisfied:

- Release Test A: (a) certain debt service coverag! "atios I /e equaled or exceeded levels set forth in the
JSA, taking into consideration assessment appeals; . g _upancy levels have equaled or exceeded levels
set forth in the JSA; and (c) the TIFIA Loan is rated no ic. wr than “BBB-" or “Baa3” by one rating agency,
all as more fully described in the JSA; or

- Release Test B: the TIFIA Loan is rated nu 'ower .. A" or “A3” by two rating agencies, all as more
fully described in the JSA.

On the date the JSA was executed and delivered, M . deposited $20 into an account, which MTA invests, to
be used in accordance with the JSA to e se MTz n the event it is obligated under the JSA to make semi-
annual deficiency payments to the T})* A Deti Service »serve Account.

On June 12, 2017, the MTA enter{ .into a/ ... .m of Understanding with ESD and the New York State
Division of the Budget (the “Divisio.. v creby the Division agreed that in the event in any given year during
the term of the JSA (i) the MTA is requirc. 0 make a semi-annual deficiency payment to the TIFIA Debt Service
Reserve Account, and (ii) the< =" " has ac smined that the MTA has incurred an expense that would otherwise
have been incurred by the/ .ate of Nu_ »York \.ae “State Expense”), the Division will consider entering into a
cost recovery agreement{ ith the MTA'} ‘rsuant to subdivision 4 of Section 2975 of the Public Authorities Law
(the “PAL”) for such yc.. that will provi : that in lieu of paying the full assessment pursuant to subdivisions 2
and 3 of Section 2975 of the. MAL in any ach year, any such assessment shall be reduced by the State Expense.

POLLUTION REMEDIATIO® " OST

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation
Obligations, an operating expense provision and corresponding liability measured at its current value using the
expected cash flow method is recognized when an obligatory event occurs. Pollution remediation obligations are
estimates and subject to changes resulting from price increase or reductions, technology, or changes in applicable
laws or regulations. The MTA does not expect any recoveries of cost that would have a material effect on the
recorded obligations.
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The MTA recognized pollution remediation expenses of $4 and $1 for the periods ended June 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively. A summary of the activity in pollution remediation liability at June 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017 were as follows:

June 30, December 31,
2018 2017
(Unaudited)

Balance at beginning of year $ 79 $ 88
Current year expenses/changes in estimates 4 13
Current year payments 2 (22)

Balance at end of year 81 79

Less current portion 20 20

Long-term liability $ 61 $ 59

The MTA’s pollution remediation liability primarily consists of future remediation activities associated with
asbestos removal, lead abatement, ground water contamination, arse/ < contamination and soil remediation.

13. CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Changes in the activity of current and non-current liabilities¢ or the periods er.. »d June 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017 are presented below:

Balance Balance Balance
December 31, December 31, June 30,
2016 Additior Reductions 2017 Additions  Reductions 2018
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 526 $ 81 ¢ - % 607 $ 9% - $ 616
Interest 22 - (22) 204 14 - 218
Salaries, wages and payroll taxes o1 56 - 307 - (12) 295
Vacation and sick pay benefits 911 - 988 21 - 1,009
Current portion — retirement
and death benefits 15 - (1) 14 7 - 21
Capital accrual g - (24) 412 103 - 515
Other accrued expenses 64d 213 - 861 133 - 994
Unearned revenues 571 23 - 594 8 - 602
Total current liabilities $ A4S 450 $ 47 $ 3,987 $ 295 $ a2 $ 4,270
Non-current liabilities:
Contract retainage payable $ 309 $ 67 $ - 376 $ 8 S -8 384
Other long-term liabilities 317 30 - 347 - - 347
Total non-current liabilities $ 626 $ 97 $ -3 723 $ 8 $ -3 731

Master Page # 110 of 186 - Audf®Committee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

14. FUEL HEDGE

MTA partially hedges its fuel cost exposure using financial hedges. All MTA fuel hedges provide for up to 24
monthly settlements. The table below summarizes twenty-four (24) active ultra-low sulfur diesel (“ULSD”)

hedges in whole dollars:

JPM
Ventures

Goldman | Macquarie | Goldman | Macquarie | Goldman | Goldman Energy
Counterparty Sachs  [Energy LLC Sachs  [Energy LLC Sachs Sachs Corporation | Cargill
Trade Date 7/28/2016 | 8/24/2016 | 9/22/2016 |10/26/2016 | 11/22/2016 |12/20/2016 | 1/26/2017 | 2/28/2017
Effective Date 1/17/2007 | 1/17/2008 | 1/17/2009 | 1/17/2010 | 1/17/2011 | 1/17/2012 1/18/2001 | 1/18/2002
Termination Date 6/30/2018 | 7/31/2018 | 8/31/2018 | 9/30/2018 | 10/31/2018|11/30/2018 | 12/31/2018 | 1/31/2019
Price/Gal $1.5020 $1.6350 $1.5975 $1.6240 $1.6670 $1.7657 $1.7485 $1.6824
Original Notional
Quantity 2,994,811 | 2,924,151 | 2,924,156 | 2,956,573 | 2 27,330 | 2,900,871 2,923,252 | 2,923,256

Goldman | Goldman | Goldman | Goldman ¢ 'man | Goldman Goldman Goldman
Counterparty Sachs Sachs Sachs Sache Sac Sachs Sachs Sachs
Trade Date 3/28/2017 | 4/27/2017 | 5/30/2017 | 6/27/ 917 | 7/26/201% »8/29/2017 | 9/22/2017 | 10/26/2017
Effective Date 1/18/2003 | 1/18/2004 | 1/18/2005 | 1/# 2006 | 1/18/2007 | ./18/2008 | 1/18/2009 | 1/18/2010
Termination Date 2/28/2019 | 3/31/2019 | 4/30/2019 51/20194 96/30/2019 | 7/31/2019 | 8/31/2019 | 9/30/2019
Price/Gal $1.6090 $1.5915 $1.6085 81.5224 $1.6180 $1.6315 $1.7205 $1.7635
Original Notional
Quantity 2,923,255 | 2,887,174 | 2,914,270 | 2914, 2,914,252 | 2,914,252 | 2,914,244 | 2,612,515

| Macquarie

Goldman | Goldman | Gola. »n | £ Qi Goldman Energy Goldman Goldman
Counterparty Sachs Sachs Sach. Sachs Sachs LLC Sachs Sachs
Trade Date 11/29/2017 | 12/27/2047+5,1/31/201¢ 2/28/2018 | 3/28/2018 | 4/24/2018 | 5/29/2018 | 6/26/2018
Effective Date 1/18/2011 | 1/18/7 12 19/2001 °, 1/19/2002 | 1/19/2003 | 1/19/2004 | 1/19/2005 | 1/19/2006
Termination Date 10/31/2019 | 11/2 72019 | 1© 31/2019 | 731/2020 | 2/29/2020 | 3/31/2020 | 4/30/2020 | 5/31/2020
Price/Gal $1.8520 9050 $1.8815 $1.9805 $2.0795 $2.1590 $2.1755
Original Notional
Quantity 2,870,561 | 2,870,5 | 2,870,565 | 2,786,237 | 2,853,500 | 2,799,258 | 2,841,090 | 2,841,069

The monthly settlements 2° . based on" = daily prices of the respective commodities whereby MTA will either
receive a payment, or m¢ ¢ a payment t¢_he various counterparties depending on the average monthly price of
the commodities in relatic. o the contrag prices. At a contract’s termination date, the MTA will take delivery of
the fuel. As of June 30, 2018, »total o1’ tanding notional value of the ULSD contracts was 53.3 million gallons
with a positive fair market valuc € $ ..8 (unaudited). The valuation of each trade was based on discounting
future net cash flows to a single cu.. ¢nt amount (the income approach) using observable commodity futures
prices (Level 2 inputs).
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15. CONDENSED COMPONENT UNIT INFORMATION

The following tables present condensed financial information for MTA’s component units (in millions).

Triborough
Metro Long New York Bridge and
- North Island City Transit Tunnel Consolidated
June 30, 2018 (Unaudited) MTA Railroad Railroad Authority Authority Eliminations Total
Current assets $ 7,774 $ 229 § 256 $ 588 $ 845 § @311) $ 9,381
Capital assets 10,494 4,890 6,380 41,769 6,199 1 69,733
Other Assets 11,331 5 - 1 481 (10,814) 1,004
Intercompany receivables 1,567 123 237 1,198 (14) (3,111) -
Deferred outflows of resources 1,614 245 340 1,019 439 (136) 3,521
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 32780 $§ 5492 § 7213 $ 44,575 $ 7,950 $ (14,371) $ 83,639
Current liabilities $ 2772 §% 273§ 251§ 1,893 $ 847 § (228) $ 5,808
Non-current liabilities 36,151 1,213 2,350 22,035 10,388 (70) 72,067
Intercompany payables 2,441 117 100 689 517 (3,864) -
Deferred inflows of resources 49 20 y ¥ 392 21 - 504
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources $ 41413 § 1,623 § ~ 23 8 19§ 11,773 § (4,162) $ 78,379
Net investment in capital assets $ (25,716) $ 4,876 9 6,380 $ 41,597 1,640 $ (60) $ 28,717
Restricted 1,975 - - - 669 (448) 2,196
Unrestricted 15,108 (e (.8 (22,031) (6,132) (9,701) (25,653)
Total net position $ (8633) 8 385 & 4L 0 S 19,566 $ (3,823) $ (10,209) $ 5,260
For the period ended June 30, 2018 (Unaudited)
Fare revenue $ JERENN 359 § S8 2,207 $ -8 -8 3,036
Vehicle toll revenue - - 952 - 952
Rents, freight and other revenue 42 25 4 223 11 (22) 299
Total operating revenue 153 0 379 2,430 963 (22) 4,287
Total labor expenses 622 91 616 3,791 152 44 5,716
Total non-labor expenses 16 185 995 114 (30) 1,699
Depreciation 2 1 196 905 69 - 1,336
Total operating expenses » - 95 997 5,691 335 14 8,751
Operating (deficit) surplus (766) (411) (618) (3,261) 628 (36) (4,464)
Subsidies and grants 297 71 - 249 4 (249) 772
Tax revenue 3507 - - 1,427 - (1,119) 3,615
Interagency subsidy 373 210 331 114 - (1,028) -
Interest expense (587) - - 3) (137) (6) (733)
Other (847) - 1 1 - 937 92
Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 2,943 281 332 1,788 (133) (1,465) 3,746
Gain (Loss) before appropriations 2,177 (130) (286) (1,473) 495 (1,501) (718)
Appropriations, grants and other receipts externally
restricted for capital projects (787) 161 530 (109) (276) 1,235 754
Change in net position 1,390 31 244 (1,582) 219 (266) 36
Net position, beginning of period (10,023) 3,838 4,246 21,148 (4,042) (9,943) 5,224
Net position, end of period $ (8633) 8 3869 $ 4,490 $ 19,566 $ (3,823) $ (10,209) $ 5,260
For the period ended June 30, 2018 (Unaudited)
Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities $ (558) $ (238) $ @371 $ (1,719) $ 747 $ “ $ (2,143)
Net cash provided by / (used in) non-capital
financing activities 1,776 303 456 2,404 (378) (1,648) 2,913
Net cash (used in) / provided by capital and related
financing activities (1,629) (31) 5 (523) (228) 1,648 (758)
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities 692 (35) (70) (173) (89) 4 329
Cash at beginning of period 199 15 5 56 8 - 283
Cash at end of period $ 480 $ 14 3 25§ 45 S 60 $ -3 624
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December 31, 2017
Current assets
Capital assets
Other Assets
Intercompany receivables
Deferred outflows of resources
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Intercompany payables
Deferred inflows of resources
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

For the period ended June 30, 2017 (Unaudited)
Fare revenue
Vehicle toll revenue
Rents, freight and other revenue

Total operating revenue

Total labor expenses
Total non-labor expenses
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Operating (deficit) surplus

Subsidies and grants
Tax revenue
Interagency subsidy
Interest expense
Other
Total non-operating revenues (expenses)

Loss before appropriations

Appropriations, grants and other re/ _ts externally

restricted for capital projects
Change in net position
Net position, beginning of the period
Net position, end of period

For the period ended June 30, 2017 (Unaudited)

Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by / (used in) non-capital
financing activities

Net cash (used in) / provided by capital and related
financing activities

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

Cash at beginning of period

Cash at end of period

Triborough
Metro- Long New York Bridge and
North Island City Transit Tunnel Consolidated

MTA Railroad Railroad Authority Authority Eliminations Total
6,017 § 227§ 236 $ 586 $ 471§ (111) 8 7,426
9,809 4,828 6,102 41,316 6,005 - 68,060
11,074 5 - 1 4 9,977) 1,107
751 71 159 1,884 635 (3,506) -
1,748 248 340 1,018 502 (169) 3,687
29,399 § 5385 § 6,837 $ 44,805 $ 7,617 $ (13,763) $ 80,280
3,017 § 288 § 253§ 1,876 § 1,039 § (227) $ 6,246
33,469 1,185 2,282 21,390 10,093 (116) 68,304
2,885 53 34 - 506 (3,477) -
51 21 22 391 21 - 506
39,422 § 1,547 $ 2,591 § 23,657 $ 11,659 $ (3,820) $ 75,056
(25,162) $ 4814 $ 6,102 § 41,144 § 1,730 $ (378) $ 28,250
1,484 - - - 717 (520) 1,681
13,655 (976) (1,856 (19,996) (6,489) (9,045) (24,707)
(10,023) $ 3,838 § 420§ 21,148 § (4,042) $ (9,943) $ 5,224
110 $ 354 ¢ 354§ 2,208 . -8 -8 3,026
- 5 - - 910 - 910
41 7, 2 222 16 27) 309
151 3 L 2,430 926 27 4,245
604 486 145 3,660 158 (17) 5,456
196 173 i 872 108 (34) 1,487
S 170 791 78 - 1,211
854 Trr "t 5,323 344 (51 8,154
(703) a7 (524) (2,893) 582 24 (3,909)
) - 40 4 220 524
R - 1,302 - (1,060) 3,501
2 120 389 110 - (1,031) -
w0>4) - - - (155) (13) (822)
(1,285) 51 - (1) 1 1,364 130
1,933 230 389 1,451 (150) (520) 3,333
1,25 (165) (135) (1,442) 432 (496) (576)
46 148 307 527 (351) 421 1,098
1,276 (17) 172 (915) 81 (75) 522
(9,409) 3,746 3,874 21,435 (4,477) (9,562) 5,607
(8,133) § 3,729 § 4,046 $ 20,520 § (4,396) $ (9,637) $ 6,129
(404) $ 217) $ (392) § (1,316) $ 675 $ 32)$ (1,686)
2,298 227 426 1,557 (360) (1,583) 2,565
(1,414) (13) 37) (485) (283) 1,582 (650)
(446) - - 236 (141) 33 (318)
524 14 13 61 120 - 732
558 §$ 1 3 10 $ 53§ 1 3 -8 643
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16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On July 31,2018, MTA executed a 2,820,856 gallon ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel hedge at an all-in price of $2.173
(whole dollars) per gallon. The hedge covers the period from July 2019 through June 2020.

On August 8, 2018, S&P Global Ratings lowered its long-term rating on all outstanding MTA Transportation
Revenue Bonds to A from A+.

On August 14, 2018, MTA closed on an additional $350 Revenue Anticipation Note facility with JPMorgan
Chase, bringing the total amount available to $700, and drew an initial amount of $3.5 in order to secure a lower
commitment fee of 0.35%. The facility will be available to the MTA through August 22, 2022.

On August 22, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and remarketed $167 of Transportation Revenue
Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2005E-1 and 2005E-3 because the existing letters of credit relating to the remarketed
bonds issued by Bank of Montreal expired by its terms on August 24, 2018.

On August 23, 2018, MTA issued $207 Transportation Revenue Refunding Green Bonds, Series 2018B to (i)
refund certain outstanding Transportation Revenue Bonds and Dedicated Tax Fund Bonds, and (ii) pay certain
financing, legal, and miscellaneous expenses. The Series 2018B b4 .ds have maturities each November 15th
from 2019 through 2028.

On August 29, 2018, MTA executed a 2,831,924 gallon ultra-]¢ v su. = diesel fuel hedge at an all-in price of
$2.2145 (whole dollars) per gallon. The hedge covers the pericd from Av ust 2019 through July 2020.

On August 30, 2018, MTA Bridges and Tunnels issued $27° General Revenuc. tefunding Bonds, Series 2018B
to (i) refund certain outstanding indebtedness and (ii) pax’ _ertain financing, legal, and miscellaneous expenses.
The Series 2018B bonds have maturities each Novemb 15th b¢ |inning in 2024 through 2031.

On August 30, 2018, MTA Bridges and Tunnels issued $1. %< _neral Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2018C
to (i) refund certain outstanding indebtedness and (ii) pay cei. 2 financing, legal, and miscellaneous expenses.
The Series 2018C bonds have maturities each Noawzember 15th be_ aning in 2031 through 2038.

On September 5, 2018, MTA effectuated a manda. ry tenu. " 3493 MTA Transportation Revenue Variable Rate
Bonds, Subseries 2015E-2 because its irrevocable’ rectd ay LOC was expiring by its terms and MTA executed
a Bond Purchase Agreement and Firm Remarketing ¢ .eement constituting a Private Placement to replace the
expiring LOC. The Initial Mandatory Pz e date 1. \the Subseries 2015E-2 bonds is September 5, 2023.

On September 5, 2018, MTA effectua’ .d ama;i latory ter er and remarketed $155 MTA Transportation Revenue
Variable Rate Bonds, Subseries 22 5E-3, $ 2" wThansportation Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Subseries
2015E-4, and $48 MTA Transportatic »Rev/ .ue Variable Rate Bonds, Subseries 2015E-5 because their respective
irrevocable direct-pay LOCs were expi.. by their terms. The LOC relating to the Subseries 2015E-3 issued by
Citibank, N.A. was substituted= "2 LOC =ued by Bank of America, N.A. The LOC will expire on September
2, 2022. The LOCs relating o the o =eries . '15E-4 and Subseries 2015E-5 issued by Bank of the West and
U.S. Bank National Assof ation, respec wvely, were substituted with a LOC issued by PNC Capital Markets as
both Subseries were cel ained into one Subseries 2015E-4). The LOC for the combined Subseries 2015E-4
will expire on September = 2021.

On September 25, 2018, MTA'« »cut . a 2,831,922 gallon ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel hedge at an all-in price
of $2.2885 (whole dollars) per galic. The hedge covers the period from September 2019 through August 2020.

On September 26, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and remarketed $107 MTA Bridges and Tunnels
General Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2001B. Among other aspects of the tender and remarketing, the
Series 2011B Bonds were converted from the Weekly Mode, as defined in the original issuance, to the Term Rate
Mode bearing interest at a variable rate based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate index.

On October 4, 2018, MTA Bridges and Tunnels issued $125 General Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2018D
to (i) finance bridge and tunnel projects in the MTA Bridges and Tunnels approved Capital Program, and (ii) pay
certain financing, legal, and miscellaneous expenses. The Series 2018D bonds mature on November 15, 2038.

On October 10, 2018, MTA issued $900 Transportation Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2018C
consisting of $450 Subseries 2018C-1, which mature on September 1, 2020, and $450 Subseries C-2, which
mature on September 1, 2021. The Series 2018C Notes were issued to (i) finance existing approved transit and
commuter projects, (ii) pay interest on the Series 2018C Notes accruing through maturity, and (iii) pay certain
financing, legal, and miscellaneous expenses.
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On October 11, 2018, MTA extended the direct pay LOCs from TD Bank, N.A. that are associated with
Transportation Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Subseries 2002G-1g and Transportation Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds, Subseries 2012G-2. The respective LOCs will be extended for three years to November 1,
2021.

On October 30, 2018, MTA executed a 2,831,934 gallon ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel hedge at an all-in price of
$2.2455 (whole dollars) per gallon. The hedge covers the period from October 2019 through September 2020.

On October 30, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and remarketed $163 of Triborough Bridge and
Tunnel Authority General Revenue Variable Rate Bonds, Series 2002F because the irrevocable direct-pay LOC
relating to the Series 2002F bonds was expiring by its terms and was substituted with an irrevocable direct-pay
LOC, which will expire on October 29, 2021.

On October 30, 2018, MTA effectuated a mandatory tender and remarketed $38 of MTA Transportation Revenue
Variable Rate Refunding Bonds, Series 2002G-1f and $137 of MTA Transportation Revenue Variable Rate
Refunding Bonds, Subseries 2005D-1 because their current interest # e periods were expiring by their terms.
Both the Series 2002G-1f and 2005D-1 Bonds were remarketed ir’ .erm Rate Mode as Floating Rate Tender
Notes (“FRNs”) with a purchase date of July 1, 2021 and with ap{ ‘erest rate of 67% of 1-month LIBOR plus
0.65%.

ko
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Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedule of Changes in the MTA’s Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios for Single Employer Pension Plans

($ in thousands) Additional Plan MaBSTOA Plan

Plan Measurement Date (December 31): 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014

Total pension liability:
Service cost $ 2,752 $ 3441 9 3,813 $ 82,075 § 77,045 $ 72,091
Interest 104,093 106,987 110,036 236,722 232,405 223,887
Effect of economic / demographic (gains) or losses 15,801 6,735 - 13,784 (68,997) -
Differences between expected and actual experience - - - - (1,596)
Benefit payments and withdrawals (158,593) (157¢771) (156,974) (187,823) (179,928) (175,447)

Net change in total pension liability (35,947) (5°298) (43,125) 144,758 60,525 118,935

Total pension liability—beginning 1,562,251 1,602,115 1,645,284 3,391,989 3,331,464 3,212,529

Total pension liability—ending (a) 1,526,304 1,562,251 1,602,159 3,536,747 3,391,989 3,331,464

Plan fiduciary net position:
Employer contributions 81,100 1004 0 407,513 220,697 214,881 226,374
Nonemployer contributions 70,000 - - - - -
Member contributions 884 1,108 1,304 18,472 16,321 15,460
Net investment income 58,27 227 21,231 212,260 (24,163) 105,084
Benefit payments and withdrawals (158093) AL87.071) (156,974) (187,823) (179,928) (175,447)
Administrative expenses b (1,218) (975) (186) (88) (74)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 51,01% (56,654) 272,099 263,420 27,023 171,397

Plan fiduciary net position—beginning - ree N8 782,852 510,753 2,292,316 2,265,293 2,093,896

Plan fiduciary net position—ending (b) 777,21 726,198 782,852 2,555,736 2,292,316 2,265,293

Employer’s net pension liability—ending (a)-(b) 749,087 1§ 836,053 § 819,307 $ 981,011  § 1,099,673  $ 1,066,171

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability 00 % 46.48% 48.86% 72.26% 67.58% 68.00%

Covered-employee payroll $ 29,512 § 39,697 $ 43,267 $ 716,527  $ 686,674  $ 653,287

Employer’s net pension liability as a percentage

of covered-employee payroll 2555.56% 2106.09% 1893.61% 136.91% 160.14% 163.20%

Note: Information was not readily available for periods prior to 2014. This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.
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Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedule of Changes in the MTA’s Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios for Single Employer Pension Plans (continued)
($ in thousands) MNR Cash Balance Plan MTA Defined Benefit Plan
Plan Measurement Date (December 31): 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014
Total pension liability:
Service cost $ - 8 -4 -3 138215  $ 124,354  $ 121,079
Interest 24 29 32 308,009 288,820 274,411
Effect of economic / demographic (gains) or losses (15) “) - 86,809 121,556 -
Effect of assumption changes or inputs - 18 - - (76,180) -
Effect of plan changes - - - 73,521 6,230 -
Differences between expected and actual experience - - - - 2,322
Benefit payments and withdrawals an (113) (88) (209,623) (199,572) (191,057)
Net change in total pension liability (68) (76) (56) 396,931 265,208 206,755
Total pension liability—beginning 634 L 766 4,364,946 4,099,738 3,892,983
Total pension liability—ending (a) 566 4 034 710 4,761,877 4,364,946 4,099,738
Plan fiduciary net position:
Employer contributions 3 18 - 280,768 221,694 331,259
Member contributions - - - 29,392 34,519 26,006
Net investment income 4 6 41 247,708 (45,122) 102,245
Benefit payments and withdrawals (o (113) (88) (209,623) (199,572) (191,057)
Administrative expenses - - g 3 3) (3,051) (1,962) (9,600)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 0 (86) (50) 345,194 9,557 258,853
Plan fiduciary net position—beginning 612 698 748 3,074,777 3,065,220 2,806,367
Plan fiduciary net position—ending (b) 574 612 698 3,419,971 3,074,777 3,065,220
Employer’s net pension liability—ending (a)-(b) $ @3 3 22 3 12 3 1,341,906 $ 1,290,169  $ 1,034,518
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability 101.41% 96.53% 98.36% 71.82% 70.44% 74.77%
Covered-employee payroll $ 846  § 1,474  § 2274 $ 1,784,369  $ 1,773,274  § 1,679,558
Employer’s net pension liability as a percentage
of covered-employee payroll -0.95% 1.49% 0.53% 75.20% 72.76% 61.59%

Note: Information was not readily available for periods prior to 2014. This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.
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Metropolitan

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements

Transportation Authority as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedule of the MTA’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liabilities of Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Pension Plans

(8 in thousands)

NYC? &S& » NYSLERS Plan

Plan Measurement Date: June 30,2017  Junc 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 March 31,2017 March 31,2016 March 31, 2015
MTA’s proportion of the net pension liability 24.096% 23.493% 23.585% 0.311% 0.303% 0.289%
MTA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 5,003,811 § 5008052 § 4,773,787 § 29,239  § 48,557  $ 9,768
MTA’s actual covered-employee payroll $ 3,154,673 ,064,007  $ 2,989,480 $ 96,583 $ 87,670 % 87,315
MTA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as

a percentage of the MTA’s covered-employee payroll 160416% = 529%4% 159.686% 30.273% 55.386% 11.187%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability T4 05% 69.568% 73.125% 94.703% 90.685% 97.947%

Note: Information was not readily available for periods prior to/.015. 7 iis sche ale is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years will be
displayed as they become available. The data provided in this s¢ ‘edule/ * 1 the measurement date used by NYCERS and NYSLERS for the net pension

liability.
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Metropolitan

Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements

as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans for the Year Ended December 31,

Additional Plan*
Actuarially Determined Contribution
Actual Employer Contribution
Contribution Deficiency (Excess)
Covered Payroll

Contributions as a % of Covered Payroll

MaBSTOA Plan
Actuarially Determined Contribution
Actual Employer Contribution
Contribution Deficiency (Excess)
Covered Payroll

Contributions as a % of Covered Payroll

Metro-North Cash Balance Plan*
Actuarially Determined Contribution
Actual Employer Contribution
Contribution Deficiency (Excess)
Covered Payroll

Contributions as a % of Covered Payroll

MTA Defined Benefit Plan*
Actuarially Determined Contribution
Actual Employer Contribution
Contribution Deficiency (Excess)

Covered Payroll

Contributions as a % of Covered Payroll

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
§ in thousands)

$ 76,523 § 83,183 § 82,382 § 112,513 § $ - S - S - 8 - 8 -

221,523 151,100 100,000 407 513 - - - - - -

$ (145,000) $ (67.917) $ (17,618) g{” 0,000) 4% -3 - S - S - S - S -

$ 20500 $ 29312 $§ 39,697 S: 43,267 $ -3 - 8 - 8 - S - S -
1080.62% 515.49% 251.91% 94 % N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

$ 202,924 § 220,697 $ 2148 1 . 05374 5 234474  $ 228918 §$ 186,454  $ 200,633 $ 204,274 $ 201,919

202,684 220,697 214,881 205,53/ 234,474 228,918 186,454 200,633 204,274 201,919

$ 240 § - $7 -8 - 8 - 8 - 8 - S - S - S -

$ 749,666 § 716,527 $ 674 653,287 $ 582,081 $ 575989 $ 579,696 $ 591,073 $ 569,383 § 562,241
27.04% 30.80% T.29% 34.65% 40.28% 39.74% 32.16% 33.94% 35.88% 35.91%

$ - S 23 -3 5 8 -3 - S - S - S -3 -

- 02 14 - - - - - - -

$ - S -0 4) 3 5 8 - 8 - 8 - S - S - S -

$ 471 ¢ 846 & 1,474  § 2274 § -3 - 8 - 8 - S - S -
0.00% 2.68% 0.96% 0.00% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

$ 316916 $§ 2904:. $ 273,700 § 271,523 $ -3 - S - S - 8 - 8 -

321,861 280,767 221,694 331,259 - - - - - -

$ (4,945) $ 9,648 $§ 52,006 $ (59,736) $ -3 - 8 - S - S - S -

$

$ 1,857,026  $ 1,784,369 $ 1,773,274 1,679,558  § - 3 - S - 8 - 8 -3 -

17.33% 15.73% 12.50% 19.72% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

* For the MTA Defined Benefit Plan, Additional Plan and Metro-North Cash Balance Plan, information was not readily available for periods

prior to 2014. This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.
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Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans for the Year Ended December 31, (continued)
2017 2016 2015 2014 200 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
I ausands)
NYCERS
Actuarially Determined Contribution $ 800,863 § 797,845 § 736,212 § 741,223 736,361  § 1983 $ 657,771 § 574,555 $§ 548,721 § 499,603
Actual Employer Contribution 800,863 797,845 736,212 741,223 736,361 731,983 657,771 574,555 548,721 499,603
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) $ - $ -3 - S $ -3 - S -3 - 5 - S -
Covered Payroll $3,768,885 $3,523,993 $3,494,907 $3,617,087 52 43,195 $2,925834 $2,900,630 $2,886,789 $2,800,882  $2,656,778
Contributions as a % of
Covered Payroll 21.25% 22.64% 21.07% 20 49% - 002% 25.02% 22.68% 19.90% 19.59% 18.80%
NYSLERS **
Actuarially Determined Contribution $ 13,969 § 12980 § 15792 § 13, ! $ -3 -9 - 8 -3 -3 -
Actual Employer Contribution 13,969 12,980 15,7¢ 13,80 - - - - - -
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) $ -3 - S - - 8 - 3 - 8 - 8 - 8 - 3 -
Covered Payroll $ 103,787 § 94801 § £ .322 : ; $ -3 -3 - $ - 8 - 8 -
Contributions as a % of
Covered Payroll 13.46% 13.69% 18.22 16.44% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

** For the NYSLERS plan, information was not readily available fo' periods pric

show information for ten years. Additional years will be disp!. =d as they becc e available.
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Metropolitan

Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements

as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Notes to Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans

Valuation Dates:
Measurement Date:
Actuarial cost method:

Amortization method:

Asset Valuation Method:

Salary increases:
Actuarial assumptions:

Discount Rate:

Investment rate of return :

Mortality:

Pre-retirement:

Post-retirement Healthy
Lives:

Post-retirement Disabled
Lives:

Inflation/Railroad Retirement
Wage Base:

Cost-of-Living Adjustments:

Additional Plan

January 1, 2016
December 31, 2016
Entry Age Normal Cost

Period specified in current valuation report
(closed 17 year period beginning January 1,
2016) with level dollar payments.

Actuarial value equals market value less
unrecognized gains/losses over a 5-year

period. Gains/losses are based on market
value of assets.

3.00%

7.00%
7.00%, net of investment expenses.

Based on experience of all MTA members
reflecting mortality improvement on a
generational basis using scale AA.

RP-2000 Employee Mortalits  able
for Males and Females wit Jlue collar

adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RF<. * Calthy
Annuitant mortalityv.tahle for malec. %

POTTREE 16% of thic
KP-2000 Healt:

sle for females.

blue collar adi

rates from # nnuitant

mortality

N/A

2.50%; 3.50%

N/A

January 1, 2015
December 31, 2015
Entry Age Normal Cost

Period specified in current valuation report
(closed 18 year period beginning January 1,
2015) with level dollar payments.

Actuarial value equals marke® iue less
unrecognized gains/losses/  r a 5-year

period. Gains/losses are 1 on market
value of assets.

3.00%

7.00%

7.00% of investp’  ( expenses.

of all MTA members
wrovement on a
ale AA.

Based on ex;
reflecting mortat.
generational basis usi

RP-200¢
for Males und Females with blue collar

nployee Mortality Table

ents.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

N/A

2.50%; 3.50%

N/A

January 1, 2014
December 31,2014
Entry Age Normal Cost

Period specified in current valuation report
(closed 19 year period beginning January 1,
2014) with level dollar payments.

Actuarial value equals market value less
unrecognized gains/losses over a 5-year

period. Gains/losses are based on market
value of assets.

3.00%

7.00%
7.00%, net of investment expenses.

Based on experience of all MTA members
reflecting mortality improvement on a
generational basis using scale AA. As
generational tables, they reflect mortality
improvements both before and after the
measurement date. Mortality assumption
is based on a 2012 experience study for all
MTA plans.

RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table
for Males and Females with blue collar
adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

N/A

2.50%; 3.50%

N/A
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Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Notes to Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans

Valuation Dates:
Measurement Date:
Actuarial cost method:

Amortization method:

Asset Valuation Method:

Salary increases:

Actuarial assumptions:

Discount Rate:

Investment rate of return :

Mortality:

Pre-retirement:

Post-retirement Healthy
Lives:

Post-retirement Disabled
Lives:

Inflation/Railroad Retirement
Wage Base:

Cost-of-Living Adjustments:

MaBSTOA Plan

January 1, 2016
December 31, 2016
Frozen Initial Liability (FIL)

For FIL bases, period specified in current
valuation 30-year level dollar. Future gains/
losses are amortized through the calculation
of the normal cost in accordance with

the FIL cost method amortized based on
expected working lifetime, weighted by
salary, of the projected population.

Actuarial value equals market value less
unrecognized gains/losses over a 5-year

period. Gains/losses are based on market
value of assets.

Varies by years of employment and
employment type.

7.00%
7.00%, net of investment exps’ _s.

Based on experience of al'’  TA member

reflecting mortality imp{  yment on a

generational basis using sca. .

RP-2000 Eris,
for Males and Fe.
adjustments.

2¢ Mortality Ta’

»with bl¢ ollar

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

75% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males and
females.

2.50%

1.375% per annum

January 1, 2015
December 31, 2015
Frozen Initial Liability (FIL)

For FIL bases, period specified in current
valuation 30-year level dollar. Future gains/
losses are amortized through the calculation
of the normal cost in accordance with

the FIL cost method amortize
expected working lifetime.

ased on
~1ighted by

salary, of the projected » ation.

Actuarial value equs narket v less
unrecognized gains/iosses over a 5-
period. Gains/!*  ¢s are based on market

value of asg

Varies by yc. aployment and
employment typc

7.0¢

7.00%,  : of investment expenses.

Rased on vxperience of all MTA members
o .g mortality improvement on a
generational basis using scale AA.

RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table
for Males and Females with blue collar
adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

75% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males and
females.

2.50%

1.375% per annum

January 1, 2014
December 31,2014
Frozen Initial Liability (FIL)

For FIL bases, period specified in current
valuation 30-year level dollar. Future gains/
losses are amortized through the calculation
of the normal cost in accordance with

the FIL cost method amortized based on
expected working lifetime, weighted by
salary, of the projected population.

Actuarial value equals market value less
unrecognized Market value restart as of
1/1/96, then gains/losses over a 5-year
period. Gains/losses are five-year moving
average of market values based on market
value of assets.

In general, merit and promotion increases
plus assumed general wage increases of
3.5% to 15.0% for operating employees and
4.0% to 7.0% for nonoperating employees
per year, depending on years of service.

7.00%
7.00%, net of investment expenses.

Pre-retirement and post-retirement
healthy annuitant rates are projected on

a generational basis using Scale AA. As
generational tables, they reflect mortality
improvements both before and after the
measurement date. Mortality assumption
is based on a 2012 experience study for all
MTA plans.

RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table
for Males and Females with blue collar
adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

75% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males and
females.

2.50%

1.375% per annum
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Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Notes to Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans

(continued)

Valuation Dates:
Measurement Date:

Actuarial cost method:

Amortization method:

Asset Valuation Method:

Salary increases:

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount Rate:

Investment rate of return :

Mortality:

Pre-retirement:

Post-retirement Healthy Lives:

Post-retirement Disabled Lives:

Inflation/Railroad Retirement Wage
Base:

Cost-of-Living Adjustments:

MNR Cash Balance Plan

January 1, 2017
December 31, 2016

Unit Credit Cost

One-year amortization of the unfunded
liability, if any.

Actuarial value equals market value.

N/A

4.00%

4.00%, net of investmen#’  penses.
Based on experience/  all MTA m¢  vers
reflecting mortalit/  arovement

a generational basis us cald Al
Mortality assumption is bac 122012
experience 11 MTA p:

RP-20u anloyee Mortali®  rable

for Males ai. males w'  Olue collar

adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

N/A

2.30%

N/A

January 1, 2016
December 31, 2015

Unit Credit Cost

One-year amortization of the unfunded
liability, if any.

Actuarial value equals ket value.

N/A

/o

4.0¢ \net of investment expenses.

Based un experience of all MTA members
cting mortality improvement on

a generational basis using scale AA.

Mortality assumption is based on a 2012

experience study for all MTA plans.

RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table
for Males and Females with blue collar
adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

N/A

2.30%

N/A

January 1, 2014
December 31, 2014

Unit Credit Cost

Period specified in current valuation report
(closed 10 year period beginning January
1, 2008 - 4 year period for the January 1,
2014 valuation).

Effective January 1, 2015, the Actuarially
Determined Contribution (ADC) will
reflect one-year amortization of the
unfunded accrued liability in accordance
with the funding policy adopted by the
MTA.

There were no projected salary increase
assumptions used in the January 1, 2014
valuation as the participants of the Plan
were covered under the Management Plan
effective January 1, 1989. For participants
of the Plan eligible for additional benefits,
these benefits were not valued as the
potential liability is de minimus.

4.50%
4.50%, net of investment expenses.

Based on experience of all MTA members
reflecting mortality improvement on a
generational basis using scale AA. As
generational tables, they reflect mortality
improvements both before and after the
measurement date. Mortality assumption
is based on a 2012 experience study for all
MTA plans.

RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table
for Males and Females with blue collar
adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

N/A

2.50%

N/A
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Metropolitan

Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Notes to Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans

(continued)

Valuation Dates:
Measurement Date:
Actuarial cost method:

Amortization method:

Asset Valuation Method:

Salary increases:

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount Rate:

Investment rate of return :

Mortality:

Pre-retirement:

Post-retirement Healthy Lives:

Post-retirement Disabled
Lives:

Inflation/Railroad Retirement Wage
Base:

Cost-of-Living Adjustments:

MTA Defined Benefit Plan

January 1, 2016
December 31, 2016
Entry Age Normal Cost

For Frozen Initial Liability (“FIL”) bases,
period specified in current valuation
report. Future gains/ losses are amortized
through the calculation of the normal
cost in accordance with FIL cost method
amortized based on expected working
lifetime, weighted by salary, of the
projected population for each group.

Actuarial value equals market value less
unrecognized gains/losses over a 5-year

period. Gains/losses are based on market
value of assets.

Varies by years of employment, and
employee group. 3.5% for MTA Bus hourly
employees.

7.00%

7.00%

Preretirement and postretirement
healthy annuitant rates are p: hon
_ale AA

cts mortalif

a generational basis using
As a general table, it 7
improvements both/  ore and afte

measurement date.

RP-2000 Ez
for Mals
adjug

“artality Te
ad Females. % blue con

-nts.

957 ‘the rates from the RP
artality table fo
blue collar a<,

)00 Healthy

ales with
16% of the
~althy Annuitant

Annuita
ments an
20

rates from the R
mortality table for fer.. ies.

75% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males and
females. At age 85 and later for males and
age 77 and later for females, the disability
rates are set to the male and females
healthy rates, respectively.

2.50%; 3.50%

55% of inflation assumption or 1.375%, if
applicable.

January 1, 2015
December 31, 2015
Entry Age Normal Cost

For Frozen Initial Liability (“FIL”) bases,
period specified in current valuation
report. Future gains/ losses are amortized
through the calculation of the normal

cost in accordance with EX* 0st method
amortized based on exp’  cd working
w, of the

10T Co

lifetime, weighted by

projected populati “oup.

Actuarial value equals market va.. »ss
unrecogniz<  .ains/losses over a 5-yc.
period. @ s/losses are based on market

value/  ssets.

Varic vears ¢¢ .nployment, and

employec 3.5% for MTA Bus hourly

employees.

7.00%

> rement and postretirement
he hy annuitant rates are projected on
a gt ational basis using Scale AA.
Asag oral table, it reflects mortality
vements both before and after the

measurement date.

RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table
for Males and Females with blue collar
adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

75% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males and
females. At age 85 and later for males and
age 77 and later for females, the disability
rates are set to the male and females
healthy rates, respectively.

2.50%; 3.50%

55% of inflation assumption or 1.375%, if
applicable.

January 1, 2014
December 31,2014
Entry Age Normal Cost

For Frozen Initial Liability (“FIL”) bases,
period specified in current valuation
report. Future gains/ losses are amortized
through the calculation of the normal
cost in accordance with FIL cost method
amortized based on expected working
lifetime, weighted by salary, of the
projected population for each group.

Actuarial value equals market value less
unrecognized gains/losses over a 5-year

period. Gains/losses are based on market
value of assets.

Varies by years of employment, and
employee group.

7.00%
7.00%

Preretirement and postretirement

healthy annuitant rates are projected on

a generational basis using Scale AA, as
recommended by the Society of Actuaries
Retirement Plans Experience Committee.
Ortality assumption is based on a 2012
experience study for all MTA plans.

RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table
for Males and Females with blue collar
adjustments.

95% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males with
blue collar adjustments and 116% of the
rates from the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant
mortality table for females.

75% of the rates from the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant mortality table for males and
females. At age 85 and later for males and
age 77 and later for females, the disability
rates are set to the male and females
healthy rates, respectively.

2.50%; 3.00%

55% of inflation assumption or 1.375%, if
applicable.
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Metropolitan

Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Notes to Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans

(continued)

Valuation Dates:

Measurement Date:

Actuarial cost method:

Amortization method:

Asset Valuation Method:

Salary increases:

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount Rate:

Investment rate of return :

Mortality:

Pre-retirement:

Post-retirement Healthy Lives:

Post-retirement Disabled Lives:

Inflation/Railroad Retirement Wage
Base:

Cost-of-Living Adjustments:

NYCERS Plan

June 30, 2015

June 30, 2017

Entry Age Normal Cost

Increasing Dollar for Initial Unfunded;
Level Dollar for Post 2010 Unfundeds.

Modified six-year moving average of
market values with a Market Value
Restart as of June 30, 2011

3% per annum.

7.00%

7.00%, net of investment expenses.

Mortality tables for service and
disability pensioners were developed
from an experience study of NYCERS’s
pensioners. The mortalitsstables for
beneficiaries were def Upca m

of NYCE ~
.nost recent!

an experience revy
beneficiaries. T!
completed sté ias publis’ Oy
Gabriel Roeder & a7 (“GRS”),
dated October 2015, ai. alyzed
expexn’

thd  2h 2013.

=al Years .

/A

N/A

N/A

2.50%

1.5% per annum for Auto COLA and
2.5% per annum for Escalation.

June 30, 2014

June 30, 2016

Entry Age Normal Cost

Increasing Dollar for Initis! Unfunded;

Level Dollar for Post 2¢  Unfundeds.
Modified six-year’ © average of
market valuess. 1aMai. Alue

Restart as of June 30, 2011

3% per’  num.

7.007

7.00%, net ot . tment expenses.

Vi “ylas for service and

disah® 'y pens.c_rs were developed

fra® an experience study of NYCERS’s
asioners. The mortality tables for

¢ ficiaries were developed from

an'_ erience review of NYCERS’

heneiiciaries. The most recently

~-mpleted study was published by

Gabriel Roeder & Company (“GRS”),

dated October 2015, and analyzed

experience for Fiscal Years 2010

thorugh 2013.

N/A

N/A

N/A

2.50%

1.5% per annum for Auto COLA and
2.5% per annum for Escalation.

June 30, 2013

June 30, 2015

Entry Age Normal Cost

Increasing Dollar for Initial Unfunded;
Level Dollar for Post 2010 Unfundeds.

Modified six-year moving average of
market values with a Market Value Restart
as of June 30, 2011.

3% per annum.

7.00%

7.00%, net of investment expenses.

Mortality tables for service and disability
pensioners were developed from an
experience study of NYCERS’s pensioners.
The mortality tables for beneficiaries were
developed from an experience review of
NYCERS’ beneficiaries. The most recently
completed study was published by Gabriel
Roeder & Company (“GRS”), dated
October 2015, and analyzed experience for
Fiscal Years 2010 thorugh 2013.

N/A

N/A

N/A

2.50%

1.5% per annum for Auto COLA and
2.5% per annum for Escalation.

Master Page # 125 of 186 - AudCommittee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metropolitan

Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Notes to Schedule of the MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans

(continued)

Valuation Dates:

Measurement Date:

Actuarial cost method:

Amortization method:

Asset Valuation Method:

Salary increases:

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount Rate:

Investment rate of return :

Mortality:

Pre-retirement:

Post-retirement Healthy Lives:

Post-retirement Disabled Lives:

Inflation/Railroad Retirement Wage
Base:

Cost-of-Living Adjustments:

NYSLERS Plan
April 1,2016 April 1,2015 April 1,2014
March 31,2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Aggregate Cost method Aggregate Cost method Aggregate Cost method

Evenly over the remaining working
lifetimes of the active membership.

5 year level smoothing of the difference
between the actual gain and the expected
gain using the assumed investment rate
of return.

3.80%

7.00%
7.00%, net of investment expenseg

Annuitant mortality rates are based ot
NYSLERS’s 2010 experience study of
the period April 1, 2005 thaauch March
31, 2010 with adjustx rtality
improvements bag’  on the So¢ y of
/AP-2014.

L 10

Actuaries’s Sca’

N/A

N/A

1.3% per annur.

Evenly over the remaininéworking
lifetimes of the active 20 abership.

5 year level smog “the difference

between the agt . gain a 2 expected
gain using the assumed invest.: ate
of return,

3.80

7.00%

7.00%, net of inve. it expenses.

Anmy at mo:. Uy rates are based on

N L_ERS’s 2010 experience study of
_ period April 1, 2005 through March

2 2010 with adjustments for mortality

im, vements based on the Society of

Actuaries’s Scale MP-2014.

N/A

N/A

N/A

2.50%

1.3% per annum.

Evenly over the remaining working
lifetimes of the active membership.

5-year level smoothing of the difference
between the actual gain and the expected
gain using the assumed investment rate of

return.

4.90%

7.50%

7.5%, net of investment expenses.
Annuitant mortality rates are based on
NYSLERS’s 2010 experience study of
the period April 1, 2005 through March
31, 2010 with adjustments for mortality
improvements based on the Society of
Actuaries’s Scale MP-2014.

N/A

N/A

N/A

2.70%

1.4% per annum.

Master Page # 126 of 186 - AuditCommittee Meeting 12/12/2018



Metr 0p01itafl . Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
Transportation Authority as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Notes to Schedule of MTA’s Contributions for All Pension Plans (concluded)

Significant methods and assumptions used in calculating the actuarially determined contributions of an employer’s
proportionate share in Cost Sharing, Multiple-Employer pension plans, the NYCERS plan and the NYSLERS plan,
are presented as notes to the schedule.

Factors that significantly affect trends in the amounts reported are changes of benefit terms, changes in the size
or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms, or the use of different assumptions. Following is a
summary of such factors:

Changes of Benefit Terms:
There were no changes of benefit terms in the June 30, 2015 valuat.on for thc. "YCERS plan.

There were no significant legislative changes in benefit for/ ¢ Aprild 2015 valuation for the NYSLERS plan.

Changes of Assumptions:

There were no changes in benefit assumptions used iri_e Ju/ Z 30, 2015 valuation for the NYCERS plan.

There were changes in the economic and uemo, aphic a. umptions used in the April 1, 2015 valuation for the
NYSLERS plan.
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Metropolitap X Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
Transportation Authority as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS FOR THE MTA POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN
($ in millions)

Unfunded

Actuarial Actuarial Ratio of
Actuarial Accrual Accrual UAAL to

Actuarial Value of Liability Liability Funded Covered  Covered

Valuation Assets (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Year Ended Date {a} {b} {c} =1{b}-{a} {a}/{b} {d} {c} / {d}
December 31, 2017 January 1, 2016 $298 $19,802 $7 504 1.50 % $5,041.0 386.9 %
December 31, 2016 January 1, 2014 $300 $18,472 8,172 1.60 % $4,669.8 389.1 %
December 31, 2015 January 1, 2014 $300 $18,472 2172 1.60 % $4,669.8 389.1 %
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Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CONSOLIDATED RECONCILIATION BETWEEN FINANCIAL PLAN
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

($ in millions)

(Unaudited)

Category

REVENUE:
Farebox revenue
Vehicle toll revenue
Other operating revenue

Total revenue

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Labor:

Payroll
Overtime
Health and welfare
Pensions
Other fringe benefits
Postemployment benefits
Reimbursable overhead

Total labor expenses

Non-labor:
Electric power
Fuel
Insurance
Claims
Paratransit service contracts
Maintenance and other
Professional service contract
Pollution remediation project co
Materials and supplies
Other business expenses

Total non-labor expenses
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

NET OPERATING LOSS

Financial Plan Statement
Actual GAAP Actual Variance
$ 3,036 $ 3,036 $ -
952 952 -
295 299 4
) 4,283 4,287 4
2557 2,567 10
1 537 3
647 650 3
663 664 1
466 464 2)
1,133 1,095 (38)
(245) (261) (16)
5,755 5,716 (39)
234 231 3)
97 97 -
“) “) -
185 185 -
214 214 -
322 303 (19)
250 243 (7
4 4 -
310 310 -
119 116 3)
1,731 1,699 (32)
1,335 1,336 1
8,821 8,751 (70)
$ (4,538) $ (4,464) $ 74
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Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDY ACCRUAL RECONCILIATION BETWEEN
FINANCIAL PLAN AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

($ in millions)

(Unaudited)

Accrued Subsidies

Mass transportation operating assistance

Mass transit trust fund subsidies

Mortgage recording tax 1 and 2

MRT transfer

Urban tax

State and local operating assistance

Station maintenance

Connecticut Department of Transportation (CDOT)
Subsidy from New York City for MTA Bus and SIRTOA
NYS Grant for debt service

Build American Bonds Subsidy

Mobility tax

NYS/NYC Subway Action Plan

Other non-operating income

Total accrued subsidies

Net operating deficit before subsidies and debt service

Debt Service

Conversion to Cash basis: Depreciation

Conversion to Cash basis: OPEB Obligation

Conversion to Cash basis: GASB 68 pension & stment

Conversion to Cash basis: Pollution & Remediatic

Total net operating surplus/(deficit) before
appropriations, grants and othe® ~CC.
restricted for capital projects

s

{1} The Financial Plan records o1 =sh basis while 1

Financial Financial
Plan Statement
Actual GAAP Actual Variance
1,686 $ 1,686 $ -
310 310 -
212 212 -
(& 3) -
4 333 -
N 217 -
84 84 -
71 71 -
230 232 2
- 1 1
45 45 -
1,074 1,074 -
209 209 -
- 8 8
4468 4,479 11
(4,538) (4,464) 74
(1,299) (733) 566
1,335 - (1,335)
821 - (821)
1 - (1)
4 - 4)
792§ (718) $ (1,510)

Financial Statement records on an accrual basis.

{2} The Financial Plan records do not.. ‘ude other ¥ 1-operating income or changes in market value.
{3} The Financial Plan records do not incic. »othe® .on-operating subsidy or expense for the

refunding of NY'S Service Contract Bonds.

{1}
{1}
{1}
{1}
{13
{13
{1}
{1}
{3}
{1}
{13
{3
{2}
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Metropolitan
Transportation Authority

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
as of and for the Six-Month Period Ended June 30, 2018

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(A Component Unit of the State of New York)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL PLAN TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RECONCILIATION
RECONCILING ITEMS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

($ in millions)

Financial Plan Actual Operating Loss at June 30, 2018

The Financial Plan Actual Includes:

1
2

3
4

Lower other operating revenues

Higher labor expense primarily from higher OPEB expense projections

Higher non-labor expense primarily from higher maintenance and professional contracts
projections

Other expense adjustments

Total operating reconciling items

Financial Statements Operating Loss at June 30, 2018

Financial Plan Surplus after Subsidies and Debt Service

The Audited Financial Statements Includes:

1
2
3

Higher dedicated taxes and subsidies

Lower debt service expense (excludes bond principal payment.
Adjustments for non-cash liabilities:

Depreciation

Unfunded OPEB Expense

Unfunded GASB 68 Pension adjustment

Unfunded Pollution Remediation Expense

Total operating reconciling items (fsam above,

Financial Statement Loss Before Capital Appy’ sriations

$ (4,538)

4
39

32
@)
74

(4,464)

792

11
566

(1,335)
(821)
()

) (2,161)

74

sy
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

The Audit Committee of the
Metropolitan Transportation Authority

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by the Metropolitan
Transportation Authority (“MTA”), the MTA Office of the Inspector General (the "IG") and the Auditor
General of MTA, related to budget accountability for the IG for the year ended December 31,2017. The IG
is responsible for its budget accountability. The sufficiency of thesegrocedures is solely the responsibility
of the parties specified in this report. Consequently, we make noaepresentation regarding the sufficiency
of the procedures enumerated below either for the purpose forwhich.this report has been requested or for
any other purpose.

The procedures and the associated findings are as follows:

1. We utilized a random number generator td randomly select five employees from the MTA
Headquarters - IG payroll register for December 2017 and we compared‘each individual’s salary
to an approved Personnel Action Form.

We found no exceptions as a result ofithe procedures.

2. We utilized a random number generator torandomly select two terminated employees from the
listing of terminated employees for the year ended Pecember313,2017 and we read each
individual’s Persofinel Action Form. We read the payroll register subsequent to each employee’s
termination, and noted that these employees were removed fiom the payroll register.

We found no exceptions as a result of the procedures.

3. Wecomparedithe IG’s total payroll'perithe payrolhregister for the month of December 2017 to
the MTA’s monthly expense report for the menth'of December 2017 and noted they agreed.

We found no exceptionsias a resultiof the procedures.

4. We utilized a random number generator to randomly select five purchases made during the year
from the general ledger for the year ended December 31, 2017, and noted that the related
requisitions andipurchase orders contained an approver’s signature, and, where applicable, the
bids were obtained:

We found no exceptions as a result of the procedures.

5. We utilized a random number generator to randomly select fifteen disbursements from the IG’s
General Fund for the year ended December 31, 2017 and compared the selected disbursements to
supporting documentation and noted that the disbursements were authorized and supported by

proper documentation.

We found no exceptions as a result of the procedures.
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6. During the three months ended December 31, 2017, four petty cash vouchers were generated. We
selected all four petty cash vouchers from the petty cash vouchers listing for the three months
ended December 31, 2017, and noted these vouchers were approved.

Last Quarter of 2017 only had 4 petty cash vouchers, therefore, D&T did not utilize random
number generator and selected all four vouchers for testing. No Exception noted.

7. We obtained the IG General Fund’s bank reconciliation for the month of December 2017, and
noted that the bank balance per the IG’s General Fund’s bank reconciliation agreed to the
Authority’s general ledger.

We found no exceptions as a result of the procedures.

8. We utilized a random number generator to randomly‘select five employee reimbursements from
listing of employee reimbursements for the year ended December 31, 2017 and noted the
reimbursements were supported by explanations, invoices, reimbursement applications, refund
requisitions, purchase orders, and payment details. We utilized a randem number generator to
randomly select five employee expense réports from the listing of employee expenses reports for
the year ended December 31, 2017, and noted the expense reports were supported by
explanations, invoices, expense reports, purchase orders, and payment details.

No Exception noted. There were only»4 employee reimbursements for 2017, therefore, D&T did
not utilize Excel's random number funetion,and selected all,four reimbursements for testing.

9. Management informed us that there were no fixed asset additionypurchases made during the year
ended December 31, 201 7:for the 1G.

10. Management informed us that there were no fixed asset dispesals made during the year ended
December 31, 2017 for the IG.

11. Managementiinformed us that there wasimno depreciation expense during the year ended
December 31,2017 for the IG.

12. We compared the depreciation expense for the month of December 2017 to the MTA’s general
ledger and noted they were both $0.

We foundnorexceptions as a result of the procedures.

13. We read and compared the IG’s monthly expense report to the MTA’s monthly expense report for
the month of Decembet 2017.

We found no exceptions as a result of the procedures.

14. We compared the IG’s 2017 expense budget to the actual expenditures for 2017, and noted total
actual expenditures were less than the IG’s 2017 expense budget by $3,007,695.68.

This agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The agreed-upon procedures do not
constitute an audit of financial statements or any part thereof, the objective of which is the expression of
an opinion on the financial statements or a part thereof. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
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Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to our attention that would have
been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the MTA, the MTA Office ofthe 1G, and the
Auditor General of theMTA, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than the
specified parties.

December 10, 2018 &
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1666 K Street NW
Washington, DC 20006
Office: (202) 207-9100

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Fax: (202) 862-8430
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2016 Inspection of Deloitte & Touche LLP
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Issued by the
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November 28, 2017
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SECTIONS 104(g)(2) AND 105(b)(5)(A)

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
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PCAOB Release No. 104-2017-198

PCAOB

Public Company Accounting Qversight Board

2016 INSPECTION OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Preface

In 2016, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB" or "the
Board") conducted an inspection of the registered public accounting firm Deloitte &
Touche LLP ("the Firm") pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ("the Act").

Inspections are designed and performed to provide a basis for assessing the
degree of compliance by a firm with applicable requirements related to auditing issuers.
For a description of the procedures the Board's inspectors may perform to fulfill this
responsibility, see Part 1.D of this report (which also contains additional information
concerning PCAOB inspections generally). The inspection included reviews of portions
of selected issuer audits. These reviews were intended to identify whether deficiencies
existed in the reviewed work, and whether such deficiencies indicated defects or
potential defects in the Firm's system of quality control over audits. In addition, the
inspection included a review of policies and procedures related to certain quality control
processes of the Firm that could be expected to affect audit quality.

The Board is issuing this report in accordance with the requirements of the Act.
The Board is releasing to the public Part | of the report, portions of Appendix A and
Appendix B. Appendix A consists of the Firm's comments, if any, on a draft of the report.
If the nonpublic portions of the report discuss criticisms of or potential defects in the
Firm's system of quality control, those discussions also could eventually be made
public, but only to the extent the Firm fails to address the criticisms to the Board's
satisfaction within 12 months of the issuance of the report. Appendix B presents the text
of the paragraphs of the auditing standards that are referenced in Part I.A in relation to
the description of auditing deficiencies there.

Note on this report's citations to auditing standards: On March 31, 2015, the
PCAOB adopted a reorganization of its auditing standards using a topical structure and
a single, integrated numbering system. See Reorganization of PCAOB Auditing
Standards and Related Amendments to PCAOB Standards and Rules, PCAOB Release
No. 2015-002 (Mar. 31, 2015). The reorganization became effective as of December 31,
2016. Citations in this report reference the reorganized PCAOB auditing standards.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This summary sets out certain key information from the 2016 inspection of
Deloitte & Touche LLP ("the Firm"). The inspection procedures included reviews of
portions of 54 issuer audits performed by the Firm and a review of the Firm's audit work
on one other issuer audit engagement in which the Firm played a role but was not the
principal auditor. Fifty-three of the 55 engagements were integrated audits of both
internal control and the financial statements. Part 1.C of this report provides certain
demographic information about the audits inspected and Part I.D describes the general
procedures applied in the PCAOB's 2016 inspections of annually inspected registered
firms.

The inspection team identified matters that it considered to be deficiencies in the
performance of the work it reviewed. In 13 audits, certain of the deficiencies identified
were of such significance that it appeared to the inspection team that the Firm, at the
time it issued its audit report, had not obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
support its opinion that the financial statements were presented fairly, in all material
respects, in conformity with the applicable financial reporting framework and/or its
opinion about whether the issuer had maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting ("ICFR"). These deficiencies are described in
Part I.A of the report.

Effects of Audit Deficiencies on Audit Opinions

Of the 13 issuer audits that appear in Part I.A, deficiencies in 12 audits relate to
testing controls for purposes of the ICFR opinion, and deficiencies in seven audits relate
to the substantive testing performed for purposes of the opinion on the financial
statements, as noted in the table below. Of the seven audits in which substantive testing
deficiencies were identified, two audits included deficiencies in substantive testing that
the inspection team determined were caused by a reliance on controls that was
excessive in light of deficiencies in the testing of controls.

Number of Audits |

Audits for which deficiencies included in Part |.A related to 6 Audits: Issuers A, B, C, D, E,
both the financial statement audit and the ICFR audit and F

Audits for which deficiencies included in Part I.A related to the 6 Audits: Issuers G, H, I, K, L,
ICFR audit only and M
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Number of Audits |

Audits for which deficiencies included in Part |.A related to the 1 Audit: Issuer J
financial statement audit only

Total 13

Most Frequently Identified Audit Deficiencies

The following table lists, in summary form, the types of deficiencies that are
included most frequently in Part I.A of this report. A general description of each type is
provided in the table; the description of each deficiency in Part I.A contains more
specific information about the individual deficiency. The table includes only the three
most frequently identified deficiencies that are in Part I.A of this report and is not a
summary of all deficiencies in Part I.A.

Issue Part I.A Audits ‘

Failure to sufficiently test the design and/or operating 9 Audits: Issuers A, B, C,
effectiveness of controls that the Firm selected for testing E,F,G H, |, and M

Failure to sufficiently evaluate significant assumptions that the 5 Audits: Issuers A, B, C,
issuer used in developing an estimate D, and F

Failure to sufficiently test controls over or sufficiently test the 4 Audits: Issuers A, F, G,
accuracy and completeness of issuer-produced data or reports and L

Areas in which Audit Deficiencies Were Most Frequently Identified

The following table lists, in summary form, the financial statement accounts or
auditing areas in which the deficiencies that are included in Part I.A of this report most
frequently occurred. The table includes only the three most frequently identified areas
that are in Part I.A of this report and is not a summary of all deficiencies in Part I.A.

Area Part I.A Audits

Investment securities, including derivatives 5 Audits: Issuers A, B, G,
H, and |

Loans, including the allowance for loan losses 3 Audits: Issuers A, B, and
G
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Area Part I.LA Audits
Revenue, including deferred revenue 3 Audits: Issuers F, L, and

M
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PART I
INSPECTION PROCEDURES AND CERTAIN OBSERVATIONS

Members of the Board's staff ("the inspection team") conducted primary
procedures’ for the inspection from November 2015 to February 2017. The inspection
team performed field work at the Firm's National Office and at 29 of its approximately 64
U.S. practice offices.

A. Review of Audit Engagements

The inspection procedures included reviews of portions of 54 issuer audits
performed by the Firm and a review of the Firm's audit work on one other issuer audit
engagement in which the Firm played a role but was not the principal auditor. The
inspection team identified matters that it considered to be deficiencies in the
performance of the work it reviewed. In one of the audits described below, after the
primary inspection procedures, the Firm revised its opinion on the effectiveness of the
issuer's internal control over financial reporting ("ICFR") to express an adverse opinion.

The descriptions of the deficiencies in Part I.A of this report include, at the end of
the description of each deficiency, references to specific paragraphs of the auditing
standards that relate to those deficiencies. The text of those paragraphs is set forth in
Appendix B to this report. The references in this sub-Part include only standards that
primarily relate to the deficiencies; they do not present a comprehensive list of every
auditing standard that applies to the deficiencies. Further, certain broadly applicable
aspects of the auditing standards that may be relevant to a deficiency, such as
provisions requiring due professional care, including the exercise of professional
skepticism; the accumulation of sufficient appropriate audit evidence; and the
performance of procedures that address risks, are not included in the references to the
auditing standards in this sub-Part, unless the lack of compliance with these standards

! For this purpose, the time span for "primary procedures” includes field

work, other review of audit work papers, and the evaluation of the Firm's quality control
policies and procedures through review of documentation and interviews of Firm
personnel. The time span does not include (1) inspection planning, which may
commence months before the primary procedures, and (2) inspection follow-up
procedures, wrap-up, analysis of results, and the preparation of the inspection report,
which generally extend beyond the primary procedures.
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is the primary reason for the deficiency. These broadly applicable provisions are
described in Part 1.B of this report.

Certain of the deficiencies identified were of such significance that it appeared to
the inspection team that the Firm, at the time it issued its audit report, had not obtained
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support its opinion that the financial statements
were presented fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with the applicable financial
reporting framework and/or its opinion about whether the issuer had maintained, in all
material respects, effective ICFR. In other words, in these audits, the auditor issued an
opinion without satisfying its fundamental obligation to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements were free of material misstatement and/or the
issuer maintained effective ICFR.

The fact that one or more deficiencies in an audit reach this level of significance
does not necessarily indicate that the financial statements are misstated or that there
are undisclosed material weaknesses in ICFR. It is often not possible for the inspection
team, based only on the information available from the auditor, to reach a conclusion on
those points.

Whether or not associated with a disclosed financial reporting misstatement, an
auditor's failure to obtain the reasonable assurance that the auditor is required to obtain
iS a serious matter. It is a failure to accomplish the essential purpose of the audit, and it
means 2that, based on the audit work performed, the audit opinion should not have been
issued.

2 Inclusion in an inspection report does not mean that the deficiency

remained unaddressed after the inspection team brought it to the firm's attention.
Depending upon the circumstances, compliance with PCAOB standards may require
the firm to perform additional audit procedures, or to inform a client of the need for
changes to its financial statements or reporting on internal control, or to take steps to
prevent reliance on its previously expressed audit opinions. The Board expects that
firms will comply with these standards, and an inspection may include a review of the
adequacy of a firm's compliance with these requirements, either with respect to
previously identified deficiencies or deficiencies identified during that inspection. Failure
by a firm to take appropriate actions, or a firm's misrepresentations in responding to an
inspection report about whether it has taken such actions, could be a basis for Board
disciplinary sanctions.
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The audit deficiencies that reached this level of significance are described in
Parts I.A.1 through I.A.13, below.

Audit Deficiencies

A.1. Issuer A

In this audit of an issuer in the financial services industry, the Firm failed in the
following respects to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support its audit
opinions on the financial statements and on the effectiveness of ICFR —

. The Firm's procedures related to the allowance for loan losses ("ALL")
were insufficient, as follows —

o] The Firm identified 17 sub-components within the three
components that constituted the issuer's ALL and performed risk
assessment procedures for each of the 17 sub-components; these
procedures included identifying the risks of misstatement
associated with each sub-component and concluding whether
those risks individually represented a risk of material misstatement.
For eight sub-components, the Firm concluded that the risks did not
represent a risk of material misstatement for any of these sub-
components individually. These eight sub-components, when
combined, represented a significant portion of the issuer's total
ALL. The Firm failed to perform any procedures for these sub-
components, which in the aggregate presented a reasonable
possibility of material misstatement. (AS 2110.59; AS 2301.08)

o] The Firm's testing of controls over the ALL for commercial loans
was insufficient. The issuer assigned a risk rating for each
commercial loan when it was initiated, and it reviewed each risk
rating once during the year, based on its assessment of the
borrower's credit quality and other characteristics. This information
was retained in systems for which the Firm identified multiple
deficiencies in controls over user access. The issuer used the
assigned risk rating to develop a probability of default for each loan,
which was a significant assumption used in the determination of a
component of this ALL that represented a significant portion of the
ALL. Regarding the Firm's testing of controls over this component —
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" The Firm selected for testing a control that consisted of a
review of the risk rating assigned to the related loans, but the
Firm's testing was insufficient. The Firm's procedures to test
this control consisted of inquiring of the control owners,
reading the issuer's internal policy, and inspecting certain
information that the issuer used in the performance of the
control. In addition, in its evaluation of this control, the Firm
considered the results of a substantive procedure that
consisted of evaluating whether the risk rating assigned by
the issuer was appropriate in accordance with the issuer's
policy. The Firm, however, failed to ascertain and evaluate
the specific criteria that the control owners used to assess
the reasonableness of the risk rating assigned to each loan.
(AS 2201.42 and .44)

" The Firm failed to identify and test any controls to address
the risk that it identified that an assigned risk rating could be
rendered inaccurate due to events or changes to loan data
that occurred after the date of the loan risk-rating review.
(AS 2201.39)

o] When developing the qualitative component of the ALL, the issuer
assigned an individual score to each qualitative factor it identified
and grouped these factors into four categories that were then
weighted using certain judgmental assumptions. The Firm's
procedures to test the qualitative component of the ALL, which
represented a significant portion of the issuer's total ALL, consisted
of (1) obtaining an understanding of the issuer's rationale for each
of the qualitative factors; (2) comparing the assigned score for each
qualitative factor in the current period to the related score in prior
periods; (3) inquiring of management regarding the reason for
changes from prior periods; (4) inspecting supporting
documentation for one change; and (5) evaluating, based on the
Firm's knowledge of the issuer and economic factors, trends in the
total ALL balance and certain metrics related to the ALL. The Firm
failed to sufficiently evaluate the reasonableness of the qualitative
component of the ALL because it did not evaluate the assigned
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score and weighting assumptions described above beyond
performing a directional assessment of changes. (AS 2501.11)

o The Firm's procedures related to derivatives were insufficient, as follows —

o] The Firm selected for testing a control to address an identified risk
related to the completeness of derivatives with one type of
counterparty; these derivatives represented a significant portion of
the total derivatives. This control consisted of (1) a review of the
issuer's net collateral position with its counterparties to determine
the amount of collateral required and (2) a comparison of the net
collateral position by counterparty to the issuer's derivative
valuation systems. The Firm failed to identify that this control was
not designed to address, and failed to identify and test any other
controls that addressed, the risk that individual derivative
transactions were not recorded in the issuer's systems. (AS
2201.39)

o] The Firm's substantive procedures to test the completeness of
these derivatives were insufficient, as they were limited to
comparing the terms of one derivative contract to the issuer's
derivative valuation system, inquiring of management, and reading
board minutes to identify any changes in management policy or
strategy related to derivatives. (AS 2503.22-.23)

o] To address the risks related to the valuation of the majority of
derivatives, the Firm selected a control in which the issuer used a
mark-to-market report to review the value of the derivatives.
Interest rate curves were an important input to the mark-to-market
report, but the Firm failed to identify and test any controls over the
accuracy and completeness of the interest rate curves within the
system from which the report was generated. (AS 2201.39)

A.2. Issuer B

In this audit of an issuer in the financial services industry, the Firm failed in the
following respects to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support its audit
opinions on the financial statements and on the effectiveness of ICFR —
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o For loans that the issuer assessed collectively for impairment, the issuer
estimated the ALL using a model that consisted of quantitative and
gualitative components. The issuer developed the qualitative component
of the ALL, which represented a significant portion of the total ALL, by
applying certain internal and external factors ("qualitative loss factors") to
each of its classes of loans and determining the amount of the
adjustments for these factors. The Firm's procedures related to the
gualitative component of the ALL were insufficient, as follows —

(0]

The Firm selected for testing a control that consisted of
management's review of the qualitative loss factors and the related
adjustments. The Firm's procedures to test this control consisted of
inquiring of management, observing certain meetings, and
inspecting the documents that management reviewed during these
meetings. The Firm's testing did not include ascertaining and
evaluating the nature of the specific steps that the reviewers took in
the performance of their reviews, including the criteria used to
identify matters for follow up and whether the matters identified for
follow up were appropriately resolved. (AS 2201.42 and .44)

The Firm failed to perform sufficient procedures to evaluate the
reasonableness of the adjustments made for the qualitative loss
factors. Specifically, the Firm limited its procedures to obtaining an
understanding of the quarterly changes in the amount of the
adjustments, comparing these quarterly changes to internal and
external information for directional consistency, inquiring of
management, and reading certain issuer-prepared presentations.
(AS 2501.11)

o The Firm's procedures to test the valuation of one of the issuer's types of
derivatives were insufficient in the following respects —

(0]

These derivatives were created in relation to individual loan
arrangements that the issuer expected to enter into. When such a
derivative was created, the issuer entered the loan type and certain
other information related to the derivative into an information-
technology system, for which a deficiency in controls over user
access had been identified. If data that met certain established
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parameters were entered, the system automatically calculated the
fair value of the derivative. The Firm selected for testing an
automated control that was designed to ensure that the data that
were entered into the system met the applicable parameters, which
were specific to the various loan types. The Firm failed to
sufficiently test this control, as it limited its testing to only one
transaction that represented only one of the issuer's many loan
types. In addition, the Firm performed its testing after the year end,
without performing any procedures to determine whether there had
been changes in the design or operation of the control since the
year end. (AS 2201.03, .42, and .44)

o] The Firm designed its procedures to test the valuation of this type
of derivative — including its sample size — based on a level of
control reliance that was not supported due to the deficiencies in
the Firm's testing of controls that are discussed above. As a result,
the sample size that the Firm used to test this type of derivative
was too small to provide sufficient evidence. (AS 2301.16, .18, and
37; AS 2315.19, .23, and .23A)

. During the year, the issuer acquired a significant business. The Firm
selected for testing a control over the valuation of acquired loans; this
control consisted of management's review of the credit quality of these
loans. The Firm failed to sufficiently test the aspects of this control that
related to one of the two types of acquired loans. Specifically, the Firm's
testing of these aspects consisted of inquiring of management and reading
a memorandum that was prepared as part of the operation of the control,
without ascertaining and evaluating the nature of the specific procedures
performed by the control owners, including the criteria used to identify
matters for follow up and whether the matters identified for follow up were
appropriately resolved. (AS 2201.42 and .44)

A.3. Issuer C

In this audit, the Firm failed to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
support its audit opinions on the financial statements and on the effectiveness of ICFR.
For one type of its long-lived assets, the issuer identified an indicator of potential
impairment due to a significant decline in the market value of these assets. As a result,
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the issuer developed undiscounted cash-flow analyses to assess the carrying value of
each asset of this type for recoverability. One of the significant assumptions in each of
these analyses was the rate that the issuer would receive when renting out the asset.
Generally, the issuer estimated the rental rate for each asset using an average of
historical rental rates over an established number of years ("historical average rate").
For those assets with a remaining useful life that was shorter than the established
number of years used in developing the historical average rate, however, the issuer
considered whether it would still be appropriate to use the historical average rate, and, if
not, the issuer used the historical rental rates to estimate a lower rental rate ("adjusted
rental rate"). The Firm's procedures related to the valuation of these assets with shorter
remaining useful lives were insufficient. Specifically —

o The Firm selected for testing a control that included a review of the
reasonableness of any adjusted rental rates used in the analyses for these
assets. The Firm's procedures to test this control consisted of inquiring of
the control owner, reperforming the control owner's test of the
mathematical accuracy of the calculation of each adjusted rental rate,
reading board minutes to obtain evidence about whether the issuer
planned to dispose of any of these assets, and inspecting documents with
signatures and notations that indicated the reviews had occurred. The
Firm failed to ascertain and evaluate the specific procedures that the
control owner performed to assess the reasonableness of the adjusted
rental rates. (AS 2201.42 and .44)

. At year end, actual rental rates were significantly lower than historical
rental rates, and the issuer noted that these lower rental rates could
persist for some time. To evaluate the reasonableness of the issuer's
assertion that the carrying value of all but one of the assets with a shorter
remaining useful life was recoverable, the Firm tested the mathematical
accuracy of the calculation used to determine the issuer's adjusted rental
rate and analyzed whether the carrying value of these assets would be
recoverable based on alternative rental-rate assumptions. The Firm's
procedures were insufficient, as described below. (AS 2501.07)

o] To develop its first alternative rental-rate assumption, the Firm used
the actual year-end rental rate for the first two years of the forecast,
percentages of the historical average rate for the next two years,
and the historical average rate for the remaining years. The Firm
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concluded that the undiscounted cash flows calculated using this
alternative rental-rate assumption exceeded the carrying values for
all but one of these assets. The Firm was aware that the historical
average rate that it used to develop this assumption was
significantly higher than each adjusted rental rate used by the
issuer, but concluded that the issuer's assertion that the carrying
value of all but one of these assets was recoverable was
reasonable without performing any additional procedures to support
its use of the historical average rate in later years. In addition, the
Firm failed to obtain any evidence to support the percentages that it
applied to the historical average rate in the third and fourth years of
each analysis.

o] In developing its second alternative rental-rate assumption, the
Firm used the actual rental rate, which was lower than all of the
issuer's adjusted rental rates, for the first two years of the forecast
and then calculated the rate for the remaining years that would
result in the undiscounted cash flows being equal to the carrying
value of the asset ("break-even" rate). The Firm was aware that
these "break-even" rates exceeded the issuer's adjusted rental rate
for a significant portion of these assets. The Firm also determined
that, for each asset, the "break-even" rate was lower than the
historical average rate. Nevertheless, without performing any
additional procedures, the Firm concluded that the issuer's
assertion that the carrying value of all but one of these assets was
recoverable was reasonable.

A.4. Issuer D

In this audit, the Firm failed to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
support its audit opinions on the financial statements and on the effectiveness of ICFR,
as its procedures related to the valuation of inventory were insufficient. Specifically —

o The Firm selected for testing a control that consisted of the review of the
allowance for excess and obsolete inventory. The Firm's procedures to
test this control consisted of inquiring of the control owner, obtaining a
checklist as evidence of approval, reading industry information used in the
review, reading the control owner's explanations for changes in the
allowance by inventory aging category as compared to prior periods,
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A.5.

inspecting the control owner's testing of the mathematical accuracy of the
allowance calculation, and inspecting the control owner's comparison of
the inventory balances to the inventory sub-ledger. The Firm failed to
identify that this control did not address the reasonableness of the
percentages that the issuer applied to each of the inventory aging
categories in determining the allowance, and it did not identify and test
any other control that addressed the risk related to the percentages
applied. (AS 2201.39)

The Firm failed to perform sufficient procedures to evaluate the
reasonableness of the percentages that the issuer applied to each of the
inventory aging categories in determining the allowance for excess and
obsolete inventory. The Firm's procedures to evaluate the reasonableness
of these percentages were limited to reading the issuer's methodology and
inquiring of management regarding any changes in methodology; reading
industry information; noting that the same percentages were used at the
prior year end, an interim date, and the current year end; and comparing
the total allowance as a percentage of gross inventory at an interim date
to those percentages for the last three year ends. (AS 2501.11)

Issuer E

In this audit of a manufacturer, the Firm failed to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to support its audit opinions on the financial statements and on the
effectiveness of ICFR, as its procedures related to property, plant, and equipment
("PPE") were insufficient. Specifically —

The Firm selected for testing a control that included the review of PPE for
recoverability; an aspect of this control consisted of a review for events or
changes in circumstances that the control owner considered to indicate
that a test of the recoverability of PPE needed to be performed. The Firm's
procedures to test this aspect of the control consisted of inquiring of
management, reading certain long-term supply contracts and certain
issuer communications, reading minutes of meetings of the board of
directors and the audit committee, observing a meeting of the audit
committee, and observing that one production facility was operating. The
Firm, however, failed to evaluate whether the criteria that the control
owner used in the operation of this aspect of the control were sufficient to
identify all events or changes in circumstances contemplated in Financial
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Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standard Codification
("ASC") Subtopic 360-10, Property, Plant, and Equipment — Overall. (AS
2201.42)

. For two production facilities, the Firm failed to sufficiently evaluate the
issuer's assertion that there were no events or changes in circumstances
that would require a test for recoverability. The Firm identified that both of
these production facilities (1) had curtailed production by at least 50
percent during the last half of the year and (2) had an operating loss for
the year, as well as a projected operating loss for the following year.
Despite these circumstances that, under generally accepted accounting
principles, appeared to be events or changes in circumstances that
indicated that the facilities' carrying value might not have been
recoverable, the Firm's procedures to evaluate the issuer's assertion that
there were no such events or changes in circumstances were limited to
inquiring of management; noting the existence of certain labor and long-
term supply agreements for the facilities; noting that historical market
prices had been volatile; and considering that the facilities had had
positive operating results in the first half of the year, before they recorded
the operating losses. (AS 2301.08)

A.6. Issuer F

In this audit of a government contractor, the Firm failed in the following respects
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support its audit opinions on the
financial statements and on the effectiveness of ICFR —

. The Firm's procedures related to revenue were insufficient in the following
respects —

o] Three of the controls related to revenue that the Firm identified and
tested consisted of (1) a review of new and modified contracts to
determine the appropriate method for recognizing revenue on each
contract and to verify the terms and assumptions entered into the
issuer's accounting system, (2) the automated calculation of
revenue based on formulas that were specific to each of the
issuer's six contract types, and (3) a review of invoices for
consistency with the underlying contract information and for
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accuracy. The Firm failed to sufficiently test these controls.
Specifically —

For the first control, the Firm failed to sufficiently test the
aspect of the control related to determining the appropriate
method for recognizing revenue because its procedures to
test this aspect were limited to inquiring of management. (AS
2201.42 and .44)

For the second control, the Firm's procedures consisted of
inquiring of management and, for one contract, comparing
information in the issuer's accounting system to the contract
and recalculating the revenue recognized. These procedures
were insufficient to support a conclusion that the control was
designed and operating effectively with respect to all of the
issuer's contract types, as the Firm tested only one contract
type. (AS 2201.42 and .44)

For the third control, the Firm failed to sufficiently test the
operating effectiveness of the aspect of the control related to
the comparison of invoices to the underlying contract
information. Specifically, the Firm inspected evidence of
review of the comparison for a sample of invoices, but
reperformed this aspect of this manual control for only one
invoice. In addition, the Firm failed to identify and test any
controls over the accuracy and completeness of the project-
cost information that the issuer used in the performance of
this control. (AS 2201.39 and .44)

o] The Firm's substantive procedures to test revenue included (1)
selecting a small number of specific contracts for testing and (2)
performing a substantive analytical procedure using an expectation
that was based on the prior-year consolidated gross margin, which
was adjusted based on the results of the Firm's testing of the
specific contracts. The adjustment that the Firm made to its
expectation of revenue represented the actual amount of the gross
margin fluctuations for the small number of specific contracts
selected for testing. As the selection of specific contracts for testing
was not designed to be representative of the population, the Firm's
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use of the results of this testing to develop its expectation for total
revenue was not supported. In addition, gross margins varied
significantly across the issuer's contracts, but the Firm developed
its analytical procedures using a consolidated gross margin.
Further, the Firm established its threshold for investigating
differences based on a level of control reliance that was not
supported due to the deficiencies in the Firm's testing of controls
that are described above. As a result, the expectation that the Firm
developed and the thresholds that the Firm used to investigate
differences from those expectations were not precise enough to
provide the necessary degree of assurance that misstatements that
could have been material would be identified. (AS 1105.27; AS
2301.16, .18, and .37; AS 2305.17 and .20)

. The issuer performed an analysis of the possible impairment of goodwill
for both of its reporting units; the analyses included cash-flow forecasts
that were developed based on individual contracts. The Firm's procedures
related to the valuation of goodwill for one of the issuer's reporting units
were insufficient in the following respects —

(0}

The Firm selected for testing a control that consisted of reviews of
the issuer's cash-flow forecasts. The Firm's procedures to test the
operating effectiveness of the control consisted of: (1) inquiring of
the control owners, (2) for one contract, inspecting the specific
cash-flow forecast and supporting documents, and (3) inspecting
the reporting unit's cash-flow forecast for evidence of review and
approval by management. The Firm, however, failed to evaluate
whether matters identified for follow up were appropriately
investigated and resolved. (AS 2201.44)

The Firm failed to sufficiently evaluate the reasonableness of
certain significant assumptions underlying the cash-flow forecasts
that the issuer used in its analysis of the possible impairment of
goodwill for this reporting unit. Three of the significant assumptions
that the issuer used to develop its cash-flow forecasts were: (1) the
likelihood that the unfunded contract value for existing contracts
would be awarded in the future; (2) the likelihood of securing new
contracts and extending existing contracts; and (3) the projected
profit margin for new contracts. The Firm's procedures to evaluate
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A.7.

the reasonableness of these assumptions were insufficient, as
those procedures were limited to inquiring of management. (AS
2502.26 and .28)

Issuer G

In this audit, the Firm failed in the following respects to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to support its audit opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR —

A.8.

For certain investments without readily determinable fair values, the issuer
elected the fair value option of accounting. The issuer determined the
reported fair values of these investments using one of the following pricing
methods: (1) trades and other information observed by the issuer's internal
trading desk, (2) external broker quotes, or (3) internal models. The Firm
selected for testing a control over the valuation of these investments, but
failed to sufficiently test this control. The control consisted of the review of
an analysis of fair value by the issuer's pricing committee and the
resolution of certain matters identified by the pricing committee for follow-
up. The Firm's procedures to test this control consisted of inquiring of
management, inspecting meeting invitations, and inspecting
documentation evidencing management's approval of the recorded fair
values. The Firm failed to ascertain and evaluate the nature of the
procedures that the control owners performed to address the matters
identified by the pricing committee for follow-up. (AS 2201.42 and .44)

The Firm's procedures to test controls over the valuation of loans were
insufficient. With respect to substantially all of the issuer's loans, the Firm
selected for testing a control that consisted of management's review of
loan information, including loan risk-ratings, to identify potentially impaired
loans. The Firm, however, failed to identify and test any controls over the
accuracy and completeness of the information used in the performance of
the control. (AS 2201.39)

Issuer H

In this audit of an investment company, the Firm failed to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to support its audit opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR, as
its procedures to test controls over the valuation of investments were insufficient. The
Firm selected for testing three controls that addressed the recording of investments at
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fair value. Two of these controls consisted of (1) the quarterly review of investment
valuations by the issuer's chief financial officer and (2) for investments categorized as
level 3 within the hierarchy set forth in FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements
and Disclosures, the quarterly comparison of the issuer's fair values to the values
determined by an external valuation specialist. The Firm's procedures to test these two
controls consisted of inquiring of the control owner, obtaining the issuer's and external
valuation specialist's fair value determinations and a summary of the differences
between the values, and inspecting documents and emails that indicated the reviews
and certain other actions performed as a result of the reviews had occurred. For the first
control, the Firm failed to evaluate the criteria used to identify matters for follow up and,
for both controls, the Firm failed to evaluate whether the matters identified for follow up
were appropriately resolved. The Firm concluded that the third control was dependent
on the first of these two controls and, therefore, its testing of the third control was also
affected by the deficiencies in the testing of the first control. (AS 2201.42 and .44)

A.9. Issuer |

In this audit of an investment company, the Firm failed to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to support its audit opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR, as
its procedures to test controls over the valuation of securities without readily
determinable fair values, which represented over 40 percent of the issuer's investments,
were insufficient. The issuer valued these securities using an income approach and a
market approach; in certain circumstances, the issuer also requested an external
valuation using the same approaches. The assumptions used in these approaches
included (1) assumptions underlying cash-flow forecasts and underlying the discount
rate applied to the forecasts and (2) assumptions related to the selection of the
companies and transactions that would be appropriate to use for comparison. The Firm
selected for testing three controls that consisted of quarterly reviews of the issuer's
valuation of these securities, including the review of the underlying assumptions. The
Firm's procedures to test the aspect of these controls that involved the review of these
assumptions consisted of (1) inquiring of the control owners; (2) for a selection of the
issuer's valuation analyses, comparing assumptions to the underlying support and to the
assumptions underlying the prior-quarter valuation analyses; and (3) inspecting emails
and documents that indicated the reviews and certain other actions performed as a
result of the reviews had occurred. For a selection of securities for which an external
valuation had been performed, the Firm also compared the assumptions underlying the
issuer's internal valuation analyses to those underlying the external valuations. In
addition, for one of the controls, the Firm attended certain meetings held as part of the
control. With respect to the control owners' reviews of the cash-flow forecasts, discount
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rates, and the selection of comparable companies and transactions, the Firm failed to
evaluate (1) the specific steps performed by the control owners to review the related
assumptions, (2) the criteria used to identify matters for follow up, and (3) whether the
matters identified for follow up were appropriately resolved. (AS 2201.42 and .44)

A.10. IssuerJ

In this audit, the Firm failed in the following respects to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to support its audit opinion on the financial statements —

. The Firm's procedures to test the existence of work-in-progress and
finished goods inventory at the issuer's production facilities were
insufficient. Specifically, the Firm's physical inventory observation
procedures for this inventory included inquiring of management and
comparing the quantities noted by the issuer on a selection of inventory
packages to the quantities recorded in the issuer's inventory records,
without performing any procedures to address whether the quantities
shown were accurate. (AS 2510.09)

. During the year, the issuer announced that it would indefinitely suspend
the use of a significant long-lived asset. Following the announcement and
before the year end, the issuer terminated the majority of the employees
associated with the asset and received bids for the asset in amounts that
were significantly below the asset's carrying value. When performing its
impairment analysis for the asset group that included this asset, the issuer
forecasted no future production from this specific asset, but determined
there was no impairment charge to be recorded for the asset group as a
whole. After the year end and before the issuance of the financial
statements, the issuer announced it would not resume use of this asset.
The Firm failed to sufficiently evaluate the issuer's assertion that it did not
cease to use the asset until after the year end and that, therefore, the
asset should be reported at its carrying value, rather than its salvage
value, as of the year end. Specifically, the Firm's procedures to determine
whether the facts noted above indicated that the conditions constituting
the cessation of the use of the asset existed as of the year end were
limited to obtaining a representation from management and documenting
the Firm's conclusion. (AS 2801.03 and .07)
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A.11. Issuer K

In this audit, the Firm failed to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
support its audit opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR, as its testing of controls related to
the presentation of the consolidated statement of cash flows was insufficient. The issuer
prepared its consolidated statement of cash flows by compiling and translating financial
information from numerous subsidiaries, denominated in various currencies, and
recording numerous manual adjustments in the process. The Firm identified that the
issuer had not implemented a control that directly addressed the presentation of its
consolidated statement of cash flows. The Firm selected for testing a control that it
asserted mitigated this control deficiency; this control consisted of a comparison of
information in the financial statements to supporting schedules and a review of certain
of the supporting schedules for accuracy and completeness. The Firm failed to test any
aspects of this control that addressed the presentation of the consolidated statement of
cash flows. (AS 2201.68)

A.12. Issuer L

In this audit of a healthcare provider, the Firm failed to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to support its audit opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR. The
Firm identified control deficiencies related to the control owners' failure to compare
billing rates and authorizations to provide services to supporting documentation. These
deficiencies related to the majority of revenue and affected all of the controls that the
Firm tested that directly addressed the occurrence and allocation of that revenue. In
response to these deficiencies, the Firm identified and tested a control that it asserted
mitigated the deficiencies; this control consisted of a comparison of budgeted revenue
by service type and geographic location to actual revenue. The Firm, however, failed to
identify and test any controls over the accuracy and completeness of significant data
that the issuer used in developing and periodically updating the budgeted revenue. (AS
2201.39)

A.13. Issuer M

In this audit, the Firm failed to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
support its audit opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR, as its procedures to test controls
over revenue were insufficient. The issuer maintained thousands of price lists, including
separate price lists for individual customers and, for many customers, separate price
lists for individual locations. The control that the Firm selected to directly address the
pricing of revenue transactions consisted of a comparison of the prices on each
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customer's purchase order to the relevant price list that the issuer maintained for that
customer. The Firm's procedures to test the operating effectiveness of this control did
not include testing the control objective of verifying whether the prices on the customer's
purchase order were consistent with those on the relevant price lists for the specific
customer; instead, the Firm's testing consisted of comparing the prices on a sample of
customers' purchase orders to invoice prices and determining that any differences were
approved. (AS 2201.44)

B. Auditing Standards

Each deficiency described in Part I.A above could relate to several provisions of
the standards that govern the conduct of audits. The paragraphs of the standards that
are cited for each deficiency are those that most directly relate to the deficiency. The
deficiencies also may relate, however, to other paragraphs of those standards and to
other auditing standards, including those concerning due professional care, responses
to risk assessments, and audit evidence.

Many audit deficiencies involve a lack of due professional care. Paragraphs .02,
.05, and .06 of AS 1015, Due Professional Care in the Performance of Work, require the
independent auditor to plan and perform his or her work with due professional care and
set forth aspects of that requirement. AS 1015.07-.09, and paragraph .07 of AS 2301,
The Auditor's Responses to the Risks of Material Misstatement, specify that due
professional care requires the exercise of professional skepticism. These standards
state that professional skepticism is an attitude that includes a questioning mind and a
critical assessment of the appropriateness and sufficiency of audit evidence.

AS 2301.03, .05, and .08 require the auditor to design and implement audit
responses that address the risks of material misstatement. Paragraph .04 of AS 1105,
Audit Evidence, requires the auditor to plan and perform audit procedures to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a reasonable basis for the audit opinion.
Sufficiency is the measure of the quantity of audit evidence, and the quantity needed is
affected by the risk of material misstatement (in the audit of financial statements) or the
risk associated with the control (in the audit of ICFR) and the quality of the audit
evidence obtained. The appropriateness of evidence is measured by its quality; to be
appropriate, evidence must be both relevant and reliable in providing support for the
related conclusions.

The paragraphs of the standards that are described immediately above are not
cited in Part LA, unless those paragraphs are the most directly related to the relevant
deficiency.
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B.1. List of Specific Auditing Standards Referenced in Part LA

The table below lists the specific auditing standards that are referenced in Part
I.A of this report, cross-referenced to the issuer audits for which each standard is cited.
For each auditing standard, the table also provides the number of distinct deficiencies
for which the standard is cited for each of the relevant issuer audits. This information
identifies only the number of times that the standard is referenced, regardless of
whether the reference includes multiple paragraphs or relates to multiple financial
statement accounts.

PCAOB Auditing Standards Audits Number of
Deficiencies
per Audit

AS 1105, Audlt Evidence Issuer F 1

AS 2110, Identifying and Assessing Risks of Issuer A 1
Material Misstatement

AS 2201, An Audit of Internal Control Over Issuer A 4

Financial Reporting That Is Integrated with An Issuer B 3

Audit of Financial Statements Issuer C 1

Issuer D 1

Issuer E 1

Issuer F 4

Issuer G 2

Issuer H 1

Issuer | 1

Issuer K 1

Issuer L 1

Issuer M 1

AS 2301, The Auditor's Responses to the Issuer A 1

Risks of Material Misstatement Issuer B 1

Issuer E 1

Issuer F 1

Issuer A 1
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PCAOB Auditing Standards i Number of

Deficiencies
per Audit

AS 2501, Auditing Accounting Estimates
(continued)

and Disclosures

AS 2503, Auditing Derivative Instruments,

SEWINHES

AS 2510, Auditing Inventories Issuer J

AS 2502, Auditing Fair Value Measurements Issuer F
Hedging Activities, and Investments in
AS 2801, Subsequent Events

B.2. Financial Statement Accounts or Auditing Areas Related to Identified Audit
Deficiencies

The table below lists the financial statement accounts or auditing areas related to

the deficiencies included in Part I.A of this report and identifies the audits described in
Part I.A where deficiencies relating to the respective areas were observed.

AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS

1105 | 2110 | 2201 | 2301 | 2305 | 2315 | 2501 | 2502 | 2503/ | 2510 | 2801
--------II--
Combinations

Cash Flows
F F

Long- Ilved
assets,
including
amortization
Impairment of

goodwill
Inventory and
related

reserves
Investment

A B B B A

securities, G,
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AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS
1105 | 2110 | 2201 | 2301 | 2305 | 2315 | 2501 | 2502 | 2503 | 2510 | 2801
derivatives
including ALL G
Revenue, F F, L, F F
including M

deferred
revenue

B.3. Audit Deficiencies by Industry

The table below lists the industries® of the issuers for which audit deficiencies
were discussed in Part I.A of this report and cross references the issuers to the specific
auditing standards related to the deficiencies.*

AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS AS | AS
1105 | 2110 | 2201 | 2301 | 2305 | 2315 | 2501 | 2502 | 2503 | 2510 | 2801
M

Consumer
Staples

Financial A A, B, A B B A, B A
Services G,
H, |
Health Care L
Industrials C,D C,D
Information F F, K F F F
Technolog
VY EWEHETS E E J J

3 The majority of industry sector data is based on Global Industry

Classification Standard ("GICS") data obtained from Standard & Poor's ("S&P"). In
instances where GICS for an issuer is not available from S&P, classifications are
assigned based upon North American Industry Classification System data.

4 Where identifying the industry of the issuer may enhance the
understanding of the description of a deficiency in Part I.A, industry information is also
provided there, unless doing so would have the effect of making the issuer identifiable.
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C. Data Related to the Issuer Audits Selected for Inspection®
C.1. Industries of Issuers Inspected

The chart below categorizes the 55 issuers whose audits were inspected in 2016,
based on the issuer's industry.°

. Industry Number | Percentage
Industries of Issuers Inspected of Audits
- Inspected
Utilities Consumer Consumer g 16%
>% 16% 7 14%
Informati 5 9%
nrormation 9 16%
TeCf1\2°0/|0gV—\::E:;: Health Care 2 4%
° Consumer 8 15%
............ Staples Information 9 16%
L 14% Technology
o / 3 5%
: / 3 5%
Industrials
15% ‘ Energy
B — 9%
——
/ — Financial
Health Care Services
4% 16%

> Where the audit work inspected related to an engagement in which the

Firm played a role but was not the principal auditor, the industry and the revenue
included in the tables and charts in this section are those of the entity for which an audit
report was issued by the primary auditor. As discussed above, the inspection process
included reviews of portions of 54 selected issuer audits completed by the Firm and the
Firm's audit work on one other issuer audit engagement in which it played a role but
was not the principal auditor.

6 See Footnote 3 for additional information on how industry sectors were
classified.

Master Page # 162 of 186 - Audit Committee Meeting 12/12/2018



PCAOB Release No. 104-2017-198
P‘ AO B Inspection of Deloitte & Touche LLP
November 28, 2017

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Page 28

C.2. Revenue Ranges of Issuers Inspected

The chart below categorizes, based upon revenue, the 55 issuers whose audits
were inspected in 2016.” This presentation of revenue data is intended to provide
information about the size of issuer audits that were inspected and is not indicative of
whether the inspection included a review of the Firm's auditing of revenue in the issuer
audits selected for review.

Revenue Ranges of Issuers s
inspected

Inspected 2 4%
10-50 billion >50 billion - 100-500 9 16%
9% 2% <100 million
: 4% 100-500 9 16%
million -1 billion

o 16% 1 33%

11%
9%
9%

>50 billion 2%

5-10 billion

9%\

[ee]

[l €2 M) i o))

2.5-5 billion - i
11% CCHCHCHC - __ 500 million-1

""" billion

16%

1-2.5 billion
33%

! The revenue amounts reflected in the chart are for the issuer's fiscal year
end that corresponds to the audit inspected by the PCAOB. The revenue amounts were
obtained from S&P and reflect a standardized approach to presenting revenue amounts.
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D. Information Concerning PCAOB Inspections that is Generally Applicable to
Annually Inspected Firms

Board inspections include reviews of certain portions of selected audit work
performed by the inspected firm and reviews of certain aspects of the firm's quality
control system. The inspections are designed to identify deficiencies in audit work and
defects or potential defects in the firm's system of quality control related to the firm's
audits. The focus on deficiencies, defects, and potential defects necessarily carries
through to reports on inspections and, accordingly, Board inspection reports are not
intended to serve as balanced report cards or overall rating tools. Further, the inclusion
in an inspection report of certain deficiencies, defects, and potential defects should not
be construed as an indication that the Board has made any determination about other
aspects of the inspected firm's systems, policies, procedures, practices, or conduct not
included within the report.

D.1. Reviews of Audit Work

Inspections include reviews of portions of selected audits of financial statements
and, where applicable, audits of ICFR. The inspection team selects the audits, and the
specific portions of those audits, that it will review, and the inspected firm is not allowed
an opportunity to limit or influence the selections. For each specific portion of the audit
that is selected, the inspection team reviews the engagement team's work papers and
interviews engagement personnel regarding those portions. If the inspection team
identifies a potential issue that it is unable to resolve through discussion with the firm
and any review of additional work papers or other documentation, the inspection team
ordinarily provides the firm with a written comment form on the matter and the firm is
allowed the opportunity to provide a written response to the comment form. If the
response does not resolve the inspection team's concerns, the matter is considered a
deficiency and is evaluated for inclusion in the inspection report. Identified deficiencies
in the audit work that exceed a significance threshold (which is described in Part I.A of
the inspection report) are summarized in the public portion of the inspection report.®

8 The discussion in this report of any deficiency observed in a particular

audit reflects information reported to the Board by the inspection team and does not
reflect any determination by the Board as to whether the Firm has engaged in any
conduct for which it could be sanctioned through the Board's disciplinary process. In
addition, any references in this report to violations or potential violations of law, rules, or
professional standards are not a result of an adversarial adjudicative process and do
not constitute conclusive findings for purposes of imposing legal liability.
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Audit deficiencies that the inspection team may identify include a firm's failure to
identify, or to address appropriately, financial statement misstatements, including
failures to comply with disclosure requirements,’ as well as a firm's failure to perform, or
to perform sufficiently, certain necessary tests of controls and substantive audit
procedures. An inspection of an annually inspected firm does not involve the review of
all of the firm's audits, nor is it designed to identify every deficiency in the reviewed
audits. Accordingly, a Board inspection report should not be understood to provide any
assurance that a firm's audit work, or the relevant issuers' financial statements or
reporting on ICFR, are free of any deficiencies not specifically described in an
inspection report.

In reaching its conclusions about whether a deficiency exists, an inspection team
considers whether audit documentation or any other evidence that a firm might provide
to the inspection team supports the firm's contention that it performed a procedure,
obtained evidence, or reached an appropriate conclusion. In some cases, the
conclusion that a firm did not perform a procedure may be based on the absence of
documentation and the absence of persuasive other evidence, even if the firm claimed
to have performed the procedure. AS 1215, Audit Documentation, provides that, in
various circumstances including PCAOB inspections, a firm that has not adequately
documented that it performed a procedure, obtained evidence, or reached an
appropriate conclusion must demonstrate with persuasive other evidence that it did so,
and that oral assertions and explanations alone do not constitute persuasive other
evidence. In the case of every matter cited in the public portion of a final inspection
report, the inspection team has carefully considered any contention by the firm that it did
so but just did not document its work, and the inspection team has concluded that the

9 When it comes to the Board's attention that an issuer's financial
statements appear not to present fairly, in a material respect, the financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows of the issuer in conformity with the applicable
financial reporting framework, the Board's practice is to report that information to the
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC" or "the Commission"), which has
jurisdiction to determine proper accounting in issuers' financial statements. Any
description in this report of financial statement misstatements or failures to comply with
SEC disclosure requirements should not be understood as an indication that the SEC
has considered or made any determination regarding these issues unless otherwise
expressly stated.
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available evidence does not support the contention that the firm sufficiently performed
the necessary work.

The Board cautions against extrapolating from the results presented in the public
portion of a report to broader conclusions about the frequency of deficiencies
throughout the firm's practice. Individual audits and areas of inspection focus are most
often selected on a risk-weighted basis and not randomly. Areas of focus vary among
selected audits, but often involve audit work on the most difficult or inherently uncertain
areas of financial statements. Thus, the audit work is generally selected for inspection
based on factors that, in the inspection team's view, heighten the possibility that auditing
deficiencies are present, rather than through a process intended to identify a
representative sample.

D.2. Review of a Firm's Quality Control System

QC 20, System of Quality Control for a CPA Firm's Accounting and Auditing
Practice, provides that an auditing firm has a responsibility to ensure that its personnel
comply with the applicable professional standards. This standard specifies that a firm's
system of quality control should encompass the following elements: (1) independence,
integrity, and objectivity; (2) personnel management; (3) acceptance and continuance of
issuer audit engagements; (4) engagement performance; and (5) monitoring.

The inspection team's assessment of a firm's quality control system is derived
both from the results of its procedures specifically focused on the firm's quality control
policies and procedures, and also from inferences that can be drawn from deficiencies
in the performance of individual audits. Audit deficiencies, whether alone or when
aggregated, may indicate areas where a firm's system has failed to provide reasonable
assurance of quality in the performance of audits. Even deficiencies that do not result in
an insufficiently supported audit opinion or a failure to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to fulfill the objectives of the firm's role in an audit may indicate a defect or
potential defect in a firm's quality control system.'® If identified deficiencies, when
accumulated and evaluated, indicate defects or potential defects in the firm's system of
quality control, the nonpublic portion of this report would include a discussion of those

10 Not every audit deficiency suggests a defect or potential defect in a firm's

quality control system, and this report does not discuss every audit deficiency the
inspection team identified.
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issues. When evaluating whether identified deficiencies in individual audits indicate a
defect or potential defect in a firm's system of quality control, the inspection team
considers the nature, significance, and frequency of deficiencies;** related firm
methodology, guidance, and practices; and possible root causes.

Inspections also include a review of certain of the firm's practices, policies, and
processes related to audit quality, which constitute a part of the firm's quality control
system. The inspection team customizes the procedures it performs with respect to the
firm's practices, policies, and processes related to audit quality, bearing in mind the
firm's structure, procedures performed in prior inspections, past and current inspection
observations, an assessment of risk related to each area, and other factors. The areas
generally considered for review include (1) management structure and processes,
including the tone at the top; (2) practices for partner management, including allocation
of partner resources and partner evaluation, compensation, admission, and disciplinary
actions; (3) policies and procedures for considering and addressing the risks involved in
accepting and retaining issuer audit engagements, including the application of the firm's
risk-rating system; (4) processes related to the firm's use of audit work that the firm's
foreign affiliates perform on the foreign operations of the firm's U.S. issuer audits; and
(5) the firm's processes for monitoring audit performance, including processes for
identifying and assessing indicators of deficiencies in audit performance, independence
policies and procedures, and processes for responding to defects or potential defects in
quality control. A description of the procedures generally applied to these areas is
below.

H An evaluation of the frequency of a type of deficiency may include

consideration of how often the inspection team reviewed audit work that presented the
opportunity for similar deficiencies to occur. In some cases, even a type of deficiency
that is observed infrequently in a particular inspection may, because of some
combination of its nature, its significance, and the frequency with which it has been
observed in previous inspections of the firm, be cause for concern about a quality
control defect or potential defect.
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D.2.a. Review of Management Structure and Processes, Including the
Tone at the Top

Procedures in this area are designed to focus on (1) how management is
structured and operates the firm's business, and the implications that the management
structure and processes have on audit performance and (2) whether actions and
communications by the firm's leadership — the tone at the top — demonstrate a
commitment to audit quality. To assess this area, the inspection team may interview
members of the firm's leadership and review significant management reports,
communications, and documents, as well as information regarding financial metrics and
other processes that the firm uses to plan and evaluate its business.

D.2.b. Review of Practices for Partner Management, Including Allocation
of Partner Resources and Partner Evaluation, Compensation,
Admission, and Disciplinary Actions

Procedures in this area are designed to focus on (1) whether the firm's processes
related to partner evaluation, compensation, admission, termination, and disciplinary
actions could be expected to encourage an appropriate emphasis on audit quality and
technical competence, as distinct from marketing or other activities of the firm; (2) the
firm's processes for allocating its partner resources; and (3) the accountability and
responsibilities of the different levels of firm management with respect to partner
management. The inspection team may interview members of the firm's management
and review documentation related to certain of these topics. In addition, the inspection
team's evaluation may include the results of interviews of audit partners regarding their
responsibilities and allocation of time. Further, the inspection team may review a sample
of partners' personnel files.

D.2.c. Review of Policies and Procedures for Considering and Addressing
the Risks Involved in Accepting and Retaining Issuer Audit
Engagements, Including the Application of the Firm's Risk-Rating

System

The inspection team may consider the firm's documented policies and
procedures in this area. In addition, the inspection team may select certain issuer audits
to (1) evaluate compliance with the firm's policies and procedures for identifying and
assessing the risks involved in accepting or continuing the issuer audit engagements
and (2) observe whether the audit procedures were responsive to the risks of material
misstatement identified during the firm's process.
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D.2.d. Review of Processes Related to a Firm's Use of Audit Work that the
Firm's Foreign Affiliates Perform on the Foreign Operations of the
Firm's U.S. Issuer Audits

The inspection team may review the firm's policies and procedures related to its
supervision and control of work performed by foreign affiliates on the firm's U.S. issuer
audits, review available information relating to the most recent internal inspections of
foreign affiliated firms, interview members of the firm's leadership, and review the U.S.
engagement teams' supervision concerning, and procedures for control of, the audit
work that the firm's foreign affiliates performed on a sample of audits.

D.2.e. Review of a Firm's Processes for Monitoring Audit Performance,
Including Processes for ldentifying and Assessing Indicators of
Deficiencies in _Audit Performance, Independence Policies and
Procedures, and Processes for Responding to Defects or Potential
Defects in Quality Control

D.2.e.i. Review of Processes for Identifying and Assessing
Indicators of Deficiencies in Audit Performance

Procedures in this area are designed to identify and assess the monitoring
processes that the firm uses to monitor audit quality for individual engagements and for
the firm as a whole. The inspection team may interview members of the firm's
management and review documents relating to the firm's identification and evaluation
of, and response to, possible indicators of deficiencies in audit performance. In addition,
the inspection team may review documents related to the design, operation, and
evaluation of findings of the firm's internal inspection program, and may compare the
results of its review of audit work to those from the internal inspection's review of the
same audit work.

D.2.e.ii. Review of Response to Defects or Potential Defects in
Quality Control

The inspection team may review steps the firm has taken to address possible
quality control deficiencies and assess the design and effectiveness of the underlying
processes. In addition, the inspection team may inspect audits of issuers whose audits
had been reviewed during previous PCAOB inspections of the firm to ascertain whether
the audit procedures in areas with previous deficiencies have improved.
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D.2.e.iii. Review of Certain Other Policies and Procedures Related
to Monitoring Audit Quality

The inspection team may assess policies, procedures, and guidance related to
aspects of independence requirements and the firm's consultation processes, as well as
the firm's compliance with these requirements and processes. In addition, the inspection
team may review documents, including certain newly issued policies and procedures,
and interview firm management to consider the firm's methods for developing audit
policies, procedures, and methodologies, including internal guidance and training
materials.

END OF PART |
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PARTS Il AND IlIl OF THIS REPORT ARE NONPUBLIC
AND ARE OMITTED FROM THIS PUBLIC DOCUMENT
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APPENDIX A
RESPONSE OF THE FIRM TO DRAFT INSPECTION REPORT

Pursuant to section 104(f) of the Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7214(f), and PCAOB Rule
4007(a), the Firm provided a written response to a draft of this report. Pursuant to
section 104(f) of the Act and PCAOB Rule 4007(b), the Firm's response, minus any
portion granted confidential treatment, is attached hereto and made part of this final
inspection report.*?

12 The Board does not make public any of a firm's comments that address a
nonpublic portion of the report unless a firm specifically requests otherwise. In some
cases, the result may be that none of a firm's response is made publicly available. In
addition, pursuant to section 104(f) of the Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7214(f), and PCAOB Rule
4007(b), if a firm requests, and the Board grants, confidential treatment for any of the
firm's comments on a draft report, the Board does not include those comments in the
final report at all. The Board routinely grants confidential treatment, if requested, for any
portion of a firm's response that addresses any point in the draft that the Board omits
from, or any inaccurate statement in the draft that the Board corrects in, the final report.
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August 3, 2017

Mr. John Fiebig

Senior Deputy Director

Division of Registration and Inspections
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
1666 K Street NW

Washington, DC 20006

Re: Deloitte & Touche LLP — Response to Part | of Draft Report on 2016 Inspection
Dear Mr. Fiebig:

Deloitte & Touche LLP is pleased to submit this response to the draft Report on the 2016 Inspection of
Deloitte & Touche LLP (the Draft Report) of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the PCAOB
or the Board). We believe that the PCAOB’s inspection process serves an important role in the achievement
of our shared objectives of improving audit quality and serving investors and the public interest. We are
committed to continuing to work with the PCAOB to further strengthen trust in the integrity of the
independent audit.

We have evaluated the matters identified by the Board’s inspection team for each of the issuer audits
described in Part | of the Draft Report and have taken actions as appropriate in accordance with PCAOB
standards to comply with our professional responsibilities under AU 390, Consideration of Omitted
Procedures After the Report Date, and AU 561, Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date of the
Auditor’s Report.

Executing high quality audits is our number one priority. In order to drive continuous improvements in
quality, we are transforming the audit to leverage innovative technologies, along with enhancing the
skillsets of our talent to prepare them for a digitally driven future. We are confident that our ongoing digital
transformation, along with the investments we continue to make in our audit processes, policies, and
quality controls, are resulting in significant enhancements to our audit quality.

Sincerely,

}Mﬁ Yyl Cotharine M Enge lbet

Joseph B. Ucuzoglu Catherine M. Engelbert
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Chief Executive Officer
Deloitte & Touche LLP Deloitte

In the United States, Deloitte refers to one or more of the US member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Limited, their related entities that operate using the “Deloitte” name in the United States and their respective
affiliates. Please see www.deloitte.com/us/about for a detailed description of our legal structure.
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This appendix provides the text of the auditing standard paragraphs that are
referenced in Part I.A of this report. Footnotes that are included in this appendix, and
any other Notes, are from the original auditing standards that are referenced. While this
appendix contains the specific portions of the relevant standards cited with respect to
the deficiencies in Part I.A of this report, other portions of the standards (including those
described in Part I.B of this report) may provide additional context, descriptions, related
requirements, or explanations; the complete standards are available on the PCAOB's
website at http://pcaobus.org/STANDARDS/Pages/default.aspx.

AS 1105, Audit Evidence

Selecting Specific Items
AS 1105.27 The application of audit procedures to items that | Issuer F
are selected as described in paragraphs .25-.26 of this
standard does not constitute audit sampling, and the
results of those audit procedures cannot be projected to
the entire population.*
Footnote to AS 1105.27
12 If misstatements are identified in the selected items, see AS 2810.12 - .13 and AS 2810.17 -
9.
AS 2110, Identifying and Assessing Risks of Material Misstatement
PERFORMING RISK
ASSESSMENT
PROCEDURES
IDENTIFYING AND
ASSESSING THE RISKS
OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT
AS 2110.59 The auditor should identify and assess the risks | Issuer A

of material misstatement at the financial statement level
and the assertion level. In identifying and assessing risks
of material misstatement, the auditor should:

a. ldentify risks of misstatement using information
obtained from performing risk assessment
procedures (as discussed in paragraphs .04-.58)
and considering the characteristics of the
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AS 2110, Identifying and Assessing Risks of Material Misstatement

accounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

Note: Factors relevant to identifying fraud risks
are discussed in paragraphs .65-.69 of this
standard.

b. Evaluate whether the identified risks relate
pervasively to the financial statements as a whole
and potentially affect many assertions.

c. Evaluate the types of potential misstatements that
could result from the identified risks and the
accounts, disclosures, and assertions that could
be affected.

Note: In identifying and assessing risks at the
assertion level, the auditor should evaluate how
risks at the financial statement level could affect
risks of misstatement at the assertion level.

d. Assess the likelihood of misstatement, including
the possibility of multiple misstatements, and the
magnitude of potential misstatement to assess
the possibility that the risk could result in material
misstatement of the financial statements.

Note: In assessing the likelihood and magnitude
of potential misstatement, the auditor may take
into account the planned degree of reliance on
controls selected to test.*

e. Identify significant accounts and disclosures® and
their relevant assertions®* (paragraphs .60—.64 of
this standard).

Note: The determination of whether an account or
disclosure is significant or whether an assertion is
a relevant assertion is based on inherent risk,
without regard to the effect of controls.

f. Determine whether any of the identified and
assessed risks of material misstatement are
significant risks (paragraphs .70-.71 of this
standard).

Footnotes to AS 2110.59

2 AS 2301.16-.35.
3 AS 2201.A10 states:

An account or disclosure is a significant account or disclosure if there is a reasonable possibility that the
account or disclosure could contain a misstatement that, individually or when aggregated with others, has a
material effect on the financial statements, considering the risks of both overstatement and understatement.
The determination of whether an account or disclosure is significant is based on inherent risk, without regard
to the effect of controls.
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AS 2110, Identifying and Assessing Risks of Material Misstatement

3 AS 2201.A9 states:

A relevant assertion is a financial statement assertion that has a reasonable possibility of containing a
misstatement or misstatements that would cause the financial statements to be materially misstated. The
determination of whether an assertion is a relevant assertion is based on inherent risk, without regard to the
effect of controls.

AS 2201, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated with An Audit of
Financial Statements

INTRODUCTION

AS 2201.03 The auditor's objective in an audit of internal | Issuer B
control over financial reporting is to express an opinion on
the effectiveness of the company's internal control over
financial reporting. Because a company's internal control
cannot be considered effective if one or more material
weaknesses exist, to form a basis for expressing an
opinion, the auditor must plan and perform the audit to
obtain appropriate evidence that is sufficient to obtain
reasonable assurance® about whether material
weaknesses exist as of the date specified in management's
assessment. A material weakness in internal control over
financial reporting may exist even when financial
statements are not materially misstated.

Footnote to AS 2201.03

5 See AS 1015, Due Professional Care in the Performance of Work, for further discussion of the
concept of reasonable assurance in an audit.

USING A TOP-DOWN
APPROACH

Selecting Controls to Test

AS 2201.39 The auditor should test those controls that are | Issuers A, D, F,
important to the auditor's conclusion about whether the | G, and L
company's controls sufficiently address the assessed risk
of misstatement to each relevant assertion.

TESTING CONTROLS

Testing Design
Effectiveness

AS 2201.42 The auditor should test the design effectiveness of | Issuers A, B, C,
controls by determining whether the company's controls, if | E, F, G, H, and |

they are operated as prescribed by persons possessing the
necessary authority and competence to perform the control

Master Page # 176 of 186 - Audit Committee Meeting 12/12/2018



PCAOB Release No. 104-2017-198
Inspection of Deloitte & Touche LLP
November 28, 2017
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Page B-4

AS 2201, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated with An Audit of
Financial Statements

effectively, satisfy the company's control objectives and
can effectively prevent or detect errors or fraud that could
result in material misstatements in the financial statements.

Note: A smaller, less complex company might
achieve its control objectives in a different manner
from a larger, more complex organization. For
example, a smaller, less complex company might
have fewer employees in the accounting function,
limiting opportunities to segregate duties and
leading the company to implement alternative
controls to achieve its control objectives. In such
circumstances, the auditor should evaluate
whether those alternative controls are effective.

Testing Operating
Effectiveness

AS 2201.44 The auditor should test the operating effectiveness | Issuers A, B, C,
of a control by determining whether the control is operating | F, G, H, I, and M
as designed and whether the person performing the control
possesses the necessary authority and competence to
perform the control effectively.

Note: In some situations, particularly in smaller
companies, a company might use a third party to
provide assistance with certain financial reporting
functions. When assessing the competence of
personnel responsible for a company's financial
reporting and associated controls, the auditor may
take into account the combined competence of
company personnel and other parties that assist
with functions related to financial reporting.

EVALUATING IDENTIFIED
DEFICIENCIES

AS 2201.68 The auditor should evaluate the effect of | Issuer K
compensating controls when determining whether a control
deficiency or combination of deficiencies is a material
weakness. To have a mitigating effect, the compensating
control should operate at a level of precision that would
prevent or detect a misstatement that could be material.
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AS 2301, The Auditor's Responses to the Risks of Material Misstatement

RESPONSES INVOLVING
THE NATURE, TIMING,
AND EXTENT OF AUDIT
PROCEDURES

AS 2301.08

The auditor should design and perform audit
procedures in a manner that addresses the assessed
risks of material misstatement for each relevant assertion
of each significant account and disclosure.

Issuers A and E

TESTING CONTROLS

Testing Controls in an
Audit of Financial
Statements

AS 2301.16

Controls to be Tested. If the auditor plans to
assess control risk at less than the maximum by relying on
controls,*? and the nature, timing, and extent of planned
substantive procedures are based on that lower
assessment, the auditor must obtain evidence that the
controls selected for testing are designed effectively and
operated effectively during the entire period of reliance.”
However, the auditor is not required to assess control risk
at less than the maximum for all relevant assertions and,
for a variety of reasons, the auditor may choose not to do
so.

Issuers B and F

Footnotes to AS 2301.16

12

procedures.

13

Reliance on controls that is supported by sufficient and appropriate audit evidence allows the
auditor to assess control risk at less than the maximum, which results in a lower assessed risk of material
misstatement. In turn, this allows the auditor to modify the nature, timing, and extent of planned substantive

Terms defined in Appendix A, Definitions, are set in boldface type the first time they appear.

AS 2301.18

Evidence about the Effectiveness of Controls in
the Audit of Financial Statements. In designing and
performing tests of controls for the audit of financial
statements, the evidence necessary to support the
auditor's control risk assessment depends on the degree
of reliance the auditor plans to place on the effectiveness
of a control. The auditor should obtain more persuasive
audit evidence from tests of controls the greater the
reliance the auditor places on the effectiveness of a
control. The auditor also should obtain more persuasive
evidence about the effectiveness of controls for each
relevant assertion for which the audit approach consists

Issuers B and F
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AS 2301, The Auditor's Responses to the Risks of Material Misstatement

primarily of tests of controls, including situations in which
substantive procedures alone cannot provide sufficient
appropriate audit evidence.

SUBSTANTIVE
PROCEDURES

AS 2301.37

As the assessed risk of material misstatement | Issuers B and F

increases, the evidence from substantive procedures that
the auditor should obtain also increases. The evidence
provided by the auditor's substantive procedures depends
upon the mix of the nature, timing, and extent of those
procedures. Further, for an individual assertion, different
combinations of the nature, timing, and extent of testing
might provide sufficient appropriate evidence to respond
to the assessed risk of material misstatement.

AS 2305, Substantive Analytical Procedures

ANALYTICAL
PROCEDURES USED AS
SUBSTANTIVE TESTS

Precision of the
Expectation

AS 2305.17

The expectation should be precise enough to provide
the desired level of assurance that differences that may be
potential material misstatements, individually or when
aggregated with other misstatements, would be identified for
the auditor to investigate (see paragraph .20). As
expectations become more precise, the range of expected
differences becomes narrower and, accordingly, the
likelihood increases that significant differences from the
expectations are due to misstatements. The precision of the
expectation depends on, among other things, the auditor's
identification and consideration of factors that significantly
affect the amount being audited and the level of detail of data
used to develop the expectation.

Issuer F

Investigation and
Evaluation of Significant
Differences

AS 2305.20

In  planning the analytical procedures as a
substantive test, the auditor should consider the amount of
difference from the expectation that can be accepted without

Issuer F
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AS 2305, Substantive Analytical Procedures

further investigation. This consideration is influenced
primarily by materiality and should be consistent with the
level of assurance desired from the procedures.
Determination of this amount involves considering the
possibility that a combination of misstatements in the specific
account balances, or class of transactions, or other balances
or classes could aggregate to an unacceptable amount.

AS 2315, Audit Sampling

SAMPLING IN
SUBSTANTIVE TESTS OF
DETAILS

Planning Samples

AS 2315.19 After assessing and considering the levels of inherent | Issuer B
and control risks, the auditor performs substantive tests to
restrict detection risk to an acceptable level. As the assessed
levels of inherent risk, control risk, and detection risk for other
substantive procedures directed toward the same specific
audit objective decreases, the auditor's allowable risk of
incorrect acceptance for the substantive tests of details
increases and, thus, the smaller the required sample size for
the substantive tests of details. For example, if inherent and
control risks are assessed at the maximum, and no other
substantive tests directed toward the same specific audit
objectives are performed, the auditor should allow for a low
risk of incorrect acceptance for the substantive tests of
details.® Thus, the auditor would select a larger sample size
for the tests of details than if he allowed a higher risk of
incorrect acceptance.

Footnote to AS 2315.19

3 Some auditors prefer to think of risk levels in quantitative terms. For example, in the

circumstances described, an auditor might think in terms of a 5 percent risk of incorrect acceptance for the
substantive test of details. Risk levels used in sampling applications in other fields are not necessarily relevant
in determining appropriate levels for applications in auditing because an audit includes many interrelated tests
and sources of evidence.

AS 2315.23 To determine the number of items to be selected in a | Issuer B
sample for a particular substantive test of details, the auditor
should take into account tolerable misstatement for the
population; the allowable risk of incorrect acceptance (based
on the assessments of inherent risk, control risk, and the
detection risk related to the substantive analytical procedures
or other relevant substantive tests); and the characteristics of
the population, including the expected size and frequency of
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The auditor's objective when evaluating accounting
estimates is to obtain sufficient appropriate evidential matter
to provide reasonable assurance that—

a. All accounting estimates that could be material to the
financial statements have been developed.

b. Those accounting estimates are reasonable in the
circumstances.

c. The accounting estimates are presented in
conformity with applicable accounting principles® and
are properly disclosed.®

Page B-8
AS 2315, Audit Sampling
misstatements.
AS 2315.23A Table 1 of the Appendix describes the effects of the | Issuer B
factors discussed in the preceding paragraph on sample
sizes in a statistical or nonstatistical sampling approach.
When circumstances are similar, the effect on sample size of
those factors should be similar regardless of whether a
statistical or nonstatistical approach is used. Thus, when a
nonstatistical sampling approach is applied properly, the
resulting sample size ordinarily will be comparable to, or
larger than, the sample size resulting from an efficient and
effectively designed statistical sample.
AS 2501, Auditing Accounting Estimates
EVALUATING
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AS 2501.07 Issuer C

Footnotes to AS 2501.07

2

AS 2815, The Meaning of "Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles," discusses the auditor's responsibility for evaluating conformity with generally accepted accounting

situations, the auditor assesses the reasonableness of an
accounting estimate by performing procedures to test the
process used by management to make the estimate. The
following are procedures the auditor may consider performing

principles.
3 See paragraph .31 of AS 2810, Evaluating Audit Results.
EVALUATING
REASONABLENESS
AS 2501.11 Review and test management's process. In many | Issuers A, B,

and D
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AS 2501, Auditing Accounting Estimates

when using this approach:

Identify whether there are controls over the
preparation of accounting estimates and supporting
data that may be useful in the evaluation.

Identify the sources of data and factors that
management used in forming the assumptions, and
consider whether such data and factors are relevant,
reliable, and sufficient for the purpose based on
information gathered in other audit tests.

Consider whether there are additional key factors or
alternative assumptions about the factors.

Evaluate whether the assumptions are consistent
with each other, the supporting data, relevant
historical data, and industry data.

Analyze historical data used in developing the
assumptions to assess whether the data is
comparable and consistent with data of the period
under audit, and consider whether such data is
sufficiently reliable for the purpose.

Consider whether changes in the business or
industry may cause other factors to become
significant to the assumptions.

Review available documentation of the assumptions
used in developing the accounting estimates and
inquire about any other plans, goals, and objectives
of the entity, as well as consider their relationship to
the assumptions.

Consider using the work of a specialist regarding
certain assumptions (AS 1210, Using the Work of a
Specialist).

Test the calculations used by management to
translate the assumptions and key factors into the
accounting estimate.

AS 2502, Auditing Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

TESTING THE ENTITY'S
FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENTS AND
DISCLOSURES

Testing Management's
Significant Assumptions,
the Valuation Model, and
the Underlying Data

Master Page # 182 of 186 - Audit Committee Meeting 12/12/2018




PCAOB

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

PCAOB Release No. 104-2017-198
Inspection of Deloitte & Touche LLP
November 28, 2017

Page B-10

AS 2502, Auditing Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

AS 2502.26

The auditor's understanding of the reliability of the
process used by management to determine fair value is an
important element in support of the resulting amounts and
therefore affects the nature, timing, and extent of audit
procedures. When testing the entity's fair value
measurements and disclosures, the auditor evaluates
whether:

a. Management's assumptions are reasonable and
reflect, or are not inconsistent with, market
information (see paragraph .06).

b. The fair value measurement was determined using
an appropriate model, if applicable.

c. Management used relevant information that was
reasonably available at the time.

Issuer F

AS 2502.28

Where applicable, the auditor should evaluate
whether the significant assumptions used by management in
measuring fair value, taken individually and as a whole,
provide a reasonable basis for the fair value measurements
and disclosures in the entity's financial statements.

Issuer F

AS 2503, Auditing Derivative Instruments, Hedging Activities, and Investments in Securities

DESIGNING SUBSTANTIVE
PROCEDURES BASED ON
RISK ASSESSMENTS

Financial Statement
Assertions

Completeness

AS 2503.22

Completeness assertions address whether all of the
entity's derivatives and securities are reported in the financial
statements through recognition or disclosure. They also
address whether all derivatives and securities transactions
are reported in the financial statements as a part of earnings,
other comprehensive income, or cash flows or through
disclosure. The extent of substantive procedures for
completeness may properly vary in relation to the assessed
level of control risk. In addition, the auditor should consider
that since derivatives may not involve an initial exchange of
tangible consideration, it may be difficult to limit audit risk for
assertions about the completeness of derivatives to an
acceptable level with an assessed level of control risk at the
maximum. Paragraph .19 provides guidance on the auditor's
determination of the nature, timing, and extent of substantive

Issuer A
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AS 2503, Auditing Derivative Instruments, Hedging Activities, and Investments in Securities

procedures to be performed. Examples of substantive
procedures for completeness assertions about derivatives
and securities are—

= Requesting the counterparty to a derivative or the
holder of a security to provide information about it,
such as whether there are any side agreements or
agreements to repurchase securities sold.

= Requesting counterparties or holders who are
frequently used, but with whom the accounting
records indicate there are presently no derivatives or
securities, to state whether they are counterparties
to derivatives with the entity or holders of its
securities.”

» Inspecting financial instruments and other
agreements to identify embedded derivatives.

= Inspecting documentation in paper or electronic form
for activity subsequent to the end of the reporting
period.

= Performing analytical procedures. For example, a
difference from an expectation that interest expense
is a fixed percentage of a note based on the interest
provisions of the underlying agreement may indicate
the existence of an interest rate swap agreement.

= Comparing previous and current account detail to
identify assets that have been removed from the
accounts and testing those items further to
determine that the criteria for sales treatment have
been met.

= Reading other information, such as minutes of
meetings of the board of directors or finance,
asset/liability, investment, or other committees.

Footnote to AS 2503.22

13

AS 2310.17 discusses the blank form of positive confirmation in which the auditor does not
state the amount or other information but instead asks the respondent to provide information.

AS 2503.23

One of the characteristics of derivatives is that they
may involve only a commitment to perform under a contract
and not an initial exchange of tangible consideration.
Therefore, auditors designing tests related to the
completeness assertion should not focus exclusively on
evidence relating to cash receipts and disbursements. When
testing for completeness, auditors should consider making
inquiries, inspecting agreements, and reading other
information, such as minutes of meetings of the board of
directors or finance, asset/liability, investment, or other

Issuer A
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AS 2503, Auditing Derivative Instruments, Hedging Activities, and Investments in Securities

committees. Auditors should also consider making inquiries
about aspects of operating activities that might present risks
hedged using derivatives. For example, if the entity conducts
business with foreign entities, the auditor should inquire
about any arrangements the entity has made for purchasing
foreign currency. Similarly, if an entity is in an industry in
which commodity contracts are common, the auditor should
inquire about any commodity contracts with fixed prices that
run for unusual durations or involve unusually large
guantities. The auditor also should consider inquiring as to
whether the entity has converted interest-bearing debt from
fixed to variable, or vice versa, using derivatives.

AS 2510, Auditing Inventories

INVENTORIES

AS 2510.09 When inventory quantities are determined solely Issuer J
by means of a physical count, and all counts are made as
of the balance-sheet date or as of a single date within a
reasonable time before or after the balance-sheet date, it is
ordinarily necessary for the independent auditor to be
present at the time of count and, by suitable observation,
tests, and inquiries, satisfy himself respecting the
effectiveness of the methods of inventory-taking and the
measure of reliance which may be placed upon the client's
representations about the quantities and physical condition
of the inventories.

AS 2801, Subsequent Events

AS 2801.03 The first type consists of those events that provide | Issuer J
additional evidence with respect to conditions that existed
at the date of the balance sheet and affect the estimates
inherent in the process of preparing financial statements.
All information that becomes available prior to the issuance
of the financial statements should be used by management
in its evaluation of the conditions on which the estimates
were based. The financial statements should be adjusted
for any changes in estimates resulting from the use of such
evidence.

AS 2801.07 Subsequent events affecting the realization of | IssuerJ
assets such as receivables and inventories or the
settlement of estimated liabilities ordinarily will require
adjustment of the financial statements (see paragraph .03)
because such events typically represent the culmination of
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AS 2801, Subsequent Events

conditions that existed over a relatively long period of time.
Subsequent events such as changes in the quoted market
prices of securities ordinarily should not result in
adjustment of the financial statements (see paragraph .05)
because such changes typically reflect a concurrent
evaluation of new conditions.
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